
Cabinet
Date: Tuesday, 10 December 2019
Time: 10.00 am
Venue: Committee Room 1, County Hall, Dorchester, 

DT1 1XJ
Membership: (Quorum 3) 
Spencer Flower (Chairman), Peter Wharf (Vice-Chairman), Tony Alford, Ray Bryan, 
Graham Carr-Jones, Tony Ferrari, Laura Miller, Andrew Parry, Gary Suttle and 
David Walsh

Chief Executive: Matt Prosser, South Walks House, South Walks Road, 
Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1UZ (Sat Nav DT1 1EE)

For more information about this agenda please contact Kate Critchel 01305 252234 - 
kate.critchel@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

For easy access to the Council agendas and minutes download the free 
public app Mod.gov for use on your iPad, Android and Windows tablet. Once 
downloaded select Dorset Council.

 
Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting with the exception of any items 
listed in the exempt part of this agenda. Please note that if you attend a committee 
meeting and are invited to make oral representations your name, together with a summary 
of your comments will be recorded in the minutes of the meeting.  Please refer to the 
guide to public participation at committee meetings for more information about speaking at 
meetings. 

There is a Hearing Loop Induction System available for public use on request.  Please 
speak to a Democratic Services Officer for assistance in using this facility.

Recording, photographing and using social media at meetings

Dorset Council is committed to being open and transparent in the way it carries out its 
business whenever possible.  Anyone can film, audio-record, take photographs, and use 
social media such as tweeting and blogging to report the meeting when it is open to the 
public, so long as they conform to the Protocol for filming and audio recording of public 
council meetings.

Public Document Pack



A G E N D A

Page No.

1  APOLOGIES

To receive any apologies for absence.

2  MINUTES 5 - 18

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 5 November 2019.

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

To receive any declarations of interest. 

4  PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

To receive questions or statements on the business of the committee 
from town and parish councils and members of the public. 

The full text of the question or statement must be received 
kate.critchel@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk by 8.30am on Thursday 5 
December 2019.  Details of the Council’s procedure rules can be found 
at: Public Participation at Committees

5  QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS

To receive any questions from members in accordance with procedure 
rule 13.

6  FORWARD PLAN 19 - 24

To consider and receive the Cabinet Forward Plan.

7  ANNUAL SAFEGUARDING REPORT - CHILDREN'S 2018-19 25 - 40

To consider a report of the Portfolio Holder for Children, Education and 
Early Help.

8  CHILDREN'S SERVICES - HIGH NEEDS BLOCK REDUCTION 
STRATEGY

41 - 70

mailto:kate.critchel@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
http://do-modgov.wdwp.local/documents/s15503/Public%20Participation%20at%20Committees.pdf


To consider a report of the Portfolio Holder for Children, Education and 
Early Help

9  OFSTED FOCUSED VISIT - UPDATE AND FEEDBACK 71 - 80

To consider a report of the Portfolio Holder for Children, Education and 
Early Help

10  ADOPTION OF POOLE HARBOUR RECREATION 
SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT (SPD)

81 - 138

To consider a report of the Portfolio Holder for Planning.

11  MAKING OF THE MOTCOMBE NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 2017 - 
2027

139 - 190

To consider a report of the Portfolio Holder for Planning.

12  BRIDPORT COHOUSING: COMMUNITY HOUSING 
INFRASTRUCTURE FUNDING BID

191 - 196

To consider a report of the Portfolio Holder for Housing and 
Community Safety.

13  LOCAL INDUSTRIAL STRATEGY FOR DORSET 197 - 206

To consider a report of the Portfolio Holder for Economic Growth and 
Skills.

RECOMMENDATIONS FROM COMMITTEES 
14  PROPOSED CONTENT OF PUBLIC CONSULTATION FOR A DOG-

RELATED PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER
207 - 248

To consider a recommendation from Place Scrutiny Committee of 24 
October 2019.

15  EQUALITIES POLICY 249 - 288

To consider a recommendation of Resources Scrutiny Committee of 
26 November 2019.

PANELS AND GROUPS 
To receive any minutes, recommendations or verbal updates from 
panels, groups and boards:



16  CLIMATE CHANGE EXECUTIVE ADVISORY PANEL UPDATE

To receive a verbal update from the Portfolio Holder for Highways, 
Travel and Environment.

17  URGENT ITEMS

To consider any items of business which the Chairman has had prior 
notification and considers to be urgent pursuant to section 100B (4) b) 
of the Local Government Act 1972. The reason for the urgency shall 
be recorded in the minutes.

18  EXEMPT BUSINESS

To move the exclusion of the press and the public for the following 
item in view of the likely disclosure of exempt information within the 
meaning of paragraph 3 of schedule 12 A to the Local Government Act 
1972 (as amended). 

The public and the press will be asked to leave the meeting whilst 
the item of business is considered.

19  MAJOR WASTE DISPOSAL CONTRACTS FOLLOWING 
COMPETITIVE TENDER PROCESS

289 - 294

To consider a report of the Portfolio Holder for Customer, Community 
and Regulatory Services. 

20  BID FOR GOVERNMENT CAPITAL GRANT FUNDING 295 - 300

To consider a report of the Portfolio Holder for Corporate Development 
and Change.



DORSET COUNCIL - CABINET

MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON TUESDAY 5 NOVEMBER 2019

Present: Cllrs Spencer Flower (Chairman), Peter Wharf (Vice-Chairman), Tony Alford, 
Ray Bryan, Graham Carr-Jones, Tony Ferrari, Andrew Parry, Gary Suttle and 
David Walsh

Apologies: Cllrs Laura Miller

Also present: Cllr Jon Andrews, Cllr Shane Bartlett, Cllr Pauline Batstone, Cllr 
Piers Brown, Cllr Simon Christopher, Cllr Beryl Ezzard, Cllr Les Fry, Cllr David Gray, 
Cllr Matthew Hall, Cllr Brian Heatley, Cllr Nick Ireland, Cllr Andrew Kerby, Cllr 
Val Pothecary, Cllr Molly Rennie, Cllr David Taylor, Cllr Daryl Turner and Cllr 
John Worth

Officers present (for all or part of the meeting):
Matt Prosser (Chief Executive), Aidan Dunn (Executive Director - Corporate 
Development S151), Jonathan Mair (Corporate Director - Legal & Democratic Service 
Monitoring Officer), Sarah Parker (Executive Director of People - Children), John 
Sellgren (Executive Director, Place), Kate Critchel (Senior Democratic Services 
Officer), Ann-Marie Barlow (Head of Organisational Development), Sarah Longdon 
(Head of Transformation Team) and David McIntosh (Corporate Director (HR & OD))

Cllr Les Ames

The Leader of the Council invited all present to observe a minute’s silence in 
honour of former Councillor Les Ames who had died on 4 November 2019.

70.  Minutes

The minutes of the meeting held on 1 October 2019 were confirmed and signed by 
the Chairman.

71.  Declarations of Interest

There were no declarations of interest to report.

Statement By The Chairman

Prior to the item on public participation, the Chairman advised that there had been 
five questions/statements in relation to agenda item 16 “Grants to Voluntary and 
Community Sector”.  Cabinet would listen to the various points raised, but were 
not in a position to answer the specific questions about how much money would 
be allocated to the sector at this stage.  However, he advised that members 
welcomed all feedback through the consultation process. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



2

Subject to Cabinet agreeing the recommendation before them, the Council would 
commence a period of consultation on the draft proposals. The Chairman assured 
all those present that all of the concerns, comments and questions would be 
addressed during and after the consultation and the outcome of the consultation 
would be brought back to the Cabinet at a future meeting.  

Given the interest expressed, item 16 on the agenda would be brought forward to 
after public and councillor questions. 

72.  Public Participation

A question was received from Claire Hodgson in relation to the Item 16 on the 
agenda “Grants to the Voluntary and Community Sector” In the absence of the 
public speaker the question and response was read out by the Chairman.

Public Statements were received from the following members of the public in 
relation to item 14 “Dorset Council's response to the Landscapes Review Final 
Report (Glover Review)” and item 16 “Grants to the Voluntary and Community 
Sector”:- Richard Brown, Yvonne Gallimore, Sarah James, Mark Tattersall, Dougie 
Scarfe and Michael Dower. 

A copy of the Questions, Statements and responses are attached to these minutes 
as appendix A.

73.  Questions from Members

Three questions were received from members. The questions and answers are 
attached to these minutes as an appendix B.

74.  Forward Plan

The Cabinet Forward Plan was received and noted.

The following item was brought forward on the agenda given the public interest in 
the matter.

75.  Grants to the Voluntary and Community Sector

The Portfolio Holder for Customer, Community and Regulatory Services presented 
a report setting out proposed consultation on the amalgamation of a range of 
existing funds into three categories; Earmarked funds, Revenue Grant Scheme 
and Capital Grant Scheme.  He confirmed that the comments made by 
representatives would form part of the consultation.  The proposed approach for 
Dorset Council was to aim to deliver a fair apportionment of spend across the 
council area whilst recognising the valuable contributions made by the voluntary 
and community sector. 

The Portfolio Holder continued that it was essential to engage with the voluntary 
sector about the options in order to share to their views and experience. 

Page 6



3

Cllrs Batstone and Ezzard addressed Cabinet expressing concerns for the future 
of voluntary organisations, stating that spending less could have a damaging 
impact on transformation projects and negatively hit the organisations that the 
Council relies on for support the most. There were also concerns expressed 
regarding the future of Arts and Culture.

Cllr N Ireland suggested that the consultation period should be 12 weeks in line 
with the statutory guidelines from the Cabinet Office.  In response, the Chief 
Executive confirmed that these guidelines related to Government consultation and 
the proposed 6 weeks was inline with LGA procedures. 

Cllr Rennie welcomed the consultation and suggested the council should consider 
the hidden social deprivation in rural areas. She also felt that the consultation 
report should be considered by Scrutiny prior to the final report being brought back 
to Cabinet. 

In considering the report, Cabinet agreed that the consultation should be extended 
to 8 weeks and that consultation should not take place across the Christmas 
period.  In answer to a question raised by the Monitoring Officer it was confirmed 
that extending the consultation period and not beginning the consultation until after 
Christmas would not adversely impact on the budget considerations. The matter 
would also be referred to the most appropriate scrutiny committee prior to the final 
report being brought back to Cabinet for decision. 
Decision
(a) That an 8 week period of consultation be agreed to consult on the following 

funding options for 2020/21:-
i. No change - maintain the current level of funding to the current 

organisations with no change from1st April 2020
ii. Maintain the current level of funding but change to the new approach to 

allocating funding from 1st April 2020. 
iii. Reduce the current level of funding to current organisations by 10% (except 

Citizens Advice Bureau (CAB)) and change to the new approach to 
allocating funding from 1st October 2020

iv. Reduce the current funded organisations by 10% (except CAB) for a 12-
month period. Change to the new approach to allocating funding from 1st 
April 2021

(b) That the draft grants application criteria set out in in Appendix 2 for 
consultation be approved;

(c) That the level of funding for future years (after 2020/21) as part of the 
medium term financial planning process be reviewed;

(d) That following the consultation process and prior to bringing a report back 
to Cabinet, the outcome of the consultation be considered by Resources 
Scrutiny Committee.

76.  Quarter 2 Budget Report

Page 7



4

The Portfolio Holder for Finance, Commercial and Assets updated members on 
the council’s financial performance, positions and forecasts at the end of the 
second quarter of the financial year.  

The forecast reported a total overspend of 14.7m.  The Portfolio Holder confirmed 
that key contributors to this increase  was the increasing level of demand for Adult 
and Children’s services.  Members were reminded that the council’s agreed policy 
was to invest to reduce future needs and cost.

The Portfolio Holder for Children, Education and Early Help confirmed that a 
number of initiatives were being developed and implemented to control demand 
and mange cost; this included the Blueprint for Change Strategy and the Building 
Better Lives programme. 

The Portfolio Holder for Finance, Commercial and Assets reported that the council 
had reserves at the very top end of its target range which could be used to deal 
with some of these short term issues in the revenue budget whilst work continued 
in transforming service.  

It was agreed that 2019/20 was a challenging year but members remained 
confident that the council had the resources available to overcome short-term 
pressures whilst it continued to refine the vision, strategies and operating model 
that would deliver the sustainable, dynamic and innovative organisation that 
Dorset’s residents need. 

Decision
(a) That the Senior Leadership Team’s forecast for Dorset Council’s position at 

the end of Quarter 2 and the movement since Quarter 1 be received and 
noted;

(b) That the impact that any overspend will have on reserves and the general 
fund be noted and 

(c) That the update to the MTFP following the Spending Review and the work 
in progress to develop a sustainable base budget for 2020/21 and beyond 
be noted.

77.  Procurement of Banking Services

Cabinet consider a report setting out the planned procurement activity that was in 
addition to the procurement forward plan approved by Cabinet on 4 June 2019.  
Now that the predecessor councils had come together as one organisation, 
multiple bankers would not be the most efficient and effective way to operate. 
Therefore the Portfolio Holder for Finance, Commercial and Assets proposed the 
appointment to a single provider of banking services for Dorset Council.  

Appointing a single provider would allow processes to be streamlined and 
simplified.  In particular, this would enable some of the savings identified as part of 
the Tranche 2 Review of the Corporate Development directorate to be delivered.

Decision 

Page 8



5

That authority be delegated authority to the Portfolio Holder for Finance, 
Commercial and Assets to award a contract for banking services.

78.  Procurement over £5m Report: Electricity and Gas Procurement

The Portfolio Holder for Highways, Travel and Environment presented a report on 
the future procurement of its energy.  Dorset Council and its partners, principally 
schools spend over £7m a year on electricity and gas supplies.

Since 2009, on the advice of Procurement, the former sovereign Councils had 
each procured electricity and gas for themselves and partner organisations 
through LASER, by Professional Buying Organisations established by Kent County 
Council. Following the formation of Dorset Council, these contracts have been 
converged into single contracts for electricity and gas. 

LASER provided energy procurement and contract management on behalf of its 
public sector members. LASER currently procured energy for over 200 public 
organisations including 130 local authorities, representing over £450m of energy 
contracts every year. The Council now needed to decide whether to continue to 
procure its energy via LASER for the new contracts commencing in 2020. 

In response to concerns regarding green energy, the Portfolio Holder confirmed 
that this proposal was drawn up to serve public sector organisations, many of 
whom had declared a climate emergency.  As such, they had been specifically 
designed to provide a large degree of flexibility to the customer, within the 
contracted period, to allow a range of actions to be taken that would reduce its 
carbon emissions. 

Members agreed that the proposal through LASER represented best value, was 
flexible and had low carbon options. 

Decision

(a) That authority be delegated to the Executive Director for Corporate 
Development (S151) and the Executive Director for Place to enter into 
appropriate Customer Access Agreements through the LASER framework 
agreement for the supply of electricity, gas and ancillary services.

(b) That authority be delegated to the Executive Director for Corporate 
Development (S151) and the Executive Director of Place to procure and 
award a call off contract under a LASER framework agreement for the 
council’s (including partners) gas and electricity supplies for a term of up to 
four years for the period 2020-2024.

(c) That authority be delegated to the Executive Director for Corporate 
Development (S151) and the Executive Director of Place to decide on the 
preferred in-contract purchasing option. 

79.  Transforming Cities Fund

Page 9



6

The Portfolio Holder for Highways, Travel and Environment presented a report 
seeking approval to jointly submit a business case with Bournemouth, 
Christchurch and Poole Council to the Department of Transport for funding from 
the Transforming Cities Fund to enhance sustainable travel infrastructure in the 
South East Dorset area.  

The Transforming Cities Fund was an opportunity to secure very significant capital 
funding and increase the delivery of sustainable travel infrastructure in the South 
East Dorset area. Any successful bid would facilitate an accelerated delivery of a 
coherent network of pedestrian and cycle route improvements on key corridors 
along with bus journey time reliability enhancements. 

Cllr S Bartlett highlighted some of the highway issues in the Wimborne area and 
the Portfolio Holder confirmed that he would welcome the opportunity to work with 
the local member for the area on sustainable travel solutions.

Decision 

(a) That authority be delegated to the Portfolio Holder for Highways, Travel and 
the Environment to submit a Strategic Outline Business Case (SOBC), 
jointly with BCP, to the Department for Transport (DfT) following 
consultation with the Executive Director for Place and Executive Director for 
Corporate Development (S151).

(b) That the development of the programme contained within the SOBC 
submission to Full Business Case(s) detail utilising LTP funding be 
approved;

(c) That the proposed next steps regarding both the Transforming Cities Fund 
(TCF) process be noted.

80.  Procurement over £5m Report: Temporary Staff and Consultants

Cabinet considered a report seeking the approval to procure and award the 
requirement of Consultancy for Specialist Professional Services and Supply of 
Temporary Agency Staff, in relation to employing external capacity. 

Members noted that within the workforce of Dorset Council there was a diverse 
and broad range of skills and expertise, much of which had been built up over 
many years.  However on occasion, when specialist skills or expertise did not exist 
within the Council’s own workforce, there was a requirement to seek external 
capacity to cover these areas. 

The Chief Executive reported that Unison had forwarded him a number of 
comments regarding the proposal which were mainly around ensuring that this 
would not be a long term solution and that any Consultant or agent should sign up 
to the Behaviours of the Organisation. 

Both the Portfolio Holders for Finance, Commercial and Assets and Corporate 
Development and Change supported the recommendation. 

Page 10



7

Decision

That the procurement and award of Consultancy for Specialist Professional 
Services and the Supply of Temporary Agency Staff be approved. 

81.  Dorset Council - People Strategy

At this juncture the Chief Executive left the meeting.

The Portfolio Holder of Corporate Development and Change presented a report 
setting out the People Strategy which had been created alongside the draft 
Corporate Plan and draft values.  The Strategy set out the strategic approach to 
how the council would become an employer of choice, both with current and future 
employees. 

The Portfolio Holder also reported that the Strategy would be presented to a 
meeting of Audit & Governance Committee for their comments and any proposed 
amendments would be delegated to the portfolio holder and officers unless they 
were considered to be significant.  

Members were advised that the Peer Review Team had broadly welcomed the 
work to date and members noted that the Strategy consisted of five key themes.  
Becoming an employer of choice, Developing our people, Engaging our people, 
Supporting our people, Rewarding and recognising performance and Creating a 
positive workplace culture.  

A number of employee engagement opportunities had taken place and further 
communication campaigns would be carried out in the New Year. 
 
Cllr M Hall made a very personal and honest statement relating to mental health 
issues.  Following which the Portfolio Holder agreed that although the council had 
taken a number of positive steps in the area, there was more work to do to support 
and understand mental health issues.  He would welcome Cllr Hall’s input and 
support in the area.

Decision

(a) That the People Strategy and accompanying documentation as set out in 
Appendix 1, be approved;

(b) That the equality impact assessment as set out in Appendix 3, be noted;

(c) That in consultation with the Executive Director Corporate Development, 
the Portfolio Holder for Corporate Development and Change be delegated 
authority to make changes to the strategy which might occur as a result of 
the scrutiny process.

82.  Dorset Council Draft Transformation Plan 2020-2024

Page 11



8

The Portfolio Holder for Corporate Development and Change set out the 
objectives and ambitions of the draft Council Transformation Plan.  This included 
timescales, proposed budget, proposed governance structure, design principles 
and anticipated benefits. 

The Transformation Plan represented the long term programme for Dorset Council 
to deliver the significant and fundamental changes necessary to meet the 
Council’s ambitious goals whilst at the same time deliver savings that contributed 
towards plugging the budget gap.

Members were advised that the Transformation Briefing scheduled for 10 
December 2019 would now be postponed until a date in January due to the 
General Election on 12 December 2019. 

In response to questions, the Portfolio Holder confirmed that there were a number 
of projects underway through to six strategic programmes.  These would be 
shared with members in detail at the Briefing meeting in January. However further 
details could be obtained from the Transformation team direct.

Decision 
(a) That the draft Transformation Plan as set out in Appendix 1, be approved;

(b) That the creation of a £5 million transformation fund and the allocation 
criteria detailed in section 3 of the report be approved;

(c) That authority be delegated to the Transformation Board as an Executive 
Committee of the Cabinet (comprising the Leader, the Portfolio Holder for 
Corporate Development and Change, and the Portfolio Holder for Finance 
Commercial and Assets) responsibility for:

i. Oversight of the Transformation Plan; and
ii. Allocation of the transformation fund according to the criteria.  

(d) That the proposed governance arrangements for transformation activity 
particularly the role of the Transformation Board and its accountability to 
Cabinet be approved; 

(e) That the equality impact assessment as set out in Appendix 2 be noted.

83.  Dorset Council's response to the Landscapes Review Final Report (Glover 
Review)

The Landscapes Review or Glover Report was launched in May 2018.  During the 
period of October and December 2018 there was a call for evidence, but at that 
time Dorset Council was not in a position to contribute to the review as it had not 
been created.  Last year there was a government review to assess if there was 
scope for the current network of Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) and 
national parks to be expanded.

Page 12



9

He further reported that Glover Report focused on examples of best practice 
including Dorset AONB which was held up as an exemplar. He also agreed that 
AONB’s should be statutory consultees in planning as their contribution was 
invaluable. 

Through the Local Government review process Dorset had significantly reduced 
the level of local government bureaucracy by creating two unitary councils to 
replace the previous two-tier systems.  At this time Dorset Council was committed 
to putting in place a new local plan by 2024, this was a high priority for the council, 
significant resources would be invested in the development of the plan leaving little 
capacity to consider any alternative arrangements until this had been complete. 

Cllrs B Ezzard, N Ireland, S Christopher and P Barrow all addressed Cabinet 
referencing some benefit to Dorset if there was a National Park, including 
additional funding opportunities, tourism and the economy.

In response the Portfolio Holder agreed that there was much to celebrate through 
the report, but he suggested that Dorset Council should await the response of 
Government to the Landscapes Review and in particular to consider what 
proposals government might wish to make regarding the future of AONBs and 
national parks. 

In the meantime, he asked Cabinet to uphold the Council’s commitment to 
produce a Local Plan by 2024 and support the reports recommendations. 

Decision 

(a) That the findings of the Landscapes Review be noted 

Note: It is important to stress that Dorset Council was unable to contribute 
to the Review’s “call for evidence” as it was only created on 1 April 2019. 

(b) That council would engage with the Government concerning its response to 
the Landscapes Review particularly in regard to any proposal which would 
change the current designation and landscape management arrangements 
within Dorset.

(c) That the contents of the desktop study set out in Appendix A be noted;

(d) That having committed to put in place a new local plan by 2024 this should 
remain the Council’s highest planning land use priority and that the council 
should not be distracted from this by any reconsideration of statutory 
planning powers and responsibilities in Dorset following the Landscape 
Review. 

84.  Cross border Household Recycling Centre (HRC) use by Dorset residents

Members were reminded that at its meeting in July, Cabinet considered a report 
on the access to Hampshire County Council’s Somerley Household Recycling 
Centre (“HRC”) and agreed that a decision should be deferred pending further 
discussion of options with Hampshire County Council (HCC).

Page 13



10

The Portfolio Holder for Customer, Community and Regulatory Services set out 
the report which provided an update on these discussions and set out recent 
proposal by Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council (BCP) for similar 
arrangements for the use of HRCs in their areas from April 2020. 

The Portfolio Holder reported that HCC was intending to charge non-resident 
users for Somerely HRC, if this charge was not met by Dorset Council.  This was 
likely to increase congestion and costs at the Wimborne HRC as well as residents 
travelling further to dispose of their waste adding to carbon emissions.

Members were advised that Wimborne HRC was already operating at capacity 
with queues and delays occurring frequently. Any additional usage of this site 
would impact on new and existing users and with further impact on residential 
properties and businesses who share the road to the site. It was proposed that a 
search for a suitable replacement start immediately taking into account emerging 
changes to national policy. 

It was proposed that to avoid any additional costs and delays at Somerley HRC as 
a result of residents paying at the gate, Dorset Council contribute to HCC’s cost of 
operating the site.  This would be based on costs provided by HCC on usage by 
Dorset residents and would need to be on-going until a solution was found for 
HRC provision in the Dorset area. 

In response to questions from non-executive members, the Portfolio Holder 
confirmed that there was no indication the Somerset or Devon County Councils 
had cross-border issues or intention to introduce similar measures for non-
residents in the future. 

The Portfolio Holder confirmed that conversations would continue with local 
councillors, in particular at Wimborne Town Council, as the council tried to find a 
solution the future arrangements for the Wimborne site. 

Decision

(a) That an additional £405,000 in the 2020/21 budget to cover payments to 
Hampshire County Council (HCC) and Bournemouth, Christchurch and 
Poole Council (BCP) be provided  to allow Dorset residents continued 
access to Somerley, Millhams, Christchurch and Nuffield HRC’s;  

(b) That authority be delegated to the Portfolio Holder for Customer, 
Community and Regulatory Services in consultation with the Executive 
Director for Place to finalise arrangements with HCC and BCP councils.

(c) That the provision of a new Household Recycling Centre (HRC) and waste 
transfer facility in the east of the County be investigated as part of a wider 
HRC review; 

(d) That a survey be undertaken of the use of all Dorset Council HRCs by 
residents outside Dorset, to help inform the HRC review and future HRC 
strategy.

Page 14



11

85.  Calendar of Meetings

The Leader of the Council presented a report that set out the Calendar of 
Meetings for 2020-21, with the addition of an extra date in February 2021 for Audit 
& Governance Committee, as agreed with the Chairman of that committee. 

In response to a question about the timing of future meetings, the Leader of the 
Council confirmed that a discussion regarding future arrangements beyond the 
2020-21 calendar would be part of the fundamental Governance Review process.

Recommendation to Full Council 

(a) That the Calendar of Meetings for the period May 2020 to May 2021, as 
amended, be adopted.

(b) That authority be delegated to the Corporate Director – Legal and 
Democratic Services to make any necessary changes, in consultation with 
the relevant Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen, to ensure effective political 
management. 

(c) That a review of the calendar of meetings be carried out as part of the 
fundamental review of the Council’s Constitution.

86.  Recommendation from Harbours Committee 25 September 2019 - Lyme 
Regis Harbour Revision Order

In response to a question from Cllr D Turner regarding additional common 
statutory powers that were not in place for Lyme Regis, the Portfolio Holder 
confirmed that this would be looked as the Order was progressed.

Recommendation to Full Council 

(a) That an application be made to the Marine Management Organisation 
(MMO) for a Harbour Revision Order (HRO) in respect of Lyme Regis 
Harbour to consolidate and modernise the applicable current local 
legislation;

(b) That delegated authority be given to the Executive Director of Place in
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Highways, Travel and Environment 
to determine the wording of the HRO based on legal advice and undertake 
all procedures for the submission of the HRO to the MMO;

(c) That a budget of £31,500.00 be allocated for this work to include legal 
advice, the application fee and public notices.

87.  Recommendation from Place Scrutiny Committee 24 October 2019 - 
Community Safety Annual Report

The Portfolio Holder for Housing presented the recommendation from Place 
Scrutiny Committee in respect of statutory plans and strategies for adoption by the 
Full Council.

Page 15



12

Cabinet also received an update of the work carried out be the Community Safety 
Partnership from the Chairman Cllr A Kerby. 

The Chairman thanked Cllr Kerby for his time and welcomed the opportunity to 
receive an update on the work taking place by the Partnership.

Recommendation to Full Council

That Cabinet be asked to recommend the Community Safety Plan 2017-2020 
(2019 refresh), Reducing Reoffending Strategy 2018-2021 (2019 refresh), 
including the amendment, and Bournemouth, Poole and Dorset 2016-2020 Alcohol 
and Drugs Strategy to Dorset Council for adoption as amended by the Supplement 
for Item 6, Appendix 4 – Amendment of Wording in the Reducing Reoffending 
Strategy (Page 4 – Dorset, Devon and Cornwall Community Rehabilitation 
Company) be approved.

88.  Climate Change Executive Advisory Panel Update

The Portfolio Holder for Highways, Travel and Environment advised Cabinet that 
the Climate Change Executive Advisory Panel (EAP) continued to gather 
information and evidence.  This process had included a member and officer 
workshop session to agree a way forward and the creation of themed groups to 
look at the specific areas of leadership, transport, buildings and assets, waste and 
environment and the natural environment.  

The outcome from these group sessions would be feedback to the EAP with a 
view of bringing a detailed report to Cabinet in the spring. 

Other work also continued, including addressing the reduction of vehicle 
emissions, the importance of keeping vehicles moving in town centres and a 
recent visit to Sherborne reviewing the damaged caused by vehicle emissions on 
the school run.  

89.  Urgent items

There were no urgent items considered at the meeting.

90.  Exempt Business

There was no exempt business to report. 

Duration of meeting: 10.00 am - 1.00 pm

Chairman

Page 16



13
Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Draft Cabinet Forward Plan - December 2019
For the period 30 DECEMBER 2019 to 30 April 2020 

(publication date 30 December 2019)
Explanatory Note:
This Forward Plan contains future items to be considered by the Cabinet and Council.  It is published 28 days before the next meeting of the Committee.  
The plan includes items for the meeting including key decisions.  Each item shows if it is ‘open’ to the public or to be considered in a private part of the 
meeting.

Definition of Key Decisions
Key decisions are defined in Dorset Council's Constitution as decisions of the Cabinet which are likely to -
(a) to result in the relevant local authority incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the relevant 

local authority’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates (Thresholds - £500k); or
(b) to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards or electoral divisions in the area of 

the relevant local authority.”
In determining the meaning of “significant” for these purposes the Council will have regard to any guidance issued by the Secretary of State in 
accordance with section 9Q of the Local Government Act 2000 Act.  Officers will consult with lead members to determine significance and sensitivity.

Cabinet Portfolio Holders 2019/20
Spencer Flower Leader / Governance, Performance and Communications
Peter Wharf Deputy Leader / Corporate Development and Change
Tony Ferrari  Finance, Commercial and Assets
Graham Carr-Jones  Housing and Community Safety
Gary Suttle Economic Growth and Skills
Andrew Parry Children, Education and Early Help
Laura Miller Adult Social Care and Health
David Walsh Planning
Ray Bryan Highways, Travel and Environment 
Tony Alford Customer, Community and Regulatory Services 

P
age 19

A
genda Item

 6



Budget (MTFP/Council tax/Capital 
Programme/Treasury Mgt Strategy)

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

Dorset Council

28 Jan 2020

13 Feb 2020

Portfolio Holder for 
Finance, Commercial 
and Assets

Aidan Dunn, Executive 
Director - Corporate 
Development S151  
aidan.dunn@dorsetcouncil.
gov.uk

Dorset Council Business Plan

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

28 Jan 2020 Deputy Leader - 
Corporate 
Development and 
Change

Sarah Longdon, Head of 
Transformation Team

Executive Director, 
Corporate Development - 
Section 151 Officer 
(designate) (Aidan Dunn)

Statement of Community 
Involvement

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

28 Jan 2020 Portfolio Holder for 
Planning

Ed Gerry, Principal 
Planning Policy Team 
Leader  
ed.gerry@dorsetcouncil.gov
.uk

Executive Director, Place 
(John Sellgren)

Unreasonable Complaints Policy

Key Decision - No
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

28 Jan 2020 Portfolio Holder for 
Customer, Community 
and Regulatory 
Services

Jonathan Mair, Corporate 
Director - Legal & 
Democratic Service 
Monitoring Officer  
jonathan.mair@dorsetcounc
il.gov.uk

Capital funding option for the West 
Bay Coastal Improvements Project

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Part exempt

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

28 Jan 2020 Councillor Tony 
Ferrari, Councillor Ray 
Bryan

Greg Northcote, Estates 
Manager  
greg.northcote@dorsetcoun
cil.gov.uk

Executive Director, Place 
(John Sellgren)

Subject / Decision Decision Maker Decision Due 
Date

Other Committee
Date

Portfolio Holder Officer Contact

P
age 20

mailto:aidan.dunn@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
mailto:aidan.dunn@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
mailto:ed.gerry@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
mailto:ed.gerry@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
mailto:greg.northcote@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
mailto:greg.northcote@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk


Subject / Decision Decision Maker Decision Due 
Date

Other Committee
Date

Portfolio Holder Officer Contact

School Admissions Policy

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

28 Jan 2020 Dorset Council - People 
Scrutiny Committee 
7 Jan 2020 

Portfolio Holder for 
Children, Education 
and Early Help

Sarah Parker, Executive 
Director of People - 
Children  
sarah.parker@dorsetcouncil
.gov.uk

Peer Challenge - Action Plan

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

28 Jan 2020 Leader of the Council Bridget Downton, Head of 
Business Insight and 
Corporate Communications

Matt Prosser
Chief Executive

Pay Policy Statement

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Part exempt

Dorset Council 13 Feb 2020 Deputy Leader - 
Corporate 
Development and 
Change

Aidan Dunn, Executive 
Director - Corporate 
Development S151  
aidan.dunn@dorsetcouncil.
gov.uk

Endorsement of the Dorset & East 
Devon Coast World Heritage Site 
Partnership Plan

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

3 Mar 2020 Portfolio Holder for 
Highways, Travel and 
Environment

Ken Buchan, Head of 
Environment and Wellbeing  
ken.buchan@dorsetcouncil.
gov.uk

Executive Director, Place 
(John Sellgren)

Asset Management Framework for 
Dorset Council 2020-2023

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

3 Mar 2020 Portfolio Holder for 
Finance, Commercial 
and Assets

John Sellgren, Executive 
Director, Place  
jsellgren@dorset.gov.uk

P
age 21

mailto:sarah.parker@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
mailto:sarah.parker@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
mailto:aidan.dunn@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
mailto:aidan.dunn@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
mailto:ken.buchan@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
mailto:ken.buchan@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
mailto:jsellgren@dorset.gov.uk


Subject / Decision Decision Maker Decision Due 
Date

Other Committee
Date

Portfolio Holder Officer Contact

Housing Allocations Policy

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

7 Apr 2020 Portfolio Holder for 
Housing and 
Community Safety

Rebecca Kirk, Corporate 
Director of Housing, Dorset 
Council  
Rebecca.Kirk@dorsetcounc
il.gov.uk

Executive Director, People - 
Adults (Mathew Kendall)

Results of Public Consultation on 
the proposed dog-related Public 
Spaces Protection Order

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

7 Apr 2020 Portfolio Holder for 
Customer, Community 
and Regulatory 
Services

Graham Duggan, Head of 
Community & Public 
Protection  
graham.duggan@dorsetcou
ncil.gov.uk

Executive Director, Place 
(John Sellgren)

Grants to the Voluntary and 
Community Sector

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

7 Apr 2020 Dorset Council - Resources 
Scrutiny Committee 
17 Mar 2020 

Portfolio Holder for 
Customer, Community 
and Regulatory 
Services

Bridget Downton, Head of 
Business Insight and 
Corproate Communications

Executive Director, 
Corporate Development - 
Section 151 Officer

Asset Management Plan for Dorset 
Council 2020- 2023

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

5 May 2020 Portfolio Holder for 
Finance, Commercial 
and Assets

John Sellgren, Executive 
Director, Place  
jsellgren@dorset.gov.uk

Constitution Review

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

Leader of the Council Jonathan Mair, Corporate 
Director - Legal & 
Democratic Service 
Monitoring Officer  
jonathan.mair@dorsetcounc
il.gov.uk

P
age 22

mailto:Rebecca.Kirk@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
mailto:Rebecca.Kirk@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
mailto:graham.duggan@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
mailto:graham.duggan@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
mailto:jsellgren@dorset.gov.uk
mailto:jonathan.mair@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
mailto:jonathan.mair@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk


Subject / Decision Decision Maker Decision Due 
Date

Other Committee
Date

Portfolio Holder Officer Contact

Designating an area of the 
Melcombe Regis for Selective 
Licensing - Housing Act 2004

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

Portfolio Holder for 
Housing and 
Community Safety

Rebecca Kirk, Corporate 
Director of Housing, Dorset 
Council  
Rebecca.Kirk@dorsetcounc
il.gov.uk

Executive Director, Place 
(John Sellgren)

Car Parking Charges and Tariffs

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

Portfolio Holder for 
Highways, Travel and 
Environment

John Sellgren, Executive 
Director, Place  
jsellgren@dorset.gov.uk

Making of Arne Neighbourhood 
Plan

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

Portfolio Holder for 
Housing and 
Community Safety

John Sellgren, Executive 
Director, Place  
jsellgren@dorset.gov.uk

Wool Neighbourhood Plan - 
Independent Examiner report and 
progress to Referendum

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

Portfolio Holder for 
Planning

John Sellgren, Executive 
Director, Place  
jsellgren@dorset.gov.uk

Making of Wool Neighbourhood 
Plan

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Dorset Council - 
Cabinet

Portfolio Holder for 
Planning

John Sellgren, Executive 
Director, Place  
jsellgren@dorset.gov.uk

P
age 23

mailto:Rebecca.Kirk@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
mailto:Rebecca.Kirk@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
mailto:jsellgren@dorset.gov.uk
mailto:jsellgren@dorset.gov.uk
mailto:jsellgren@dorset.gov.uk
mailto:jsellgren@dorset.gov.uk


6

Private/Exempt Items for Decision
Each item in the plan above marked as ‘private’ will refer to one of the following paragraphs. 

1. Information relating to any individual.  
2. Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual.
3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information).  
4. Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations 

matter arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders under, the authority.  
5. Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings.  
6. Information which reveals that the shadow council proposes:-

(a)  to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed on a person; or
(b)  to make an order or direction under any enactment.  

7. Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime.  

P
age 24



 

Date of Meeting: 10 December 2019 
 
Portfolio Holder:  Andrew Parry - Lead Member for Children’s Services… 
 
 
Executive Director:  Sarah Parker, Executive Director – People Children

Executive Summary: This paper provides the Annual Safeguarding Report – 
Children’s, which includes: Child Protection Conferences, an update on recent and 
ongoing Serious Case reviews, an update on the Safeguarding Children 
Partnership arrangements, Child Death Overview Panel, safeguarding oversight of 
unregistered placements and Child Exploitation. 

Equalities Impact Assessment: 
There are no equalities implications arising from this report. 

Budget:  
There are no budget implications. 

Risk Assessment:  
This paper does not require a Risk Assessment. 

Climate implications: 
None. 

Other Implications: 
None 

Recommendation: 
Members to consider and comment upon the adequacy of the plans/actions in the 
last section – ‘Going Forward’ to address the areas identified for improvement. 
 

Reason for Recommendation: 
To be assured that plans are in place that identifies gaps and areas for 
development and will support practice improvement to strengthen outcomes for 
children. 

Appendices: 
Appendix – Notes of the informal meeting of People Scrutiny on 20 November 
2019. 
 

 

Cabinet 

Annual Safeguarding Report – Children’s 

2018-19 

Page 25

Agenda Item 7



Background Papers: 
None 

Officer Contact: 
Name: Karen Elliott, Designated Safeguarding Manager 
Tel:  
Email: Karen.Elliott@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 

 
1. Safeguarding Children Partnership arrangements 

1.1. Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018 introduces significant changes to multi 

agency safeguarding children arrangements and in particular replacing LSCBs with 

new safeguarding children partnerships. It names the lead representatives from each 

of the safeguarding partners as the local authority chief executive, the accountable 

officer of a clinical commissioning group, and a chief officer of police. They can 

delegate their functions although they retain accountability for any actions or decisions 

taken on behalf of their agency. It was agreed fairly early on that a Pan-Dorset 

Safeguarding Children Partnership (SCP) approach would be developed across the 2 

newly formed unitary authorities and this went live on 1 August 2019. 

1.2. The lead representatives identified the 4 following senior officers in their respective 

agencies who have responsibility and authority for ensuring full participation with 

these arrangements: Sarah Parker Executive Director of People – Children Dorset 

Council, Judith Ramsden Corporate Director of Children’s Services BCP Council, 

Vanessa Read Director of Nursing and Quality Dorset CCG and Ben Hargreaves 

Chief Superintendent Dorset Police 

1.3. The Pan-Dorset SCP will engage with other relevant partners on a regular basis to 

identify emerging safeguarding priorities and review impact of safeguarding 

arrangements including information sharing.  The emerging priorities for the SCP that 

have been agreed are: 

1.4. Contextual safeguarding which includes: 

 On line safety 

 Grooming 

 Children who go missing 

 Gang affiliation 

 Child exploitation 

 County Lines 

Adolescents at risk which includes: 

 Building resilience 

 Complex case management 

 Perception of knife crime 

Parenting which includes: 

 Parental substance misuse 

 Early help 

 Neglect 

Page 26



 

 

1.5. There are five subgroups that currently sit under the SCP which are: Safeguarding in 

Education, Strategic Training Group, Quality Assurance Group, the CAROLE Tactical 

Group and the Safeguarding Practice Review (formerly Serious Case Review) Group. 

In addition, there is a workstream developing the Learning Hub which will focus on 

neglect as its first priority. 

1.6. The SCP aims to address safeguarding children priorities and improve outcomes for 

the safety and welfare of children and young people through a small number of task 

and finish groups. These will be co-ordinated with the work of other relevant strategic 

partnerships which have a role in safeguarding such as the Health and Wellbeing 

Board and the Community Safety Partnership. The links between them will be 

strengthened and so will be an area of focus for the SCP to consider. 

2. Serious Case Reviews  

2.1 Regulation 5 of the Local Safeguarding Children Boards Regulations 2006 set out the 

functions of LSCBs which included the requirement for LSCBs to undertake reviews of 

serious cases in specified circumstances – Serious Case Reviews (SCRs).  

2.2 This changed with the new Working Together 2018 and the responsibilities of the 

newly formed SCPs together with new regulations - The Child Safeguarding Practice 

Review and Relevant Agency (England) Regulations 2018; replacing Serious Case 

Reviews with National and Local Safeguarding Practice Reviews. This did not come 

into force until the SCP went live in August 2018, so the following all relate to Serious 

Case Reviews agreed under the old legislation. 

2.3 A Serious Case Review (SCR) was a locally conducted multi-agency review in 

circumstances where a child had been abused or neglected, resulting in serious harm 

or death and there was cause for concern as to the way in which the relevant authority 

or persons had worked together to safeguard the child. 

2.4 The purpose of an SCR was not to reinvestigate or apportion blame, but to establish 

what lessons are to be learned from the case about the way in which local 

professionals and organisations work individually and together to safeguard and 

promote the welfare of children. 

2.5 For all SCRs, a multi-agency action plan is agreed, a Synopsis of Learning is 

published, and multi-agency training is provided for all practitioners. 

2.6 In 2018/19 the following were either completed or published and the themes identified 

for learning are as follows: 

 SCR 26 - Commissioned November 2017 and completed in June 2018 

relating to a child killed in a road traffic accident whose mother was three 

times over the permitted alcohol limit. 

Learning - Use of escalation process, information sharing which includes 

domestic abuse forums and across borders, significance of engaging invisible 

fathers, substance misuse including functioning alcoholics and impact on 

children. Seeking and sharing information to inform assessments.  

 SCR 31 - Commissioned October 2018 and completed in April 2019 relating 

to the death of a 16-year-old by ingesting illicit drugs who was a Looked After 

Child. 

Page 27



 

Learning - Management of high risk and complex adolescents including multi-

agency management oversight, identification of the role of lead professional in 

each organisation to have that oversight. Data capture in relation to children 

who are missing, Return Home Interviews and cross boarder issues. IRO 

service and escalation process. Children who go missing form virtual school 

placements. 

 SCR 22 was completed in November 2016 but not published until July 2018 

relating to a 4-week-old baby who sustained serious injuries caused most 

likely by his stepfather. 

Learning – Referral Process, significance of bruising in non-mobile babies and 

the child protection and legal framework. 

Current SCRs:  

 SCR33 currently underway and is related to the death of a young child who 

had a chronic medical condition. 

 SCR39 due to commence in November 2019 which relates to a teenager who 

died at home. 

3 Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) 

3.1 CDOP in Dorset has been a Pan-Dorset function covering Dorset, Bournemouth and 

Poole reviewing all child deaths of children who live in the Pan- Dorset area. With the 

new Working Together 2018 requirements to cover a larger footprint in terms of 

number of deaths, the Pan-Dorset CDOP merged with Somerset’s CDOP in July 

2019. 

3.2 Between April 2018 to March 2019 there were 25 notifications of children who died 

who reside in Bournemouth, Poole and Dorset. This is a reduction from the previous 

year when there were 34. 13 of these children lived in Dorset. Of the total 25 deaths, 

13 were expected and 12 were unexpected.  

3.3 CDOP is also required to assess the preventability of each death by considering 

whether there were factors which may have contributed to the death and if so, 

whether these could be ‘modified’ to reduce the risk of future deaths. During 2018/19 

CDOP identified modifiable factors in 50% of those reviewed which was an increase 

from previous years and is higher than the national average. It is possible that this 

could be due to the growing expertise of the Panel who now provide more robust 

scrutiny. 

3.4 The modifiable factors identified include the following: 

 The impact of alcohol use continues to feature in deaths associated with road 

traffic collisions and SUDI presentations. 

 Maternal smoking during pregnancy and smoking by family members in the 

household continues to be a factor in child mortality. 

 Maternal obesity continues to be a factor identified in premature birth and 

neonatal mortality. 

3.5 CDOP identify any emerging learning points and report to the DfE for national data 

gathering and the SCP for consideration of appropriate action. Typically, this might be 

the initiation of a public health awareness message, the launch of a specific campaign 

Page 28



 

or working with partner agencies to improve the effectiveness or quality of their 

processes or procedures. 

4. Unregistered Placements for Looked After Children  

4.1 Dorset have a high number of Looked After children compared to our comparators. As 

a result, as with a number of other local authorities, we are occasionally challenged by 

the lack of suitable placement availability for children with very complex needs. 

4.2 Such placements are generally needed for children aged between 14 to 17 years old. 

Dorset have 2 council properties staffed by a small number of agencies commissioned 

by Dorset Council that are used as single placements in these circumstances. We are 

currently in the process of registering these placements with Ofsted. Occasionally 

when necessary Dorset also use rented accommodation such as holiday lets. In both 

circumstances the priority is to identify an appropriate registered placement as a 

matter of urgency. Any unregistered placements have to be agreed by the Corporate 

Director with a weekly report provided to the Executive Director, Manager for the IRO 

service, the Corporate Parenting Officer and on a monthly basis to Ofsted. A separate 

report is provided for the Corporate Parenting Board as a standing agenda item to 

ensure appropriate scrutiny and oversight. 

4.3 To make sure that these placements meet the needs of the young people in the same 

way that a registered provider would, Dorset have implemented a series of monthly 

visits similar to ‘Regulation 44 of the Children’s Homes Regulations 2015’ visits, as an 

additional safeguard. This requires an Independent Person to visit a children’s 

residential home on a monthly basis to: 

 Provide an opportunity for any child, parent or member of staff who wishes to 

meet the visitor (in private if they wish) to do so. (This links in with Standard 2 

of the Quality Standards whereby the Visitor is ensuring that Children and 

Young People's wishes and feelings are heard). 

 Check on the physical condition of the home. 

 Form an opinion on the standard of care provided. 

 Check the Daily log, Complaints record, Sanctions record and Restraint 

record. 

4.4 The visits have been carried out by one of the Child Protection Chairs and the 

Residential Services Manager. 

5. Exploitation and County Lines 

5.1 In order to help identify, respond to and prevent the criminal exploitation of children a 

new model has been introduced in Dorset to ensure the needs of children at risk of, or 

linked to, exploitation are met through effective, protective, multi-agency plans that are 

put in place quickly. This model is called CAROLE which stands for Children At Risk 

Of or Linked to Exploitation and is the way all partners in Dorset are working together 

at a strategic, tactical and operation level to improve the effectiveness of our multi-

agency response to child exploitation.  

5.2 The CAROLE multi agency Tactical Group uses data, intelligence and knowledge to 

make sure we can provide effective responses and that professionals who work 

directly with children have the tools to put a multi-agency plan in place which is 

regularly updated and is effective.  

Page 29



 

5.3 Professionals working with children are using the newly developed Child Exploitation toolkit 

in any instance where they are concerned that a child is being exploited through sexual or 

criminal means. The Screening Tool and Risk Assessment helps identify and evaluate the 

cause of the concerns to determine whether further safeguarding investigations are needed. 

5.4 When an assessment identifies a significant or moderate risk, there is a moderation 

discussion with the Police and Health.  The purpose is to ‘moderate’ the assessments that 

are completed by all agencies to ensure we have a good understanding of CE risk across 

the County and that the right services can be put in place quickly to respond to the 

assessed risk and to ensure a consistent approach. 

5.5 A Multi Agency Child Exploitation (MACE) meeting then takes place within 15 days where 

more detailed multi agency information is shared, the risk assessment analysed, and 

actions are agreed. A plan put in place to reduce the risks. The plans produced at the 

MACE Meetings will consider actions required to ‘prevent’ an escalation of the risks 

identified, ‘protect’ the young person from ongoing exploitation, and ‘pursue’ those exploiting 

the young person to disrupt their activity. MACE Plans are effective in managing risk 

through an understanding, and response to, young people’s experiences of significant harm 

beyond their families, by recognising that the different relationships that young people form 

in their neighbourhoods, schools and online can feature violence and abuse. The multi-

agency planning, and contextual safeguarding works alongside whole family, relationship-

based work with parents, carers and extended family to ensure children are protected within 

and outside of their homes.   

6. Child Protection Plans 

6.1 Where safeguarding concerns have been identified about a child, a Strategy Discussion will 

take place with police and other relevant agencies and a decision is made about whether 

section 47 enquiries need to take place. If the section 47 enquiries conclude that concerns 

of significant harm are substantiated and the child is judged to be suffering, or likely to 

suffer, significant harm a child protection conference is be convened.  

6.2 The timing of the conference should depend on the urgency of the situation and respond to 

the needs of the child and the nature and severity of the harm they may be facing.’ Working 

Together to Safeguard Children’ states that it should take place within 15 working days of a 

Strategy Discussion, or the Strategy Discussion at which section 47 enquiries were initiated 

if more than one has been held.  

6.3 The conference is a multi-agency meeting with professionals who know the child where a 

decision is made as to whether a multi-agency Child Protection (CP) plan is required to 

safeguard the child. 

6.4 The table below shows the number of children who were the subject of a conference 

alongside the number of conferences which have taken place during the year. Some 

conferences will consider sibling groups and not all conferences result in a child becoming 

subject to a CP Plan and  

April 2018 to 
March 2019 

Number of children 
conferenced 

Number of 
conferences 

ICPC 569 276 

RCPC 879 436 

Total 1448 712 

Page 30



 

 

6.5 As detailed above, Working Together states that a conference should take place 

within 15 working days of a Strategy Discussion. The table below details the 

timeliness of this performance indicator per child. 

6.6 In April 2018 there were sickness and recruitment issues within the business support 

team (ICRS) who arrange all conferences reducing their capacity to respond to 

requests immediately which accounts for the very poor performance of only 10.5%. 

However, this does not account for the generally poor performance overall which is 

more usually due to information being provided late to ICRS by the social work teams.  

6.7 Timeliness continues to be an issue and is due to a combination of late notification to 

ICRS and social work teams not providing the required information within the agreed 

timescales. There are occasions when there is not a room or CP Chair available, but 

this is not significant. Each conference which is likely to be late is highlighted to the 

senior manager for their information and avoiding action where possible, and 

escalated to the Designated Safeguarding Manger.  

6.8 It was agreed in October 2018 that because of poor conference attendance by partner 

agencies (quoracy) due to the short notice provided, that we would always give them 

5 working days’ notice for an Initial Child Protection Conference (ICPC). This has 

ensured that quoracy generally remains high which enables effective and improved 

multi agency decision making but has impacted on timeliness.  

6.9 The lack of health information for school age children has been generally very poor so 

was perused through the DSCB which resulted in the CCG recruiting 2 Specialist 

Safeguarding Nurses in April 2019. This is already having a significant impact on the 

Page 31



 

contribution of health for school age children at conferences. They are also supporting 

the work being undertaken with GPs due to a very poor response rate to requests for 

reports for conferences. 

6.10 At the end of March 2019 there were 328 children subject to a Child Protection (CP 

Plan) in Dorset.  

6.11 The table below shows the number of children subject to a CP Plan over 2018-2019 

peaking in February 2019 and then reducing and continuing with a downward trend to 

date. 

 

 

6.12 The rate detailed below shows a very low rate in April 2018, rising and levelling off in 

September 2018 to generally remain between the south west and statistical neighbour 

rate. The small peak in April 2019 was most likely due to the formation of the two new 

unitary authorities with the immediate loss of 22 children subject to a CP Plan who 

lived in Christchurch. 

 

6.13 The table below details the number of new and ceased plans each month with the grey line 

detailing the percentage of those new CP Plans within 2 years of a previous CP Plan 

ending.  

251 250 251
271

315
335 333 339 329 342 349

328 316 303 306 292 297 288

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

A
p

r-
1

8

M
ay

-1
8

Ju
n

-1
8

Ju
l-

1
8

A
u

g-
1

8

Se
p

-1
8

O
ct

-1
8

N
o

v-
1

8

D
ec

-1
8

Ja
n

-1
9

Fe
b

-1
9

M
ar

-1
9

A
p

r-
1

9

M
ay

-1
9

Ju
n

-1
9

Ju
l-

1
9

A
u

g-
1

9

Se
p

-1
9

2018 - 2019 2019 - 2020

Child Protection Plans - Numbers

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

A
p

r-
1

7

M
ay

-1
7

Ju
n

-1
7

Ju
l-

1
7

A
u

g-
1

7

Se
p

-1
7

O
ct

-1
7

N
o

v-
1

7

D
ec

-1
7

Ja
n

-1
8

Fe
b

-1
8

M
ar

-1
8

A
p

r-
1

8

M
ay

-1
8

Ju
n

-1
8

Ju
l-

1
8

A
u

g-
1

8

Se
p

-1
8

O
ct

-1
8

N
o

v-
1

8

D
ec

-1
8

Ja
n

-1
9

Fe
b

-1
9

M
ar

-1
9

A
p

r-
1

9

M
ay

-1
9

Ju
n

-1
9

Ju
l-

1
9

A
u

g-
1

9

Se
p

-1
9

Child Protection Plans - Rate
CP Plan Rate per 10,000

Statistical Neighbour Average Rate

National Rate

South West Rate

Page 32



 

6.14 The table below details the percentage of new children being made subject to a CP plan 

again. The grey line shows most of these were on a plan previously over 2 years ago. 

 

6.15 Some analysis of this took place by an external auditor who looked at children made 

subject to a CP plan for a second time between September 2018 and January 2019. 

Of those children (55): 

 24% had been the subject of a CP plan within the previous 12 months. 

 27% had been the subject of a CP plan within the previous 1-2 years. 

 49% had been the subject of a CP plan over 2 or more years ago. 
6.16 Overall 64% of all repeat CP plans were as a direct or indirect result of the risk posed 

by domestic abuse to the children in the family. Over 60 % featured parental 

substance misuse in the form of either drugs or alcohol (or both) and 47% featured 

poor maternal mental health, often where abusive relationships had been present.  

6.17 The general themes identified included: 

 a lack of evidence of effective tools/measures being used to support both 
identification and assessment of domestic abuse, neglect and substance 
misuse.  

0.0%

20.0%

40.0%

60.0%

80.0%

Apr-18 May-18 Jun-18 Jul-18 Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19

% of new children previously on a CP Plan 

Total new who were previously CP (%)

New CPP 2+ years after previous CP Plan ceased

New CPP within 1-2 years of previous CP Plan ceasing

New CPP within 1 year of previous CP Plan ceasing

27

36 38
44

52
46

39
44

35

46
40 38

28

38

30
27

7

26

45

33

42

33
30

79

7.4 0.0
2.6 11.4

9.6 8.7

12.8

20.5
22.9

4.3

0.0

5.3

0

10

20

30

40

50

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

Apr-18 May-18 Jun-18 Jul-18 Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19

N
ew

 C
P

 P
la

n
s 

w
it

h
in

 2
 y

ea
rs

 o
f 

p
re

vo
p

io
u

s 
C

P
 

P
la

n
 c

ea
si

n
g 

(%
) 

N
u

m
b

er
 n

ew
 a

n
d

 c
ea

se
d

Child Protection during month - New and Ceased

New CPP Ceased CPP % of New CP Plans within 2 years of previous CP Plan Ceasing

Page 33



 

 evidence of patterns of behaviours in parenting recurring throughout children’s 

lives with no effective change and sometimes a lack of professional curiosity 

as to why this may be and/or consideration as to the cycle of change. 

 inconsistency in the understanding in relation to the typologies and therefore 

dynamics of domestic abuse, particularly in relation to Coercive Control.  

 a lack of intervention/programmes available for families who want to stay 

together where there is domestic abuse. 

 at times there is a reliance on separation and/or no further physical incidents 

in judging whether the risk is reduced. This approach does not consider that 

the risk often increases at separation and this may also lead to disguised 

compliance in families. 

 In relation to Neglect, there is minimal evidence of the use of home conditions 

scale or graded care tool to develop targeted plans or measure effectiveness. 

6.18 Other themes identified were similar to those identified and continue to be identified in 

the monthly managers audits such as drift and delay, poor CiN planning, frequency of 

supervision and outline CP plans not always translated into detailed and focussed 

plans at core groups.  

6.19 This report was referenced in the monthly managers audit report shared with all 

managers for reflection and discussion with their teams. 

6.20 The development of a ‘Dashboard’ in July 2019 for managers and CP Chairs, 

facilitates the ability for closer monitoring and scrutiny of certain indicators - Repeat 

CP Plans, duration of CP Plans and statutory visits. This will support the quality 

assurance function of the CP Chairs to help identify where they need to concentrate 

their efforts. 

6.21 At the end of March 2019 there were 13 more boys than girls subject to a CP Plan; 

the table below illustrates the distribution through all ages. 

 

6.22 The age range where there are more boys subject to a CP plan is between the ages of 5 

and 9 years old which roughly correlates with an increased number of boys Looked After 

for this age group which needs further exploration. 

6.23 Overwhelmingly the ethnicity of children subject to a CP Plan at the end of March 2019 

was White British (72%). Concerningly 22% had either nothing recorded or had ‘not 

0

5

10

15

20

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 16+

N
u

m
b

er

Age in years

Male-Female age distribution at year end

Female Male

Page 34



 

stated’ as recorded. This changed dramatically in September due to a concerted effort to 

update demographics to specifically include ethnicity because Dorset had been notified 

of the visit by Ofsted. It is likely that had Ofsted not been visiting this level of poor 

recording of ethnicity would likely have continued. 

6.24 The table below shows the duration of child protection plans with the red line detailing the 

overall percentage of those currently on a CP Plan for 2 years or more. At the end of 

March 2019, it had reduced to 2.1%. There was one child that has been on a CP Plan for 

longer than 3 years but was de planned in April 2019. 
 

 

6.25 The below table details those children on a CP Plan who have a disability recorded on 

mosaic. This does not accurately reflect a true picture and numbers are likely to be 

more because we know that disabilities are not always recorded properly on mosaic 

by the social workers.  

 

95
114 110

139
160

177
161 157 150 148 138 138

63
48 54

48

67
58 80 84 86 87

88 78
52 52 51

44

43

62 54 60
55 70 84

76

35 30 30

35

32

29 32
35

34
33 35

29

3 3 3

2

10

9 6
2

3
3

3

6

3 3 3

3

3

0 1
1

1
1

1

2.4% 2.4% 2.4%

4.8%

4.1%

2.7%

1.8% 1.8%

1.2% 1.2%

2.0%
2.1%

0.0%

1.0%

2.0%

3.0%

4.0%

5.0%

6.0%

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

Apr-18 May-18 Jun-18 Jul-18 Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19

P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

 2
 y

ea
rs

 o
r 

m
o

re
 

D
u

ra
ti

o
n

 in
 m

o
n

th
s

Child Protection - CPP duration of plan in months 

0-3 4-6 7-12 13-24 25-36 37+ % of CPP  2 years or more

8 8 8
7

11
10

11 11 11
12

10
9

0

3

6

9

12

15

Apr-18 May-18 Jun-18 Jul-18 Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19

Those with CPP with a disability

Page 35



 

6.26 The table below details those children at the end of each month who were also looked 

after. Children and their families should not be subjected to two processes running 

alongside each other particularly when in the court arena as they are safeguarded and 

monitored by other means appropriately. These numbers should remain low and there 

is a continued focus on these children, but some managers at times are reluctant to 

agree to de planning. Where this is an issue it is raised with a more senior manager 

for their action 

 

6.27 The table below shows timeliness of Child Protection visits with the red line detailing the 

percentage of visits completed on time. There has been a continued focus on this 

indicator with a Management Instruction Note issued and reporting on this in the monthly 

audit report which unfortunately has had little or no impact. This is further complicated by 

the way that mosaic records calendar days, not weekly or fortnightly. This has caused 

significant confusion for social workers who do not fully understand why if they visit one 

week and then the next week, they are still advised that the visit is late. 

 

6.28 Further analysis of this indicator more recently shows that most visits that are now recorded 

as being late are generally only between 1-3 days late. There is now work being undertaken 

with the mosaic team to be able to more accurately record weekly and fortnightly in mosaic 

5

6

5

6

5 5

3

8 8

3

5

3

0

3

6

9

Apr-18 May-18 Jun-18 Jul-18 Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19

Those with CPP who are also LAC

156
208 181 163

245
184

215 189
150

296

173 200

310
365

276
308 315

255

327
259 273

430
364 348

56.8% 56.8%

49.6% 51.3%
45.9%

40.8%
45.4%

39.5%
43.4%

51.9% 52.7%
48.6%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

Apr-18 May-18 Jun-18 Jul-18 Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19

P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

 o
n

 t
im

e

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
vi

si
ts

Timeliness of CP Visits

Completed Late Completed On Time Overdue % of CP visits completed on time

Page 36



 

which will mean that if children are visited in the correct week, they will not be counted as 

late. 

6.29 The table below indicates the category of abuse. 

 

6.30 ‘Neglect’ is by far the most used category which is due to the inclusion of children who 

are witnessing or hearing domestic abuse being included. This is because there is a 

view that their parents or carers are neglecting to protect them from the potential 

emotional harm from the presence of domestic abuse in the home and are therefore 

not categorised under ‘Emotional’. This accounts for a higher percentage of ‘Neglect’ 

and a lower percentage of ‘Emotional’ categories used than our comparators. 

Otherwise the differences are broadly similar to our comparators. 

6.31 Referrals to the Advocacy Service for children being conferenced was extremely poor 

during 2018/19 despite CP Chairs asking the question during the conference and 

raising this with managers. In view of this and there being a similar problem for looked 

after children in their LAC Reviews an ‘Opt out’ process was agreed for all children 

aged over 8 years old. This was implemented in April 2019 and has increased both 

the referral rate and subsequent offer of an advocate for all children aged 8 or over for 

children being conferenced which is very positive.  

6.32 Previously minutes of conferences were being handed to the allocated social worker 

with the agreement that they would take these and go through them with families. 

Rarely was there any evidence of this taking place and on many occasions, families 

told us that they had never had them. We subsequently implemented a safe way of 

emailing these to families to help them better understand why decisions had been 

made and what was expected of them to make their children safer. Feedback from 

families has been very positive.  

6.33 Regular team meetings take place with CP Chairs and the business support staff who 

support the conference function where our performance data is scrutinised and ideas 

for improvements and developments are discussed and acted upon. 

 

51 43 34 38 48 51 40 33 30 35 32 36

185
184 189

199

225
240 254 260

239
249 263 240

36 13 17
25

29
28 23 29

31
28

24
26

6 10 11

9

13
16 16 17

29
30 30

26

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

Apr-18 May-18 Jun-18 Jul-18 Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19

Child Protection by Plan Category - Number

Sexual

Physical

Neglect and
physical

Neglect

Emotional

Page 37



 

7. Going Forward 

7.1 We recognise that the current format for holding conferences in Dorset needs to 

change to improve outcomes for children. Initial work was carried out following 

consultation with Essex with some basic changes being made but further changes 

were put on hold due to a change in the strategic direction of children’s services 

overall. A workshop is now being facilitated under the Blueprint for Change with the 

CP Chairs together with the IROs on 12 November 2019 to look at what we can do 

more of and better, to support and improve outcomes for children and in particular 

looking at the child’s whole journey. 

7.2 The following are areas identified for improvement with some already having taken 

place since April 2019 

 Strengthen the QA role of the CP Chair further to reduce drift and delay. 

 Strengthen the escalation process to include tracking centrally to target where 
we can make more of a difference. 

 Enhance the tracking of distribution of Cards designed by children for children 
to support their understanding of ‘what is going on’ and to be able to better 
hear their voice. 

 Develop a mosaic monitoring form for each CP Conference that is currently 
tracked manually. 

 Work with the mosaic team to identify and record what factors that impact on 
parenting are present for families whose children are conferenced to inform 
practice and learning.  

 Develop a midway brief review by the CP Chair to reduce drift and delay and 
highlight any concerns at the earliest opportunity. 

 CP Chairs to become part of the managers who moderate audits to raise their 
profile and support their role as consultant experts. 

 Exploration of a whole authority response to parental issues such as domestic 
abuse, substance misuse and parental mental health given its prevalence in 
families where children are subject to a CP Plan. 

 

Page 38



20 November 2019 at 4.00pm

Informal Meeting of the People Scrutiny Committee

In attendance:  Cllr Stella Jones, Cllr Mary Penfold, Cllr Mark Roberts, Cllr Maria Roe, 
Mary Taylor (Corporate Director – Care & Protection (Acting) and 
Lee Ellis (Scrutiny Officer).

Apologies:          None received.

Annual Safeguarding Report - Children's 2018-19 

An overview was provided by the Corporate Director – Care & Protection (Acting) on 
the Cabinet Annual Safeguarding Report - Children's 2018-19, attached at Appendix 
1. 

Brief discussion was held on the following:-

 Safeguarding Children Partnership arrangements;
 Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP);
 Unregistered Placements for Looked After Children;
 Unregulated Placements /Supported Housing; 
 Exploitation and County Lines/ Exploitation Work Kit; 
 Child Protection Plans/How Dorset Council compared with other Authorities/Home 

Educating.  A Member raised why wasn’t there a sub-group for domestic abuse?  
Confirmed that there was a sub-set elsewhere as a multi-agency group, therefore 
it would be a duplication;   

 Way Forward/Blue Print for Change/Quality Assurance/Escalation of Issues that 
can’t be resolved/Child Conference Chairs/Tracked Cases/Response as One 
Council:

 Confirmed that Mosaic was a recording system used by Dorset Council and was 
also used by some other local authorities;

 Discussion around MASH (Multi Agency Safe Guarding) and an explanation 
provided on its background/current status; and 

 Relationship between Children’s Services and Academies/Localities based around 
schools.

RECOMMENDATION 

Members supported the plans and actions contained within the going forward 
document to address the areas identified for improvement. 

Voting: Unanimous  

Meeting Ended 4:45pm  

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



Date of Meeting: 10 December 2019 

Portfolio Holder: Cllr A Parry, Children, Education and Early Help

Local Member(s): All Councillors

Executive Director: Sarah Parker, Executive Director of People - Children

Executive Summary:

1.1 This briefing is provided to Members to share detailed information about the financial 
pressures faced by the Council and local schools in providing services to children 
with additional needs including Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) 
through its nationally allocated High Needs Block (HNB) funding. The report sets out 
strategic aims for the next 5 years to address these pressures.

1.2 High Needs funding is one of the four funding blocks within the Dedicated School 
Grant (DSG) for the Council. The Council has authority regarding funding decisions 
about the DSG allocations including allocation of funding from the high needs block, 
although it is required to consult the local Schools’ Forum (a school stakeholders’ 
body) who also hold some regulatory powers for specific circumstances. 

1.3 The vision for the strategy is to reduce the overspend on the HNB budget by meeting 
the needs of Children and Young People (CYP) at the earliest opportunity, with the 
right intervention(s). To meet the needs of our CYP with SEND in mainstream 
provision and within the community wherever possible. The strategy focuses on 
medium to long term system change to reduce demand with the aim of managing the 
overspend by reducing demand over time, without detriment of CYP’s outcomes.

1.4 The strategic aims to realise the vision are as follows:

- Ensure there is a clear and comprehensive partnership system for assessing 
children’s needs, to identify interventions required at the earliest opportunity.

- Ensure there is clear accountability for partners in SEND provision. 
- Ensure there is consistent support to CYP with additional needs, including SEND, 

within mainstream settings, delivered to CYP at the earliest opportunity, which is 
free at the point of delivery for the schools.

- Ensure teachers, Early Years providers and professionals are adequately trained 
and equipped to provide interventions to meet the needs of CYP with additional 
needs, including SEND.

- Move towards greater inclusivity in mainstream settings. They adequately and 
consistently meet the needs of CYP with additional needs, including SEND, 
wherever possible.

Cabinet
High Needs Block Reduction Strategy 

Page 41

Agenda Item 8



- Further Education (FE) provision to be high quality and have sufficient capacity, 
meeting the needs (current and preparation for adulthood) of post 16 CYP with 
SEND, to enable positive outcomes for this cohort.

- There is sufficient capacity within special settings for CYP with SEND to have 
their needs met within their community, wherever possible.

- EHCP processes are efficient, putting the CYP at the heart of the process, 
streamline and clear for CYP and their families.

- Needs of the Dorset population are understood, and projections are used to 
inform strategy and policy. Accurate data sets exist and are used to ensure 
outcomes of CYP can be accurately analysed within this strategy, and for wider 
SEND service improvement.

- Ensure that effective transition planning occurs for all children with additional 
needs, from early years to further education, with consistent processes to result 
in smooth transitions, which will reduce crisis.

- Financial spend on SEND is clear, reported on and reviewed, ensuring that value 
for money is analysed alongside outcomes for the CYP. 

1.5 The priorities selected to realise the strategic aims are as follows:

- 1.a. Work with Public Health colleagues to develop a manageable ‘integrated 
check’ for two-year olds, integrating key information from the ASQ3 health check 
and the statutory education check, involving parents in the process and 
establishing this as part of the early identification pathway. 

- 1.b. Ensure the findings from the 2-2.5yr ‘integrated check’, follow the early 
identification pathway to access the right interventions where additional needs 
are highlighted at the earliest opportunity.   

- 2.a.   Create a consistent vocabulary to be used by all professionals (education, 
health, social care, schools) to describe need, ensuring SENCOs are well versed 
and champion use of shared terminology.  Regular audit of EHCPs to determine 
if vocabulary has been applied correctly and if there has been involvement from 
other services.  

- 2.b. In partnership with schools, develop and disseminate a clear and consistent 
graduated response and embed across all settings. The graduated response to 
be standardised and informed by evidenced based practices. 

- 2.c. Develop and disseminate clear, integrated referral pathways, and analysing 
outcomes. Establish pathways for early help localities to co-ordinate health 
visitors, providers, settings, and the Authority on SEND, including providing 
training and support.

- 2.d. Develop and re-model the early intervention offer to mainstream settings, to 
be free at the point of delivery for mainstream settings, to address needs of CYP 
with SEND, regardless of EHCP. Explore models to deliver: EP and SENNS 
direct delivery; interventions commissioned by EP and SENSS; passporting 
money to the schools and QA by EPs and SENSS.  

- 3.a.  Audit the qualifications and training of education staff to understand what 
skills are within the sector, and the areas that need to be addressed.

- 3.b. Plan for system leadership to promote inclusion across the education sector. 
This model to provide a robust offer to the sector for: peer to peer support, 
consistent graduated response, meeting needs through interventions, 
identification of additional needs. Prototype special schools and CCN bases 

Page 42



providing outreach to mainstream settings. Facilitated by the Local Authority but 
support for settings to come from the system. 

- 4.a. Following consultation with Schools Forum, from Year 2 or 3 of the strategy, 
change the funding mechanism and policy for permanent exclusions and 
Alternate Provision (including the use of Council owned Outdoor Education 
centres), moving inclusion/AP funding to schools. The LA (EPs and SENSS) 
would QA and advise, working with schools to re-model the provision, as well as 
hold schools to account for outcomes of CYP. To facilitate this, explore the 
feasibility of establishing a model of clusters of schools to manage the inclusion 
budget with a view if successful, to devolve further funding from the HNB to 
school clusters to meet needs of CYP (funded from invest to save by reducing 
ISP).

- 4.b. Assess and review access to communication and language, SEMH and ASD 
support within the mainstream settings. This to include a review the recent work 
to expand number of CCN bases, assessing return on investment, outcomes on 
CYP and needs of the local population, in the context of remodelling of early 
intervention SEN services to determine whether to progress to build the 
additional CCN bases. 4.c. In years 1 and 2 of the strategy, prototype mixed 
attendance of alternate provision and mainstream school, addressing any 
safeguarding concerns prior to commencing. Feed the results into the re-
modelling of alternate provision with schools.

- 5.a. Remodel maintained FE provision to ensure sufficiency of places, to be able 
to meet needs of CYP with SEND, and with a focus to improve outcomes, 
including supporting those CYP who wish to enter the workplace to do so. This 
may include revisiting proposals such as residential option at Kingston Maurward 
and Weymouth Colleague SEND provision.

- 5.b. Establish regular sufficiency and quality assessments for FE provision
- 5.c. Work with stakeholders, including maintained special school sixth forms, to 

plan transitions, and alternate pathways (other than to ISP) for CYP with SEND.
- 5.d. Outcomes of CYP with SEND in FE colleges are regularly reported on and 

reviewed, with a view to working with colleges to implement action plans to 
improve outcomes where necessary.

- 6.a. Develop a 3-5-year robust place planning strategy, considering the increase 
in places from recently opened Harbour School, for special provision, projecting 
demographic needs/changes and address gaps in provision. 

- 6.b. Assess and audit the CYP in special school provision to facilitate better 
knowledge of provision and return CYP from maintained special schools to 
mainstream schools where appropriate.

- 7.a. Embed the revised process for EHCP, developed with EQLean, reducing 
waste, waiting times.

- 8.a. Project to cleanse data and ensure accurate baselines are set.
- 8.b. Understanding of money spent and outcomes on CYP with additional needs 

including SEND are well understood to facilitate better value for money.
- 9.a. Processes developed and embedded for clear transition plans, developed 

with the CYP and parent. Pathways are considered at an earlier stage involving 
SEND staff and EPs.

- 9.b For the first two years of the strategy, establish a project to focus on CYP with 
SEND approaching a transition within the next 2 years, and prioritise these 
transition plans, to avoid usage of ISPs. With a view for this to be embedded into 
practice across the board from year 3 of the strategy

Page 43



- 10a. Review of the HNB budget and budget holders to ensure each budget line 
accurately represents the purpose of the spend. 

- 10.b. Establish a project to establish and embed accounting for spend on the 
journey of each CYP, measured against outcomes for the CYP.

- 11.a. Ensure that Health and Wellbeing Board have a clear role in analysing and 
developing the contribution of partners. 

- 11.b. Ensure that Health and Wellbeing Board have strategic level information to 
drive high and low level commissioning of services, including constitutions to 
individual high needs cases. 

1.6 It is intended for the majority of the strategy to commence at the start of the financial 
year 2020-21.  Some immediate measures will be actioned, where it is possible to do 
so, upon approval of the strategy.
 

1.7 Table 1. DSG Funding Allocation FY 2019/20

2019-20 Early Years 
Block

Schools 
Block

High Needs 
Block

Central Schools 
Services Block

Allocation 
£

16.4m 194.0m 35.7m 1.9m

Note – figures shown before Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) recoupment of academy 
funding. Academy schools are funded directly by the ESFA.

1.8 Since the change in legislation in 2014, there has been significant and growing 
spend on the High Needs budget. An overspend of £6.5 million, with potential for an 
additional £1m of risk, is projected for 2019/20. This would result in a cumulative 
retained debt of approximately £22m held on Dorset Council balance sheet at the 
end of the period. The following table shows the issue we need to address, the in-
year overspend has grown in the last 5 years within the context of the growth of the 
retained debt.

1.9 Table 2. In Year and Cumulative Deficit, last 5 FYs

13-14 14-15 15-16 16-17 17-18 18-19 19-20 
projected

In year 
outturn 
position £

3.337m 1.549m -5.617m -4.649m -6.05m -6.5m

Cumulative 
Balance  £

2.282
m

5.619m
*

1.549m -4.068 -8.717m -14.767 -21.3m

*Surplus balance returned to schools at the request of the Schools Forum.

1.10 This strategy aims to reduce the overspend and bring it in line with grant funding 
over a five-year period, by shifting resources to meet needs at an earlier stage. It has 
been agreed with the Department for Education (DfE) that it is not achievable to 
develop a deficit recovery plan, due to the historic underfunding of services which 
caused the retained deficit. Additional funding announced for 2020-21 of £2.8m to 
Dorset will help but will not solve the issues. The level of operational savings 

Page 44



required to bridge the current in-year overspend alone precludes any realistic 
opportunity of also reducing any historic deficit through this mechanism. 

1.11 Any local authority that holds a deficit greater than 1% of the total DSG were 
required to submit a recovery plan to the ESFA during summer 2019. This situation 
was applicable to Dorset and therefore a plan was submitted to the DfE to tackle the 
in year overspend. The DFE did not require Dorset Council to submit plans to tackle 
historic debt, following communication from the Executive Director for People – 
Children. 

1.12 This paper sets out an initial analysis of the potential short-term options as well as 
strategic aims and priorities to meet the vision through re-modelling and demand 
management, with the aim of addressing the gap between allocated funding and 
projected expenditure of the High Needs budget. The High Needs Block funding is 
spent on services to children and therefore this report highlights where reductions in 
spend will impact on children.

1.13 The tables (below) summarise the estimated maximum contribution to the 
overspend reduction from each option – subject to member confirmation that such 
initiatives impacting on children are acceptable. Options have been broadly 
categorised in terms of:

 options for savings through operational efficiencies/better value for money, 
short term (largely within the direct control of the local authority to implement)

 options to redeploy funding from other DSG funding blocks toward the HNB 
overspend (subject to regulatory framework and sign off from the Schools 
Forum and/or Secretary of State)

 options that will require a whole system, including Health partners, 
remodelling over the medium to longer term (managing demand through 
system change). These options have strategic aims set, baseline levels set 
and performance indicators and targets for the life of the strategy planned. 
Given the nature of quantifying savings yielded from early interventions, 
savings have been estimated using indicative cost savings in meeting 
performance indicator targets with known current spends on these measures.

All options also need to be assessed with regard to their impact on children and 
school budgets. A traffic light system showing the relative impact of the option is 
included in the tables

Page 45



Table 3. Summary of estimated maximum contribution to overspend reduction

 

 

 Table 4: Options for Service Efficiencies 

Table 5 Options to Re-deploy/Maximise DSG Funding

Options 19-20
£

20-21
£

21-22
£

22-23
£

23-24
£

Efficiencies 159k 640k
Redeploym
ent of 
Funds

 3000k 3000k 3000k

Policy & 
System 
Change

1953k 3444k 4803k 6181k

TOTAL 
CONTRIB
UTION £
(If all 
Options 
Implement
ed)

159k 2593k 6444k 7803k 9181k

OPTION 19-20
£

20-21
£

21-22
£

22-23
£

23-24
£

24-25
 £

Impact: 
children Impact: 

schools
Change to 
funding for 
CYP dual-
registered to 
schools and 
Learning 
Centres

17.5k 70k - - - - G G

Increase 
places at 
maintained 
special 
schools 
beyond current 
capacity

142.5k 570k - - - - G A

TOTAL £ 159k 640k - - - -

Page 46



Table 6 Policy and Systemic Change Options 

OPTION 19-20
£

20-21
£

21-22
£

22-23
£

23-24
£

24-25
£

Im
pact: children

Im
pact: schools

Schools Block Dis-
application (maximum 
at 1.5% subject to 
permission of the 
Secretary of State)

3m 3m 3m 3m R  R

TOTAL £ 3m 3m 3m 3m

OPTION 19-20
£

20-21
£

21-22
£

22-23
£

23-24
£

23-24
£

Im
pact: 

children

Im
pact: 

schools

Reduction in 
number of 
Permanent 
Exclusions (PEX)

- 600k 600k 600k 600k 600k G G

Reduction in the 
number ISP 
placements Pre-
16

- 320k 640k 960k 1280
k

1600
k

G G

Reduction in 
number FE ISPs

- 919k 1431k 1943k 2455
k

2967
k

G G

Reduction in 
increase and in 
number of 
EHCPs

- 114k 773k 1300k 1846
k

2484
k

G G

Total - 1953k 3444k 4803k 6181
k

7651
k

Equalities Impact Assessment:
This paper discusses the provision for children with SEND. In that respect it is important 
to ensure there is a clear evidence base to funding changes in relation to the impact on 
children. 

Page 47



Budget: 
This paper details the arrangements for managing the High Needs Block overspend. The 
paper highlights risk to both Council and school budgets. It seeks to balance the 
statutory requirement to provide services for young people with available funding. 

Risk Assessment: 

Having considered the risks associated with this decision, the level of risk has been 
identified as:
Current Risk: HIGH
Residual Risk MEDIUM

Unmanaged expenditure on the provision for children with SEND will result in significant 
risk to council reserves. Management of the DSG deficit in collaboration with schools is 
essential. In order to achieve a long-term balanced budget, it is important to develop a 
long-term sustainable view of Dorset provision, working within the funds allocated by 
central government. 

Climate implications:

SEND provision can be far from a child’s home. The climate implications of extensive 
transport requirements are large. This paper helps to address this by prioritising 
provision for children in mainstream or more local Dorset provision, thus reducing the 
overall need for transport based solutions.  

Other Implications:

Failure to meet statutory responsibilities in respect of the provision for SEND exposes 
the council to additional financial and reputational risk. 

Recommendations:

The Council in conjunction with its Schools will need to shortly make decisions about 
managing the overspend to within the available DSG funds.

Recommendation 1: Members agree the short term/immediate need for action to 
address the High Needs Block overspend, taking into account the impact on children 
and schools as set out in this briefing.(Reference: Section 4.1) 

Recommendation 2: Members approve the strategic aims and priorities as set out in this 
paper. Resultingly, instruct officers to undertake further forensic examination of 
opportunities to meet the strategic aims, including breakdown of spending and projected 
savings and more detailed modelling of impact on individual & groups of children and 
Schools. (Reference: Sections 1.4, 1.5 , 1.6 and Section 4.2)  

Recommendation 3: In the light of the detrimental effect on individual school budgets 

Page 48



Members agree not to pursue a block transfer of funds from the schools block to the high 
needs block for the next 3 years. These are the financial years 21/22, 22/23, 23/24. 
(Reference: Section 4.2) 

Reason for Recommendations:
Given the value of annual and accumulated deficit failure to address these will result in a 
significant future pressure. In the meantime, the deficit remains on the council balance 
sheet, subject to DfE funding rules. 

It is essential to balance the provision for children with SEND with the cumulative 
demand for school budgets to balance. 

In the particular case of a block funding transfer from school budgets to the high needs 
block; this lessens the ability of schools to operate inclusively and presents additional 
challenges to their budgets which are already amongst the lowest funded in the country. 
An inclusive mainstream provision for children is required as a condition necessary to 
achieve high needs overspend reduction. To reduce funding to mainstream schools 
prevents them from being able to deliver this element of the overall strategy.

Appendices:
There are no appendices

Background Papers:

Officer Contact: 
Name:Mark Blackman, Corporate Director for Education and Learning
Tel: 01305 224770
Email: mark.blackman@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

Page 49



1. Proposal and Issues

1.1. The Council receives funding for children with additional needs, especially 
SEND, through the High Needs Block, one of the four blocks of money within 
the ring-fenced Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG). The High Needs budget is 
defined for the support of children whose costs are more than £10,000 and so 
is deployed against a broad range of provision, both within mainstream schools 
and special schools. This includes “top-up funding” and “place funding” to CYP 
within mainstream and special schools with EHCPs, and support for CYP, by 
means of specialist interventions in education, with additional needs before 
meeting the threshold to require an EHCP. 

1.2. On a budget of £36.9m in 2018-19 the overspend was £6.05m across a range 
of services. In 2019-20 the forecast overspend is £6.5m as per the quarter 2 
financial report to Cabinet. The cumulative deficit held on Dorset accounts will 
be around £22m by the end of 2019-20. The deficit is so large that in year 
spending reduction in any single year will not be able to wholly address this.

1.3.Three overarching factors are identified as driving the considerable overspend 
on the delivery of services to children and young people with SEND:

1.3.1. Comparatively low level of central DfE grant funding

1.3.1.1. Historically, as a proportion of the DSG, spend against the higher needs 
costs in Dorset was higher than in other local authorities (to meet the 
priorities set locally at the time). The introduction of the 2018 HNB funding 
formula has disadvantaged Dorset’s funding for HNB to the benefit of the 
Schools Block. 

1.3.1.2. The DSG used to be a single funding element which the LA divided into the 
budgets it needed.  Relative to other LAs DCC put more into high needs than 
schools. When the DfE split the DSG into (initially 3 blocks) the DfE used 
historic spend as the method of splitting it.  Then when they introduced a 
formula for high needs the formula allocated 50% of the funding through the 
new formula and 50% through historic spend meaning our high needs 
historic was therefore higher than the formula would have given us.  So, as 
they introduce more through formula, the funding for DC reduces to meet 
100% through formula. This has been offset by increases in the Schools and 
Early Years Blocks, but the Schools Block is now becoming more tightly 
ringfenced.    

1.3.2. Raised demand with disproportionately small increase in funding. 

1.3.2.1. In 2014, the Children and Families Act was introduced, requiring substantial 
reform of the provision for children and young people with SEND, extending 
the eligible age range up to 25 years, from 19, and raising parental and 
stakeholder expectation of enhanced provision. No additional funds were 
allocated to Local Authorities (LAs) to meet the increased demand for 
provision. Dorset is not alone in experiencing significant pressures as a 
result, nationally two thirds of LAs were overspent on their HNB 2017-18, 

Page 50



including Hampshire by £25m and Kent by £15m. More LAs are expected to 
be in deficit at the end of 2019-20.

1.3.3. Increasing demand and complexity of special educational needs and 
disability

1.3.3.1. Nationally there is a continuing increase in the number of children identified 
with SEND. Research undertaken by the Council for Disabled Children, 
2017, identified that the number of children with complex needs has 
increased by 50% in the last decade. Complex needs in respect of SEND, 
can be defined as a framework for understanding multiple interlocking needs 
that spans education, health and social issues. Nationally pupils with 
statements (and latterly EHCPs) in schools are as shown in the table below:

Table 7. Dorset and National numbers of CYP with Statements/EHCPs

January 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
National 2.8% 2.8% 2.8% 2.8% 2.8% 2.8% 2.8%
Dorset 2.7% 2.7% 2.7% 2.6% 2.5% 2.5% 2.4%

January 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
National 2.8% 2.8% 2.8% 2.8% 2.9% 3.1%
Dorset 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 2.6% 2.8% 3.4%

1.3.3.2. In Dorset the population of children with SEND is expected to continue to 
grow, although any forecast will be a best estimate and will subject to 
change.

1.3.4. There is limited ability for the Local Authority to strategically manage the HNB 
in the light of DFE regulation and Schools Forum governance functions. 

1.3.4.1. Nationally, 85% of spend in the High Needs Block is comprised of 
placements and top ups.

1.3.4.2. This leaves limited funds available to the Local Authority to put in measures 
to reduce demand, such as putting in earlier interventions without 
deployment of non DSG council funds to this area of work.

2. Financial Analysis 

2.1. Highest areas of spend were identified, using financial information regarding 
budget and overspend. Five areas have been identified as the main 
contributors to the overspend:

2.1.1. Independent Special Provision (ISP) 
2.1.1.1. Budgeted spend is over £8m for 19/20. Overspend is circa £100k. We have 

limited control over costs in the sector and recent efforts to return children 
from ISP to mainstream provision is currently balancing increase in demand 
for these placements. 

Page 51

https://councilfordisabledchildren.org.uk/news-opinion/news/numbers-children-complex-needs-50-2004
https://councilfordisabledchildren.org.uk/news-opinion/news/numbers-children-complex-needs-50-2004
https://councilfordisabledchildren.org.uk/news-opinion/news/numbers-children-complex-needs-50-2004


2.1.1.2. Children and Young People (CYP) are placed in ISP for a variety of reasons:
- High level of needs which cannot be met within maintained special school 

settings
- Lack of capacity in maintained special schools
- Parental preference in complaints and tribunals. In any case that goes to 

court, the judge will always award the institution preferred by the parent, 
unless the LA has identified provision that can meet the needs of the CYP. 
Furthermore, in some cases this leads to a residential placement due to the 
daily travel time, rather than educational needs incurring greater costs.

2.1.1.3. The cost to the LA for ISP is far greater than maintained or academy special 
provision. The cost of each placement is dependent upon the interventions 
to meet the individual needs of the CYP. We can compare averages, the 
average cost of an ISP is £60k per annum, compared to £22k per annum at 
a maintained special school. Independent schools are required to cover 
costs including profit contributions to Directors and Capital for reinvestment.

2.1.1.4. As of July 2019, 139 ISP places were funded from the HNB, 14% of total 
specialist provision, representing £8.1m spend.

2.1.1.5. The identified solution to this spend is to ensure adequate maintained and 
academy special school provision, and adequate special provision in 
mainstream settings, such as resourced provision for complex 
communication needs, to meet the needs of CYP, which is used 
appropriately. 

2.1.2. Maintained and Academy Special Schools
2.1.2.1. Funding to special schools is comprised of ‘special school places’ and ‘top 

ups’ for CYP with EHCPs. The budget for special school places FY 2019/20 
is £6.9m, budget for top ups is £5.8m with a forecast additional need of 
£500k. 

2.1.2.2. Prior to September 2019 there were 4 maintained special schools in Dorset 
and 1 academy special school, with a combined total of 676 places.  All are 
funded through the local authority funding matrix and locator formula for 
special schools.

2.1.2.3. In September 2019, a new academy special school opened, the Harbour 
School at Bovington, initially with 25 places, but increasing to 160 by 2022, 
when the new premises are built. This school will also be funded using the 
Dorset matrix and locator formula.  The DfE has agreed to build a second 
new academy special school.  Forecasting of costs includes modelling of the 
additional places. 

2.1.2.4. Special schools present greater value for money, meeting CYP’s outcomes 
at a lower cost than independent special provision. Resultingly, managing 
the HNB overspend may not result in this budget line reducing, modelling 
indicates it would reduce overall spend to increase this budget line and 
increase special school capacity, being better utilised.  

2.1.2.5. Additional capacity in special schools will only reduce spend on ISP if it 
meets current levels of demand, rather than creating additional need. 

Page 52



Therefore, it is crucial for mainstream settings to be inclusive and meet the 
needs of CYP where appropriate.

2.1.3. Independent Placements Looked After Children (LAC)
2.1.3.1. There is a budget for independent provision for Dorset’s LAC of 

£2.3m, with an overspend of £927k. This represents the portion of 
the placement for education, at 36.5% of the placement cost funded 
by the HNB.

2.1.3.2. This budget line represents the education contribution to LAC in 
residential placements. As such, there is a limited effect on reducing 
this spend, but key to work with social care.

2.1.3.3. The identified solution to this overspend is to reduce the number 
of LAC, by supporting CYP and their families to prevent CYP 
entering care. Additionally, to support CYP into sustainable foster 
placements, reducing demand for independent residential provision. 

2.1.4. Mainstream Top Ups
2.1.4.1. Budget FY 2019/20 £2.23m with £600k overspend. This budget 

line represents ‘top up’ monies paid to schools, from the HNB, for 
attendance of a CYP with an EHCP. The number of CYP with 
EHCPs has been steadily increasing.

2.1.4.2. The solution to this identified size of budget and overspend is to 
meet the needs of CYP with additional needs, including SEND, at an 
earlier stage, potentially reducing the requirement for an EHCP to be 
issued, meaning that needs do not escalate which would require 
more costly interventions. This is based on the assumption that 
interventions to meet a lower level of need are lower in volume and 
cost than interventions and services required to meet needs which 
have escalated.

2.1.5. Learning Centre Places
2.1.5.1. Learning Centres provide education to CYP who have been 

placed at the setting, as set out in their EHCP for some children, and 
as a result of permanent exclusion for others. The number of CYP 
Permanently Excluded (PEX) have increased over the last two 
academic years, 74 in 2017/18 and 103 in 2018/19. For the FY 
2019/20 this has led to an additional £600k overspend, on a budget 
on £2m.

2.1.5.2. The identified solution to this budget and overspend is to reduce 
the number of children who are permanently excluded reducing LA 
funding of Learning Centres and thinking more creatively about how 
to fund inclusion.

3. Local Context
3.1.EHCP Trends 
Table 8. EHCP numbers Dorset 2015-2018

Page 53



3.1.1. Numbers of EHCPs have been steadily increasing and have been 
forecast to continue to increase. There has been a 49% increase in CYP 
with an EHCP between May 2015 and May 2019, approximately half of 
which have been placed in a specialist setting.

3.1.2. Number of EHCPs have been projected to rise, and in 5 years’ time are 
projected to be as high as 5013 and are shown in Table 9. These have 
been based on a monthly EHCP request rate of 55 per month.

Table 9. Projected rise in EHCP by institution

Institution EHCP 
numbers
FY19/20

FY 
20/21

FY 
21/22

FY 
22/23

FY 
23/24

FY 
24/25

Specialist 
Provision

979 1136 1371 1606 1841 2076

Mainstream 
Provision

1167 1354 1634 1915 2195 2475

Other 218 253 305 358 410 462
Total 2364 2743 3310 3879 4446 5013

3.1.3. Support to CYP with additional needs varies by setting. The graduated 
response is not consistent across settings.

3.1.4. The EHCP landscape is changing, there is an increase in 
communication and language needs compared to cognitive learning 
needs. The offer needs to be flexible and adapt to changing needs of the 
population.

3.1.5. There is a high conversion rate from EHCP requests to EHCPs, at 
circa 87%.

3.1.6. There are some practices of early interventions meeting the needs of 
CYP before statutory obligation for an EHCP across early years, in 
primary and secondary settings. Though this is not consistent across the 

Page 54



county and depend on factors such as the financial sustainability of the 
setting, causing a need in some places to request an EHCP assessment 
in order to access ‘top up’ additional funding to meet the needs of the 
CYP. 

3.1.7. Early interventions offered within school settings, prior to EHCP, are 
funded from school budgets, and as a result vary in quality and amount 
of provision for the SEN Support cohort. Early intervention services e.g. 
Educational Psychology (EP) services from the LA are traded with 
schools. 

3.1.8. The percentage of CYP with additional needs identified before the age 
of 4 in Dorset is 0.6% which is below the national average of 2.6%

3.2.  Improvements to EHCP and SEN Processes

3.2.1. A project has been run using lean process mapping to evaluate a 
system wide response to reducing demand for statutory EHCPs and SEN 
provision, improving the child and family experience for getting an EHCP 
where necessary. This includes measures to manage early intervention 
to allow timely access to services.

3.3.Department for Education Recovery Plan

3.3.1. Specific strategies highlighted to the DFE for cost reductions were;
3.3.1.1. Expand the core offer from the educational psychologists’ 

service to involve assessment for prevention, not just assessments 
for EHCPs, by working with schools and families. This would have 
the effect of reducing escalation of need, thereby reducing the 
number of EHCPs. Focus on the reviews of high cost placements in 
the years leading up to transitions. This would reduce the number of 
‘emergency’ high cost placements and return higher numbers of 
CYP to mainstream schools with pre-planned support and Dorset 
special provision. If this resulted in 3% return, 4 CYPs moving from 
independent provision to mainstream provision this would result in a 
£240,000 saving.  

3.3.1.2. Part fund dual registration packages for children in mainstream 
schools with an equal contribution from the LA and the school, 
leading to a reduction in the number of permanent exclusions.

3.3.1.3. Implement change to the funding mechanism for locator 
payments for learning centres and for special school top up funding. 
This will remove any perceived disincentive for settings at capacity 
to accept additional pupils. Capital funding will be required to invest 
in future increased capacity.

3.3.1.4. Continue to increase capacity in special schools by the 
expansion in provision at one new special school.  

3.3.1.5. Opening of the additional new special school agreed in the DfE 
Wave 2 Free School SEN and AP programme. 

3.3.1.6. Reduction in number of tribunal cases leading to high cost 
placements, by improving processes and practices.

Page 55



3.4.Tribunals

3.4.1. The number of tribunals have been steady in recent months. In FY 
2018/19 there were 30 tribunals. As of November 2019, there have been 
50 tribunals FY 2019/20. Nearly half of the grounds for the tribunal were 
placement.

3.4.2. Complaints and tribunals increase spend on the HNB predominantly 
from challenges for a different provision, and rulings for a high cost 
placement. The ruling must be on the side of the parent unless the LA 
can evidence that an alternative to the requested provision can meet the 
needs of the CYP. Factors which influence the LA’s ability to evidence an 
alternate (better value for money) provision can meet the needs of the 
CYP are; sufficiency of places in maintained special schools or the ability 
of maintained provision to meet often complex needs of CYP. 

3.5.  Permanent Exclusions (PEX) and Learning Centre Provision

3.5.1. PEX numbers were consistently low (under 10 per academic year) until 
the academic year 2017/18. PEX rates in 2017/18 and 2018/19 were 73 
and 102 respectively.

3.5.2. In September 2017 a change in policy changed the funding 
arrangement for CYP dual-registered to Learning Centres and schools. 
Prior to 2017, the LA funded the placement at the Learning Centre, the 
policy changed for the cost to be borne by the school.

3.5.3. The change in funding policy, which came alongside schools feeling 
the effects of years of austerity funding has been attributed in the rise of 
PEX, increasing costs to the HNB, £600k of cost pressures for the FY 
2019/20.

3.6.Blueprint for Change - Children’s Services Restructure

3.6.1. In September 2019 Blueprint for Children` was launched, a programme 
of work across the Children’s Services directorate to improve services, 
with a vision that children are happy, thrive and able to be the best they 
can be.

3.6.2. The changes involve a re-design of the structures within Children’s 
Services and re-modelling the way services are delivered to children, 
families and with our partners i.e. schools.

3.6.3. At the time of developing this strategy, the structures for Blueprint for 
Children had not been finalised. The strategic aims and priorities have 
therefore fed into the re-design of the education and early help 
structures.

3.6.4. The principles behind Blueprint for Children relevant to the high needs 
block:

- better services - right first time, quicker, consistent, fewer complaints
- reinvestment from social care & SEN to EH and schools
- improved attainment
- reduce use of ‘late intervention’ (LAC, EHCP)

Page 56



- improving sufficiency and quality
- reduce hand offs between professionals
- efficient and quality assured processes – not quality control- reduce 

bureaucracy 
- rooted in place by multi professional teams
- easy access to services – where people are
- needs not thresholds
- proactive early help
- approach will be strengths based and restorative
- skilled and confident workforce – accountability and decisions at right level
- rooted in place by multi professional teams

3.7.SEN Improvement 

3.7.1. There is a programme of work to oversee the improvements outlined in 
the former Dorset County Council and Clinical Commissioning Group's 
Written Statement of Action (WSOA).

3.7.2. There are five priorities:

- Priority 1: Development of an education, health and care joint strategy for 
SEND

- Priority 2: Assessments, conversions and reviews of EHCPs are completed 
within the statutory timescale of 20 weeks

- Priority 3: Involving children, young people and their families in developing 
our provision and services

- Priority 4: Improve the monitoring and quality assurance
- Priority 5: Sufficiency of SEN funding and provision

3.7.3. The High Needs Block reduction strategy will be consistent with 
projects of work undertaken within the SEN improvement work, the most 
notable example as follows;

3.7.3.1. Complex Communication Needs (CCN) Resourced Provisions. 
3.7.3.2. CCN bases are situated at school sites and provide 

interventions for CYP with communication needs, enabling them to 
access specialist interventions whilst remaining in mainstream 
schools.

3.7.3.3. Strategic direction relating to CCN resourced provisions has 
moved considerably in the last five years, due to changes in 
leadership. In 2014 a review resulted in the closure of all Speech 
and Language bases, with SLCN needs to be met within 
mainstream SEND support. In 2017 direction changed and since 
new CCN bases (for children with complex communication needs as 
distinct from speech and language needs) have been built and 
several planned to open. 

3.7.3.4. Due to the programme of roll out of CCN provision, it is not 
equally accessible across the County. There are currently 2 bases in 
Dorchester, at Damers First School and The Thomas Hardye 
School, with Puddletown Middle School opening a CCN base from 

Page 57



September 2020 creating an all age through route. There are 2 
bases in the East, at Parley First School and West Moors Middle 
School. Work to complete a through route for pupils in the east was 
suspended in 2019. There is one base at the North at Gillingham 
Primary.

3.7.3.5. There are gaps in provision of CCN, notably in Weymouth and 
at secondary, middle and upper settings.

3.7.3.6. CCN bases require capital expenditure. In 2017 a plan was 
developed for through provision across the County, with funds 
secured. This resulted in the opening of bases at locations outlined.

3.7.3.7. Capital costs exceeded funding secured and as a result, a 
capital bid is required to complete the through provision across the 
county.

3.7.3.8. The schools that are willing to host a CCN base, subject to 
accommodation and capital availability are Gillingham Secondary, 
Bincombe Valley Primary School. 

3.7.3.9. It is proposed that governance for these areas comes under the 
High Needs Block reduction governance to ensure accountability for 
endeavours to reduce the HNB spend are located in the same place 
and to allow for strategic oversight across the piece.

3.8.The National Funding Formula (NFF)

3.8.1. The NFF was introduced in 2017-18 with the intention of ringfencing 
the Schools Block element of the DSG. To effect this change, the 
government is awaiting the ability to change primary legislation. In this 
interim period, a ‘soft’ formula has been put in place, allowing movement 
from the Schools Block of up to 0.5% with the permission of the Schools 
Forum, or the Secretary of State if permission not obtained from Schools 
Forum or to move more than 0.5%.

3.8.2. In 2019-20 a request to move 1.34% was denied by Schools Forum but 
approved by the Secretary of State. This was achieved by applying lower 
Minimum Per Pupils Funding Level (MPPFL) and national funding 
formula values than the government announced levels.

3.8.3. For the 2020-21 Financial Year, mandatory Minimum per Pupil Funding 
Levels (MPPFL) have been set out by the DfE and Dorset will be 
required to pay MPPFL at £5k to 11-16/18 secondary schools and £3,750 
to primary schools.  Middle Schools, Upper Schools and All Through 
schools have their own MPPF levels according to a formula. This leaves 
minimal funds to move from the Schools Block to the High Needs Block. 

3.8.4. It is being proposed that Dorset Council will not transfer funds between 
DSG Blocks next Financial Year.

3.8.5. On consideration of Dorset’s HNB overspend reduction plan, the DfE, 
in conjunction with the additional funding provided, has suggested that 
Dorset reconsider the position on movement between DSG blocks with a 
view to a potential transfer. We have effectively passed the point at which 
we could do this for 2020-21 as an application would need to have been 
sent to the Secretary of State by 28th November following consultation 
with all schools and the Schools Forum.  

Page 58



3.8.6. For Dorset to be able to transfer funds from the Schools Block to the 
High Needs Block, the formula values would need to be set low, so that 
the MPPFL is the only factor which counts towards the amount of money 
payable from the Schools Block in order to raise some further funding 
that could be moved, subject to Schools Forum/Secretary of State 
approval. This would not impact evenly on schools. 

3.8.7. A block transfer is not recommended as this limits the capacity of 
schools to provide their early help provision and other educational 
support for children before statutory application for EHCP. The ability of 
schools to provide more inclusive and provision focussed on keeping 
children in mainstream schools is predicated on ensuring that they have 
sufficient resource to do so. 

3.9.Specialist Provision
3.9.1. Dorset has 5 special schools with a total capacity of 676 (611 Dorset 

CYP currently accommodated by these schools).
3.9.2. Special schools are based in Wimborne, Beaminster, Bovington, 

Weymouth (x2), and Sturminster Newton.
3.9.3. There are two new special schools in the pipeline, The Harbour School 

which opened in temporary accommodation (pending completion of a 
new build by the DfE) in September 2019 and we have successfully bid 
for an additional special school which is under discussion with the DfE in 
terms of location and timescales. As a result, capacity is expected to rise 
to 75 when fully opened.

3.9.4. There are 979 CYP requiring special provision in Dorset, in the current 
set up of provision. This number would change if more specialist 
interventions and provision were accessible within mainstream settings.

3.9.5. Demand for special schools is increasing. Currently in 2023 it is 
anticipated that 762 Dorset CYP will be in Dorset special school settings. 

3.9.6. The agreed consensus that the demand for special school provision 
needs to reduce, and this can only be achieved by identifying additional 
needs at the earliest opportunity, with the right (and often this will mean 
more specialist interventions) delivered at the earliest opportunity, 
meeting the needs of CYP at an earlier stage. This would mean that 
settings across the county would be more inclusive, enabling CYP with 
additional needs, including SEND, to have their needs met within their 
community, improving outcomes and life chances.

3.10. Inclusion
3.10.1. Since the reforms in 2014, there has been a decrease in EHCPs 

in mainstream schools and an increase in special schools, from the 
Schools Census data.

3.10.2. Meeting the needs of CYP with additional needs, including 
SEND, within mainstream settings is the most cost-effective option. It is 
also, where it is possible to adequately meet needs within the 
mainstream setting, the best option for children and young people, 
because they remain within their community and within their support 
network and reducing a potential transition.

Page 59



3.10.3. For inclusivity to be achieved, LAs must work with school 
settings, notably headteachers and SENCOs to ensure the responsibility 
for inclusion is shared and the role of the school in this is key. 

3.10.4. Key work with the schools is to understand the cost of EHCPs 
and the outcomes of CYP. As part of the lean process mapping project 
work, it was planned that the Local Authority will work with settings to 
develop a clear graduated response.

Table 10. Number and percentage of EHCPs by provision type

Number Percentage by 
provision type

Total EHCP 2364
Specialist Provision 979 41.4 (of total 

EHCP)
Dorset Special Schools 570 58
Independent Special 
Schools 

139 14

OLA Special Schools 58 6
Dorset Resourced Provision 67 7
OLA Resourced Provision 4 0
Specialist Post 16 Institutes 53 5
Learning Centre 50 5
Supported Internships 23 2
Independent Schools 15 2
Mainstream Provision 1167 49.4 (of total 

EHCP)
Dorset Mainstream 896 77
Dorset Further Education 128 11
OLA Further Education 71 6
OLA Mainstream 45 4
EYS Funding Establishment 8 1
Non-Maintained Early Years 19 2
Other than in a school 
setting

218 9.2 (of total EHCP)

3.11. Further Education
3.11.1. Dorset has a higher percentage of post-16 CYP with SEND in 

mainstream education and training (71.7%) than England (55.7%) and 
the South West (57.3%). A lower percentage Not in Education, 
Employment or Training (NEET) and Not Known 15.2% compare to 
40.4% and 38.6% respectively. A higher percentage of supported 
internships 2.9% compared to 0.5% and 0.4% respectively.

3.11.2. The largest statistical difference is the percentage of post-16 
CYP with SEND in ISPs, at 8% compared to 1.6% in England and 1.9% 
in the South West. This has obvious cost implications as the average 
cost of ISP is £55k and mainstream FE setting is approx.£8k.

Page 60



3.12. Strategic partnership working and joint commissioning across 
education, health and social care.

3.12.1. It has been evidenced, reported at the National Fair Funding 
Conference, that those LAs with increased strategic involvement saw a 
reduction in requests for EHCPs.

3.12.2. It is necessary to have a robust joint commissioning strategy 
underpinned by robust and clear processes regarding who commissions 
and pays for which services and how each organisation contributes. 
Integrated decision making is key to achieving this.

3.12.3. There is a joint commissioning strategy in development.
 

4. Options and Analysis of Options for short-term cost reduction/In-Year Savings

4.1.Option 1: Change in policy to funding for CYP dual-registered to schools and 
Learning Centres.

4.1.1. It is proposed that there is a change, in the short-term, to the funding 
mechanism to schools for dual registration of pupils, to incentivise dual 
registration of pupils. This would involve 50% of the cost of the learning 
centre placement to be funded by the Local Authority, when schools dual 
register. 

4.1.2. A primary placement in a learning centre costing £18,700, under the 
proposed mechanism the Local Authority would contribute £9,350 and 
the school would fund the remainder. This would make savings of 
approximately £70k per year.

4.1.3. The aim is for this to increase the number of pupils referred to learning 
centres by school settings and a result to reduce the number of 
permanent exclusions. 

4.1.4. It is the medium-term intention for the Local Authority to support and 
facilitate schools to reduce non-permanent exclusions, thereby 
increasing the inclusivity of schools. Calculated based on the costs 
funded by the High Needs Block from Learning Centre placements 
forecast as totalling approximately £600k for this academic year, at an 
exclusion number of 96. If the change in dual registration policy reduces 
the number permanent exclusions back down to 74 pupils, there will be a 
cost reduction to the Authority of approximately 11.5%, equalling 
approximately £70k per year.  Therefore, in this FY two thirds of that 
saving will be realised equalling approximately £47k.  Effective, targeted 
interventions and education delivered through the Learning Centres is 
key to the success of this proposal. The medium-term strategy will review 
as part of the overall cost reduction strategy.

4.2.Option 2: Transfer of Funds from other DSG Blocks
4.2.1. As explained above, it is only possible to consider this option from Year 

2 of the strategy.  Until we know the school funding policy of a new 
government, the best estimate of a transfer of 0.5% of the Schools Block 
in 2021-22 might be about £1m.   This would have a detrimental effect on 
school budgets and the relationship between the LA and the schools.

4.3.  Option 3: Increase capacity in maintained and academy special schools

Page 61



4.3.1. The Local Authority has consulted Schools Forum on a change to the 
funding mechanism for the locator and infrastructure payments for 
learning centre and special school top up funding. The amount of funding 
remains the same, but the notable change is the value of the locator per 
child will be consistent regardless of the attendance/capacity of the 
setting.

4.3.2. It is anticipated that this will remove any reticence and misconceptions 
amongst specialist provision, where capacity has been filled, to accept 
additional pupils. This can pave the way to build relationships to increase 
the number of places accepted at maintained special schools, reducing 
the number of CYP entering Independent Specialist Provision.

4.3.3. Across the five maintained special schools in Dorset, if each accepted 
an additional 3 CYP, instead of entering ISP, the saving on average 
would be approximately £570k per year. This has been calculated using 
an average placement cost at ISP of £60k and maintained special school 
of £22k.

5. Strategic Aims and Performance Indicators

5.1.Aims of the strategy

Table 11. Aims, Priorities and Outcomes/Performance Indicators

Aims Priorities Outcomes/Performance 
Indicators

1. Ensure there is 
a clear and 
comprehensive 
system for 
assessing 
children’s 
needs, to 
identify 
interventions 
required at the 
earliest 
opportunity

1.a.  Work with Public Health 
colleagues to develop a 
manageable ‘integrated 
check’ for two-year olds, 
integrating key information 
from the ASQ3 health check 
and the statutory education 
check, involving parents in 
the process and establishing 
this as part of the early 
identification pathway. 

1.b.  Ensure the findings from 
the 2-2.5yr ‘integrated check’, 
follow the early identification 
pathway to access the right 
interventions where 
additional needs are 
highlighted at the earliest 
opportunity.   

1.a.i. Improvement in 
percentage of children with 
emerging needs identified 
before the age of 4. Baseline to 
be set.

1.b.i. Project to roll out 2-2.5-
year integrated check. Increase 
in percentage of early years 
settings offering the integrated 
2-2.5-year check.

1.b.ii.  Number of early referrals 
for additional needs including 
SEND, from early help and early 
years settings. To be baselined 
and performance indicators set.

2. Ensure there is 
consistent 

2.a.   Create a consistent 
vocabulary to be used by all 

2.a.i. Dip sample EHCPs on a 
bi-monthly basis and analyse if 

Page 62



support to CYP 
with additional 
needs, including 
SEND, within 
mainstream 
settings, 
delivered to 
CYP at the 
earliest 
opportunity, 
which is free at 
the point of 
delivery for the 
schools. 

professionals (education, 
health, social care, schools) 
to describe need, ensuring 
SENCOs are well versed and 
champion use of shared 
terminology.  Regular audit of 
EHCPs to determine if 
vocabulary has been applied 
correctly / has been 
involvement from other 
services.  

2.b. In partnership with 
schools, develop and 
disseminate a clear and 
consistent graduated 
response and embed across 
all settings. The graduated 
response to be standardised 
and informed by evidenced 
based practices. 

2.c. Develop and disseminate 
clear, integrated referral 
pathways, and analysing 
outcomes. Establish 
pathways for early help 
localities to co-ordinate 
health visitors, providers, 
settings, and the Authority on 
SEND, including providing 
training and support.

2.d. Develop and re-model 
the early intervention offer to 
mainstream settings, to be 
free at the point of delivery 
for mainstream settings, to 
address needs of CYP with 
SEND, regardless of EHCP. 
Explore models to deliver: EP 
and SENNS direct delivery; 
interventions commissioned 
by EP and SENSS; 
passporting money to the 
schools and QA by EPs and 
SENSS.  

vocabulary has been correctly 
identified. Use of correct 
vocabulary/terminology to 
increase. Baseline to be set 
following project go live.

2.b.i. Consistent use of the 
graduated response across 
settings. 

2.c.i. Consistent referral 
pathways developed, well 
understood and utilised by staff 
in localities in the new Children’s 
Services model. 

2.d.i. Clearly understood, 
consistent and utilised early 
intervention offer by schools

2.d.ii. Reduction in number of 
EHCPs

3. Ensure 
teachers, early 

3.a.  Audit the qualifications 
and training of education staff 

3.a.i. Understanding of SEND 
qualifications and skills across 

Page 63



years providers 
and 
professionals 
are adequately 
trained and 
equipped to 
provide 
interventions to 
meet the needs 
of CYP with 
additional 
needs, including 
SEND. 

to understand what skills are 
within the sector, and the 
areas that need to be 
addressed.

3.b. Plan for system 
leadership to promote 
inclusion across the 
education sector. This model 
to provide a robust offer to 
the sector for: peer to peer 
support, consistent 
graduated response, meeting 
needs through interventions, 
identification of additional 
needs. Prototype special 
schools and CCN bases 
providing outreach to 
mainstream settings. 
Facilitated by the Local 
Authority but support for 
settings to come from the 
system. 
 

settings in the county, with 
accompanying action plan to 
address any gaps identified.

3.b.i. Implemented system 
leadership model for SEND 
workforce development to 
upskill the workforce 

3.b.ii.  Increase in skill and 
training of professionals within 
education settings across the 
county. Established minimum 
training/qualification criteria, with 
regular audits to ensure 
standard being met.

3.b.iii. Increase in training 
provided by CCN bases and 
special schools.

 

4. Mainstream 
settings are 
inclusive and 
adequately and 
consistently, 
meet the needs 
of CYP with 
additional 
needs, including 
SEND, 
wherever 
possible.

4.a. Following consultation 
with Schools Forum, from 
Year 2 or 3 of the strategy, 
change the funding 
mechanism and policy for 
permanent exclusions and 
Alternate Provision (including 
the use of Council owned 
Outdoor Education centres), 
moving inclusion/AP funding 
to schools. The LA (EPs and 
SENSS) would QA and 
advise, working with schools 
to re-model the provision, as 
well as hold schools to 
account for outcomes of 
CYP. To facilitate this, 
explore the feasibility of 
establishing a model of 
clusters of schools to 
manage the inclusion budget 
with a view if successful, to 
devolve further funding from 
the HNB to school clusters to 
meet needs of CYP (funded 

4.a.i. Increase in % of CYP with 
EHCPs in mainstream settings

4.a.ii. Project to establish school 
clusters to manage AP 
solution(s).

4.a.iii. Reduction in number of 
PEX

Page 64



from invest to save by 
reducing ISP).

4.b. Assess and review 
access to communication 
and language, SEMH and 
ASD support within the 
mainstream settings. This to 
include a review the recent 
work to expand number of 
CCN bases, assessing return 
on investment, outcomes on 
CYP and needs of the local 
population, in the context of 
remodelling of early 
intervention SEN services to 
determine whether to 
progress to build the 
additional CCN bases.

4.c. In years 1 and 2 of the 
strategy, prototype mixed 
attendance of alternate 
provision and mainstream 
school, addressing any 
safeguarding concerns prior 
to commencing. Feed the 
results into the re-modelling 
of alternate provision with 
schools.

4.b.i. Action plan developed to 
ensure communication and 
language, SEMH and ASD 
support can be accessed 
equitably across the County.

4.c.i.  Project with minimum 5 
schools, to prototype attendance 
of both learning centre/AP and 
school setting. Re-introduction 
to mainstream school outcomes 
analysed.

4.c.ii. Reduction in number of 
PEX

5. Further 
Education (FE) 
provision to be 
high quality and 
have sufficient 
capacity and 
meet the needs 
(current and 
preparation for 
adulthood) of 
post 16 CYP 
with SEND, to 
enable positive 
outcomes for 
this cohort

5.a. Remodel maintained FE 
provision to ensure 
sufficiency of places, to be 
able to meet needs of CYP 
with SEND, and with a focus 
to improve outcomes, 
including supporting those 
CYP who wish to enter the 
workplace to do so. This may 
include revisiting proposals 
such as residential option at 
Kingston Maurward and 
Weymouth Colleague SEND 
provision. 

5.b. Establish regular 
sufficiency and quality 
assessments for FE provision

5.a.i. Re-modelled FE provision 
with sufficient capacity to meet 
the demand in the County.

5.a.ii. Reduction in number of 
post 16 SEND CYP in ISP

5.a.iii. Increase in number of 
Post-16 CYP with SEND in 
employment with training.

5.b.i Place planning 3-year FE 
strategy for maintained provision 
and commissioned places, with 
annual FE sufficiency 

Page 65



5.c. Work with stakeholders, 
including maintained special 
school sixth forms, to plan 
transitions, and alternate 
pathways (other than to ISP) 
for CYP with SEND. 

5.d. Outcomes of CYP with 
SEND in FE colleges are 
regularly reported on and 
reviewed, with a view to 
working with colleges to 
implement action plans to 
improve outcomes where 
necessary.

assessment to inform

5.c.i Well documented alternate 
pathways for CYP post 16 with 
SEND used and understood by 
professionals and parents/CYP

5.c.ii. Number of CYP from 
special schools entering ISP FE 
reduced.

5.d.i. Post 16 outcomes 
reviewed under the HNB 
reduction strategy governance, 
on a bi-monthly basis

6. There is 
sufficient 
capacity within 
the maintained 
special settings 
for CYP with 
SEND to have 
their needs met 
within their 
community, 
wherever 
possible

6.a. Develop a 3-5-year 
robust place planning 
strategy, considering the 
increase in places from 
recently opened Harbour 
School, for special provision, 
projecting demographic 
needs/changes and address 
gaps in provision. 

6.b. Assess and audit the 
CYP in special school 
provision, with a view to a 
project to return CYP from 
maintained special schools to 
mainstream schools where 
appropriate.

6.a.i. Reduction in ISP 
placements

6.a.ii. Place planning strategy 
with annual special provision 
sufficiency assessments.

6.b.i. Numbers of CYP returning 
from maintained special schools 
to mainstream provision 
increase. Targets to be set 
following identification of 
suitable cases.

7. EHCP 
processes are 
efficient, putting 
the CYP at the 
heart of the 
process, 
streamline and 
clear for CYP 
and their 

7.a. Embed the revised 
process for EHCP, 
developed with EQLean, 
reducing waste, waiting 
times.

7.a.i Reduction in number of 
EHCP tribunals

Page 66



families. 
 

8. Needs of the 
Dorset 
population are 
understood, 
projected and 
used to inform 
strategy and 
policy. Accurate 
data sets exist 
and reported to 
ensure 
outcomes of 
CYP can be 
accurately 
analysed within 
this strategy, 
and for wider 
SEND service 
improvement.

8.a. Project to cleanse the 
data and ensure accurate 
baselines are set.

8.b. Understanding of money 
spent and outcomes on CYP 
with additional needs 
including SEND are well 
understood. Value for money 
interventions fed into 
practice.

8.a.i Identified data sets 
established with reporting 
embedded to monthly service 
review.

8.b.i. Financial tracker 
developed to analyse spend per 
CYP, acknowledging outcomes 
achieved and embedded into 
data reporting. Initially, reporting 
into monitoring and 
management 
meetings/decisions and High 
Needs Block reduction strategy. 
Fed into pathways and 
processes.

9. Ensure effective 
transition 
planning for all 
children with 
additional needs 
occurs, from 
early years, to 
further 
education, with 
consistent 
processes to 
result in smooth 
transitions, 
reducing crisis. 

9.a. Processes developed 
and embedded for clear 
transition plans, developed 
with the CYP and parent, and 
pathways at an earlier stage, 
undertaken by SEN Lead and 
EPs

9.b For the first two years of 
the strategy, establish a 
project to focus on CYP with 
SEND approaching a 
transition within the next 2 
years, and prioritise these 
transition plans, to avoid 
usage of ISPs. With a view 
for this to be embedded into 
practice across the board 
from year 3 of the strategy

9.a.i. Reduction in number of 
CYP in ISPs

9.a.ii. Increase in number of 
EHCP in mainstream settings

9.a.iii Percentage of CYP with 
EHCPs with transition plans in 
place, developed with the CYP 
and parent, followed and 
inputted by both settings, one 
year in advance of transition. 

10.Financial spend 
on SEND is 
clear and 
reported on and 
reviewed, 

10a. Review of the HNB 
budget and budget holders to 
ensure each budget line 
accurately represents the 
purpose of the spend. 

10.a.i Revised budget lines of 
the HNB which are clear as to 
the purpose of spend, with 
accountable budget managers

Page 67



5.2 Performance Indicators

Table 12. Outline Performance Indicators to be refined by SEND delivery board

Measure Baseline
FY 2019/20

Year 1
FY 
2020/2
1

Year 2
FY
2021/2
2

Year 3
FY
2022/2
3

Year 4
FY
2023/2
4

Year 5
FY
2024/2
5

% of CYP with 
additional needs 
identified before the 
age of 4

0.6% 1% 1.5% 2% 2.5% 2.6%

% of early years 
settings offering the 
integrated check

0% 10% 20% 40% 60% 75%

Referrals form early 
years and early help 

Baseline to 
be set

Indicative percentage 
of EHCPs (dip 
sample) using 
established 
consistent 
vocabulary/terminolo
gy

-
Start of 
project FY 
2020/21

50% 90% 90% 90% 90%

Number referrals 
from early help and 
early years settings

Baseline to 
be set

Reduction in 
increase and in 
number (%) of 
EHCPs

(941)
2.6% 
increase

(1035)
+1% 

(932)
-1% 

(885)
-5% 

(840)
-5% 

(798)
-5% 

% workforce meeting 
minimum training 
criteria

-
Start of 
project FY 
2020/21

20% 40% 60% 80% 95%

ensuring value 
for money, with 
outcomes for 
the CYP 
accounted.

10.b. Establish a project to 
establish and embed 
accounting for spend on the 
journey of each CYP, 
measured against outcomes 
for the CYP

10.a.ii.  Budgets are set through 
a process of finance, education, 
SEND and early help working 
together.

10.b.i Availability of spend data 
per CYP, and outcomes, 
regularly analysed and reported. 
Analysis is used to inform 
strategy and policy at the HNB 
strategy board.
 

Page 68



Measure Baseline
FY 2019/20

Year 1
FY 
2020/2
1

Year 2
FY
2021/2
2

Year 3
FY
2022/2
3

Year 4
FY
2023/2
4

Year 5
FY
2024/2
5

Number of training 
courses/workforce 
development courses 
run by CCN bases 
and special schools

Baseline 
and 
performanc
e indicators 
to be set

Reduction in number 
of ISP placements

(139)
14% of 
specialist 
provision

(129)
13% of 
baselin
e 

(119)
12% of 
baselin
e

(99)
10% of 
baselin
e

(79)
8% of 
baselin
e

(59)
6% of 
baselin
e

Reduction in number 
of Post 16 SEND 
CYP in ISP

 62 CYP 46 42 39 36 32

Reduction in number 
of CYP in special 
schools entering ISP 
FE

Baseline 
and 
performanc
e indicators 
to be set

Number of CYP 
transitioned from 
special school to 
mainstream provision

Targets to 
be set 
following 
assessmen
t

% CYP with ECHPs 
with a transition plan 
one year prior to 
transition

Baseline to 
be set

25% 40% 50% 75% 95%

Number of tribunals 50 30 20 10 5 5
Reduce the number 
of CYP with SEND in 
NEET and NK16-24

15.2% 13% 11% 9% 7% 5%

Number of CYP with 
SEND in post 16 FE 
ISP 

8% 7% 6% 3% 2% 1%

% of SEND CYP 
wishing to enter 
employment, in 
employment

Baseline 
and 
performanc
e indicators 
to be set

LC project: increase 
in number of CYP 
returning to 
mainstream provision 
following mixed AP 

Project to 
start FY 
2020/21

Page 69



model 
% EHCPs in 
mainstream settings

49.4% 50% 52% 56% 58% 60%

Page 70



Date of Meeting: 10th Dec 2019

Portfolio Holder: Cllr A Parry, Children, Education and Early Help

Local Member(s):  All Councillors

Executive Director: Sarah Parker, Executive Director of People - Children

Executive Summary:

Ofsted undertook a Focused Visit of the council’s children in need and child 
protection service on 1st and 2nd of October 2019.  This report provides an 
overview of the key findings, including areas of strength and areas for 
development.  It describes the actions that has been taken and the planned next 
steps to continue to improve the quality of children’s services practice.

Equalities Impact Assessment: n/a

Budget: n/a

Risk Assessment: 

Having considered the risks associated with this decision, the level of risk has been 
identified as:
Current Risk: LOW 
Residual Risk: LOW 

Climate implications: n/a

Other Implications: n/a

Delivery of quality children’s service is essential to ensuring that children and 
young people are safeguarded.

Recommendation:

Cabinet
Ofsted Focused Visit: Children in Need and 
Child Protection

Page 71

Agenda Item 9



The Cabinet notes the report on the ILACS Focused Visit, the progress made and 
the next steps for the council in improving children’s services.

Reason for Recommendation:

To formally notify cabinet of the outcome of the inspection, together with the 
Council’s response to the findings of the visit.

Appendices: 

Appendix1: Letter from Ofsted.

Background Papers: 

Ofsted Inspection of Local Authority Children’s Services Framework and Guidance: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/inspecting-local-authority-childrens-
services-from-2018

Officer Contact:
Name: Claire Shiels
Tel: 01305 22 4682
Email: claire.shiels@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

Page 72

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/inspecting-local-authority-childrens-services-from-2018
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/inspecting-local-authority-childrens-services-from-2018


1. Introduction 

1.1.Ofsted undertook a Focused Visit of the council’s children in need and child 
protection service on 1st and 2nd of October 2019.  This report provides an 
overview of the key findings, which was published on the 24th October 2019.

2. Background

2.1.The Inspections of Local Authority Children’s Services (ILACS) framework 
evaluates the effectiveness of services; arrangements to help and protect 
children; the experiences and progress of children in care and care leavers 
and the effectiveness of leaders and managers.

2.2.The ILACs framework includes several different activities including:

(a) An annual engagement meeting between Ofsted regional representatives 
and council’s children’s services senior leadership team to review a self-
evaluation of practice and inform the type of inspection activity that will be 
undertaken in the future;

(b) Focused visits that look at a specific area of children’s services such as a 
particular service or a particular group of children, resulting in the publication 
of a letter outlining strengths and areas for improvement;

(c) Standard and short inspections which result in a judgement on a four-point 
scale: Inadequate, Requires Improvement to be good; Good or Outstanding.  

2.3.A link to further information on the ILACS Inspection Framework is provided 
as a background paper to this report.

3. Scope of the Focused Visit

3.1.The focused visit focused on Dorset’s arrangements for children in need and 
those subject to a child protection plan.  This included child protection 
enquiries and plans, children in need assessments, decisions to take children 
into care and step up from and step down to early help.

3.2.The visit also evaluated the effectiveness of performance management, 
management oversight, supervision, quality assurance and the workforce 
development arrangements for social workers.

4. Method

4.1. In line with guidance, Ofsted provided 5 days’ notice before arriving on site 
and during that time the council provided a list of evidence for the inspectors 
to review before they arrived.  This included strategy documents and plans, 
anonymised child level information and details of any audits that have been 
undertaken in the last 6 months.

Page 73



4.2.From this, inspectors identified six cases for a detailed review and the council 
provided further detailed information on these cases.

4.3.The Inspection team consisted of two inspectors from Ofsted along with an 
observer from the Department for Education.  On the second day of the 
inspection a third inspector came to provide quality assurance of the visit.

4.4. Inspectors look at a range of evidence, including case discussions with social 
workers, performance management and quality assurance information and 
children’s case records.  

4.5.They visited our social work teams in their offices in Dorchester and 
Ferndown and spent most of their time on-site with social workers talking 
about the children they are working with to understand the quality of social 
work practice and management oversight.

4.6.The final report was published on 24th October 2019 and is provided as an 
appendix to this report with key findings summarised below.

5. Key Findings

5.1. Inspectors recognised that changes in the children’s services senior 
leadership team and local government reorganisation have increased the 
pace of improvement and children are now benefiting from better help and 
protection than seen in previous inspections of Dorset County Council 
Children’s Services undertaken in 2016 and 2018.

5.2.However, there is more to do as there is still too much variability in some 
important practice areas such as assessment and planning.  Inspectors 
acknowledged that the children’s services leadership team understands what 
needs to improve and have a programme in place to address this which is 
ambitious, but thoughtful and prioritised important areas such as early help, 
and a new front door. 

5.3.The investment made in training the workforce in relationship and strengths 
based social work practice through the Department for Education funded 
Innovation Programme is having an impact and social workers are able to 
talk confidently about the approach and the impact of this on children’s lives.

5.4.The planned introduction of a new approach to quality assurance was 
welcomed as the one being used when the inspectors arrived was not 
sufficient to provide assurance of the quality of practice or experience of 
children.

5.5. Inspectors identified some specific areas of improvement, which were:

(a) Improving the quality of chronologies.  These are important documents that 
capture all the major changes and significant events in a child’s life, in date 
order.  This is an important tool to help social workers and others to 

Page 74



understand what has happened in the child or family’s lives so they can make 
good plans for the future.

(b) Improving the effectiveness of management oversight, including by chairs of 
child protection conferences. This is important to ensure that plans for 
children progress and improve their situations in the right timeframe.

(c) Improving how cases are audited to provide more focus on the experiences of 
children.  

6. Next Steps

6.1.The areas for improvement identified during the focused visit have been 
prioritised within the directorate’s Quality Improvement Plan and the senior 
leadership team is overseeing progress.

6.2.Our revised Quality Assurance Framework is being implemented and a new 
auditing process commenced this month, with a greater focus on the 
experiences of children.

6.3.We have redesigned our approach to chronologies and mandatory training 
has been scheduled for all our front-line practitioners.

6.4.A series of staff briefings and workshops are taking place with practitioners 
and managers focusing on the areas of practice that need to improve.

6.5.We are working on our Blueprint for Change with staff which seeks to remove 
barriers to undertaking direct work with children and families, such as travel 
time by locating social workers in localities as well as increasing capacity for 
workforce development and quality assurance.

7. Recommendations

7.1.Cabinet are asked to note the report on the ILACS Focused Visit, the 
progress made and the next steps for the council in improving children’s 
services.

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Ofsted 
Piccadilly Gate 
Store Street 

Manchester 
M1 2WD 

T  0300 123 1231 
Textphone  0161 618 8524 

enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk 
www.gov.uk/ofsted  

 

 

 

 
24 October 2019 
 
 
Ms Sarah Parker 
Director of children’s services  
County Hall 
Colliton Park 
Dorchester 
Dorset 
DT1 1XJ 
 
 
Dear Ms Parker 
 
Focused visit to Dorset children’s services 
 
This letter summarises the findings of a focused visit to Dorset children’s services on 
1 and 2 October 2019. The inspectors were Diane Partridge and Marcie Taylor, Her 
Majesty’s Inspectors.   
 
Inspectors looked at the local authority’s arrangements for children in need and 
those subject to a child protection plan. Inspectors looked at a range of evidence, 
including case discussions with social workers, local authority performance 
management and quality assurance information and children’s case records. 
 
Overview 
 
Since the joint area inspection (JTAI) in 2018, changes in the senior leadership team 
and local government re-organisation have significantly impacted on the pace of 
improvement in children’s services. Many areas of improvement identified in the 
single inspection in 2016 had not improved at the point of the JTAI in 2018. Children 
are now benefiting from much better help and protection. However, the variability in 
key practice areas, such as assessment and planning, aligned with some 
inconsistency in the application of threshold at key decision-making points, means 
that not all children receive a consistently good service. 
 
The new executive director of children’s services and her senior team recognise that 
the quality of practice remains too variable. They have a clear understanding of 
what needs to improve. They have embarked on a whole system transformation 
programme. Their ambitious approach is thoughtful, with an initial focus on 
stabilising the workforce. Work to reconfigure early help and ‘front door’ services has 

Page 77

file:///C:/Users/dpartridge/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/IE/KA8DLEG9/enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk
file:///C:/Users/dpartridge/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/IE/KA8DLEG9/www.gov.uk/ofsted


 

 
 

 

also been prioritised so that children receive the right level of help and support at 
the right time. The investment and training in relationship-based social work practice 
has reinvigorated the workforce. Social workers now talk confidently about their 
approach and can demonstrate the difference that this makes to children’s lives. 
 
Quality assurance systems are in place, but these do not provide senior leaders with 
a realistic understanding of the quality of practice or help them to understand the 
experience of children. Audits are overly focused on processes, with insufficient 
consideration of the impact of practice on children’s situations. Senior leaders have 
recognised this, and a new quality assurance framework is due to be launched 
imminently.  
 
What needs to improve in this area of social work practice? 
 
◼ The quality of chronologies, so that they help social workers to better understand 

the impact of children’s histories and what this means for their plans in the future. 
 

◼ The effectiveness of management oversight, including by child protection 
conference chairs, so that plans progress and improve children’s situations within 
a timescale that is right for them.  

 
◼ Audits, so that greater focus is given to the experience of children. 

 
Findings 
 
◼ Children in need of help and protection are increasingly benefiting from stronger 

and more consistent relationships with their social workers. Reinvigorated 
relationship and strength-based approaches mean that parents better understand 
the changes they need to make and are supported to make these. However, child 
protection conferences do not consistently make the right decision about when to 
start, continue or cease child protection plans, which means that some children 
are not getting the help or protection they need quickly enough or for long 
enough.  

 
◼ Chronologies are mostly system generated and therefore do not help social 

workers and managers to understand children’s histories and key events in their 
lives.  

 
◼ Most assessments detail sufficiently children’s needs and presenting risk, with the 

needs of brothers and sisters differentiated. However, assessments do vary in 
quality and are not consistently informed by family history. The use of research to 
inform analysis in assessments is a feature in a small number of children’s 
records. Parenting assessments completed by social workers are a strength. They 
are comprehensive documents that help to inform what needs to happen to 
improve children’s situations. They fully consider history and provide a detailed 
analysis of how children’s experiences impact on their health and development. 
 

Page 78



 

 
 

 

◼ Most children are seen in line with their plan, and, at times, more frequently, such 
as during school holidays or at times of increased family difficulties. Children are 
seen at home, at school and in the community so that social workers can gather 
their views where they feel most comfortable. However, this is not the experience 
of all children. The local authority’s own performance information reports that 
41% of children subject to child protection plans are not visited within timescales. 
Senior leaders are aware of this and are acting to ensure that children are seen, 
as well as to improve the quality of recording when children have been seen. 

 
◼ Some children benefit from creative and impactful direct work, which helps them 

to make sense of their experiences. However, purposeful direct work is not 
routinely undertaken with all children, which means that their views do not clearly 
inform plans and decisions.  

 
◼ Effective and regular use of advocates helps children to express their views about 

the help they receive. When it is in their best interests, children are well 
supported to attend child protection conferences or to have their views shared by 
advocates. 

 
◼ The quality of children in need and child protection plans is variable. In the best 

examples seen, plans are explicit about what needs to happen and what help and 
support will be provided to children and their families. Initial plans from 
conferences are too brief, simplistic and global for parents to fully understand 
what needs to happen. Consequently, children do not always receive the right 
help and support when they need it. The more detailed plans developed in core 
groups are more specific and measurable. 

 
◼ Social workers make regular and effective use of family group conferences to 

engage members of the extended family and wider networks in children’s plans. 
This supports families and helps them to sustain progress when statutory social 
work support is no longer required. 
 

◼ Core groups and reviews take place regularly. They are well attended by multi-
agency partners, who engage effectively to provide help and support to children 
and their families. For most children, this means that their situation improves. 
More recently, swifter action, when risks increase, results in timely and 
appropriate use of pre-proceedings processes to effect positive change for 
children. The children entering care most recently have done so at a time that is 
right for them. At the point that statutory intervention ceases, plans are 
increasingly being agreed with multi-agency partners for ongoing help and 
support to maintain improved situations for children.     
 

◼ In the last four months, supervision has started to take place regularly and in line 
with expectations. It is not yet sufficiently reflective or challenging, nor is it 
effective in ensuring progression of children’s plans. This means that not all 
children’s circumstances improve within a timescale that is right for them.  
 

Page 79



 

 
 

 

◼ Senior leaders use a range of management information and audit findings to help 
them to understand the quality of practice. Management information helps them 
to identify strengths and areas for practice improvement. However, audits are 
overly focused on process and compliance, rather than the experience of the 
child. This means that senior leaders are not sufficiently alert to the impact of 
practice on children’s experiences and whether a positive difference is being made 
to their lives. 

 
Ofsted will take the findings from this focused visit into account when planning your 
next inspection or visit. 
 
 
 
Yours sincerely  
 
 
 
Diane Partridge 
Her Majesty’s Inspector  
 

Page 80



Date of Meeting: 10th December 2019

Portfolio Holder: Cllr D Walsh, Planning

Local Member(s): Cllrs Alex Brenton, Bill Pipe, Andrew Starr, Cherry Brooks, Gary Suttle, 
Bill Trite, Beryl Ezzard and Ryan Holloway.  

Executive Director: John Sellgren, Executive Director of Place

Executive Summary:
The purpose of the report is to seek approval to adopt Poole Harbour Recreation 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 2019 - 2024. 
Borough of Poole Council and Purbeck District Council have previously worked on 
preparing a joint SPD for Poole Harbour. Poole Harbour is designated as a Site of Special 
Scientific Interest (SSSI) and Special Protection Area (SPA). The Habitats Regulation 
Assessments (HRA) for the Purbeck Local Plan Part 1, and the submission draft Purbeck 
Local Plan, indicate that leisure activities in Poole Harbour are having a significant effect 
on the protected species of birds, invertebrates and plants which live in/visit the harbour. 
Visitor surveys suggest that some of the people participating in the leisure activities live in 
Poole and Purbeck. It is likely that further residential/tourist development around the 
harbour will increase leisure activities and cause disturbance (the evidence paper around 
these issues is published on online: https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-
land/planning-policy/purbeck/joint-working-with-other-councils/joint-working-with-other-
councils.aspx ).
Working with Bournemouth Christchurch and Poole Council, an SPD has been prepared to 
provide more detail around the planning policies relating to Poole Harbour in the Poole 
Local Plan, Purbeck Local Plan Part 1 and the emerging Purbeck Local Plan. The SPD will 
support the process of assessing whether proposed development in planning applications 
is likely to have significant effects on Poole Harbour, and (where proposed development is 
likely to have significant effects on the harbour) in completing an appropriate assessment 
for the purposes of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017.
The councils arranged consultation on a draft Poole Harbour Recreation SPD to take place 
between Monday 4th February and Monday 4th March 2019. In total the councils received 
57 responses on the SPD. A consultation report has been prepared which summarises 
responses to the draft SPD and officer comment/action (Appendix 1). The councils 
updated the draft SPD taking account of the responses to the consultation. The final draft 
of the SPD is attached in Appendix 2.

Equalities Impact Assessment:
Officers have completed an Equalities Impact Assessment for the draft SPD (Appendix 3).

Budget: 
Copies of the adoption statement for the SPD will need to be sent to any person who has 
asked to be notified. This can be accommodated within existing budgets.

Cabinet
To seek approval for the adoption of Poole Harbour 
Recreation Supplementary Planning Document

Page 81

Agenda Item 10

https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/purbeck/joint-working-with-other-councils/joint-working-with-other-councils.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/purbeck/joint-working-with-other-councils/joint-working-with-other-councils.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/purbeck/joint-working-with-other-councils/joint-working-with-other-councils.aspx


Risk Assessment: 
Having considered the risks associated with this decision, the level of risk has been 
identified as:
Current Risk: MEDIUM
Residual Risk LOW 

Climate implications:
No direct implications arising from the SPD as it provides further detail and 
guidance around local planning policies relating to protected habitats. Taken as a 
whole the adopted and emerging local plans relating to the Purbeck area include 
strategies, and other policies, which seek to secure development/land uses that 
contribute toward the mitigation of, and adaptation to, climate change. 

Other Implications:
The council will not be able to grant planning permission for new homes in the Poole 
Harbour recreation zone (as identified in Figure 1 of the SPD) unless it can demonstrate 
that there will not be any adverse effects on Poole Harbour Special Protection Area (SPA). 
Not delivering new homes around the harbour in Purbeck (which includes the towns and 
villages of: Upton, Lytchett Minster, Lytchett Matravers, Wareham and Swanage) would 
jeopardise the spatial strategy for addressing its housing needs presented in the emerging 
Purbeck Local Plan and potentially future strategies in the Dorset Council Local Plan. 

Recommendation:
That the updated draft of the Poole Harbour Recreation Supplementary Planning 
Document 2019-2024 is adopted.  

Reason for Recommendation:
The SPD will add further detail to adopted and emerging policies in local plans and outline 
a process for securing contributions to fund mitigation measures required to avoid adverse 
effects on European sites in accordance with The Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2017.

Appendices:
1. Consultation report; 
2. draft Poole Harbour Recreation Supplementary Planning Document 2019-

2024; and
3. Equalities Impact Assessment.

Background Papers:
Please see the following webpage for background papers that were submitted as evidence 
in support of the SPD: https://www.poole.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning-
policy-and-guidance/supplementary-planning-documents-and-guidance-notes/poole-
harbour-recreation-spd/

Officer Contact:
Name: Steve Boyt
Tel: 01929557385
Email: steve.boyt@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

Main report

Page 82

https://www.poole.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy-and-guidance/supplementary-planning-documents-and-guidance-notes/poole-harbour-recreation-spd/
https://www.poole.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy-and-guidance/supplementary-planning-documents-and-guidance-notes/poole-harbour-recreation-spd/
https://www.poole.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy-and-guidance/supplementary-planning-documents-and-guidance-notes/poole-harbour-recreation-spd/
mailto:steve.boyt@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk


1.1 Poole Harbour is a natural harbour that is designated as a Site of Special Scientific 
Interest (SSSI), Special Protection Area (SPA) and Ramsar site for its nature 
conservation importance. The protected species of birds living or visiting the harbour 
include:

 Little Egret;
 Eurasian Spoonbill;
 Common Shelduck;
 Avocet;
 Black-Tailed Godwit;
 Mediterranean Gull;
 Sandwich Tern; and 
 Common Tern.

1.2 Research indicates that human activity can disturb the harbour’s animals and plants. 
Disturbance can arise from commercial and leisure activities which take place in the 
harbour and around its edges. As an example birds which are subject to disturbance 
from human activity may: spend less time feeding, expend unnecessary energy, use 
poorer quality feeding and roosting sites and become stressed (stress may adversely 
affect breeding rates). Some of the human activities that can cause disturbance 
include: walking (with and without dogs), fishing, horse riding, cycling, bait digging, 
canoeing, kite surfing and commercial/leisure boat traffic.

1.3 The Poole Harbour Aquatic Management Plan (2011) provides a framework for 
managing commercial/leisure activity within the Harbour. A steering group that 
includes local councils, Natural England, Environment Agency, Southern Sea 
Fisheries District Committee, Wessex Water and Poole Harbour Commissioners has 
the responsibilities for implementing its objectives. These objectives include: ‘to fulfil 
the requirements of a Management Scheme for the European Marine Site’ and ‘to 
protect and maintain the special natural features of the Harbour.’ As an example of 
implementing these objectives there are designated zones for water sports within the 
harbour to limit disturbance.

1.4 Visitor surveys at locations around the Harbour’s edges in Purbeck and Poole 
(including Arne and Studland Peninsulas and sites around the harbours northern 
edges) indicate that a significant proportion of the people who participate in leisure 
activities (including dog walking and cycling) around the edges of the harbour live in 
Poole and Purbeck. This evidence indicates that further residential development 
around the harbour is likely to lead to further use of the harbour for recreation by the 
occupiers of the news homes and disturbance to the protected plants and animals. 

1.5 A map (Figure 1: Poole Harbour Recreation Zone) in the draft SPD identifies the area 
where further development is likely to have significant effects in each of the former 
council areas (the zone was based on the previous administrative boundaries for 
Borough of Poole and Purbeck District Council). The councils recognise that the 
scope of the SPD will need to be reviewed as part of work on new local plan policies 
relating to Poole Harbour. This review will need to take particular account of the 
effects of new homes in areas that extend beyond the former administrative 
boundaries of Poole and Purbeck. In the interim the effects of development in Corfe 
Mullen and Sleight will need to be assessed on a case by case basis as planning 
applications are determined.  

1.6 The mitigation strategy for avoiding adverse effects from development in the 
recreation zone has two elements: (i) Strategic Access, Management and Monitoring 
(SAMMs) and (ii) Poole Harbour Infrastructure Projects (PHIPs). Officers from the 

Page 83



councils have worked together to draw up a list of potential measures to mitigate the 
effects of planned development on Poole Harbour. These measures include: 
improving visitor awareness of the effects of disturbance, wardening, providing 
alternative recreational facilities and managing access to the shoreline. The 
mitigation will need to be overseen by a Warden/Ranger and co-ordinator. Further 
monitoring and surveys are also needed to evaluate the effectiveness of mitigation 
measures and guide any changes in the approach.

1.7 Dorset Council will take the contributions needed to fund the mitigation from the 
money collected through the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). Habitats 
Regulations projects, including those addressing the ‘recreational impact on Poole 
Harbour Special Protection Area for all development’, are included in the Council’s 
list of infrastructure priorities in the CIL charging schedule for the Purbeck area. 

1.8 Based on allocations in local plans, and taking account of those sites with planning 
permission and windfall development, the councils estimate that a total of 3,945 new 
homes are likely to be completed in the Poole Harbour Recreation Zone between 
2019 and 2024. (These totals relate to the total number of homes in the Recreation 
Zone which overlaps both council areas, but do not make an allowance for homes in 
the Corfe Mullen area). The councils will seek contributions of £465,000 to fund 
SAMMs mitigation to mitigate the effects of disturbance arising from this 
development. 

1.9 The council estimates that 745 new homes will be delivered within the Poole Harbour 
Recreation Zone (identified in Figure 1 of the SPD) in the Dorset Council area 
between 2019 and 2024. A total contribution of £65,000 is needed to fund the 
SAMMs mitigation (comprising: managing access around the edges of the harbour / 
monitoring the effectiveness of the strategy) for these homes. CIL contributions from 
this development will also fund Poole Harbour infrastructure projects (PHIPs). 
(Possible PHIPs are presented in a Table in Appendix A, Part 2 of the SPD).  

1.10 For development which is not CIL liable (e.g. affordable housing), but is likely to have 
an adverse effect on Poole Harbour SPA, the councils will seek contributions through 
planning obligations or use CIL monies collected elsewhere to secure mitigation on a 
case by case basis.

1.11 A project, implementation and monitoring plan will be published to support this SPD. 
This plan will set out the amount of development coming forward, identify mitigation 
projects and monitoring (both of mitigation projects and the condition of protected 
habitats). It will be prepared in consultation with organisations with a shared ambition 
to mitigate the effects of recreation in and around Poole Harbour. 

1.12 Officers from councils are discussing proposals to establish a Dorset Heathlands and 
Poole Harbour advisory group.  The group could be formed from Councillors 
(comprising representatives from each council), officers and Natural England. The 
group could have responsibilities around identifying and agreeing mitigation projects 
for both Dorset Heathlands and Poole Harbour, and supervising preparation of the 
project, implementation and monitoring plan. Officers intend to prepare a 
report/recommendations for a future meeting of Dorset Council Cabinet which sets 
out further details of the role and functioning of the advisory group, including 
recommendations for governance arrangements.

Page 84



Poole Harbour Recreation SPD – Consultation Responses– March 2019  1 

Poole Harbour Recreation Supplementary Planning Document 
Summary of comments to the consultation draft – March 2019 
 

The former Borough of Poole and Purbeck District Councils consulted upon the Draft Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) for 4 weeks from 
4th February 2019 to 4th March 2019. Each Council contacted organisations and members of the public who have asked to be kept informed of 
planning policy matters. The consultation attracted 57 responses; 24 of these were from organisations and 33 were from members of the public. 
The responses are summarised in the tables below with an officer response:  
 
Comments from Organisations: 
 

Respondent Comment Officer comment and Action  

Birds of Poole 
Harbour 

Fully support and appreciate intent of proposals but raised concerns. Large 
amounts of money being allocated to co-ordinator and wardening roles 
(SAMMS) which covering a large area, could possible have little or no impact on 
mitigation against increased pressure. Physical infrastructure (PHIPS) to 
manage pressures is far more successful, allowing the public to benefit as well 
as enhancing bio-diversity. Allocation of £15,000 in PHIPS seems small amount 
compared with £1.3M allocated to SAMMS. Investing in wider range of PHIPS 
projects to tackle heart of disturbance issues is key to mitigating against future 
increased pressures. Birds have become habituated to people's behaviours in 
some areas such as Holes Bay so investing in projects along the northern/urban 
shorelines would be a waste of money. Planting could potentially increase 
disturbance due to shadows/shapes spooking the birds. True issue people 
leaving shoreline and accessing mud, saltmarsh or open water for bait digging, 
kayaking, dog walking and walking. Certain areas would benefit from restricted 
access such as Lytchett Bay where new fencing and ditches could be created. 
Infrastructure such as viewing platforms and interpretation for awareness could 
be provided at Holes Bay east; Baiter; Hamworthy Park; Poole Park and Whitely 
Lake which are areas where there are important birds and large visitor numbers. 
Signage can play an important part in raising awareness and Dorset Dogs do 
excellent job in bridging issue between conservationists and dog owners. 
Despite recognition of bird sensitive areas, it is not promoted, talked about or 
interpreted, and further clarity advice is needed. Signs on marker buoys across 
Brands Bay; Waytch Lake; Middlebere; Gold and Patchins Point would be 
effective and other designs to address bait digging; windsurfing and dog walking 
are needed. Inner Studland shoreline, especially Brands Bay needs more 

Welcome the support. The PHIPS projects are examples and the whole 
budget for PHIPS are not determined by these projects. Further work such 
as the access management plan needs to be carried out to help determine 
what infrastructure projects would be most effective and how much is 
required for such projects. Dorset Dogs to continue as part of mitigation and 
rangers, website, social media etc. all to be used as measures to promote 
and provide further advice. 
The Councils plans to continue partnership working with bird groups and 
National Trust to develop the strategy and appropriate projects. 

P
age 85



Poole Harbour Recreation SPD – Consultation Responses– March 2019  2 

Respondent Comment Officer comment and Action  

strategic long term protection plan which National Trust are looking into. This is 
positive opportunity to help protect and interpret the harbour and birds but need 
to be clear that some areas must see reduction in disturbance so as to not 
decrease bird numbers (see example at Pilots Point, Studland Bay where no 
longer bird roosts).  

Bourne Leisure Aspects of the SPD have not been sufficiently justified with regard to holiday 
accommodation.  
Pooling of contributions – concerned that pooling of more than 5 SAMMs 
payments would contravene Reg 123 of the CIL Regulations 2010 (as 
amended). 
Viability – Have the SAMMs been viability tested? 
Cost of SAMMs - Appendix E states total cost of SAMMs is £1.32 million and 
table 4 shows total costs can be covered by new dwellings so why are additional 
payments required to mitigate the impact of development? 
Tourist accommodation - Bourne Leisure endorse the general approach to 
addressing mitigation for large scale and small scale developments on a case 
by case proportionate basis but local authorities should not pre-determine that 
very large scale applications could deliver SANG. Also using the same dwelling 
rate for holiday accommodation is not fair having regard to pro rata occupation. 
SPD should more clearly explain approach for holiday accommodation where 
there is existing deduction to be taken into account. 

In Poole the SAMMs aspect of the strategy is considered to fall outside of 
CIL as it is not defined as infrastructure hence the pooling restriction does 
not apply in this respect. Infrastructure projects will be funded through CIL 
and are not an additional obligation. Assumptions on planning obligations 
were included in viability testing of CIL. There is no pre-determination as the 
SPD outlines possible approaches to mitigation which could include the 
option of SANGs. SPD explains that there will be a deduction for tourist 
accommodation based on occupancy rates. 

Campaign to 
Protect Rural 
England 

Noted that normal consultation period is reduced from 6 weeks to 4 weeks. 
National Audit Office is concerned regard financial sustainability of Local 
Authorities (including high level borrowing) to the point that strategic planning 
and local discretion are at risk. Paper has not been prepared in conjunction with 
the Maritime Management Organisation (MMMO) which has considerable 
interest and powers over the harbour and environment. Planning Inspectorate 
did not consider this subject mater when dealing with targets for housing 
numbers in Poole but perhaps will when dealing with Local Plan for Purbeck. 
The adopted Local Plan for Poole will have to be adjusted to maximise the 
benefits of 'avoidance' since 'mitigation' was not envisaged.  Disappointing that 
paper deals with mitigation rather than avoidance which should not be forgotten. 
Very special characteristics of the Dorset coast should continue to be reinforced 
by effective measures for controlling recreational facilities and enforced by MMO 
and Natural England, and the two new Local Authorities as they review 

A 4 week consultation accords with both councils statements of community 
involvement and relevant planning laws. Notwithstanding Local Authority 
budgets, funds collected as part of the strategy are ring fenced towards 
mitigation measures for the strategy.  
The MMO are aware of the issue of recreational activities and impact upon 
birds and need to mitigate is highlighted in the Poole Harbour Aquatic 
Management Plan which was prepared with the MMO. Both Poole and 
Purbeck local plans deal with this issue as highlighted in the respective 
habitats regulations assessments – this SPD provides the implementation of 
the policy approach and is considered the most effective approach. It is 
acknowledged that visitors across Dorset may visit the harbour, the 
effectiveness of the strategy and the impacts of recreation on Poole Harbour 
will be monitored as part of the strategy in conjunction with both councils’ 
local plans. Housing numbers in Appendix E are up-to-date and based upon 

P
age 86



Poole Harbour Recreation SPD – Consultation Responses– March 2019  3 

Respondent Comment Officer comment and Action  

implementation of Local Plans. Natural or semi natural environment provide 
benefits for human health and well-being so adequate controls of human 
damage are welcome. Financing for wardening, education and monitoring are 
not substantial enough to be truly effective and its unrealistic to encourage 
housing so as to obtain insufficient CIL monies for funding relevant infrastructure 
challenges and reduce CIL monies by decanting a contribution for SAMM. A 
more effective method is needed. Effect of SANGs is not properly addressed 
and also have wildlife which could be impacted so are not the whole answer with 
the role of parks and playing fields needing to the strengthened. SANGs should 
be flower meadows to ensure insect life flourishes. 
Shared concern with Natural England about intensification of residential 
development in Poole and Purbeck with affordable housing not being met but 
not just Poole and Purbeck but 70,000 houses across Dorset who also visit. 
Also areas such as Holes Bay could be affected by surface water drains and 
other pollutants which could affect the birds. Many vacant houses suggest 
temporary occupants who are less aware of the need to respect wildlife. 
Concern over felling of trees and absence of replacement trees resulting in loss 
of roosting/nesting sites. Appendix E refers to obsolete household projections. 

the adopted Poole Local Plan and Purbeck Local Plan submission draft. 

Dorset Bird Club Supports the principle of the SPD but concerns regarding lack of rigour and logic 
in the approach. Process should be based upon thorough and up-to-date 
assessment of specific impacts of recreational pressure upon Poole Harbour; 
identification and implementation of suitable measures to mitigate current 
impacts and assessment of effectiveness of those measures; assessment of 
how development will additionally affect the interest of the SPA; identification of 
further measures necessary to address additional impacts; and costing of 
mitigation measures and identification of sources of necessary funding. SPD 
appears to be ad hoc collection of potential projects with no demonstrable 
linkage to an evidence base of what is needed and what works in practice.  

Support noted. The focus of the strategy is related recreational activities and 
the impact this has upon birds which live in/visit the harbour. The 
background paper provides a summary of the supporting research papers 
which evidence the councils’ strategy presented in the SPD.  The measures 
set out (which would be as paid for by developers) are aimed towards 
mitigating the impacts of future planned development. A different strategy 
will be needed for addressing existing impacts. The councils’ strategy will 
provide a mechanism to allow for more surveys to be completed which will 
help to develop appropriate/effective forms of mitigation. 

Dorset Wildlife 
Trust 

SPD welcomed as pressures on harbour's wildlife from recreation area 
increasing and planned housing development will be significant additional factor. 
Heathlands SPD has worked well and Urban Heaths Partnership delivery model 
is tried and tested and useful template for delivery.  
SPD is critical document and main tool available to address harmful effects of 
recreational pressures upon harbour. Significant risk that putting too much 
reliance on SPD as a means of dealing with increased recreational pressures in 

Support noted. Both Poole and Purbeck local plans deal with this issue as 
highlighted in the respective habitats regulations assessments – this SPD 
provides the implementation of the policy approach and is considered the 
most effective approach. Agree that collating of data and info from other 
groups would be useful in measuring impact and it is also recognised that 
there needs to be a process/mechanism for involving interested parties. A 
steering group may be appropriate in this respect and will be added to a 

P
age 87



Poole Harbour Recreation SPD – Consultation Responses– March 2019  4 

Respondent Comment Officer comment and Action  

Harbour from housing allocations already determined. Developing the SPD 
should have been part of the planning process from outset and more 
consideration to avoidance. SPD needs to be measureable with scope for 
changes to be made if further action is required. Wording of policy E9 of 
Purbeck plan does not take into account some effects can/can't be predicted 
and it is difficult in retrospect to take remedial measures. 
SPD focuses on potential increase in land based recreation as main concern but 
water based are also likely to increase. Limited focus on subtidal biodiversity 
which could be revisited with reference to research by Dr. Peter Dyrnda. No. of 
marine conservation measures already in place which could be strengthened by 
SPD such as additional warden engagement and raising awareness of 
conservation sizes for commercially important species and bait digging code of 
practice. Clarity required on whether development is required to pay for harbour 
recreation, nitrogen and heathland mitigation. Should the buffer be wider for 
harbour than heathlands as it is bigger attraction and other people visit from 
outside of Poole and Purbeck? Is there potential for widening boundary in 
Purbeck and to Bournemouth depending on monitoring? In Purbeck plan 933 
houses designated for small sites and windfall - is a proportion of this included in 
the 850 total? Total housing numbers for Poole is far higher than Purbeck. Will 
money collected by each authority only be spent on mitigation in that area? 
Money should be distributed to projects according to need for mitigation 
measures whichever area that is regardless of where money is collected. 90% 
of monies is earmarked for SAMMS with 11% for infrastructure projects. 
SAMMS work is essential but would be good to see higher proportion of money 
for practical conservation work. Projects on indicative list seem reasonable 
although PHIPS are concentrated on land based mitigation. Hoped that 
proportion of SAMMS can be used for water based activities. Will there be a 
mechanism for including future projects by other parties like DWT and Lytchett 
Bay Nature Partnership? Concerns over the north shore of reserve on Brownsea 
Island as a result of increased jet skis, paddle boards, kayaks and small boats 
with marked decrease in breeding Oystercatchers. Although areas defined for 
recreational use, these are not effective without monitoring/wardening. Also 
more provision needed for information/education to stay away from sensitive 
areas. New warden could coordinate with volunteers of Harbour Watch to 
engage with users and develop/promote code of conduct. Also perhaps 

governance section of the SPD. Agree that there needs to be scope for 
changes and review as necessary – this pilot strategy requires a lot of 
survey and monitoring work to be carried out initially which will in turn help to 
better inform effective measures. Developments will be required to provide 
mitigation for harbour and heathlands i.e. two separate contributions, which 
must be used towards their separate measures although there may be some 
overlap in terms of mitigation outcomes (but not double funding). Buffer 
areas are different for harbour and heathland and set having regard to 
evidence in visitor surveys. Yes a proportion of the small sites and windfall is 
included in the housing numbers envisaged in the buffer zone within 
Purbeck. The SPD provides a strategic cross boundary approach and 
spending will have to mitigate harm where it occurs. Noted regarding more 
concentration on water based activities although there is some overlap with 
the MMO, and organisations with responsibility for implementing the Poole 
Harbour Aquatic Management Plan. Further liaison and partnership working, 
which the coordinator and warden roles would help with, will help to ensure 
the effectiveness of mitigation measures. Action - Add a governance 
section regarding the need for a steering group. 

P
age 88



Poole Harbour Recreation SPD – Consultation Responses– March 2019  5 

Respondent Comment Officer comment and Action  

introducing no-fly zones. 

Environment 
Agency 

Support mitigation measures outlined. An increase in population in the area is 
likely to cause greater disturbance to birds and habitats, which is likely to have a 
detrimental impact. National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), requires local 
planning authorities to aim to conserve and enhance biodiversity when 
determining planning applications by minimising impacts on biodiversity and 
providing net gains in biodiversity where possible. NPPF states that 
opportunities to incorporate biodiversity in and around developments should be 
encouraged. Therefore, we would appreciate the opportunity to be consulted on 
future proposal, projects and mitigation measures that are delivered through this 
document. We feel that of particular importance is habitat creation, habitat 
enhancement and restriction / prevention of disturbance at certain sites, 
particularly in late winter when food is scarcer.  

Support noted. Any proposed projects will be discussed with interested 
parties. 

Friends of 
Hamworthy Park 

Object to the project to fence an area in Hamworthy Park pending further 
information. This is access route to Poole Yacht Club for Hamworthy residents. 
Area popular for bait digging and dog walkers take their dogs for walks to avoid 
conflict with families. Support wildlife in park and wider harbour but have to 
balance with needs of park users. Many birds in park and foreshore between 
western end of park and Lake Road slipway provides safe place for birds to 
forage and feed with minimum disturbance away from busier areas. 

The mitigation projects listed are examples only at this stage with the 
majority envisaged as raising awareness, educating and encouraging 
changes in behaviour as opposed to restricting access for users. Any 
proposed projects will be discussed with interested parties and would need 
to be balanced with the needs of the users of the park. 

Highways 
England 

No comment to make. Noted. 

Langton 
Matravers Parish 
Council 

Mitigation criteria set out falls below the level of adequate protection demanded 
by the vulnerability of the Poole Harbour Area now, let alone with the additional 
15,030 houses. One of major sources of bird disturbance is dog “walking”. 
Research (see below) shows even dogs are on the lead considerable 
disturbance is caused to birds. According to Pet Food Manufacturers 
Associations’ statistics, 26% of people in the country own a dog and addition of 
15,000 houses suggests increase of 3,900 dog owners (Wareham/PDC 
proportion being 215). Evidence as below, and from own observations shows 
dogs are frequently allowed to run free, and high proportion of dog owners see 
nothing wrong with this. With regard to “Water Sports” and associated activities, 
rigid exclusion zones should be applied and rigorously enforced. Proposed 
mitigations are insufficient, do not comply with the appropriate assessment 
under the Birds or Habitats Directives, and that the presumption of in favour of 

Both Poole and Purbeck local plans deal with this issue as highlighted in the 
respective habitats regulations assessments – this SPD provides the 
implementation of the policy approach and is considered the most effective 
approach.  

P
age 89



Poole Harbour Recreation SPD – Consultation Responses– March 2019  6 

Respondent Comment Officer comment and Action  

development does not apply. Without either a total ban on dogs in all areas 
adjacent to the harbour in winter months, and preventative measures to this 
end, the “protected” area will be drastically compromised, and put unacceptable 
disturbance to the flora and fauna of the harbour, but would also constitute an 
illegal act. 

Lytchett Minster 
& Upton Town 
Council 

Fully endorse the proposals and would like to be kept informed and consulted 
on relating matters in future. 

Support noted. 

Studland Parish 
Council 

General - Unclear why Poole and Purbeck have left consultation to final stages 
of their Local Plans. Reports from Raynsford review and National Audit Office 
plus local research has questioned validity of method for calculating housing 
numbers for Local Authorities. 
Issues - pressures on the southern side of Poole Harbour are growing due to 
more persons accessing the area, more dog walkers, and greater awareness of 
the area due to indirect and direct advertising of the area in particular by the 
National Trust and the RSPB. These pressures will impact on the nesting sites 
of over wintering and summer birds such as terns, and oyster catchers. 
The measures outlined in the SPD (use of wardens and signs) are not 
guarantees of mitigation and may/may not work. Effective mitigation measures 
may require limits to access and even measures to ban impacting activities.  
Local Plan development - Can it be proven that the proposed mitigation will fully 
mitigate the harm associated with the impact of more persons in the area due to 
more housing? If the Habitats Assessments and the consultation had been 
conducted earlier in the development of the Local Plans, a case could be made 
for lower housing numbers. Given primacy of place of the Habitats Regulations it 
is surprising Local Planning Authorities have not addressed the need for a 
consultation earlier. 

Both Poole and Purbeck local plans deal with this issue as highlighted in the 
respective habitats regulations assessments – this SPD provides the 
implementation of the policy approach and is considered the most effective 
approach. The mitigation proposes measures mainly seeking to raise 
awareness rather than restrict access as this is seen to be a more effective 
approach. 

Wareham Town 
Council 

SPD focuses solely on mitigation factors resulting from increased recreational 
activities due to housing development and not other planning consideration and 
development control. Support the initiatives that ameliorate disturbance from 
recreation to these nationally and internationally important wildlife sites that 
occur due to proximity to current residential area and future proposed 
development. Noted and supported that funding of the strategy will be secured 
in-perpetuity. Surveys and monitoring outcomes need to be strengthened to 
include provision that should a serious negative impact trend from recreation be 

Support noted. The purpose of the strategy is to provide mitigation to enable 
development. If the strategy and measures were not considered effective, 
the strategy would need to be reviewed. 

P
age 90



Poole Harbour Recreation SPD – Consultation Responses– March 2019  7 

Respondent Comment Officer comment and Action  
identified, that further development permissions in the plan area will be 
suspended until this has been addressed effectively. 

Natural England Remain of the view that the overall level of recreational impacts on Poole 
Harbour SPA/Ramsar and SSSI are such that the authorities can allow further 
residential developments to come forward over the plan period (as currently 
planned within the Purbeck (2012) and Borough of Poole (2018) Local Plans 
with the proposed mitigation strategy proposed in the SPD in place). Implicit in 
advice is position that increased access to the harbour and surrounds for 
recreation related activities will reach carrying capacity at some point where 
behavioural modifications and visitor management are no longer effective at 
avoiding harm. Welcome document as means to implement the mitigation 
required to offset the additional recreational pressure on Poole Harbour Special 
Protection Area (SPA) and Ramsar site from the planned increase in residential 
development in the area. As has been stated within documents, the HRAs for 
the Poole and Purbeck local plans require measures to offset recreational 
pressure to be implemented to ensure that there is no adverse effect on the 
integrity of Poole Harbour SPA and Ramsar site. These contributions will add to 
the payments collected by the authorities thus far to offset recreational pressure 
from new developments which are being spent on infrastructure projects. This 
long awaited document will provide mechanism by which appropriate 
contributions can be collected to monitor and mitigate for the effects of 
additional recreational pressure from housing growth. 
Support approach by the authority in defining the area around the Harbour from 
which the majority of visitor/recreational pressures are likely to arise. This is 
soundly based upon appropriate visitor use surveys. Whilst there is a minor 
anomaly in the Broadstone/Corfe Mullen area of East Dorset District this area is 
greatly constrained by Upton Heath in the south, the Green Belt and the effects 
of the authorities 400m area around designated heathland sites. More recent 
visitor survey confirms visitors from a wider area of Bournemouth and will need 
to be reviewed when the authorities are re-organised shortly. Welcome provision 
for infrastructure projects and advise additional wording. Authorities should seek 
to bring forward projects on land within their ownership in timely manner 
particularly focussing on areas of the Harbour already identified for adverse 
effects ie Holes Bay east. Unclear of the precise mechanism authorities will 
secure funding for PHIPs against other internal priorities. SPD should clearly 

Support noted. Funding from CIL will continue to be top sliced for PHIPS. 
The pilot strategy requires a lot of survey and monitoring work to be carried 
out initially which will in turn help to better inform effective SAMMs and 
infrastructure projects and their costings. 
Local Authorities with advice from Natural England will need to agree 
management/process for projects, evaluation and monitoring.  A proforma 
and evaluation template could be published on the websites inclusion in the 
SPD is not necessary. Also recognised that there needs to be a 
process/mechanism for involving interested parties such as RSPB - a 
steering group may be appropriate in this respect and will be added to the 
SPD section on governance. Acknowledge that pilot will need monitoring and 
review alongside the preparation of new local plans. 
Action - Add a governance section regarding the need for a steering 
group. P

age 91



Poole Harbour Recreation SPD – Consultation Responses– March 2019  8 

Respondent Comment Officer comment and Action  

explain PHIPs list provides scope of types of projects PHIPs may cover rather 
than defined list. Following drafting of Access Management Plan and experience 
from operating SPD, review of the SPD should begin in about three years to 
ensure appropriate mitigation is put in place to offset recreational pressure in 
light of findings from the initial monitoring work and enable revision of document 
to be in place for the adoption of local plans prepared by the two new 
authorities. Suggest the addition of Appendix F to include a project proforma 
and evaluation template as reference. 

NFU Recognise that scale of provision of new homes is very ambitious and thus 
mitigation required for recreation is high. Would expect synergies and holistic 
approach with other areas such as nutrient reductions and biodiversity net gain, 
not piecemeal approach. Farmers must be able to shape and control delivery on 
the ground. What is the role of the coordinator and warden which has two thirds 
of funding with only 11% towards projects on the ground? No costings or details 
for infrastructure projects and how they will be delivered. How will in-perpetuity 
be monitored after 2030? Are guarantees for delivery made by requisite 
covenants? NFU would like to be involved in process. How does the min/max 
administrative charge relate to the role of the coordinator? Who bears the cost 
of deeds and legal fees? 

The £10,000 budget is for SAMMs projects, not infrastructure projects. There 
is a separate budget for infrastructure projects which is top sliced from CIL 
contributions. The pilot strategy requires a lot of survey and monitoring work 
to be carried out initially however, this will in turn help to better inform both 
SAMMs and infrastructure projects which will be most effective on the 
ground. Agree, it is important to work with farmers to effectively use their 
assets for benefit. Councils will monitor the effects planned development, 
and mitigation, through the process of preparing and updating local planning 
policy. Admin charge and their costs for deeds and legal fees would be 
borne by the developers (submitting the planning application). The admin 
charge is to process the obligation and does not relate to coordinator role.   

Pan Purbeck 
Action 
Campaign 

Protected sites in Poole Harbour will be damaged further by planned 
development in the Local Plans of both areas. Given the importance of the 
Habitats Regulations both Poole and Purbeck Councils are urged to review this 
SPD to take account of these issues: 
Housing numbers - the formula for the calculation of housing numbers in flawed 
and concerned residents have no meaningful say on the number of houses to 
be identified in Local Plans.  
Timing - Expected that consultation would have been earlier in the development 
cycle of Local Plans and consultation period would be at least 6 weeks rather 
than 4 weeks. 
Mitigation - measures outlined in the SPD are unlikely to be successful. Visitors 
can ignore signs and wardens only work part of the day. 
Prevention versus mitigation - case for prevention needs to be made in a strong 
and clear manner. Measures to limit access and reroute access deserve to be 
fully developed for a revised SPD. 
 

The draft SPD takes account of housing needs assessments in Poole and 
Purbeck local plans.  Interested parties have been given the opportunity to 
make responses on these assessment as part of the process of preparing 
these plans. Both Poole and Purbeck local plans deal with this issue as 
highlighted in the respective habitats regulations assessments – this SPD 
provides the implementation of the policy approach and is considered the 
most effective approach. 4 weeks consultation is consistent with both 
councils statement of community involvement and relevant planning laws. 
The mitigation proposes mainly measures to raising awareness, educate and 
encourage changes in behaviour rather than restrict access. The 
effectiveness of mitigation will be monitored and reviewed accordingly. 

P
age 92



Poole Harbour Recreation SPD – Consultation Responses– March 2019  9 

Respondent Comment Officer comment and Action  
Poole Flag Trust How will scheme be implemented after formation of the new councils and there 

is no Poole Town Council? Tidal waters are no longer the responsibility of 
council but you must consult with the MMO particularly over the intertidal zone. 
We agree that birds need protection from predation particularly from dogs off 
their leash but we consider that an emphasis must be made on protecting their 
food chain. In order to maintain diversity of birds, a variety of habitats must be 
maintained for feeding, nestling and for roosting. As an example mudflats at low 
tide must be protected for waders to feed and also an area above high water 
level for nesting and to retire from the mudflats when covered by water. Some 
birds rely on fish for food so water must be free of pollutants. Wardens are 
necessary but to finance them from tax on new housing is unfair, the harbour 
attracts many people from outside the Poole and Purbeck Areas so is it possible 
to tax existing facilities and form a toll on visitors when they depart from Poole 
Quay or enter Upton Park?  

The issue of recreation was identified in the Poole Harbour Aquatic 
Management Plan which was jointly produced by the Councils and the MMO. 
The SPD has been developed in response to this and the impact identified in 
the HRAs for the Local Plans. The majority of the measures proposed in the 
strategy are on land and any projects on the water/tidal areas will be 
prepared in liaison with the MMO. The mitigation measures delivered 
through the SPD will address the effects from disturbance connected with 
the residential development planned in the councils’ local plans. 

Purbeck Society Concerns raised about affect on the environment of Purbeck - too many houses 
being imposed on the Dorset communities without residents having any say in 
the numbers. 
Local Plan developments - the SPD should be circulated at the start of the Local 
Plan process and subject to six week consultation period.  
Mitigation - should be mitigation rather than possible mitigation.  
Funding – CIL/Section106 monies do not supply mitigation in perpetuity as they 
both are time driven ideas. 

The consultation and adoption of an SPD is a separate process to the Local 
Plan and residents are consulted on Local Plan housing numbers separately. 
The 4 week consultation period is in accordance with each councils’ 
statement of community involvement and relevant planning laws. 

RSPB Welcomes the draft SPD which is timely with the Poole and Purbeck local plans 
and should address the existing strategic policy vacuum and avoid ad hoc 
decisions being made over the use of developer contributions. SPD succinctly 
summarised issues at play and background paper is up to date in terms of 
evidence and useful reference. Also demonstrates necessity of action to 
understand and address recreational impacts associated with new development. 
Support Natural England position regarding pressures of disturbance from 
recreation upon Poole Harbour SPA/Ramsar sites. Also support stance in 
background paper. Current draft SPD provides vehicle for delivering actions of 
Site Improvement Plan (2014) and sets out clear rationale and logical 
mechanism for collecting payments from development to fund mitigation and 
avoidance measures (SAMMs) and infrastructure projects (PHIPS). RSPB has 
been involved in early discussions with Councils to scope out qualifying projects. 

Funding from CIL will continue to be top sliced for PHIPS. The pilot strategy 
requires a lot of survey and monitoring work to be carried out initially which 
will in turn help to better inform effective SAMMs and infrastructure projects 
and their costings. The Councils  will need to agree the scope of the warden 
and coordinator roles and these will be monitored/reviewed for effectiveness. 
Councils will also need to agree management/process for projects etc. Also 
recognised that there needs to be a process/mechanism for involving 
interested parties such as RSPB. A steering group may be appropriate and 
will be added to the SPD section on governance. Action - Add a 
governance section regarding the need for a steering group. 

P
age 93



Poole Harbour Recreation SPD – Consultation Responses– March 2019  10 

Respondent Comment Officer comment and Action  
There is necessity for funding to be secured in perpetuity to deliver all aspects 
which is noted in SPD. Vital that Councils continue to 'top slice' CIL to direct 
investment to PHIPS (and SAMMs in Purbeck). Annual monitoring will be 
necessary and support intention to monitor delivered measures as part of SPD 
to guide future investment decisions and provide evidence. Ongoing monitoring 
of bird populations in Poole Harbour is necessary to determine whether projects 
mitigate pressures. Generally supportive of measures in SPD but would 
welcome more info on coordinating and wardening roles as insufficient 
information presented on deliverables and whether its sufficient for scale of 
harbour. Also query governance arrangements for SPD and how interested 
parties can engage further which coordinator role may give structure to. Also 
require clarity on relative proportions of receipts split between SAMMs and 
PHIPs as this is not explicit in SPD. 

Savills Promoting land at Wool for residential development. Mitigation for heathlands 
and nitrates will be addressed through SANGs. The SPD buffer zone does not 
extend westwards as far as Wool and no objection on this basis. Delivery of the 
SANG would nevertheless play important role in reducing recreational impacts 
around the harbour as it will be for heathlands. SPD text should more explicitly 
identify area in which it will apply (such as para 6.2). A single plan showing the 
area would be simpler and avoid confusion.  

The zone within Purbeck excludes Wool. A plan is provided in the 
appendices, but a larger plan would clearly identify the affected area.  
Action – Use one map of the area in the appendices 

SGN Appreciative of notification to inform their strategic planning but no comments Noted.  

Society for 
Poole 

Noted that normal consultation period is reduced from 6 weeks to 4 weeks. 
National Audit Office is concerned regard financial sustainability of Local 
Authorities (including high level borrowing) to the point that strategic planning 
and local discretion are at risk. Paper has not been prepared in conjunction with 
the Maritime Management Organisation (MMMO) which has considerable 
interest and powers over the harbour and environment. Planning Inspectorate 
did not consider this subject mater when dealing with targets for housing 
numbers in Poole but perhaps will when dealing with Local Plan for Purbeck. 
The adopted Local Plan for Poole will have to be adjusted to maximise the 
benefits of 'avoidance' since 'mitigation' was not envisaged.  Disappointing that 
paper deals with mitigation rather than avoidance which should not be forgotten. 
Very special characteristics of the Dorset coast should continue to be reinforced 
by effective measures for controlling recreational facilities and enforced by MMO 
and Natural England, and the two new Local Authorities as they review 

A 4 week consultation accords with both councils statements of community 
involvement and relevant planning laws. Notwithstanding Local Authority 
budgets, funds collected as part of the strategy are ring fenced towards 
mitigation measures for the strategy.  
The MMO are aware of the issue of recreational activities and impact upon 
birds and need to mitigate is highlighted in the Poole Harbour Aquatic 
Management Plan which was prepared with the MMO. Both Poole and 
Purbeck local plans deal with this issue as highlighted in the respective 
habitats regulations assessments – this SPD provides the implementation of 
the policy approach and is considered the most effective approach. It is 
acknowledged that visitors across Dorset may visit the harbour, the 
effectiveness of the strategy and the impacts of recreation on Poole Harbour 
will be monitored as part of the strategy in conjunction with both councils’ 
local plans. Housing numbers in Appendix E are up-to-date and based upon 

P
age 94



Poole Harbour Recreation SPD – Consultation Responses– March 2019  11 

Respondent Comment Officer comment and Action  

implementation of Local Plans. Natural or semi natural environment provide 
benefits for human health and well-being so adequate controls of human 
damage are welcome. Financing for wardening, education and monitoring are 
not substantial enough to be truly effective and its unrealistic to encourage 
housing so as to obtain insufficient CIL monies for funding relevant infrastructure 
challenges and reduce CIL monies by decanting a contribution for SAMM. A 
more effective method is needed. Effect of SANGs is not properly addressed 
and also have wildlife which could be impacted so are not the whole answer with 
the role of parks and playing fields needing to the strengthened. SANGs should 
be flower meadows to ensure insect life flourishes. 
Shared concern with Natural England about intensification of residential 
development in Poole and Purbeck with affordable housing not being met but 
not just Poole and Purbeck but 70,000 houses across Dorset who also visit. 
Also areas such as Holes Bay could be affected by surface water drains and 
other pollutants which could affect the birds. Many vacant houses suggest 
temporary occupants who are less aware of the need to respect wildlife. 
Concern over felling of trees and absence of replacement trees resulting in loss 
of roosting/nesting sites. Appendix E refers to obsolete household projections. 

the adopted Poole Local Plan and Purbeck Local Plan submission draft. 

Sport England Disappointed that the emphasis is on wildlife protection and no recreation to 
improve health.  Objects and will not support SPD due to concerns about 
projects listed in appendix F which need to be clarified.  In particular Holes Bay 
re-alignment of cycle/footpath because due to potential for active travel route to 
the town centre and Hamworthy Park Access as area may be used by Poole YC 
and the Outdoor centre. Advise if to be considered by planning committee and 
outcome of SPD with copy of adoption notice.   

Mitigation measures need to address the effect of disturbance arising from 
new residential development, but in some instances may provide the 
opportunity to address other planning objectives around health/wellbeing.  
PHIPS projects in appendix F are examples only.  Going forward further 
work needs to undertaken to provide a more comprehensive list of 
infrastructure projects in liaison with any interested parties or consultees. 

The Seahorse 
Trust 

The SPD is adequate as part of a wider exercise to protect Poole Harbour but 
further consideration should be given to working with partners in Bournemouth 
and Christchurch to tackle harm caused by industrial activities as otherwise 
without this wider work, the recreation SPD would be undermined. 

Comments are largely directly towards Wytch Farm and the temporary oil rig 
in Poole Bay.  Licences and regulation for these types of developments are 
issued by central government bodies.   

Wessex Water 1. Whilst issue of recreation is separate from other development impacts 
affecting the designated features of Poole Harbour, such as nutrient neutrality, 
issues are inevitably inextricably linked.  Some value in having single SPD 
covering all potential impacts arising from housing development on the Poole 
Harbour SSSI/SAC/SPA to ensure multi-functional mitigation is considered and 
that various strands are made easily understandable to developers (i.e. you 

The strategy is intended is to run alongside other existing strategies such as 
Nitrogen however, it is agreed that a more comprehensive/holistic review of 
all issues may be appropriate in the future and may provide opportunity for 
shared gain projects.  
Appendix D is aimed towards residential development however, some 
commercial development may also have an impact and the requirements of 

P
age 95



Poole Harbour Recreation SPD – Consultation Responses– March 2019  12 

Respondent Comment Officer comment and Action  
have to pay £x for recreation and £x for nutrients).  Potential additional 
contributions for Heathland Mitigation and Biodiversity Strategy creates 
complicated requirements for developers, particularly when developing at a 
small scale. A multifunctional approach would be better aligned with 
Governments intentions to move towards net environmental gain and could 
ensure that solutions such as PHIPs consider and deliver multifunctional 
benefits, such as water quality improvements, sustainable drainage 
opportunities etc.  Equally, schemes put forward through the nutrient neutrality 
SPD should consider recreation as an issue (although as noted, the primary 
recreational issues are centred on the Harbour itself, whilst nutrient neutrality is 
geographically factored in upstream).  Biodiversity Net Gain and Conservation 
Covenant proposals currently being consulted upon by DEFRA could facilitate 
clearer, more straightforward process for developers and responsible bodies 
allocating funding for mitigation projects. In long term, SPDs should be 
integrated into a strategic planning package for biodiversity, nitrogen neutrality, 
clean water, carbon sequestration and other natural capital flows. Local 
partnerships are well placed to deliver projects that contribute these ambitions in 
collaborative, cost effective way.  Would encourage approach working in 
partnership with other delivery organisations and where possible, pools 
available funding in order to achieve a much greater overall gain, rather than 
having small independent pots of money.  If combination of SPDs is not 
possible, it would be beneficial for much stronger links or signposting to be 
made within the recreation SPD to the nutrient neutrality SPD and other related 
documents (and vice versa).   
2. As statutory undertaker granted Permitted Development Rights. Appendix D 
appears to be directed towards residential conversion (and not activities of 
statutory undertaker PD) however, this is not clear on what development types 
are covered and needs to be reviewed to ensure that the Permitted 
Development requirements and process are well defined and that the guidance 
is assessed against recent EU Court Judgements.  In particular, the fifth 
paragraph, (referring to Regulation 75 of the Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 2017) appears to have no conclusion.  The intention is to 
suggest that residential conversion Permitted Development Rights will require 
potential Appropriate Assessment under the Habitat Regulations (or screening 
opinion under the EIA Regulations) before proceeding (with the affect that 
permitted development rights are withdrawn) and this should be explicitly stated 

appropriate assessment are not limited to residential development only. This 
is however, the requirements of the legislation and not the SPD. Noted 
regarding PHIPS but these are examples only 

P
age 96



Poole Harbour Recreation SPD – Consultation Responses– March 2019  13 

Respondent Comment Officer comment and Action  
to avoid confusion. 
3. Noted that SAMM proposals will employ project officer or warden, whilst there 
is also a proposal for a coordinator for the allocation of funding from the SPD for 
nitrogen neutrality. Consideration could be given as to whether existing partners 
in the catchment could provide this expert support from existing positions, 
ensuring that more developer contributions contribute directly to the protection 
of European sites. Comment relates to the co-ordinator role mentioned in the 
SAMM proposals, and not to Warden role. 
4. Two of the PHIPs projects (hide relocation on Coombe heath and the Lytchett 
Fields access) are being managed by the respective landowners. If these 
proposed projects are planned for delivery and require no funding then instead 
enhance Brand’s Bay Buoy project across all bird sensitive areas (and other 
users). PHIPs should be linked into provision of Green Infrastructure, in single 
strategy for appropriate management of people to Dorset Heathland and Poole 
Harbour Natura 2000 sites. Could further information be provided on location 
and partners involved with PHIP projects – perhaps a live table maintained over 
the life of the SPD. 

 
  

P
age 97



Poole Harbour Recreation SPD – Consultation Responses– March 2019  14 

Comments from the Public: 
 

Respondent Comment Officer comment and action  

Allison, F ANY development within the Poole Harbour Special Protection Area Buffer Zone 
is bound “to have an adverse effect on the integrity of the site”. Most if not all 
wildlife is sensitive to any change or disturbance to areas they inhabit and 
mitigation simply will not eliminate this effect. Should planning be granted, 
wildlife will disappear and any amount of mitigation will not bring it back. How 
can authorities guarantee there will "no adverse impact upon the protected 
birds”? The bulk of planning document is concerned with organising and funding 
mitigation measures and not actually safeguarding a future for harbour wildlife. 
Developments or projects within the Buffer Zone should not be permitted unless 
proved to be otherwise unavoidable. The area that residents and visitors 
presently enjoy and love must be protected for future generations, both humans 
and wildlife. 

Development is necessary to meet the housing need, however, the strategy 
provides a scheme to mitigate the impacts of development. Both Poole and 
Purbeck local plans deal with this issue as highlighted in the respective 
habitats regulations assessments – this SPD provides the implementation of 
the policy approach and is considered the most effective approach 

Carr, Richard Query that we (UK) will be out of the EU by the end of this. This is currently unknown however, councils’ proceeding on the assumption 
that all EU legislation relating to protected habitats will be carried over as part 
of Brexit.   

Craig, H With reference to SAMMS projects, Appendix F, using education (leaflets, Dorset 
Dogs Pit Stops) as the sole method of mitigating disturbance by dogs does not 
go far enough as a mitigation strategy for the SPA. Given significant number of 
new homes planned for this area, the number of dogs living in the local area will 
increase. Given that the majority of the Twin Sails redevelopment area plans 
flats with balconies or limited private gardens, this will put further pressure onto 
closest open spaces such as Hamworthy Park, Poole Park, Ham Common and 
Baiter. Report references 2012 Disturbance Study in the Poole Harbour 
Background Paper and 40% of bird disturbance caused by dogs off leads. 
Education strategies proposed in SAMMS projects list at Appendix F could 
provide discrete, short term improvements to a limited number of local residents 
receptive to this type of education however, mitigation methods unlikely to 
deliver long term, sustainable protection for SPA. Before mass housing 
development starts within twin sails area, open spaces need looking at and 
whether more permanent measures could be put in place to protect the SPA ie 
whether public space protection orders could be raised for waterside parks within 
or adjacent to the SPA. Some sensitive sites could be dogs on leads only, and 
dogs off leads reserved for alternative sites which have a lesser impact on 

Noted. Suitable projects will be considered as part of the implementation 
strategy. 

P
age 98



Poole Harbour Recreation SPD – Consultation Responses– March 2019  15 

Respondent Comment Officer comment and action  

wildlife ie Upton dog area or Hamworthy rec ground could be special areas for 
dogs off leads. Other areas such as Barking and Dagenham raised public space 
protection orders on their local parks, and made it a requirement for dogs to be 
registered before walking them in parks. Whilst this was on the basis of reducing 
dog poo in parks - the article linked evidenced that scheme achieved significant 
change in behaviour in short time and cut dog fouling in their public parks in half 
within 3 months. Perhaps, a combination of DNA registering (through something 
like StreetKleen) could be combined with attending short training on the SPA. 
This could be prerequisite for dog walking in parks within/adjacent to the SPA.  

Fisher, Liam Query as to whether the chargeable area applies to specific areas of Poole or 
the whole. 

The SPD covers the entirety of the area covered by the Poole Local Plan. 

Bell, J Supports the SPD however raised concerns over the degradation of the harbour 
by harbour authorities where the port was expanded and other berths expanded 
which are invading the harbour. Harbour authorities may join SPD but have 
separate objective to increase harbour activity and revenue. Concern regarding 
increased ferry traffic and cruise lines as these pollute the air and harbour.  
Reference to dog faeces but consider wider issue over regulation of harbour by 
harbour authorities to be greater. 

The focus of the strategy is related recreational activities and the impact this 
has upon birds around the harbour.  The wider issues regarding the regulation 
of the harbour by the harbour authorities are noted.     

Brady, C Concerned about wild birds in Poole Harbour and aware that dogs flush the 
birds, and especially dogs that swim.  As a dog walker, dogs only flush seagulls 
but feels that dog walking should be limited to and restricted to certain areas.  
Suggests requirement for dogs on leads to protect birds and 2 mile buffer 
preventing development around the harbour shoreline.  Seagulls are considered 
nuisance and prevent garden birds from nesting. Considers jet skiing to pose 
more to wild birds than canoeing and suggests restrictions in areas. Suggests 
cycling at Baiter to be banned.  Suggests fines/bans to feeding wild birds as its 
not necessary. 

The possible mitigation includes measures that will raise awareness, educate 
and encourage changes in behaviour rather than to place additional 
restrictions or prevent all recreation in/around the harbour.  With regard to 
suggestion of restricting development around the harbour, this is not 
necessary as the effects from development can be mitigated and further 
housing is needed to meet local needs.  

Budd, K Requests that no further areas are restricted for dog walkers to access and 
suggests instead using budget for countryside/dog wardens to police errant dog 
owners who need education or prosecuting for unacceptable behaviour.   

The possible mitigation focuses on measures to raise awareness rather than 
to place additional restrictions or prevent recreation in/around the harbour. A 
warden is proposed to help educate dog owners as well as investing in a 
project aimed at educating dog owners. 

Dion, Xena 
Cllr 

Agrees with measures proposed but suggests restriction/clause on cats due to 
their impact upon wildlife. Litter picking is easily done by volunteers but would be 
reasonable to be guided by professional or trained volunteer who is 
knowledgeable about nesting sites and birds.  CCTV may deter or make people 

The focus of the strategy is related recreational activities and the impact this 
has upon birds around the harbour.  As cats aren't considered as recreational 
activity although in any case, it is not be very practical/enforceable to place 
such restrictions/clauses hence the approach in protecting heathlands 

P
age 99



Poole Harbour Recreation SPD – Consultation Responses– March 2019  16 

Respondent Comment Officer comment and action  
more mindful of activities adversely impacting on birds and cost is outweighed by 
protection of habitats.  Agree with increased signage warning people to keep 
dogs on leads, canoeists to keep their distance and walkers to keep to paths.  
Many are not aware of the damage they are causing. 

whereby a buffer is used instead.  CCTV could be considered for some areas 
but would not likely be practical in all areas of the harbour.  Raising awareness 
is a key part of the strategy as it is considered to be most effective. 

Dobbs, N There is recognition of the importance of protecting the area's Natural Capital but 
gaps existing in terms of assurances to protect wildlife and natural habitats 
versus politically motivated economic growth which is increasing concern. 
Current population trend upwards continues and brings additional human footfall 
and associated recreation activities on area's protected reserves. Owners should 
legally keep dogs on leads where potential for disturbance and council should 
consider specially designated area for off lead (model at Stanpit Marshes, 
Christchurch as good example). Education and signage at key locations 
essential including legal obligations to remove dog mess and dispose in bins. 
Issue with litter at Holes Bay particularly from neighbouring large businesses 
which should be considered when given planning permission. No mention of new 
bins in budget and 6 monthly clean ups not sufficient or acceptable (reference to 
examples at Turbary Common and Talbot Heath SSSI nature reserves where 
Bournemouth do not provide bins and Poole do). Co-ordinator and warden 
welcomed but roles need to be scrutinised in terms of wider BCP priorities in 
natural environment teams and if there are staff cuts which has been issues with 
Natural England. Warden should be aimed at engaging and educating but also 
enforcement where needed which needs strengthening of by-laws. Queries how 
impartial mitigation is in consideration of planning applications and recommends 
to considering an independent panel to scrutinise tender selection and 
appointment of developer's ecology agency with panel. Note error on hyperlinks 
on page 31.   

The SPD provides a strategy for addressing the adverse effects of disturbance 
from new development around the harbour.  The possible mitigation focuses 
on measures to raise awareness as this is seen to be more effective approach 
but where necessary enforcement tools and on/off lead designated areas 
could be considered.  Provision of additional bins where required could be 
considered as part of a litter project.  Budget and scope of the warden and co-
ordinator roles would be safeguarded/ring-fenced to the priorities of the 
strategy. Hyperlinks to be checked. A steering group may be appropriate and 
will be added to the SPD section on governance. Action - Add a governance 
section regarding the need for a steering group. 

Edward, P Queries several quotes in the SPD around affect and mitigation. To have no 
effect the SPD should not aim to mitigate impact but eliminate it. Designations on 
harbour are worthless if allowed to be downgraded or ignored. Intensive 
development around the harbour will have an adverse effect therefore 
developments around harbour should be restricted to low density family houses 
to reduce intensity. Unreasonable to invite 15,030 households to live in high 
intensive units of edge of harbour and use SANG for recreation when car 
ownership is discouraged. Impossible to envisage any mitigation measures could 
come close to addressing scale of the problem and £1,321,850 is inadequate 

Councils’ local plans seek to deliver sustainable development – including 
planning to meet peoples housing needs as well as recognising the 
importance of the environment.  Evidence indicates that adverse effects of 
disturbance arising from development can be mitigated.  The proposed 
measures are aimed towards mitigating future development which is required 
to meet the housing need. The mitigation proposes mainly measures to raise 
awareness, educate and encourage changes in behaviour. 

P
age 100



Poole Harbour Recreation SPD – Consultation Responses– March 2019  17 

Respondent Comment Officer comment and action  
and gesture in exchange for unacceptable developments. SAMMs list of projects 
feeble and not likely to have much impact. Potential for vast numbers to be using 
vulnerable sites and even a small percentage with less reasonable attitude 
would be disastrous.  

Gilmour, J Concerned with the proposal for Studland around Brands Bay as creation of new 
more visible path may encourage visitors and be tempted towards the water and 
dogs exploring away from the path. Existing path is not well known or used. 
Proposed development at Arne will attract more tourists/residents and disturb 
wildlife. 

Concern noted. The projects listed in the SPD are only possible mitigation and 
the Councils’ will take advice on the effectiveness of mitigation from Natural 
England and partner organisations before committing funding. 

Green, R Huge consideration to fellow creatures living around harbour but not on human 
species and recreational needs such as cycling or walking. Agree to rangers and 
education with low enforcement but don't spend large amounts of money on 
creating haven for fellow creatures at detriment to our freedom.  Compliance with 
European rules will not be important in a few weeks time. 

The possible mitigation focuses on measures to raise awareness and to 
ensure sustainable management of visitors and their recreational activities and 
is not aimed at preventing or restricting visitors.  Focus on recreation and open 
spaces within Poole and Purbeck is considered separated to the strategy 
which is aimed environmentally towards protecting designated sites.  Despite 
this mitigation measures may also contribute to other planning objectives.  
Councils’ have assumed that the majority of European and International 
designations will continue to be safeguarded post Brexit and therefore will 
remain relevant. 

Handley 
MacMath, T 

Please explain how the elaborate plans to raise money from new housing 
developments can be as effective in protecting wildlife as not permitting housing 
developments? 

The councils’ approach supports the delivery of sustainable development 
through their respective local plans – this recognises the need for 
development and the requirement to mitigate adverse effects on European 
sites. 

Hewing, P Issue over jetties and other constructions built along the harbour at Lake Road, 
Hamworthy and Hamworthy Park which have obstructed a footpath which 
previously went along the shoreline. Would like to see jetties removed and 
restricted.  

The strategy is aimed environmentally towards protecting designated sites 
however, jetties have been considered to impact upon the habitats of 
important birds within Poole Harbour.  A new policy was introduced in the 
Poole Local Plan which restricts jetties in certain areas around the harbour 
including Lake Road, Hamworthy.  Otherwise the effects of development will 
need to be considered on a case by case basis through planning applications. 

Jesty, N Fascinated that there is a conflict between birds, cyclists and dog walkers when 
these activities are encouraged at RSPB reserve at Arne. Seems left hand 
doesn't know what the right hand is doing. 

The strategy and mitigation is aimed at managing visitors and their 
recreational activities around the harbour which mainly focuses on raising 
awareness. It is not necessarily aimed at preventing visitor access or 
recreational activities and there is no conflict with the aspirations of RSPB at 
Arne.   

Johns, T Support the SPD. Support noted. 

Kettlewell, M Understand the need for more housing, nationwide, and contribution to Comments noted. 

P
age 101



Poole Harbour Recreation SPD – Consultation Responses– March 2019  18 

Respondent Comment Officer comment and action  

affordable housing for young people in particular but sad if this leads to a 
reduction in recreational options. Birds use flight as an instant response to 
perceived danger, returning very soon to the area they want to be in, to feed. 
Many bird species are very intelligent and become habituated to roads or other 
places where there is contained activity. Walkers along the foreshore are unlikely 
to contribute to a loss of the bird inhabitants and visitors around the harbour, 
however, dogs off leads and noisy boats, with their more random movements 
could scare our visiting birds away more permanently. An increase in people 
looking for recreational activities around the harbour, education about keeping to 
public rights of way and keeping dogs on leads in any area where they could 
chase wildlife will become increasingly important. 

Lambert, C Walked their dog(s) around the harbour for 40 years. Commented that the path 
and area (around Turks Lane to the public boat slip) has no detrimental effect on 
bird life as the tidal rise/fall is such that no birds nest in the area and nest on 
Brownsea or in Poole Park instead. Considers there to be no harm to wildlife by 
continued dog walking or cycling along harbourside path. 

Comments noted although evidence indicates that in addition to consideration 
of impact upon nesting areas, there is an issue of birds being flushed when 
resting/feeding in areas around the harbour (often in tidal areas).  In any case, 
however the strategy and mitigation is aimed at managing visitors and their 
recreational activities around the harbour and mainly focuses on raising 
awareness.  It is not necessarily aimed at preventing visitor access or 
recreational activities. 

Langley, A 1 General Comment - The Poole Harbour Recreation Background Paper (2019) 
makes it clear that some recreational activities are having an adverse effect 
upon the behaviour of birds within Poole Harbour. As such, an urgent 
programme of mitigation should already be in place to deal with this current 
problem, irrespective of the effects of additional development. Where is this 
plan? Necessary mitigation for Poole and Purbeck's Local Plans should have 
been identified and evidenced during the HRA AA, considering all sources of 
LSE and other plans and projects (see section 6). In fact, there is very little detail 
about mitigation for recreation. The recreation SPD is not an implementation 
plan. The Executive Summary talks about an implementation and monitoring 
plan, but there is no date for its completion. A comprehensive mitigation 
implementation and monitoring plan covering all LSEs on the SPA is essential to 
support any conclusions that LSEs will be avoided or mitigated. 
2 HRA & AA - Poole's HRA contains no details on the required mitigation. 
Purbeck's HRA refers to the commitment to mitigation, but does not detail what 
that entails. The impacts from all sources, recreation or otherwise, have to be 
considered in any mitigation plan for the SPA. 

In consultation with Natural England both councils have made provision to 
secure mitigation for development permitted in advance of adopting the SPD.  
Mitigating the effects of recreational activities is also in part addressed by joint 
work between organisations on the implementation of The Poole Harbour 
Aquatic Management Plan (amended 2011). The management plan includes 
objectives to maintain habitats in Poole Harbour in a favourable condition and 
manage activity within the harbour to mitigate adverse effects. Strategic HRAs 
of the councils’ local plans take these measures into consideration.  The local 
plans include measures relating to implementing and monitoring the 
effectiveness of planning policies relating to Poole Harbour SPA. As part of the 
SPD councils have estimated costs for delivering mitigation that is necessary 
to address the effects associated from development in the recreation zones 
identified in Appendix B of the SPD. In those cases where development is 
likely to have significant effects on heathland and Poole Harbour, and SANGs 
are put forward as mitigation, councils will assess whether these measures 
mitigate adverse effects on both habitats. 
As with the Dorset Heathlands Planning Framework the SPD outlines possible 

P
age 102



Poole Harbour Recreation SPD – Consultation Responses– March 2019  19 

Respondent Comment Officer comment and action  

3 Scope of Charging – Para 6.2 is incompatible with the principle in Policy E9 of 
the Purbeck LP examination draft. The Purbeck Buffer zone in Appendix B (and 
referenced in Policy E9) is incompatible with the CIL charging zones defined by 
Purbeck District Council. 
4 SANGs Provision (Para 6.5) - How and where is the decision on use of SANGs 
evidenced? 
5 Security of Funding (para 7.3) - How have the Councils' commitments to 
indefinite funding of mitigation been delivered and recorded? Clearly, costs of 
mitigation will run well beyond the income from S106 or CIL associated with the 
current development and will be a long-term burden on Councils' resources. 
6 Funding, Delivery, Monitoring and Contingency - As drafted, the SPD is a 
justification for funding the SAMM component of mitigation rather than a detailed 
description of all required mitigation. For example, infrastructure projects are only 
"provisional" and would be funded differently. Full details of the total mitigation 
package are required by the Poole Local Plan HRA and EU guidance on AA. To 
assess mitigation measures, the following tasks must be completed: 1. list each 
of the measures to be introduced; 2. explain how the measures will avoid the 
adverse impacts on the site; 3. explain how the measures will reduce the 
adverse impacts on the site. Then, for each of the listed mitigation measures: 1. 
provide evidence of how they will be secured and implemented and by whom; 2. 
provide evidence of the degree of confidence in their likely success; 3. provide a 
timescale, relative to the project or plan, when they will be implemented; 4. 
provide evidence of how the measures will be monitored, and, should mitigation 
failure be identified, how that failure will be rectified. 
7. Para 8.3 - The 2012 SNPP is well out of date. The 2016-based SNPP is the 
most recent, and relevant, population projection. 
8. Typo in Appendix E. table 2 "2018-3034" (sic). Typo in Appendix E. last entry 
in table 3 "87,133" should be "88,123". 

mitigation measures. Mitigation measures will be agreed by the councils’ in 
consultation with Natural England and implementation of the policies in local 
plans will be monitored.  

Lees, C Commented on the success of two projects run by the Lees estate in partnership 
with RSPB and Livability - firstly the SANG at Policeman's Lane, Upton and 
secondly the paths allowing safe access into the farmed countryside at Holton 
Lee. Saddened to see large sums allocated to wages and wardens as opposed 
to setting up, building or creating something.  Suggests money would be better 
spent on making boardwalks, safe visiting paths and view points, cycle paths, 
planting scheme, bird hides and other ideas.  Organisations such as Lytchett 

Comments noted. The SAMMS contributions cannot be used for infrastructure 
however there is scope to fund infrastructure projects through CIL and this is 
set out in the strategy. The provision of SANGs as mitigation will also be used 
as part of the strategy (in conjunction with heathland requirements). The 
Councils will work with partners, including landowners to identify and deliver 
appropriate projects.  

P
age 103



Poole Harbour Recreation SPD – Consultation Responses– March 2019  20 

Respondent Comment Officer comment and action  
Bay Nature Partnership and private landowners should be remembered as safe 
and trusted delivery partners and can work with councils to continue delivering 
these types of projects. 

Loader, J 
and D 

How can mitigation persuade birds feeding and breeding in the Harbour to go 
elsewhere to feed and nest? Wildlife does not take kindly to habitat disturbance 
and will disappear, or starve to death. Decision to be made whether to protect 
and keep special wildlife that Poole Harbour is renowned for, or concrete over 
their habitat, build up edges of Harbour and ‘run the wildlife out of town’. The 
environmental protections should, and probably does, far outweigh Local 
Authority misguided plans to develop at all costs. Very little middle ground 
because as the draft document rightly states ‘research indicates that human 
activity can disturb the Harbour’s animals and plants’, and ‘that it causes birds to 
expend unnecessary energy, feed less and become stressed’. This is not an 
indication, but absolutely the case. None of which can be mitigated against in 
Poole Harbour other than putting in place, and stringently adhering to, the noted 
extended buffer zone -map on Page 21, which would try to take the daily effects 
from constant development further away from Poole Harbour. Appendix 1 Point 
3.1 (Page 8) – Little Egret may have been non-breeding in 1999 but certainly is a 
breeding species in the Harbour now and uses the agricultural fringes of the 
Poole Harbour SPA for supplementary winter-feeding grounds, along with the 
red listed Lapwing -fortuitously some of these feeding fields are within your 
extended buffer zone which makes the implementation of this zone all the more 
important. How do the Local Authorities intend to create new habitats in over 
populated Harbour fringes? You will not be able to stop people who live around 
the Harbour, or incoming visitors, from using the shoreline and the Harbour for 
recreation no matter how much advisory signage is put up, how many walkways 
are changed, or wardens employed.  Document acknowledges there is no 
comparable area in the rest of Poole for certain recreational activities, so how 
are you going to achieve any form of mitigation? There is no mention of what 
avoidance measures/mitigation could possibly be, apart from calculating a 
SAMM contribution to mitigate the adverse effects of recreation related 
pressures. Unfortunately, logic seems to be build the houses to get the CIL 
contributions for the SAMM, then develop an Access Management Plan for 
wildlife that will be long gone, and very unlikely to return, when it sees an 
avoidance sign go up. 

The strategy provides a scheme of mitigation of impacts of development on 
Poole Harbour SPA. The strategy and measures proposed (as set out in 
chapter 6) and explored further in the background paper are considered to 
provide an effective framework for delivering mitigation measures and are not 
dissimilar to other strategies being carried out across the country. Little Egret 
is no longer a bird included in SPA designation. 

P
age 104



Poole Harbour Recreation SPD – Consultation Responses– March 2019  21 

Respondent Comment Officer comment and action  
Loretto, P Raised concerns that document states 100 years and in effect perpetuity but 

measures only cover 5-15 years. Commitment for funding beyond this period can 
only be as good as the economic political climate at the time, hence unlikely to 
always be at the level being discussed. Environmental protection measures that 
do not depend so much on continuing funding levels should be prioritised. 
Document recommends active measures such as wardens and education - these 
have an ongoing cost and permanent passive measures preferred. Distance 
from development and physical barriers are important to consider. Wardens and 
education do not address all issues - criminal actions such as antisocial 
behaviour, fly tipping and pollution are sadly an ongoing problem despite 
education. Damage done by these activities expensive to resolve and have long 
term impacts. Increasing the number of people living near the area will increase 
likelihood of such events. No recognition of this in the financial estimates 
included in report. Measures proposed are limited in effectiveness and too 
dependent on ongoing funding and charge per property towards protection is 
inadequate. Would welcome estimate of resulting likelihood of the impact of 
criminal activities and accidental environmental damage and costs likely to be 
incurred to address these.  

Mitigation measures are proposed in perpetuity but period is due to Local Plan 
and projected housing numbers which will be reviewed. The mitigation mainly 
proposes measures to raise awareness, educate and encourage changes in 
behaviour however, there is potential for enforcement measures where 
required. 

Lyle, J It should be noted that according to global warming date the sea level in Poole 
harbour is expected to rise by 1.2 metres over the next 50 years meaning much 
of the harbour and properties adjacent will be underwater. 

Comments noted, Councils have taken account of climate change in their 
strategic flood risks assessments and when preparing their housing strategies. 

Meachin, T The SPD is jargon and abbreviation heavy. Suggest a more accessible summary 
document to bring about more effective consultation process if this has not 
already been done. Personal interest in proposed changes to cycle route around 
Holes Bay. 

Comments noted. An executive summary is provided at the start of the 
document but there is perhaps opportunity to summarise further on the 
website if the strategy is adopted.   

Noden, P A keen windsurfer and regular walker. The study doesn't mention different food 
base various locations such as at Whitely Lake, Holes Bay and Arne Bay which 
attract different species of birds to feed. It could be misleading to link different 
species numbers and numbers of birds entirely to disturbance levels. 
Windsurfing and kite surfing such as at Whitely Lake is dependant on tides so 
still allows for wading birds to feed when the tide drops below a certain level. 
Sailing at Studland can be dependent on wind direction and can be less popular 
in winter. At Hamworthy Park in winter, most stick closer to the park side of the 
harbour.  Only birds seen are cormorants and gulls and occasionally at Knoll 
Beach, migrant geese. Walking along Holes Bay observed disturbance to 

Whilst wind/kite surfers can cause disturbance to birds, there are other 
activities which also cause disturbance and potentially cause greater 
disturbance (such as dog walking) and as a result, a lot of the mitigation 
measures are proposed to address these other activities. There are no 
measures proposed which would deter wind/kite surfing activities (although the 
Poole Harbour Aquatic Management plan does include a management 
framework to regulate activity in the harbour). The mitigation mainly proposes 
measures to raise awareness as this is seen to be more effective approach. 
Surveys and evidence are largely from around 2004 and the strategy will 
enable further and more detailed survey work to be carried out. 

P
age 105



Poole Harbour Recreation SPD – Consultation Responses– March 2019  22 

Respondent Comment Officer comment and action  

wigeons and egrets but not much so putting shrubbery might help. Dramatic 
decline in windsurfers in last 10 years and queried whether bird survey had been 
done since 1980s. Provided maps of commonly used areas for wind/kite surfing 
and bird sensitive areas around the harbour. 

Oehring, A Issues are dog fouling and litter around the Quay/Baiter; discarded boats; litter 
around Fisherman's Quay; irresponsible cycling; and commercial bins around the 
Quay. Inner harbour developments are high rise apartments which are not 
attractive and exploitative by developers. There is clear evidence people do not 
live in the developments so do little for the local economy/community in longer 
run. Why not build houses that people live in and the Council could play a 
significant part in development a more sustainable attractive harbour side 
community. 

Comments noted although the focus of the strategy is related recreational 
activities and the impact this has upon birds around the harbour.  

Pipe, B Cllr 
 

Comment by Lees, C is an excellent resume of the efforts put in by the Lees 
Estate into local environmental preservation & enhancement. 

Comment noted. 

Pope, M Cllr 
 

Natural England are right to be concerned at increased proposed development 
which will have an adverse impact upon Poole Harbour and expressed same 
concerns regarding habitats of protected species on Canford Heath SSSI.  
Central Government drives housing need parameters and pays lip service to re-
using brownfield sites first. SPD is heavily reliant on SAMMS to mitigate new 
development and education (posters, leaflets etc) are not effective in practice.  
Noted that in Poole CIL will pay for PHIPS and charge is controlled by central 
government with new rate reduced in north of Poole.  No evidence base for this 
and provides incentive to build on what was Green Belt land.  Conservatives 
concerned with profit margins and there is no profit for protecting the 
environment.  Only way to stop causing damage to internationally protected sites 
is to stop building houses on or close to them.   

Noted with regard to restricting development around protected areas however 
as per Local Plan, development around the harbour is necessary to meet 
housing need.   

Redshaw, P Report is clear in articulating regulatory and legal responsibility of Local 
Authorities with regard to avoidance of additional disturbance to protected sites 
from new development and implications if additional pressures cannot be 
avoided they must be mitigated. The mitigation measures proposed sound 
eminently sensible however have key concern that resources devoted to 
wardening and monitoring are not backed by adequate resources for 
infrastructure protections which will also be required. Budget allocated to 
infrastructure projects equates to 11% and just under £10,000 per annum which 
is far less than monitoring. No costs are given for example projects but would 

The £10,000 budget is for SAMMs projects, not infrastructure projects. There 
is a separate budget for infrastructure projects which is top sliced from CIL 
contributions. The pilot strategy requires a lot of survey and monitoring work to 
be carried out initially however, this will in turn help to better inform both 
SAMMs and infrastructure projects which will be most effective.  

P
age 106



Poole Harbour Recreation SPD – Consultation Responses– March 2019  23 

Respondent Comment Officer comment and action  

cost more than £10,000 per annum. The basic management strategy proposed 
is sensible but the plans fails to convince that the Local Authorities will be able to 
carry out their duties because the financial resourcing is inadequate and 
unrealistic. 

Tilley, A Concerned about proposals to restrict access to walkers around Bramble Bush 
bay. Slow increase in walkers and water users effecting wildlife. National Trust 
promoting Studland and recreation in the area for cow cash from car parks 
becoming overcrowded.  When car parks are full at Studland village visitors look 
for alternative recreational areas and use harbour which suspect also happens at 
Sandbanks and Poole. Stop promoting Studland and Poole as recreational 
areas; stop encouraging visitors to area by winterwatch (development and visitor 
centre planned at Arne); stop promoting Purbeck and Poole for second homes; 
development around harbour should not be aimed to attract people wanting to 
use the harbour for recreation (ie social not market); only way to solve problem is 
to reduce number of visitors, second home owners and residents. 

The mitigation proposes measures mainly to raise awareness and manage 
visitors rather than to place additional restrictions or prevent recreation in and 
around the harbour.  With regard to suggestion of reducing visitor numbers 
and development, this is not a realistic approach, taking into account forecast 
projections for Poole and Purbeck with development is necessary to meet the 
housing need as per Local Plan.   

Wiggins, T You cannot allow further development, especially residential, around the harbour 
knowing that wading birds and other wildlife will be adversely affected and think 
that a pay off by the developer , enabling the employment of some Warden or 
similar, will change in any way the outcome of yet more human activity on the 
harbour edge. We will lose the waders and ground nesting birds and that is a 
fact. They cannot live in tandem with humans and dogs. The only way to protect 
them is to refuse more development. 

The strategy provides a scheme of mitigation of impacts of development. The 
strategy and measures proposed provide a framework for delivering effective 
mitigation and are not dissimilar to other strategies being carried out across 
the country. 

Watts, M Generally support proposals to monitor impacts of increased dog walking and 
cycling on bird life in harbour.  

Support noted. 

Williams, E Glad subject of impact on the environment for Poole is being discussed. Regular 
walker to most of the areas mentioned it is obvious to me the biggest impact is 
caused by dogs. Not only to wildlife but people as well. No public space is free of 
dogs. Bizarre that RSPB allow dogs at all at Arne. Likewise the National Trust or 
English Nature. Would favour restricting dogs to certain areas only and propose 
shoreline up to a mile inland is made national park. 

Dogs are recognised as one of the key issues to address although the 
mitigation proposes mainly soft measures to raise awareness and manage 
visitors rather than to place additional restrictions or prevent recreation of the 
harbour.   

 

P
age 107



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Poole Harbour Recreation SPD – For Cabinet Approval Dec 2019 1

Poole Harbour 
Recreation 2019-2024

………………………………………………………………………………….…………….....

Supplementary Planning Document

Adoption - For Cabinet Approval
Author: Planning Policy
Version: V5
Date: 20 November 2019

Working in Partnership 

Page 109



Poole Harbour Recreation SPD – For Cabinet Approval Dec 2019 2

Executive Summary

The objective of this SPD is to set out a strategy for mitigating the impact of new housing upon Poole 
Harbour Special Protection Area. It is not a recreation strategy. 

Poole Harbour is an outstanding natural feature on the south coast of England. It provides a resource for a 
variety of local businesses and port activities. The quality of the natural environment in Dorset makes it an 
attractive place to live, work and for leisure activity. However, increasing recreational activities around the 
harbour are causing disturbance to protected bird species.

Bournemouth Christchurch and Poole (BCP) Council and Dorset Council as decision makers are the 
competent authorities under the Habitats Regulations and are advised by Natural England in how to fulfil 
these duties. The Councils when granting planning permission have to be certain that the proposed 
development will not have an adverse effect upon important areas of nature conservation. 

Natural England advises that the cumulative effect of further residential and tourism development in a 
defined ‘Poole Harbour Recreation Zone’ would have a significant effect upon the Poole Harbour Special 
Protection Area (SPA) and Ramsar Site. In particular, population growth will increase recreational activities in 
and around the harbour causing direct or indirect disturbance to protected birds. Disturbance can be defined 
as any human activity that influences a bird’s behaviour or survival. Studies show that public access in and 
around the harbour, and various forms of recreational activities can cause disturbance, e.g. boats, walkers, 
dogs, bait digging, etc. 

Based upon this evidence, the Poole Local Plan (2018) and the Draft Purbeck Local Plan (2019) include 
policies to mitigate any harm from new housing and tourism development. The local plans state that the 
mitigation strategy will be set out in a supplementary planning document. This is that strategy. It has been 
prepared jointly between BCP Council and Dorset Council with advice from Natural England. It covers a 5 
year implementation period from 2019-2024. The mitigation strategy is two part and consists of:

Part 1: Strategic Access Management and Monitoring (SAMM); and 
Part 2: Poole Harbour Infrastructure Projects (PHIPs).

SAMMs pay for the day to day costs of raising awareness of the issues, which includes employing a project 
coordinator and a warden to manage visitor pressures on the Poole Harbour SPA and provide information. 
SAMMs also pay for ongoing monitoring of the effects of new development and crucially whether this 
strategy is effective. 

To enable the Councils to grant planning permission for proposals for a net increase in dwellings within the 
Poole Harbour Recreation Zone, the applicant is required to pay SAMMs as follows:

 BCP Council will charge a SAMMs rate of £140 per house and £96 per flat paid by planning 
obligation; and 

 Dorset Council will collect the necessary SAMMs costs through CIL.

PHIPS are physical infrastructure works, such as the provision of better marked routes around the Harbour 
edge or planting to provide protection to vulnerable birds. PHIPs costs vary from project to project and are 
funded from CIL. 

The overall objective of the SPD is to establish a framework under which applications for development likely 
to have a significant effect on Poole Harbour SPA and Ramsar site can be permitted (or should be refused) 
so that any adverse effects on the integrity of Poole Harbour are avoided. The strategy deals both with larger 
developments, which may affect the integrity of these sites alone, and smaller developments where 
cumulative effects may be the critical factor. The latter provision is necessary to meet the ‘in combination’ 
part of Regulation 63 of the Habitat Regulations.

A joint advisory group will advise on the delivery of mitigation measures outside of those delivered through 
planning applications. The advisory group is responsible for confirming projects to the respective Councils as 
suitable for approval and endorsing an Implementation and Monitoring Plan that will set out the progress in 
delivery of specific projects.

Page 110



Poole Harbour Recreation SPD – For Cabinet Approval Dec 2019 3

Contents
Executive Summary..........................................................................................................................................................2
Contents ........................................................................................................................................................................... 3
1. Introduction .............................................................................................................................................................. 4
2. Legislative and Policy Background ..........................................................................................................................5

Designations................................................................................................................................................................. 5
The Habitats Regulations .............................................................................................................................................5
National Planning Policy Framework............................................................................................................................5
Development Plans ......................................................................................................................................................6

3. Evidence .................................................................................................................................................................. 7
4. 4. Enabling Development: The Poole Harbour Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy.................................................9

Part 1: Strategic Access Management and Monitoring (SAMM)..................................................................................9
Part 2: Poole Harbour Infrastructure Projects (PHIPs)...............................................................................................10
Tourism development and other types of housing .....................................................................................................11
Permitted Development..............................................................................................................................................11

5. 5. Paying for the Mitigation Strategy ......................................................................................................................12
Securing mitigation in perpetuity ................................................................................................................................12

6. Monitoring, Implementation and Governance ........................................................................................................13
Appendix A: Potential Mitigation Measures ....................................................................................................................14
Appendix B: Advice for Different Uses ...........................................................................................................................16
Appendix C: Permitted Development / Prior Approvals..................................................................................................18
Appendix D: Model Clauses for Planning Obligations ....................................................................................................19

Page 111



Poole Harbour Recreation SPD – For Cabinet Approval Dec 2019 4

1. Introduction

1.1 Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD) provide guidance to applicants and interested parties on 
local planning matters by providing more detailed advice or guidance on the policies in the relevant 
adopted Local Plan. This SPD was prepared jointly by Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council 
(BCP Council) and Dorset Council with the advice of Natural England. The Councils1 consulted on 
this SPD from 4 February to the 4 March 2019. The feedback to the consultation is summarised in a 
consultation statement and was used to prepare the SPD for adoption by the Councils in December 
2019. 

1.2 The purpose of this SPD is to set out the approach to avoid or mitigate harm arising from increased 
levels of leisure activities on Poole Harbour Special Protection Area (SPA) and Ramsar Site, thereby 
enabling the two Councils to grant permission for residential and tourism development. It is not a 
recreation strategy for Poole Harbour. 

1.3 The SPD supports the Draft Purbeck Local Plan (2019) and the Poole Local Plan (2018). The SPD 
covers a five year period from 2019 to 2024. During this 5 year period the Councils will deliver the 
necessary mitigation to enable the planned housing growth set out in the local plans and other 
projects giving rise to relevant adverse effects.

1.4 This SPD accords with the principles of the NPPF and it is a result of the co-operative approach to 
partnership working between the Councils and statutory bodies and other organisations.

1.5 This SPD covers recreation issues only and does not relate to other significant effects on the Poole 
Harbour protected sites, such as considerations related to surface water discharge from the 
application sites nor matters related to species protected by law. These will require case by case 
consideration in consultation with Natural England. 

1.6 There is also a Nitrogen Reduction in Poole Harbour SPD that covers the issue of nitrate loading on 
the harbour. In most cases development will be required to satisfy the mitigation requirements set out 
in both SPDs.

1 Under the former guise of Borough of Poole Council and Purbeck District Council prior to local government reorganisationPage 112



Poole Harbour Recreation SPD – For Cabinet Approval Dec 2019 5

2. Legislative and Policy Background

Designations

2.1 Poole Harbour is a natural harbour that is designated a Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), 
Special Protection Area (SPA) and Ramsar site for its nature conservation importance. 

2.2 Poole Harbour was classified as a Special Protection Area (SPA) in 1999 due to the important bird 
species that inhabit the area. The special site was designated under the EU Birds Directive to protect 
rare, vulnerable and migratory birds. In particular for the internationally important populations of 
regularly occurring species and migratory species - Common Shelduck (Non-breeding); Pied Avocet 
(Non-breeding); Black-tailed Godwit (Non-breeding); Mediterranean Gull (Breeding); Common Tern 
(Breeding); Little Egret (Non-breeding); and Eurasian Spoonbill (Non-breeding). There is also an 
internationally important assemblage of waterfowl including Dunlin, Redshank and Brent Goose2. 
There are also supporting habitats for seagrass; shallow inshore waters including coastal lagoons; 
intertidal sediments; saltmarsh; and reedbeds.3 

2.3 The SPA was extended in 2018 to incorporate the subtidal areas of the harbour and also areas of 
Lytchett Bay now subject to tidal inundation; at which time little egret, Eurasian Spoonbill, and 
Sandwich Tern were added.

The Habitats Regulations

2.3 Regulation 63 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (the ‘Habitats 
Regulations’) requires that any application for development or strategic plan or policy which is likely to 
significantly affect a European site is subject to an appropriate assessment of the implications of the 
proposal for the site’s conservation objectives. The planning authority must ascertain that the plan or 
project will not have an adverse effect on the integrity of the site, alone or in combination with other 
plans or projects, either directly or indirectly, taking account of any conditions or restrictions that 
would help ensure no adverse effect, before granting permission or adopting a plan or policy.

2.4 The Councils as decision makers are the competent authorities under the Habitats Regulations and 
are advised by Natural England on how to fulfil these duties. 

National Planning Policy Framework 

2.5 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) outline the 
procedure that should be followed in deciding whether to approve a proposal (a plan or project) that 
will potentially affect a protected habitats site.

2.6 The NPPF recognises the value of our natural environment stating that the ‘planning system should 
contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment’4, and importantly that the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development does not apply where development requiring appropriate 
assessment under the Birds or Habitats Directives is being considered, planned or determined.5

2 The Acrocephalus paludicola; Aquatic warbler (Non-breeding) was previously listed but no longer qualifies.  
3 http://www.southern-ifca.gov.uk/poole-harbour-spa
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/3152751
4 NPPF para 170
5 NPPF para 177 Page 113

http://www.southern-ifca.gov.uk/poole-harbour-spa
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/3152751


Poole Harbour Recreation SPD – For Cabinet Approval Dec 2019 6

Development Plans

2.7 There are two local plans covering the area around Poole Harbour: 

 The Poole Local Plan was adopted in November 2018. Part 2(b) of Policy PP32 Poole’s 
nationally, European and internationally important protected sites is specifically relevant to 
recreational effects on Poole Harbour. It requires any net increase in homes or tourist 
accommodation to provide a Strategic Access Management and Monitoring (SAMM) contribution 
for wardening, education and monitoring, to mitigate the adverse effects of recreation related 
pressures within Poole Harbour. 

 The Purbeck Local Plan Part 1 (2012) and Swanage Local Plan (2017) contain similarly worded 
policies addressing the Poole Harbour recreation issue. A new Purbeck Local Plan is currently at 
examination and includes Policy E9 relating to Poole Harbour which requires the adverse effects 
of new residential development (in an identified zone around the harbours edge) to be avoided or 
mitigated.

2.8 The local plans state that the Poole Harbour recreation strategy will be set out in a supplementary 
planning document. This is that strategy. The SPD expands upon the local plan policies, providing 
more detail to guide development.

2.9 The local plans are accompanied by habitats regulations assessments (HRA) which set out the 
measures that need to be provided to enable development to be delivered. Together the HRAs 
provide a consistent record of the approach to avoidance and mitigation and in varying levels of 
detail, the type and nature of projects required.

2.10 In addition to the local plans, there may be relevant policies in neighbourhood plans. 

Page 114



Poole Harbour Recreation SPD – For Cabinet Approval Dec 2019 7

3. Evidence

3.1 The two Councils and Natural England have been gathering evidence into the effects of increased 
recreational activities on Poole Harbour associated with additional residential and tourist 
development, to inform this strategy. This SPD is supported by the Poole Harbour Recreation 
Background Paper that draws upon evidence from various studies which have identified activities 
leading to adverse effects upon protected species within the harbour.

3.2 Studies show that public access in and around the harbour, and various forms of recreational 
activities can disturb the SPA birds in the harbour. These activities include sailing along with walking, 
dogs and bait digging along the shoreline. Disturbance can be defined as any human activity that 
influences a bird’s behaviour and ultimately its survival. Disturbance can result in:

 a reduction in the time spent feeding due to repeated flushing/increased vigilance; 
 increased energetic costs; 
 avoidance of areas of otherwise suitable habitat, potentially using poorer quality 

feeding/roosting sites instead; 
 increased stress; and 
 can lead to reduced fitness and breeding success.

3.3 Visitor surveys highlight that people who live around the harbour visit it to participate in recreational 
activities. However, there are also a proportion of visitors from other parts of Dorset, as well as other 
parts of the UK and internationally because of the natural attractiveness of the harbour. Studies also 
show a link between proximity of peoples’ homes to the harbour and the frequency of visits. This draw 
is probably due to the uniqueness of the features in the harbour close to their homes and that there is 
not a comparable area in south east Dorset for certain recreational activities such as watersports. 

3.4 The surveys show that visitors come from throughout the area covered by the Poole Local Plan area. 
For the area covered by the Draft Purbeck Local Plan the studies show that most of the local people 
who visit the harbour tend to live in the towns and villages which are close to the A35 and A351, 
including Swanage, Corfe Castle, Stoborough, Wareham, Lytchett Matravers and Upton. 

3.5 On the basis of the evidence, the proposed increase in residential development around the harbour 
will inevitably result in more visitors to Poole Harbour for recreational activities, which will result in 
greater disturbance to the birds and their habitat. 

3.6 Natural England therefore advises that the cumulative effect of residential and tourism development 
around the harbour will have a likely significant effect on the Poole Harbour protected sites. In 
particular, population growth will increase leisure activities in and around the harbour causing direct or 
indirect disturbance to protected birds. 

3.7 Figure 1 illustrates the Poole Harbour Recreation Zone where, based on the visitor survey 
information, new residential and tourist development will have a likely significant effect upon the SPA, 
and therefore mitigation is required. The scope of this SPD will need to be reviewed as part of work 
on future Local Plans. This review will need to take particular account of the effects of new homes in 
areas that extend beyond the former boundaries of Poole and Purbeck.

Page 115



Poole Harbour Recreation SPD – For Cabinet Approval Dec 2019 8

Figure 1: Poole Harbour Recreation Zone 

Upton

Corfe 
Castle

Wareham

Swanage

Sandford

Local Plan Areas 

Poole Harbour Special Protection Area

Poole Harbour Recreation Zone

Poole 
Local 
PlanPurbeck 

Local 
Plan

Poole

Lytchett 
Matravers

Page 116



Poole Harbour Recreation SPD – For Cabinet Approval Dec 2019 9

4. Enabling Development: The Poole Harbour Avoidance and 
Mitigation Strategy

4.1 This section sets out the approach to enabling development through the implementation of measures 
to avoid likely visitor effects upon Poole Harbour. The strategy is a long term approach with the SPD 
setting out a five year rolling programme of measures. The mitigation strategy is two part and consists 
of:

 Part 1: Strategic Access, Management and Monitoring (SAMM); and
 Part 2: Poole Harbour Infrastructure Projects (PHIPs).

4.2 Mitigating the effects of leisure activities is also in part addressed by joint work between organisations 
on the implementation of The Poole Harbour Aquatic Management Plan (amended 2011). The 
management plan includes objectives to maintain habitats in Poole Harbour in a favourable condition 
and manage leisure activity within the harbour to mitigate adverse effects. The Local Plans are 
supported by strategic Habitats Regulations Assessments that take these measures into 
consideration

Part 1: Strategic Access Management and Monitoring (SAMM)

4.3 This part of the strategy focuses on wardening, raising awareness and monitoring the effectiveness of 
the strategy. 

4.4 To provide certainty to those considering or making applications for residential development and to 
ensure transparency and accountability this SPD sets a standard contribution for new dwellings that 
will be used to provide the necessary mitigation. The simplicity of this approach will provide certainty 
thus avoiding unnecessary delay in the determination of planning applications. The standard 
contribution is calculated by spreading the cost of the necessary mitigation across the amount of 
planned development.

4.5 As explained in Section 5, the Councils use different mechanisms to collect the funds needed to 
deliver the SAMMs mitigation. Dorset Council will collect SAMMs contributions through CIL, whereas 
BCP Council will collect the SAMMs through planning obligations. The contributions which Dorset 
Council takes from CIL will be determined by the costs of funding SAMMs needed to mitigate the 
effects from the numbers of homes it expects to be delivered in the Poole Harbour recreation zone 
between 2019 and 2024. This SPD only presents the costs of funding SAMMs per home for BCP 
Council area because these contributions will be collected using planning obligations. The calculation 
of a SAMMs charge for developers in BCP Council area has been calculated as follows:

Amount of Planned Development
4.6 For BCP Council the entire Poole Local Plan area falls within the Poole Harbour Recreation Zone and 

therefore additional housing and tourist development has to provide mitigation. After taking into 
account existing planning permissions, a further 3,200 homes are expected to be granted planning 
permission over the 5 year period from 2019/20 to 2023/24. 

4.7 For Dorset Council only part of the Purbeck Local Plan falls within Poole Harbour Recreation Zone. 
The Council expects around 745 homes to come forward within this zone over the five year period. 

4.8 Combined a total of 3,945 homes are expected to come forward over the 5 year period. If these levels 
of growth are exceeded, the two councils will have to ensure that suitable mitigation can be provided 
to avoid an adverse effect upon Poole Harbour SPA/Ramsar. The NPPF’s presumption in favour of 
sustainable development does not apply unless the Councils can demonstrate through appropriate 
assessment that the proposal will not have a significant effect upon Poole Harbour SPA.  

Page 117



Poole Harbour Recreation SPD – For Cabinet Approval Dec 2019 10

The cost of mitigation
4.9 The necessary SAMMs mitigation measures for the period 2019/20-2024/25 are set out in Appendix A 

(Part 1). The cost of these measures over 5 years is £465,000. On the basis of the amount of planned 
development this roughly works out as £400,000 to BCP Council and £65,000 to Dorset Council.

Calculating a standard SAMMs contribution for BCP Council
4.10 Thus the SAMMs charges are calculated as shown in Figure 2:

Figure 2: The calculation of the standard SAMMs contribution for development within the Poole 
Harbour Recreation Zone of the BCP Council area 

SAMMs cost per dwelling
The cost per dwelling is calculated as:
£465,000   = £118 per home
3,945 homes

Adjusted for average occupancy:
Houses (2.42 occupants) £140 per house

Flats (1.65 occupants) £96 per flat

4.11 To enable the Councils to grant planning permission for proposals for a net increase in dwellings 
within the Poole Harbour Recreation Zone, the applicant is required to pay SAMMs as follows:

 BCP Council will charge a SAMMs rate of £140 per house and £96 per flat paid by planning 
obligation; and 

 Dorset Council will collect the necessary SAMMs costs through CIL.

4.12 A credit will be applied for existing residents based on the average occupancy of flats or houses. For 
example, if a house is to be replaced by 10 flats then the calculation would be:

     (10 x SAMMs contribution for a flat) minus the SAMMs contribution of 1 house

4.13 The charge will be index linked and adjusted annually to reflect inflation and ensure that the 
appropriate level of SAMM can be delivered over the plan period. 

Part 2: Poole Harbour Infrastructure Projects (PHIPs)

4.14 PHIPs are physical infrastructure projects that provide facilities to manage visitor access to Poole 
Harbour. Projects will vary depending upon the particular issues around different parts of the harbour. 
For example, (i) the creation or improvement of an alternative access around the shoreline or;  (ii) 
rationalising multiple access points into one principle access point to an area of shoreline.  

4.15 PHIPs will be delivered from contributions collected through CIL payments and where necessary 
Section 106 Agreements/Section 111. Some HIPs projects may be delivered directly by developers 
through on site provision. The types of potential projects are set out in Appendix A. Specific projects 
will be set out in a Monitoring and Implementation Plan, regularly updated to ensure that there is a 
rolling five year programme of projects. 

4.16 The two Councils welcome local organisations to suggest new projects using the separately published 
template and evaluation matrix. Projects will be considered for funding on a case by case basis. In 
some cases developers of large developments may wish to deliver bespoke measures which will be 
considered by the Councils with advice from Natural England.

4.17 As with the Dorset Heathlands Strategy, Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspaces (SANGs) could 
play a role in attracting residents away from the harbour and thereby reducing the potential impact. 
However, where SANG provision would similarly be required as mitigation for the heathlands, it would 
not be necessary to duplicate this provision for the harbour.Page 118



Poole Harbour Recreation SPD – For Cabinet Approval Dec 2019 11

Tourism development and other types of housing

4.18 Tourism development and other types of housing can still have a significant effect on the Poole 
Harbour SPA, but some can be mitigated. Further details are set in Appendix B.

Permitted Development

4.19 Some development does not require planning permission and is known as ‘permitted development’ 
and ‘prior approval’.  Such development which enables residential dwellings/occupation can still have 
a likely significant effect on the Poole harbour SPA and will therefore need to provide mitigation 
measures. Further details are outlined in Appendix C. 

Page 119



Poole Harbour Recreation SPD – For Cabinet Approval Dec 2019 12

5. Paying for the Mitigation Strategy

5.1 The two Councils will fund PHIPs through CIL monies, but will collect the SAMMs differently: 

Dorset Council will collect SAMMs through CIL. 

BCP Council will collect SAMMs through the:

 payment prior to the grant of planning permission as an upfront payment (Section 111 of the 
1972 Local Government Act); or

 payment prior to commencement (Section 106 Agreement or unilateral undertaking).

An administrative charge of 5% of the total contribution payable will be required for (a) and (b) 
above subject to a minimum charge of £75 and capped to a limit of £1,000 per contribution.

5.2 Where schemes are exempt from paying CIL, there may be a requirement to provide PHIPs through 
Section 111, Section 106 Agreement or unilateral undertaking. Model clauses for Section 106, 
Section 111 and unilateral agreements are set out in Appendix D.

5.3 This SPD has been prepared having regard to the tests set out in the Community Infrastructure Levy 
Regulations 2010 and subsequent amendments, in particular Regulation 122 which sets out the three 
tests that the planning obligation should be necessary, directly related and fairly and reasonable 
related in scale and kind to the development. Where the Regulations change the authorities will 
continue to provide suitable mechanisms to enable applicants to contribute efficiently. 

Securing mitigation in perpetuity

5.4 The mitigation measures required to allow development will need to be in place whilst the adverse 
effects are arising. For residential development this means “in-perpetuity”, which in this SPD is 80 
years, and hence resources are secured accordingly. However, the element of monitoring established 
allows for the adjustment of measures in the future based upon the evidence gathered.

5.5 SAMMs funding will have to be available for the lifetime of development. Where provision of PHIPs is 
on Council controlled sites the Council will through CIL and other contributions use these receipts to 
put in place and maintain projects. Where PHIPs are provided by landowners or other third parties, 
mechanisms will need to be secured that ensure that mitigation is available in-perpetuity and also that 
funding is secured to maintain it.  

5.6 Some projects may be supported for a short duration, e.g. where the proposals are effective and 
innovative or as appropriate where short term concerns may arise. Future revisions to this document 
and the overall avoidance and mitigation strategy will investigate other means by which mitigation can 
be secured.

Page 120



Poole Harbour Recreation SPD – For Cabinet Approval Dec 2019 13

6. Monitoring, Implementation and Governance

6.1 The two Councils will use the contributions to deliver mitigation in a timely manner. Progress with 
mitigation measures and new projects will be set out in a Monitoring and Implementation Plan. This 
plan will form part of the Council’s requirements to publish an Infrastructure Funding Statement.

6.2 An advisory group will oversee the joint partnership work on implementing projects and monitoring of 
the effects. Local organisations will be encouraged to complete the published template to submit 
projects and bid for funding. 

6.3 The Councils will, where feasible, ensure that projects accord with corporate objectives and those of 
partner organisations in for example supporting healthy lives, adapting to climate change and 
achieving a net gain in biodiversity. 

Page 121



Poole Harbour Recreation SPD – For Cabinet Approval Dec 2019 14

Appendix A: Potential Mitigation Measures

The mitigation strategy is two part. These tables are illustrate the type of measures the two Councils could 
implement to mitigate the impact. The Dorset Heathlands and Poole Harbour Advisory Group will oversee the 
provision of measures and projects. Some projects may require public consultation and Council sign off. 
Local organisations are encouraged to submit possible projects for consideration using the published 
template. The specific projects will be set out in the Monitoring and Implementation Plan and updated on an 
annual basis.

Part 1 provides an illustration of the type of measures that SAMMs contributions can be used for. SAMMs 
contributions secure the day to day costs of changing local people’s behaviors through raising awareness of 
the issues and value of the protected sites, which includes employing a warden to manage visitor pressures 
around the harbour and provide information. SAMMs also pay for the ongoing monitoring and the effects of 
new development and crucially whether this strategy is effective. 

The table sets out the type of pressure, the suggested action from Natural England’s Site Improvement Plan 
(2014) (SIP) and/or Poole Harbour Aquatic Management Plan (2006 as amended) (AqMP), the type of 
mitigation measure and the estimated annual cost.  

The AqMP provides a framework for the effective, co-ordinated management of the Harbour and the Poole 
Harbour SPA and serves as a Management Scheme for the European Marine Site, as set out in Regulation 
38 of The Habitats Regulations. The Site Improvement Plan was developed by Natural England to provide a 
high level overview of the issues (both current and predicted) affecting the condition of the Natura 2000 
features on the site(s) and outlines the priority measures required to improve the condition of the features.

Part 1 Possible Types of Strategic Access Management and Monitoring (SAMMs) Measures

Type of 
disturbance

Action from SIP/AqMP Possible Type of Measure 5 year 
cost

Strategic Access Management
Increase shore based wardening, working 
with landowners to include guided walks 
and talks to improve appreciation of the 
wildlife value of the site and raise 
awareness around 'bird sensitive areas' 
and how activities such as walking and dog 
walking can result in bird disturbance 
issues at some locations.

Employ a co-ordinator, and a 
warden 

£300,000

Limit access and disturbance to sensitive 
areas by managing visitor numbers and 
intensity, by screening, setting back paths 
and encouraging inland routes. Find 
alternative locations that could be made 
more attractive for users for activities such 
as dog walking, walking and cycling

Prepare a plan to identify pressure 
points where visitors can disturb 
birds and identify measures to 
deflect / manage access. 

£15,000

All land 
based 
disturbance 
types

Improve users' awareness of the bird 
sensitive areas (refuge areas agreed in the 
Poole Harbour aquatic management plan) 
and how they can minimise disturbance. 
Develop and disseminate Codes of 
Conduct for both recreational and 
commercial users using leaflets and 
interpretation boards

Update to 'Poole Harbour SPA and 
bird sensitive areas' leaflets 
including re-design and better 
audience targeting, i.e. separate 
versions for various user groups. 
New leaflets/social media for 
canoe and other water based 
activities.

£25,000

Disturbance 
by humans

Limit entanglement in or ingestion of litter 
by birds

Litter needs to be cleared from 
sensitive areas, provided it does 
not disturb the birds. Could be 
volunteer events 6 monthly but 
some equipment needed.

£1,250

Page 122



Poole Harbour Recreation SPD – For Cabinet Approval Dec 2019 15

Type of 
disturbance

Action from SIP/AqMP Possible Type of Measure 5 year 
cost

Continue and increase ‘Pit Stops 
and Walkies’ to educate dog 
walkers on responsible dog 
walking in wildlife sensitive areas

£10,000Disturbance 
by dogs

Improve awareness of dog owners of 
impact of bird disturbance by dogs, bird 
sensitive areas and alternative locations for 
their activity through liaison with dog 
owners, interpretation and updating of a 
website

Increase locations with Dorset 
Dogs 'Please don’t chase the birds' 
signs or other new suitable 
signage.

£13,750

Monitoring
Undertake surveys to detect any change in 
the numbers and behaviour of shore-based 
recreation users to provide information on 
which activities and locations may need 
better management

All land 
based 
disturbance 
types

Monitor bird response to disturbance; this 
should include surveying breeding terns 
and Mediterranean gulls, wader and 
wildfowl roosts and offshore waterfowl and 
analysing Wetland Bird Survey (WeBS) 
data.

Could include the use of 
automated counters and general 
counts of visitors, visitor interviews 
and bird disturbance surveys.

£100,000

Total £465,000

Part 2 provides an illustration of the type of infrastructure projects that could be used to mitigate harm. The 
projects focus on making the harbour’s edge more resilient to protect birds whilst also allowing free access 
for the public. The table sets out the type of disturbance, the suggested action from Natural England’s Site 
Improvement Plan (2014), and the possible type of mitigation project. Project costs will be determined on a 
site by site basis. 

Part 2 Possible Types of Poole Harbour Infrastructure Projects (PHIPs)

Type of 
disturbance

Action from Site Improvement Plan Possible Type of Project

Install information sign to raise awareness 
about birds of the harbour. 
Use signage and good quality alternative paths 
to attract users away from the harbour edge.
Install signage buoys or markers to raise 
awareness to boat users during the winter 
when wading birds are feeding.

Disturbance by 
dogs and 
human 
disturbance  

Limit access and disturbance to sensitive 
areas by managing visitor numbers and 
intensity, by screening, setting back 
paths and encouraging inland routes. 
Find alternative locations that could be 
made more attractive for users for 
activities such as dog walking, walking 
and cycling Install screening including planting between 

paths and sensitive bird roosts.

Page 123



Poole Harbour Recreation SPD – For Cabinet Approval Dec 2019 16

Appendix B: Advice for Different Uses 

There may be forms of development which are not specifically mentioned in this SPD that may cause 
additional harm and these will be considered on a case by case basis.

The table below sets out different uses and whether they are likely to cause a significant effect alone or in-
combination upon the Poole Harbour SPA: 

Use Likely significant 
effect

Mitigation Contribution

Use Class C2 – specialist housing, i.e. retirement homes Yes Contribution 1 room = 1 flat
Use Class C2 – Specialist housing, i.e. nursing home No No n/a
Use Class C2 – residential institutions, i.e. boarding 
schools, residential colleges and training centres

Yes Contribution 1 room = 1 flat

Use Class C2 – residential institutions, i.e. hospitals, No No n/a
Use Class C3 – net additional dwelling Yes Contribution Per house or flat
Use Class C3 – replacement dwelling No No n/a
Use Class C3 – extension or granny annex No No n/a
Use Class C4 – HMO <6 residents Yes Contribution Per house or flat
Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) (Sui generis >6 
residents )

Yes Contribution 1 room = 1 flat

Self-catering, caravan, chalet and touring holiday 
accommodation

Yes Contribution 1 unit =60% of 1 flat 

Gypsies and Travellers Yes Contribution 1 pitch = 1 flat
Student accommodation Yes Contribution 1 room = 1 flat

Note: For Dorset Council where CIL doesn’t apply, the preference will be for mitigation measures to be 
provided as part of the development package.

Use Class C2 – Specialist housing, i.e. sheltered housing / nursing homes 
Certain types of specialist purpose built nursing homes where residents are no longer active will not have a 
significant effect and do not need to provide mitigation, e.g. where nursing care is necessary such as for 
advanced dementia or physical nursing needs.

Use Class C2 – specialist housing, i.e. retirement homes
Use Class C2 specialist retirement housing, where the occupants are still active, is comparable to residential 
flats. Such schemes will be expected to provide mitigation in accordance with this SPD. Mitigation will also 
be required for any net increase in on-site staff residential accommodation.

Use Class C2 – residential institutions, i.e. hospitals
Generally hospitals would not be considered to have a likely significant effect with regard to recreational 
impacts upon the harbour. 

Gypsies and Travellers
There is no evidence to demonstrate that the occupants of permanent or transit sites for gypsies and 
travellers would be likely to have any level of recreational access need which is substantially different to 
residents in Use Class C3 dwellings. Therefore any net increase in gypsy and travellers accommodation will 
need to provide mitigation in accordance with this SPD with each pitch equating to one flat.

Self-catering, caravan and touring holiday accommodation applications
Self-catering and touring proposals are likely to have broadly similar impacts upon Poole Harbour SPA to 
those arising from residential development. Whilst individual applicants may seek to reduce impacts e.g. by 
restricting pets there is considerable uncertainty about whether, over time, such agreements would be 
effective and therefore such proposals cannot be supported. 

In calculating financial contributions the Councils will assume a 60% occupancy to take account of seasonal 
fluctuations and average occupancy. Therefore only 60% of the contribution will be necessary. Applicants 

Page 124



Poole Harbour Recreation SPD – For Cabinet Approval Dec 2019 17

can challenge this assumption, but will need to provide evidence to demonstrate that the occupancy level will 
be different. 

Student accommodation 
There is no evidence to demonstrate that the occupants of student accommodation would be likely to have 
any level of recreational access need which is substantially different to residents in Use Class C3 dwellings. 
Therefore mitigation will be needed in accordance with this SPD with each occupied room equating to one 
flat. 

Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO)
Due to the permitted interchangeability of C3 dwellings and C4 HMOs, C4 HMOs are treated as a single 
dwelling if there is provision for up to 6 residents. However for proposals where there would be more than 6 
residents (sui generis) mitigation will be necessary. Each additional occupied room will be required to provide 
mitigation in accordance with this SPD equating to one flat per additional room, i.e. a proposal for a 7 room 
HMO will be assumed to result in one additional room and will have to provide a financial contribution 
equating to a flat. This is because more than 6 unrelated people in a single dwelling exceeds the average 
expected occupancy of any single dwelling. 

Commercial Uses Associated with the Harbour
Some commercial uses likely to have a significant effect on Poole harbour, where they would increase 
recreational pressure. Whilst a proportion of visitors to Poole Harbour will likely derive from surrounding 
residential areas and mitigation will have been provided for new residential development, the use may also 
attract a high number of visitors from outside of this area.  

Commercial uses associated with harbour use and recreation may include but are not limited to:

 Yacht/sailing clubs, marinas and moorings;
 Outdoor activities place;
 Hotels; and

 Cafés/restaurants.

Such proposals will be considered on a case by case basis and where applicable, applicants will need to 
provide evidence to allow the Council to assess the effect of development on Poole Harbour and the 
suitability of providing appropriate mitigation as necessary.

Whilst those developments in close proximity to the harbour may have a more obvious impact than those 
further away, the degree of impact is also very dependent up the nature of the development use.

Page 125



Poole Harbour Recreation SPD – For Cabinet Approval Dec 2019 18

Appendix C: Permitted Development / Prior Approvals

[This note regards SAMMs and will not apply to the Purbeck Local Plan area]

The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) 
(GPDO) enables certain types of development to take place without the need for specific planning 
permission, provided certain criteria are met. For example, the change of use of an office to a dwelling. 

Article 3(1) of the GPDO, by incorporating regulations 75-78 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2017 (the Habitats Regulations), imposes a condition requiring prior approval under these 
Regulations, that the local planning authority is satisfied that there is no adverse effect on the integrity of any 
European site, before permitted development can go ahead. Regulation 75 states:

General development orders

75. It is a condition of any planning permission granted by a general development order made on or after 30th 
November 2017, that development which—

(a) is likely to have a significant effect on a European site or a European offshore marine site (either alone or in 
combination with other plans or projects), and

(b) is not directly connected with or necessary to the management of the site,

must not be begun until the developer has received written notification of the approval of the local planning 
authority under regulation 77 (approval of local planning authority).

As set out in this SPD, the uncontrolled’ approval of residential and other uses allowed by the amended 
order, without an appropriate assessment or any required mitigation or development is likely to have 
significant effect on the Poole Harbour SPA. 

In practice the process generally involves the applicant seeking Prior Approval from the Council for the 
change of use. When determining the Prior Approval the Council can provide a form for the applicant to 
complete. This form has to be submitted and approved by the Council before work on developing the site can 
commence. 

In most cases the position can be overcome by submission alongside the form of a unilateral agreement 
(S106 Agreement) or upfront contribution (S111) to provide mitigation in accordance with this SPD. 

Borough of 
Poole

Bournemouth 
Borough Council

Christchurch 
Borough Council

land

District boundaries

Based upon the Ordnance Survey mapping with the
permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's
Stationery Office. © Crown copyright.
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright
and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.
Borough of Poole      Licence No. 100024248   2010

NPage 126



Poole Harbour Recreation SPD – For Cabinet Approval Dec 2019 19

Appendix D: Model Clauses for Planning Obligations

An example of a standard clause for either an agreement or unilateral undertaking:

“the Poole Harbour Recreation contribution” means the sum of (   ) thousand (   ) hundred and (   ) 
Pounds increased by the percentage (if any) by the Retail Price Index shall have increased between 
the date of publication prior to the date of this Deed and the date of payment together with an 
administrative fee of £(pounds) towards measures which avoid or mitigate against any adverse effect 
of the Development on the Poole Harbour in accordance with the Poole Harbour Recreation 
Supplementary Planning Document (2019). For the avoidance of doubt such sum or any part of 
thereof shall not be reimbursed to the party or to any other party”.

The obligation could then be worded:

“The Owner hereby Covenants with the Council that he will not cause or permit the commencement 
of the development on the land until the Poole Harbour Recreation Contribution has been paid to the 
Council.”

For strategically significant sites delivering large numbers of residential units the obligation may be worded 
differently to reflect payment of the contribution on a phased basis.

Page 127



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA)
Before completing this EqIA please ensure you have read the EqIA Guidance Notes

Title Poole Harbour Recreation Supplementary Planning Document 
(SPD) 2019 - 2024

Version No: 1Date assessment 
started: 13th August 2019

Date of completion: 14th August 2019

Type of Strategy, Policy, Project or Service:

Is this Equality Impact Assessment (please put a cross in the relevant box)

Existing:                                  Changing, update 
or revision:

New or proposed: Other (please 
explain):

X: The SPD relates to 
adopted planning policies in 
the Purbeck Local Plan Part 
1 and the Poole Local Plan.

Is this Equality Impact Assessment (please put a cross in the relevant box)

Internal: External: X Both:

Report Created By:
Name: Steve Boyt 
Job Title: Planning Policy Officer 
Email address: Steve.boyt@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 
Members of the assessment team:

Step 1: Aims
What are the aims of your strategy, policy, project or service?
Aims of the Poole Harbour Supplementary Planning Document 
International and national laws prevent the Council from permitting plans or projects which 
have, or could have, an adverse effect on protected habitats (known as European sites). 

The SPD provides further information and guidance for the Council when taking decisions 
on plans or projects (including local plans and planning applications) that are likely to have 
significant effects on European sites (specifically Poole Harbour Special Protection Area 
(SPA)). As part of this it identifies suitable mitigation measures (and a means for funding 
these measures through the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)) to avoid or reduce their 
impacts – these mitigation measures allow the Councils’ to conclude that relevant 
plans/projects will not adversely affect Poole Harbour. 

The mitigation measures will be funded through existing CIL contributions. The Council is 
not proposing to collect further financial contributions, the SPD introduces a new priority 
for spending existing/future contributions that are collected through CIL.  

Page 129

mailto:Steve.boyt@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk


2

What is the background or context to the proposal?
Background – obligations around protected habitats and species 
National and international law on protected habitats and species1 imposes specific 
obligations on the Council when taking decisions on plans and projects which are likely to 
have significant effects on European sites2. Plans include local plans, and projects include 
applications for planning permission. Poole Harbour is designated as a European site 
(Special Protection Area (SPA)). The Council is not permitted to approve plans or projects 
which have, or could have, an adverse effect on the integrity of a European site.

Existing and emerging planning policy 
SPDs ‘Supplementary planning documents (SPDs) should build upon and provide more 
detailed advice or guidance on policies in an adopted local plan.’ (Planning Practice 
Guidance). Adopted planning policy (Policy PH) in the Purbeck Local Plan Part 1 (2012) 
states that: 
‘The Council will work with neighbouring local authorities, statutory bodies and landowners 
to manage shoreline access to Poole Harbour and implement the Poole Harbour Aquatic 
Management Plan to manage water based activities.’

Policy E9 in the emerging Purbeck Local Plan states:
‘The Council is working with the Borough of Poole to develop a Recreation in Poole 
Harbour SPD. Development proposals for any net increase in homes, tourist 
accommodation or a tourist attraction around the edges of the harbour (as defined in the 
SPD) will need to avoid or mitigate adverse impacts arising from recreational activity on 
Poole Harbour.’

Scope of the SPD 
The SPD will relates to the land around Poole Harbour that includes the following towns 
and villages: Corfe Castle, Lytchett Matravers, Poole, Sandford, Swanage, Upton and 
Wareham.

The evidence indicates that the following types of development are likely to have 
significant effects on Poole Harbour SPA:

 new homes (planning Use Class C3);
 houses in multiple occupation (planning Use Class C4);
 some (i.e. those where the occupants remain physically active and able to visit the 

harbour) residential institutions (planning Use Class C2);
 commercial development – including hotels/cafes and restaurants/sailing clubs 

and marinas/outward bound centres (planning law defines uses according to their 
characteristics and their effects planning. Relevant ‘Use Classes’ for these types 
of development are C1, A3 and sui generis [not falling within any class]);

 private student accommodation (which does not fall within a planning use class – 
sui generis);

 caravan sites (which do not fall within a planning use class – sui generis); and
 sites for gypsies, travellers and travelling show people (which do not fall within a 

planning use class – sui generis).

1 The legal obligations arise out of the Habitats Directive 92/43/EEC (https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-
content/EN/TXT/?uri=celex%3A31992L0043 ). The requirements in the Directive have been 
transposed into UK law through The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 
(http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/1012/contents/made ).
2 Significance of effects on Poole Harbour SPA will vary according depending on factors such as 
magnitude of impact, type, extent, duration, intensity, timing, probability, cumulative effects and the 
vulnerability of the habitats and species concerned.

Page 130

https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=celex%3A31992L0043
https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=celex%3A31992L0043
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/1012/contents/made


3

Step 2: Intelligence and Communication
What data, information, evidence and research was used in this EqIA and how has it been 
used to inform the decision-making process?
Office for National Statistics:

 Mid-year population estimates;
 Diversity mix;
 Religion;
 Living arrangements;
 Types of homes;
 Tenure of homes; and
 Access and connectivity.  

Dorset Council evidence on health and care presented on its website 
(https://apps.geowessex.com/stats/AreaProfiles/Parish/wareham-town ).
Dorset Council’s data on local populations obtained from its research and consultation 
team and presented on Dorset Council’s website (https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/your-
community/statistics-and-census.aspx ).
What data do you already have about your service users, or the people your proposal will 
have an impact on?
See above. The Council also has a database of those individuals who are interested in the 
preparation of planning policies and SPD.
The zone around Poole Harbour includes parts of the following Wards in Dorset Council:

 Swanage (current population 9,798); 
 South East Purbeck (current population 4,171);
 Wareham (current population 10,106); and 
 Lytchett Matravers and Upton (current population 12,282). (Data obtained from 

Dorset Insight: https://apps.geowessex.com/stats/AreaProfiles/Ward/lytchett-
matravers-and-upton ).

What engagement or consultation has taken place as part of this EqIA?
Purbeck District Council and Borough of Poole Council undertook a joint consultation on 
the draft SPD between 4th February and 4th March 2019. As part of the consultation the 
Council made copies of the draft SPD available for people to view at:

 its offices (Westport House, Worgret Road);
 all local libraries in Purbeck; and 
 town council offices in Lytchett Minster and Upton/Swanage/Wareham.

The Councils received a total of 57 responses. 24 responses were from organisations and 
33 were from members of the public. The councils have prepared a consultation statement 
which summarises the content of the consultation feedback and officers responses.
Is further information needed to help inform this proposal?
No.

How will the outcome of consultation be fed back to those who you consulted with?
The Councils’ will publish the consultation report and have taken account of the responses 
when preparing the final version of the SPD.

Step 3: Assessment

Who does the service, strategy, policy, project or change impact?
- If your strategy, policy, project or service contains options you may wish to consider 

providing an assessment for each option. Please cut and paste the template 
accordingly.

Page 131

https://apps.geowessex.com/stats/AreaProfiles/Parish/wareham-town
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/your-community/statistics-and-census.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/your-community/statistics-and-census.aspx
https://apps.geowessex.com/stats/AreaProfiles/Ward/lytchett-matravers-and-upton
https://apps.geowessex.com/stats/AreaProfiles/Ward/lytchett-matravers-and-upton


4

For each protected characteristic please choose from the following options: 
- Please note in some cases more than one impact may apply – in this case please 

state all relevant options and explain in the ‘Please provide details’ box. 

Positive Impact 
 Positive impact on a large proportion of protected characteristic 

groups
 Significant positive impact on a small proportion of protect 

characteristics group

Negative Impact
 Disproportionate impact on a large proportion of protected 

characteristic groups
 Significant disproportionate impact on a small proportion of 

protected characteristic groups.
Neutral Impact  No change/ no assessed significant impact of protected 

characteristic groups
Unclear  Not enough data/evidence has been collected to make an 

informed decision.

Age: Neutral/positive.
What age bracket 
does this affect?

Please provide 
details:

The requirement to screen proposed development/planning policies 
for likely significant effects on European sites, and undertake 
appropriate assessments, does not differentiate between individuals 
on the basis of age. 

But the significance of effects arising from some forms of residential 
development (e.g. C2 residential institution) may vary according to 
the age/mobility of their occupants (plans or projects relating to 
residential uses for elderly or immobile inhabitants may not have a 
significant effect on Poole Harbour SPA). In those circumstances 
where there are not likely to be any significant effects on the 
protected habitat no further action is required. 

Where there are significant effects the Council is obliged to complete 
an appropriate assessment – this assessment includes a 
consideration of whether adverse effects on the habitat can be 
mitigated. The evidence suggests that general residential 
accommodation (e.g. C3 homes), where the occupants are typically 
mobile, is likely to have a significant effect on Poole Harbour SPA. 
The effects from this type of accommodation typically need to be 
mitigated to avoid adverse impacts on the harbour. 

Disability: Neutral/positive.
Does this affect a 
specific disability 
group?

Please provide 
details:

The requirement to screen proposed development/planning policies 
for likely significant effects on European sites, and undertake 
appropriate assessments, does not differentiate between individuals 
on the basis of disability. But the significance of effects arising from 
some forms of residential development (e.g. C2 residential 
institution) may vary according to the age/mobility of their occupants 
(plans or projects relating to residential uses for immobile inhabitants 
may not have a significant effect on Poole Harbour SPA). In those 

Page 132



5

circumstances where there are not likely to be any significant effects 
on the protected habitat no further action is required. 

Where there are significant effects the Council is obliged to complete 
an appropriate assessment – this assessment includes a 
consideration of whether adverse effects on the habitat can be 
mitigated. The evidence suggests that general residential 
accommodation (e.g. C3 homes), where the occupants are typically 
mobile, is likely to have a significant effect on Poole Harbour SPA. 
The effects from this type of accommodation typically need to be 
mitigated to avoid adverse impacts on the harbour.

Gender 
Reassignment & 
Gender Identity:

Neutral.

Does this affect a 
specific gender, 
gender 
reassignment or 
gender identity?

Please provide 
details:

The Council does not have any evidence that either gender or 
gender identity will affect the significance of effects arising from land 
use plans/projects on Poole Harbour SPA. The requirement to 
screen for likely significant effects, and undertake appropriate 
assessments, does not differentiate between individuals on the basis 
of gender.

Pregnancy and 
maternity: Neutral.

Does this affect 
pregnancy/maternit
y?

Please provide 
details:

The Council does not have any evidence that either pregnancy or 
maternity will affect the significance of effects arising from land use 
plans/projects on Poole Harbour SPA. The requirement to screen for 
likely significant effects and undertake appropriate assessments 
does not differentiate between individuals on the basis of 
pregnancy/maternity.

Race and Ethnicity: Neutral.
Does this affect a 
specific race or 
ethnic group?

Please provide 
details:

The Council does not have any evidence that either race or ethnicity 
will affect the significance of effects arising from land use 
plans/projects on Poole Harbour. The requirement to screen for likely 
significant effects and undertake appropriate assessments does not 
differentiate between individuals on basis of race or ethnicity.

Page 133



6

Religion or belief: Neutral.

Does this affect a 
specific religion or 
people holding a 
particular belief?

Please provide 
details:

The Council does not have any evidence that either religion or belief 
will affect the significance of effects arising from land use 
plans/projects on Poole Harbour SPA. The requirement to screen for 
likely significant effects and undertake appropriate assessments 
does not differentiate between individuals on basis of religious 
beliefs.

Sexual orientation: Neutral.
Does this affect 
people with a 
specific sexual 
orientation?

Please provide 
details:

The Council does not have any evidence that sexual orientation will 
affect the significance of effects arising from land use plans/projects 
on Poole Harbour SPA. The requirement to screen for likely 
significant effects and undertake appropriate assessments does not 
differentiate between individuals on basis of sexual orientation.

Sex: Neutral.
Does this affect 
people of a specific 
gender?

Please provide 
details:

The Council does not have any evidence that sexual orientation will 
affect the significance of effects arising from land use plans/projects 
on Poole Harbour SPA. The requirement to screen for likely 
significant effects and undertake appropriate assessments does not 
differentiate between individuals on basis of sex.

Marriage or civil 
partnership: Neutral.

Does this affect 
people of a specific 
relationship status?

Please provide 
details:

The Council does not have any evidence that relationship status of a 
person will affect the significance of effects arising from land use 
plans/projects on Poole Harbour SPA. The requirement to screen for 
likely significant effects and undertake appropriate assessments 
does not differentiate between individuals on basis of their 
relationship status.

Carers: Neutral.
Does this affect 
people who are 
specifically carers?

Please provide 
details:

The Council does not have any evidence that a person’s status as a 
carer will affect the significance of effects arising from land use 
plans/projects on Poole Harbour SPA. The requirement to screen for 

Page 134



7

likely significant effects and undertake appropriate assessments 
does not differentiate between individuals on basis of their status as 
a carer.

Rural isolation: Neutral.
Does this 
specifically effect 
people who are in 
rural isolation?

Please provide 
details:

The Council’s evidence indicates that further residents living in the 
towns and villages of Swanage, Harmans Cross, Corfe Castle, 
Stoborough, Wareham, Sandford, Lytchett Matravers, Lytchett 
Minster, Upton and Poole, are likely to give rise to significant effects 
on Poole Harbour SPA. In Purbeck the requirement to undertaken an 
appropriate assessment is more likely to affect people living in a rural 
area.  

Single parent 
families: Neutral

Does this 
specifically effect 
single parent 
families?

Please provide 
details:

The Council does not have any evidence that a person’s relationship 
status will affect the significance of effects arising from land use 
plans/projects on Poole Harbour SPA. The requirement to screen for 
likely significant effects and undertake appropriate assessments 
does not differentiate between individuals on basis of their 
relationship status.

Poverty (social & 
economic 
deprivation):

Neutral

Does this 
specifically effect 
people suffering 
from 
economic/social 
depravation?

Please provide 
details:

The Council does not have any evidence that people’s 
economic/social status will affect the significance of effects arising 
from land use plans/projects on Poole Harbour SPA. People of a 
higher economic status are more likely to own land/make planning 
applications, and therefore be subject to the requirements of relevant 
laws/planning policies. The requirement to screen for likely 
significant effects and undertake appropriate assessments does not 
differentiate between individuals on basis of their economic/social 
status.

Page 135



8

Military 
families/veterans: Neutral.

Does this 
specifically effect 
military 
veterans/families?

Please provide 
details:

The Council does not have any evidence that military 
families/veterans, when compared with other families and 
individuals, will affect the significance of effects arising from land use 
plans/projects on Poole Harbour SPA. The Council notes that Royal 
Marines Hamworthy Camp (including homes for military personal 
and their families) is located inside the area where the Council’s 
evidence indicates that further residential development is likely to 
have a significant effect on Poole Harbour SPA. The requirement to 
screen for likely significant effects and undertake appropriate 
assessments does not differentiate between individuals, or their 
families, on basis of whether they are members of the armed forces 
or veterans.

Page 136



9

Step 4: Action Plan
Provide actions for positive, negative and unclear impacts. 

If you have identified any negative or unclear impacts, describe what adjustments will be made to remove or reduce the impacts, or if this is 
not possible provide justification for continuing with the proposal.

Issue Action Person(s) 
responsible Deadline How will it be monitored?

Feedback from 
consultation on 
draft SPD.

The Councils’ will publish the consultation report and 
have taken account of the responses when 
preparing the final version of the SPD.

Officers of 
Bournemouth, 
Christchurch and 
Poole Council, and 
Dorset Council. 

Prior to the 
Councils 
consideration 
of the draft 
SPD.

No monitoring required.

Step 5: EqIA Sign Off
Officer completing this EqIA: Steve Boyt Date: 14th August 2019
Equality Lead: Susan Ward-Rice Date: 07/11/2019
Directorate Board Chair: Pete Bartlett Date: 29/10/2019

P
age 137



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Date of Meeting: 10 December 2019 

Portfolio Holder: Cllr D Walsh, Planning 

Local Member(s): Cllr D Walsh, Cllr V Pothecary, Cllr B Ridout 

Executive Director: John Sellgren, Executive Director of Place

Executive Summary:

The Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan has successfully passed independent 
examination and a referendum. Following a successful referendum, the local 
planning authority has 8 weeks in which to ‘make’ the plan. The purpose of this 
report is to make the Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan part of the development plan 
for use in planning decisions in the Motcombe neighbourhood area.

Equalities Impact Assessment:

Part of the independent examiner’s role was to consider whether the 
neighbourhood plan would breach, or otherwise be incompatible with any of the 
Convention rights within the meaning of the Human Rights Act 1998. No issues 
were raised by him in this regard.

Budget: 

When the referendum date was set for the neighbourhood plan the Council 
became eligible for a grant of £20,000. This grant is intended to cover the costs 
associated with the Council’s input into the production of the neighbourhood plan 
including the costs associated with the examination and the referendum.

Risk Assessment: 

Having considered the risks associated with this decision, the level of risk has been 
identified as:
Current Risk: LOW
Residual Risk LOW

A legal challenge could theoretically be made against the Council’s decision to 
make the plan. Such a challenge could be made on the basis that the 
neighbourhood plan, as modified, does not meet the basic conditions, is not 
compatible with the Convention rights or because it does not comply with the 

Cabinet
Making of the Motcombe 
Neighbourhood Plan 2017 - 2027 

Page 139

Agenda Item 11



definition of a neighbourhood development plan. However, the independent 
examiner has considered these matters, in light of all the responses received in 
respect of the consultation on the submission version of the plan, and is satisfied 
that the plan does meet the necessary requirements in these regards. Given the 
evidence before them, officers consider that there is no basis for reaching a 
different view to the examiner.   

Climate Implications:

The plan seeks to protect and enhance the environment within the Parish of 
Motcombe. The plan allocates land for 21 additional houses (including 8 affordable 
homes). These may result in increased carbon emissions through construction and 
occupation. However, the level of growth seems reasonable given Motcombe’s role 
as a larger village with a range of facilities within walking distance (e.g. school, 
village hall, shop). Although Motcombe is not considered as sustainable as some 
larger settlements (such as Gillingham or Shaftesbury), it is preferable to many 
smaller settlements and isolated locations in the open countryside. A limited 
amount of growth may help support local services and maintain their viability.

Other Implications:

Once made, this will confirm that the neighbourhood plan is part of the 
development plan for the Parish of Motcombe alongside other plans including the 
North Dorset Local Plan Part 1. Planning applications, which will be considered by 
Dorset Council, will be made in accordance with the development plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise.

Recommendation:

The following recommendations are made:
a) That the Council makes the Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan 2017 - 

2027 (as set out in Appendix A) part of the statutory development 
plan for the Motcombe neighbourhood area.

b) That the Council agrees to make a small number of minor (non-
material) modifications to the neighbourhood plan in order to rename 
references to Site 4 from “land at Shire Meadows” to “land at Bittles 
Green” throughout the document. (These modifications are set out in 
Appendix B.)

c) That the Council offers its congratulations to Motcombe Parish 
Council and members of the Neighbourhood Plan Group in producing 
a successful neighbourhood plan.

Reason for Recommendation:

(1) To make the Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan part of the statutory development 
plan for the Motcombe Neighbourhood Area within the 8 week time limit set by 
legislation. (2) The Parish Council (the qualifying body) have requested that Site 4 

Page 140



should be renamed. (3) To recognise the significant amount of work undertaken by 
the Parish Council and members of the Neighbourhood Plan Group in preparing 
the neighbourhood plan and to congratulate both the Parish Council and the Group 
on their success.

Appendices:

Appendix A: Referendum version of the Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan 2017 - 
2027
Appendix B: Minor (non-material) modifications to be made to the Motcombe 
Neighbourhood Plan 2017 - 2027

Background Papers:

Documents relating to the Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan are available at 
http://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/motcombe-neighbourhood-plan 

Officer Contact 
Name:Philip Reese, Senior Policy Planning Officer
Tel: 01258 484224
Email: philip.reese@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

1. Background and Reason Decision Needed

1.1. The neighbourhood plan area for Motcombe was formally designated by North 
Dorset District Council (NDDC) on 22 February 2016. Following significant 
amounts of consultation and research Motcombe Parish Council (the Qualifying 
Body) submitted the Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan 2017 to 2027, and 
associated documents, to the District Council in March 2019.

1.2. The plan and associated documents were subject to formal consultation from 
12 April 2019 to 24 May 2019. Dorset Council subsequently made 
arrangements for an independent examination of the plan as required by The 
Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as amended).

1.3. The examination was conducted by Mr David Kaiserman BA DipTP MRTPI and 
his report on the plan was published on 23 July 2019. The Examiner’s Report 
concluded that subject to a number of modifications the plan should proceed to 
referendum.

1.4. The Council held a referendum on 7 November 2019 with the area covered by 
the referendum being the Parish of Motcombe. This is the same area to which 

Page 141

http://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/motcombe-neighbourhood-plan
mailto:philip.reese@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk


the neighbourhood plan applies. In the referendum 292 people (79.8%) voted in 
favour of the plan with 74 people (20.2%) voting against the plan. The turnout 
was 35.3%. The referendum version of the plan is attached in Appendix A of 
this report.

1.5. Under section 38(3A) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, a 
neighbourhood plan comes into force as part of the statutory development plan 
once it has been approved at referendum.

1.6. Following a positive outcome at referendum, the Council has 8 weeks in which 
to formally make the plan part of the development plan. The only circumstances 
where the Council is not required to so is if it considers that the plan could 
breach, or be incompatible with any EU or human rights obligations. Officers 
are not aware of any issues that have come to light that would require the 
Council to come to an alternative view to that reached by the independent 
examiner in respect of the legislative requirements, including in terms of the 
basic conditions, which apply to neighbourhood plans. 

1.7. The Parish Council have requested that references to Site 4 are amended from 
“land at Shire Meadows” to “land at Bittles Green”. These changes are set out 
fully in Appendix B. They are considered to be minor, non-material 
modifications. Dorset Council is permitted to modify a neighbourhood plan for 
the purpose of correcting errors, with the consent of the qualifying body, without 
requiring a further examination or referendum under Section 61M(4) of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

                                                                                       

Page 142



Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan 

2017 - 2027 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

August 2019 Final Version 
Prepared by Motcombe Parish Council 

P
age 143



Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan – August 2019 Final Version 

Foreword 

The Parish of Motcombe, with a population of around 1600, nestles in 
the south east corner of the Blackmore Vale, below the ridge that 
forms the northern edge of the Cranborne Chase area of outstanding 
natural beauty. The village of Motcombe is roughly located in the 
middle of the Parish, midway between the two contrasting local 
towns of Shaftesbury, a hilltop settlement on the edge of the ridge, 
and Gillingham located in the Vale where the local River Lodden, that 
drains the Parish, and Shreen Water join the River Stour.  

The Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan paints a picture of the Parish as it 
is today, provides a degree of historical context, and explores how the 
Parish might develop over the next decade, within the framework 
provided by the North Dorset District Plan adopted in early 2016. As 
such, the Motcombe Plan primarily focuses on how best to meet the 
need for new dwellings and improved local community infrastructure, 
and how the character of the village and surrounding countryside can 
be conserved. 

The Plan has been primarily developed over the past three years by a 
small voluntary sub-committee formed from within the Parish 
Council, supported by a highly experienced, specialist planning 
consultant who has also worked with many other communities within 
Dorset producing Neighbourhood Plans.  

One of the key criteria set for all Neighbourhood Plans is that they 
reflect local views and needs wherever possible, and during the 
development of the Plan for Motcombe, open meetings have been 
held with local residents in the village Memorial Hall. From these 
meetings, the future vision for the Parish, and policies to attain this 
vision, described in detail within the Plan were developed and 
finalised; the list of preferred sites for future housing development 

were evolved; guidelines for future dwellings that would be 
appropriate for the very mixed nature of current housing were 
finalised. In addition, a detailed survey of residents was conducted in 
the autumn of 2017, covering all aspects of the Plan and village life.  
Further consultations were run on options and the emerging draft 
Plan.  The Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan team would therefore like 
to thank all those residents who took part in each of these 
consultations, as they were vitally important in developing a Plan that 
reflects the views and needs of Motcombe residents. 

Finally, we would like to particularly thank: the Motcombe Women’s 
Institute who have provided refreshments at our open meetings; the 
Villager (Motcombe newsletter) team who were fundamental to 
ensuring that the questionnaires for the survey of residents were 
delivered to households throughout the Parish; the Community Shop 
for acting as a post-box for the survey of residents and for holding 
copies of the draft plans; our local printer Proprint 2K for providing a 
high quality service meeting all our extensive printing needs; the two 
village resident architects for their input to the design guidelines. 

Dee Worlock, Chairman - Motcombe Parish Council, August 2019  
 

Motcombe Parish Council Neighbourhood Plan Sub Committee: 
Cllr Peter Mouncey (Chair) 
Cllr Arnold Coffer 
Cllr John Phillipson 
Cllr John Taylor 
Cllr Dee Worlock 
Jo Witherden BSc(Hons) DipTP DipUD MRTPI, Dorset Planning 
Consultant Limited (Consultant) 

P
age 144



Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan – August 2019 Final Version 

Photos of consultation events 

 

P
age 145



Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan – August 2019 Final Version 

Contents 

1 Introduction ......................................................................... 1 

The Neighbourhood Plan Area ....................................................... 1 

Why a Neighbourhood Plan is important ........................................ 1 

The history of Motcombe ............................................................... 2 

What is special about Motcombe now? ........................................... 4 

Plan Period and Review .................................................................. 5 

2 The Vision and Objectives for our Neighbourhood Plan ............. 6 

3 Parish amenities and green spaces .......................................... 7 

Important Community Facilities ..................................................... 7 

Motcombe’s Flood Alleviation Scheme ......................................... 10 

Access to the Countryside ............................................................ 11 

Local Green Spaces and Woodlands ............................................. 11 

Local Wildlife ............................................................................... 14 

Local Views .................................................................................. 15 

Dark Skies .................................................................................... 16 

Policies Map ............................................................................. 17 

4 Housing ............................................................................. 19 

What housing is needed? .............................................................. 19 

Locations for housing ................................................................... 20 

Roadside adjoining Shire Meadows, Motcombe Road ................... 23 

Sunset Ridge, Elm Hill (small plot) ................................................ 24 

The Nursery, The Street ............................................................... 24 

Rural Affordable Housing Exception site: Land west of Little Elms, 
Elm Hill (strip along the road) ....................................................... 25 

The Settlement Boundary ............................................................ 26 

Limiting the coalescence of Shaftesbury, Motcombe and Gillingham
 26 

5 Employment ...................................................................... 27 

Employment needs ...................................................................... 27 

6 Design ............................................................................... 29 

Understanding local character – identified heritage features ........ 29 

Building Patterns, Density and Landscaping ................................. 30 

Building Size, Styles and Materials ................................................31 

7 Highways and transport ...................................................... 35 

General travel patterns ................................................................. 35 

Road Safety ................................................................................. 35 

Street Layout ............................................................................... 36 

Car Parking Solutions ................................................................... 36 

Motcombe (The Meadows) to Gillingham into a cycleway ............ 38 

Development adjoining railway land............................................. 38 

Appendix 1 – Evidence Base for the Neighbourhood Plan .............. 39 

Appendix 2 – Flood Alleviation Scheme ....................................... 40 

Appendix 3 – Extant Consents for Housing .................................. 41 

Appendix 4 –Grosvenor Estate Cottages ...................................... 41 

 

 

 

 

P
age 146



Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan – August 2019 Final Version 

1 | P a g e   

1 INTRODUCTION 

The Neighbourhood Plan Area 

1.1 The Neighbourhood Plan area is the parish of Motcombe, and 
covers a total area of approximately 20 km2 (nearly 8 square miles).  It 
was designated by North Dorset District Council in February 2016. 

Why a Neighbourhood Plan is important 

1.2 The strategy set out in the North Dorset Local Plan Part 1 
(adopted in January 2016) is to direct most of the growth in North 
Dorset to the main towns of Blandford Forum, Gillingham, Shaftesbury 
and Sturminster Newton.  The North Dorset Local Plan does not set a 
specific target for growth for this area, although changes to national 
planning policy may require this to be set out in the Local Plan’s review.  
The Core Spatial Strategy (Policy 2 of the Local Plan) seeks to focus 
significant development to the main towns, as these are considered to 
be the most sustainable locations for such growth.  For villages such as 
Motcombe, “the focus will be on meeting local (rather than strategic) 
needs”.  The supporting text explains that “In the recent past, housing 
development in the rural areas significantly exceeded planned rates, yet 
did not always enable rural facilities to be retained or enhanced” and 
the strategy is to avoid repeating this unsustainable pattern of 
development.  The early indication in the Local Plan Review is that the 
Local Planning Authority is not proposing to alter its spatial strategy in 
respect of Motcombe.   

1.3 This Neighbourhood Plan provides the opportunity for local 
residents to agree what development is needed in the area (based on 
the evidence available), where it should be built and what it should look 
like.  It also allows places that are of particular value to the community, 
whether for environmental, social or economic reasons, to be 

P
age 147



Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan – August 2019 Final Version 

2 | P a g e   

identified, so that any detrimental impacts can be properly considered 
in making planning decisions.   

1.4 When made, this Neighbourhood Plan, together with the adopted 
North Dorset Local Plan (or the new Dorset Local Plan when this has 
been adopted – currently anticipated by 2023) and the Dorset Minerals 
and Waste Plans, will form the development plan.  The development 
plan is the main basis for deciding whether planning applications should 
be approved or refused.  By law, decisions on planning applications 
should be made in accordance with the development plan, unless there 
are over-riding material considerations.  

The history of Motcombe 

1.5 The origins of the name Motcombe refer to it being a meeting 
place and in a valley.  There are references in the Dorset Assize Rolls 
from the 13th century which refer to both Frog Lane and Cowridge but 
little else to throw light on life in Motcombe in earlier days.  

1.6 In The Inventory of the Historical Monuments in Dorset, there are 
some references to Motcombe including Fernbrook, Kingsettle, Frog 
Lane and Woodend Farms. The most important monument is the 
earthwork remains of a Royal Hunting Lodge of the former Royal Forest 
of Gillingham, now just banks and ditches on the Parish boundary with 
Gillingham. Also mentioned are Woolfridge Farm, together with North 
End Farmhouse, possibly the oldest houses in the Parish, the latter with 
17th century origins; also mentioned are Barn House, Thane’s Farm and 
Manor Farm. 

1.7 The Parish appears to have undergone a transformation when Earl 
Grosvenor purchased the Motcombe Estate in the 1820s, which included 
the old Motcombe House, previously known as Palmer’s Place; this house 
was demolished, and in 1893, a new house built which is now Port Regis 
School. Materials used from the original house were used to build The 
Grange, which later became a school and is now retirement apartments. 

Illustrative map of Gillingham Forest in the later Middle Ages  

P
age 148



Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan – August 2019 Final Version 

3 | P a g e   

1.8 The sharp bend in the road from Mere, near Coppleridge, is a 
reminder that the old drover’s road followed the line of the current 
bridleway, passing through the  Grosvenor estate to join the Gillingham 
– Shaftesbury road at what is the now the South entrance to Port Regis 
School.  To provide privacy, the Grosvenor family diverted the road to 
its current junction at The Turnpike, and The Street eventually 
developed into the main thoroughfare. 

1.9 Motcombe is 
described as being a 
peaceful and pretty village 
at this time with thatched 
cottages and farmhouses 
surrounded by trees and 
apple orchards. In his book 
Highways and Byways in 
Dorset, Frederick Treves 
described Motcombe as ‘a 
hamlet of gardens at the 

foot of a hill. In the Spring, the little place is as full of white blossoms as 
is a temple cloister in Japan’.  Treves also referred briefly to ‘the 
beautiful house of Thanes Farm’.  The reference to ‘white blossoms’ 
probably refers to apple trees, a feature in many Dorset villages as they 
provided the essential ingredients for 
locally brewed cider. In the book ‘Dorset 
Today and Yesterday’ published in 1956, 
F S Hinchy described Motcombe as’ a 
prosperous village with flourishing 
agricultural industries’. From the North of 
the Parish there are wide ranging views 
across the Blackmore Vale. 

1.10 In 1839 Lady Grosvenor had a 
school built next to the Church, adding a 

further building in 1874. The Church was rebuilt in 1847 after some 
problems with the permissions which should have been obtained, but 
had been overlooked.  It was designed to hold 450 worshippers and cost 
a total of £1901 19s 6d.  The Memorial Hall was opened in 1928 on land 
donated by the second Lord Stalbridge, funds were raised both by 
donations from residents and the Grosvenor family. 

1.11 Changes brought about 
by the influence of the 
Grosvenor family continued 
with the building of estate 
cottages in the ‘Westminster 
Style’, all had three 
bedrooms to provide 
separation of parents, sons 
and daughters, set in large 
garden plots to encourage 
self-sufficiency.  These 
cottages continue to be the 
one common style of house 
construction in the parish. 
The value put on key workers 
on the Estate is shown by the 

more elaborate 
accommodation 
provided for the 
Head Gardener and 
Game Keeper. 

Game Keeper’s Cottage and the Game Larder, Cliffe House 

1.12 A water supply from local springs to at least four tap 
houses around the village was provided by the Marquess of 
Westminster in about 1860. Lady Westminster then had a 

P
age 149



Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan – August 2019 Final Version 

4 | P a g e   

reservoir constructed in 1871, bringing piped water to most farms and 
cottages in the Parish.  It was during this period that the number of 
houses in the Parish rose from 250 in 1840 to 320 by 1880.The census of 
1831 shows that the majority of residents were employed as agricultural 
labourers. At that time there was also an employment classification of 
‘middling sorts’.   Another classification of retail and handicraft reflects 
what is known of village trades including a baker, builder, shopkeeper 
and ale house keepers for The Bull and The New Inn. 

1.13 The Royal Oak public house is recorded as being in use by 1840, 
this building was demolished at the expense of the Motcombe Estate 
and rebuilt as The Royal Oak Hotel in 1870. 

1.14 When Lady Grosvenor died, she was buried in the Motcombe 
churchyard, preferring to rest in the place she loved most, rather than 
be buried with her husband at the main Grosvenor Estate seat at  Eaton 
Hall in Cheshire. Her positive influence on Motcombe lives on in both 
buildings and community spirit. 

1.15 Hugh, Second Baron Stalbridge, sold the Motcombe Estate in 
1929, Motcombe House being purchased by Charles Prideaux although 
he never lived in it, continuing to live at The Grange. As well as being 
the owner of the Milk Factory, Charles Prideaux was active in local 
organisations, holding the posts of Churchwarden, Parish Councillor 
and School Manager. 

1.16 After some building in the 1950s and 1960s, including Elm Close 
and The Flats (now demolished) followed by Grays Close in the 1970s, 
larger developments including Stainers Mead, Hunters Mead and The 
Limes followed, changing the mix of housing  and drawing in families 
with young children who could attend the local school. The addition of 
Summer Oaks and Prideaux Drive are the latest developments and are 
built on the site of the Cases Factory. As part of the deal in purchasing 
the land to build these new homes, Bloor Builders donated eighteen 
acres of land to the Parish which are now known as Motcombe 

Meadows and accommodate the allotments and an important wildlife 
habitat. By 2011, there were 611 dwellings  and a population of 1474.  A 
Conservation Area was designated in the 1990s, covering the historic 
centre of the Village and encompassing the Church, School, Old 
Rectory, two Parish workhouses, the Memorial Hall and surrounding 
dwellings. 

What is special about Motcombe now? 

1.17 Motcombe is now a thriving, busy Parish of over 1,600 residents.  
Most of the local residents live in the village, which has a community 
shop, a well-used Memorial Hall and playing fields, a church, a chapel 
and a primary school.  Whether because of the community facilities, or 
some other factor, it is certainly the case, as evidenced in response to 
the 2017 household survey, that there is a strong feeling of community 
spirit and belief that Motcombe is a welcoming and friendly place to 
live.  Whilst residents value being in a village, the proximity to the two 
towns (Gillingham with its railway, and Shaftesbury with its history) is 
also beneficial, offering a lot of opportunities within easy reach. 

1.18 One of the main employees is Port Regis School, with about 250 
staff, most of which live within a 15 mile radius.  There is also Virginia 
Hayward Ltd at Littledown Business Park which is on the edge of 
Shaftesbury but just within the Motcombe parish who is a major local 
employer.  Other local businesses include auto repairs, building 
services, an international expedition base and a range of kennels and 
stables. 

1.19 The easternmost part of the parish, adjoining Shaftesbury and 
Donhead St Mary, lies within the Cranborne Chase and West Wiltshire 
Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty – which is a nationally 
important landscape and the chalk escarpment forms a backdrop to 
many views.  Most of the area lies within the clay vales associated with 
Blackmore Vale and the more rolling vales of North Blackmore.  This is 

P
age 150



Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan – August 2019 Final Version 

5 | P a g e   

described as a tranquil, peaceful and unified landscape, which includes a 
mix of woods and grassland, twisting hedge lined lanes, grass verges, 
ditches, streams and brooks and distinctive mature hedgerow oaks.1  
The countryside provides both access for recreation using the many 
public rights of way, as well as a home to wildlife – barn owls, 
butterflies, water voles and bats to name but a few. 

1.20 There are 32 Listed buildings or structures within the 
neighbourhood plan area, many of which lie within the Conservation 
Area that is centred around the Grade II* Church Of St Mary.  The area 
between Gillingham and Shaftesbury is also known as the home of the 
Gillingham Royal Forest.  In the 13th century this was a royal hunting 
preserve, with a large Deer Park west of Motcombe stocked with deer 
and other game and visited by King John and his court.  Close to the 
Parish boundary with Gillingham near the confluence of the River 
Lodden and Fern Brook., King's Court Palace (a scheduled monument) 
marks the site of the medieval royal hunting lodge, with the earthwork 
remains marking various ditches and moats that would have 
surrounded the palace.  The boundary of the medieval deer park (Park 
Pale) enclosed some 760 acres according to the 1624 map, with gates to 
the north at Barrow Gate (on the edge of the parish between Windy 
Ridge and Woodwater farms), to the east at Turners Stile (near Forest 
Lodge Farm) and further south, and to the west at the entrance to 
King’s Court.  A project is planned to interpret, recreate and reconnect 
this historical landscape – led by the Dorset Wildlife Trust. 

1.21 There are areas at risk from flooding relating to the tributaries of 
the Lodden (this particularly impacts on the historic core of Motcombe 
village), and areas of surface water flooding (in relation to the village 
these are noted in the area around Shorts Green Farm and off The 
Street / by Memorial Hall).  A local flood alleviation scheme was put in 

 

1  2008 Landscape Character Assessment produced by North Dorset District Council 

place in the late 1990s when times of heavy rain were overloading the 
stream channels and causing periodic flooding of property in and 
around Church Walk.  More details on this local flood alleviation scheme 
are contained in Appendix 2.  

1.22 New housing will add to the numbers and mix of residents.  The 
community recognises that Motcombe is a living, breathing place that 
will continue to evolve over the years to come, which is why it has 
embraced the idea of preparing a Neighbourhood Plan, to ensure the 
changes are managed in a way that will continue to add positively to 
the village and wider parish. 

1.23 A significant amount of research and consultation has gone into 
the preparation of this plan.  A list of the key documents is provided in 
Appendix 1.   

Plan Period and Review 

1.24 Our Neighbourhood Plan looks forward to 2027, spanning a 10 
year period from when the Household Survey was undertaken that 
helped confirm this Plan’s vision and objectives.   

1.25 To maintain the relevance of the Neighbourhood Plan, the Parish 
Council, as the body responsible for leading the Neighbourhood Plan 
process, will listen to the views and opinions of local residents in 
considering when a review needs to take place.  It is anticipated that a 
review of the Plan will commence no later than April 2025, or sooner if 
there are significant changes in national planning policy or the strategic 
policies in the North Dorset Local Plan (which is currently under review), 
or if these are local social or economic changes that would impact on 
the delivery of the Plan’s objectives.   

P
age 151



Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan – August 2019 Final Version 

6 | P a g e   

2 THE VISION AND OBJECTIVES FOR 
OUR NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 

Parish amenities and green spaces 

The range of important amenities, such 
as the community shop and Post Office, 
Memorial Hall, the schools and churches 
– and the activities provided through 
these amenities, provide the basis for 
the strong community spirit and help 
meet many day to day needs of local 
residents 

Housing 

Ensure housing needs are met at a level 
that reflects the amount of new homes 
required by the Local Plan, and specific 
needs identified through local evidence. 
The house types should suit people of 
different ages and abilities, so that the 
mix of people living here is well 
balanced.  

Employment 

Support existing and new businesses 
within the parish, including those run 
from home, which are compatible with 
the rural village character of the area 

This Plan identifies locally 
valued facilities (including 
the 1997 flood alleviation 
scheme) and green spaces 
for protection.  Proposals 
include improved sport and 
recreati0n facilities on the 
Meadows, at the Memorial 
Hall and improved parking 
provision for the School 

This Plan sets out how 
much and what type of 
housing is needed, and 
potential sites where these 
homes could be built.  Sites 
are allocated to meet the 
projected need for housing 
growth to 2027. 

This Plan recognises the 
diversity of employment in 
the parish, and how 
employment needs can 
continue to be met 

Design 

Development should strengthen the 
distinctive character of Motcombe as a 
village.  New housing, when it is built, 
should be in small scale incremental 
developments that reflect the village 
character and its linear nature, rather 
than suburban-style estates 

This Plan sets out how new 
development can make a 
positive contribution to 
Motcombe’s character, in 
terms of styles, materials, 
landscaping etc, and the 
importance of the unlisted 
Estate Cottages in 
contributing to the local 
character 

Highways and transport 

Ensure that additional traffic from 
development can be safely 
accommodated on the rural road 
network, and that opportunities are 
taken to support public and community 
transport options, improve footpaths 
and bridleways, and make roads safer, in 
ways that are compatible with the rural 
village character of the area 

This Plan considers how the 
design of new development 
should cater for the car 
without detracting from the 
area’s rural character.  It 
also proposes that a route is 
safeguarded for the 
Motcombe to Gillingham 
off-road cycleway. 

  

To keep Motcombe as a separate and distinct, village-based community, rather 
than it becoming a dormitory suburb of the neighbouring, rapidly expanding 
towns, of Shaftesbury and Gillingham 

P
age 152



Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan – August 2019 Final Version 

7 | P a g e   

3 PARISH AMENITIES AND 
GREEN SPACES 

Important Community Facilities 

3.1 National policy and the North Dorset Local Plan both recognise 
the importance of community facilities in people’s lives.  They include 
policies that try to ensure that such facilities are retained, unless they 
are no longer needed or viable to run.  

3.2 The Neighbourhood Plan household survey was used to identify 
the facilities that were considered as particularly important by the local 
community.  These are listed in Table 1 that follows, and their locations 
shown on the Policies Map.  Some facilities are obviously better used or 
more valued than others, however all those facilities listed were felt to 
be important by the majority of local residents responding to the 
household questionnaire.  

Table 1. Community buildings and recreational facilities 

Ref Facility Used a lot2 Rated highly3 

CF1 Memorial Hall and play area ✓ 95% 

CF2 Community shop, Cafe and Post Office ✓ 89% 

CF3 Motcombe primary school  74% 

CF4 St. Mary’s church and churchyard  85% 

CF5 Methodist chapel / hall  65% 

CF6 The Coppleridge Inn public house  84% 

CF7 Turnpike Showground  80% 

CF8 Port Regis School (shared facilities)  67% 

 

2  2017 household questionnaire returns – at least 50% of respondents stated they 
use the facility at least monthly or more frequently  

3.3 In addition to the facilities listed, Motcombe Meadows and the 
Memorial Hall Field are valued recreation spaces, and these are 
proposed for special protection as Local Green Spaces.  It is anticipated 
that with the increased population, improvements may need to be 
made to the Meadows in terms of a sports area and extension to the 
area managed for allotments. 

3.4  The Memorial Hall is reaching full capacity for many of the 
activities it hosts, and is turning away bookings  because there is simply 
not enough hours in the day to meet demand.  It therefore makes sense 
to expand the existing facility to meet the growing demand, which will 
increase further as the population expands.  In 2019 a new 16m x 8m 
hall adjoining the existing hall was built.  This has provided ancillary 
floorspace for regular 
users such as Scouts, 
the Youth Club, Tai 
Chi and other 
activities, together 
with toilets and a 
small kitchen.  The 
current on-site car 
parking provision will 

3  2017 household questionnaire returns - percentage of respondents stating they 
rated the facility as important or very important 

The range of important amenities, such as the Community Shop and Post Office, Memorial Hall, the 
schools and churches – and the activities provided through these amenities, provide the basis for 
the strong community spirit and help meet many day to day needs of local residents 

P
age 153



Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan – August 2019 Final Version 

8 | P a g e   

also need to be extended.  The play area, that has recently transferred 
from a charitable trust to the Parish Council, also requires upgrading 
with up to date equipment for all ages. 

3.5 Motcombe’s Community Shop, Cafe and Post Office is centrally 
located in the village.  It has been managed as a community initiative 
following the former owner’s announcement of the intention to close 
the shop  in 2010.  It sells both local produce and household essentials, 
offers a range of Post Office services, a twice weekly dry cleaning 
service and has a café where people can socialise.  In the survey of 
residents, the community shop was rated the most important and most 
frequented amenity in the parish.  However, the current site is relatively 
small and this limits 
the range of products 
and produce that can 
be stored and 
displayed, and there is 
no on-site parking for 
customers.  During 
the development of 
this Plan, discussions 
were held with the 
management of the 
shop on their future 
plans.  The possible relocation and expansion of the shop may be a 
matter that is considered through a future review of this plan, and has 
therefore been identified within the possible projects that could benefit 
from S106 funding linked to future housing developments within the 
Parish. 

3.6 Motcombe Primary School provides education for children 
between the ages of 4 to 11 living in the parish.  The school is based in 
Church Road, around an original Victorian school building with the 
addition of a modern school hall, and also has its own sports field for 

recreation and games.  It is 
part of the Southern 
Academy Trust and has 
recently expanded to a seven 
class structure to cater for 
over 180 children (the school 
actually has capacity for up 
to 210 children – and it also 
worth noting that much of 

the increased demand has arisen from outside of the parish).  The 
Academy Trust have no plans at present to re-introduce the pre-school 
facility due to lack of space. The latest Ofsted inspection (December 
2017) rated the school as ‘good’.   

3.7 The parking on the road (by parents and other visitors to the 
school) is of concern, making it more dangerous for children getting to 
and from school, especially at the school is on the designated route for 
larger vehicles (including bus  
services) to and from the village.  
Ideally a parking area for at least 50 
cars, with a safe pathway to the 
school and church, would resolve 
this situation.  The Parish Council 
would welcome proposals to provide 
a viable solution to this issue.  St 
Mary’s Church and churchyard, 
together with the Methodist 
Chapel, provide the main venues for 
the spiritual needs of the parish.  The 
Methodist Chapel includes a hall and 
kitchen which can be hired, providing an alternative venue to the 
Memorial Hall for community  groups/clubs.  One factor raised through 
the preparation of this Plan was whether there was sufficient burial 

Photo of Methodist Chapel 
(Motcombe Church is shown pg 3) 

P
age 154



Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan – August 2019 Final Version 

9 | P a g e   

space in St Mary’s Churchyard available to 2027.  This is currently under 
consideration and if a site is needed this may be included in a future 
review of the Plan. 

3.8 The Coppleridge Inn is a 
traditional country pub set in an old 
farm house on the outskirts of the 
village.  It provides another venue for 
residents to socialise, as well as 
facilities for weddings and other 
functions.  An option of providing 
hotel accommodation on the site 
was given outline consent in the 
1990s and could be re-considered in 
the future. 

3.9 Although not a conventional community facility, the Turnpike 
Showground has been included in the list of facilities, as it hosts many 
events throughout the year, including shows, rallies and car boot sales, 
as well as the annual Gillingham and Shaftesbury Agricultural Show 
that attracted over 25,000 attendees in 2018.  The show operates using 
permitted development rights (that allow the temporary change of use 
of the land and temporary structures for up to 28 days in any year).  The 
annual show does cause significant disruption particularly to the local 
highway network, and it is unlikely that the community would support 
this level of activity being repeated more frequently than at present.  
Port Regis School is an independent preparatory school for children 
aged 2-13.  It has about 300 pupils (day and boarders), and offers a 
Bursary for talented local students.  Approximately 60% of its student 
intake is from within a 20 mile radius of the school.  It also provides 
community access to some of its facilities such as the swimming pool, 
concert hall and golf course.  Although it is recognised that this access is 
at the discretion of the school, these facilities are enjoyed from time to 
time by a significant number of local residents.    

3.10 Policy MOT1 seeks to ensure that these facilities are protected as 
far as practical, and that development is allowed that would help these 
facilities improve and adapt to future needs.  Additional facilities will be 
welcomed to help complement those that already exist – and once 
established these may be given a similar degree of protection (and 
added to the Policies Map through a future review).  

3.11 Consultation on proposals that would affect these facilities should 
where possible be undertaken by the applicant prior to submitting an 
application.  To be effective, the consultation should be advertised well 
in advance, be made available online as well as through local events, 
and allow time for feedback and further discussion, including liaison 
with the Parish Council on the issues raised and how these can be 
resolved positively.  Parish Council comments should be respectfully 
considered in the planning decisions that are made.    

Policy MOT1. Important community facilities 

Community facilities (as listed in Table 1) should be retained where 
possible.  The local community should be consulted on proposals to 
remove, diminish or replace an important community facility.   

Proposals that allow existing facilities to modernise and adapt for 
future local needs, or to diversify in a manner that would support a 
new or improved community facility to become viable, will be 
supported subject to ensuring that any significant adverse impacts on 
the local highway network or amenity of local residents are avoided.  
Specific local needs / projects that have been identified include: 

− Improvements to sport and recreati0n facilities (on Motcombe 
Meadows) 

− Additional community venue capacity (on the Memorial Hall 
site) 

P
age 155



Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan – August 2019 Final Version 

10 | P a g e   

− Upgraded play area (at the Memorial Hall) 

− Improved parking provision to serve the Primary School 

− Improvements to (including possible re-location of) the 
Community Shop 

Development should support the maintenance and enhancement of 
existing community facilities and the provision of new social 
infrastructure, in line with national guidance on planning conditions 
and obligations.  This should include contributions towards the above 
projects where applicable to that application, and the consideration 
of any other needs that may be identified in consultation with the 
Parish Council. 

Motcombe’s Flood Alleviation Scheme 

3.12 The steeply sloping catchment between Shaftesbury and 
Motcombe is drained by a number of streams which converge in or near 
the village.  During the 1990s at times of heavy rain, the stream 
channels became unable to cope with the generated flows and periodic 
flooding of property in and around Church Walk ensued.  Grant funding 
was secured from central Government through North Dorset District 
Council to provide a flood alleviation scheme, to give enhanced 
protection against flooding up to a minimum return period of 1 in 25 
years.   

3.13 The scheme commenced in early 1997 and took the form of an 
additional bypass pipe at Bittles Green culvert, replacement and 
additional field culverts, localised channel improvements, replacement 
footbridge at Barn House and a new open channel stream diversion 
from an offtake structure (adjacent to a track leading to the rear of Port 
Regis) then under Turnpike Road at Church Farm and re-joining the 
existing watercourse North West of the village.  A summary map 
detailing the location of the ‘as constructed’ works is provided in 

Appendix 2.  Later that year the scheme was tested with the first storm 
event since 
completion, and the 
reduction in flow 
around Church Walk 
was evident.   

3.14 Some years later 
and after being 
designated a Critical 
Ordinary Watercourse, 
the scheme was 
formally transferred to 
the Environment 
Agency as ‘Main River’ with all of the original documentation.  As a 
result, the Environment Agency has responsibility for the constructed 
structures but Riparian Owner rights and responsibilities remain for the 
existing Main River and Ordinary Watercourses with supervisory control 
from the Environment Agency and Local Authority respectively.  

3.15 Where an application is made which would involve construction or 
engineering operations within 5m of the scheme (as shown in Appendix 
2), the applicant should include information as to how damage to the 
scheme would be avoided, and the Flood Risk Management Team 
should be consulted. 

Policy MOT2. Local Flood Alleviation 

Development should not impact on the effective operation of the 
local flood alleviation scheme, as shown in Appendix 2.   

P
age 156



Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan – August 2019 Final Version 

11 | P a g e   

Access to the Countryside  

3.16 There is an extensive of public rights of way criss-crossing the 
area, allowing access out to the countryside.  The general network of 
public rights of way was rated as ‘very important’ by 69% of 
respondents to the 2017 household questionnaire.  A frequent point 
made was the need for better signage and maintenance of paths 
(including changing stiles to gates for easier access).  Over time, the 
Parish Council would like to convert stiles to gates on the most used 
paths around the village, and this will be funded through any grant 
opportunities linked to improving access to the countryside, planning 
contributions, or when existing stiles need replacing. 

3.17 A number of these rights of way follow ancient roads and 
trackways, including those used by the royal hunting parties, and 
livestock drover routes.  

3.18 The White Hart Link has recently been waymarked through 
Motcombe Parish.  This is a long-distance walking trail using existing 
rights of way connecting from Blandford to Shaftesbury, Gillingham, 
Stalbridge, Sturminster Newton and back to Blandford (see 
http://www.whitehartlink.uk).  The route through Motcombe passes by 
the Coppleridge public house and the Motcombe Community shop, 
providing economic benefits to our community in line with the project’s 
objectives. 

Policy MOT3. Public Rights of Way Network 

Proposals that will improve access to the countryside via enhancing 
or extending the public rights of way network will be supported.   

Where feasible, new public rights of way should be incorporated 
into any green infrastructure corridors provided through new 
development, designed to promote informal recreation, and linking 
into the existing network where feasible.   

Local Green Spaces and Woodlands 

3.19 Local communities are encouraged 
to identify for protection those spaces 
within or close to settlements that are 
particularly valued, due to their 
recreational use, their historic significance, 
their wildlife value, or simply because they 
make such a strong contribution to the 
character of the area.   

3.20 Motcombe Meadows 
is an area of public open 
space.  It provides a tranquil 
recreation area with an 
improving landscape value 
due to the tree planting and 
creation of the pond.  It 
supports many species of 
butterfly; barn owls and 
other birds; and the local deer population often frequent the meadows.  
The village allotments are also found here, to the rear of Motcombe 
Grange.  Altogether it extends to about 10½ hectares (26 acres).   

3.21 Motcombe Memorial Hall Field was donated to the Parish by the 
Duke of Westminster, and is 
owned and administered by 
Motcombe Memorial Trust.  
As another public open space, 
it is well used by villagers, 
providing an excellent venue 
for many Village activities.  
The green space designation 
has deliberately excluded the 

P
age 157

http://www.whitehartlink.uk/


Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan – August 2019 Final Version 

12 | P a g e   

area closest to the hall to allow for any further expansion of this 
community facility. 

3.22 The planted verges to either side of the northern section of Frog 
Lane are also proposed for designation.  The oak trees to either side are 
owned and maintained by the owners of Frog Lane Farm, and form a 
distinctive 
avenue, and 
were donated to 
Motcombe.  The 
lane is well used 
by walkers and 
provides 
extensive views 
out over the 
countryside to 
both the east 
and west, as well 
as a local wildlife 
corridor. 

3.23 St Mary’s Churchyard is a tranquil green space that is open to the 
public.  It surrounds the Grade II* St Mary’s Church.  It is also managed 
with wildlife as well as people in mind as part of the Living Churchyards 
Project, overseen by the Dorset Wildlife Trust.  The grass is allowed to 
grow, with curved mown paths to facilitate access, and cuttings 
composted to provide a further habitat for invertebrates and insects.  
The varied cutting heights encourages more species - butterflies, 
moths, grass hoppers, slow worms and small mammals.  Bird, bat and 
insect boxes made by the Scouts and Cubs have been added.   

3.24 These four areas are proposed for Local Green Spaces 
designation, and are listed in Table 2 that follows, and shown on the 
Policies Map.  This designation can only be applied to those spaces that 

meet the criteria set out in national policy, and is equivalent to Green 
Belt protection, where development is only be allowed in exceptional 
circumstances.   

Table 2. Local Green Spaces 

Ref Green Space Main Reason for Designation 

LGS1 Motcombe Meadows and 
Allotments 

Recreation 
Also of landscape and wildlife interest 

LGS2 Memorial Hall playing field Recreation 
Also of historic interest 

LGS3 Frog Lane avenue Landscape 
Also of historic and wildlife interest 

LGS4 St Mary’s Churchyard Cultural / historic 
Also of wildlife interest 

3.25 Other areas which do not meet the criteria necessary for Local 
Green Space designation include areas of woodland in the wider 
countryside.  These are valued by the local community (public where 
there is public access) and are also important in both landscape and 
wildlife terms.  Duncliffe Wood is an Ancient replanted deciduous 
woodland (broadleaved) Woodland Trust site that lies mainly in the 
adjoining parish of Stour Provost.  Kingsettle Wood is another Ancient 
replanted woodland (broadleaved) Woodland Trust site on the chalk 
scarp off the A350 north of Shaftesbury.   

Policy MOT4. Local Green Spaces  

The local green spaces listed in Table 2 and shown in the Policies Map 
will be given special protection.  Development within these areas will 
only be supported where it would enhance the enjoyment of the 
space and not undermine its importance.  Development adjoining 
these areas must respect their reason for designation and should not 
significantly detract from their enjoyment. 

P
age 158



Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan – August 2019 Final Version 

13 | P a g e   

3.26 Areas of Ancient and Semi-Natural Woodland (owned and 
managed privately) are also found at King’s Court Wood, Cowridge 
Copse, Grants Copse, Palemead Coppice and Quoits Copse.  These are 
identified on the MAGIC website4 and shown on the map here.   

3.27 The vision for the Gillingham Royal Forest project is to collaborate 
with the local community to investigate the potential to restore; 
recreate and reconnect this historical landscape.  This should consider 
the contribution of the woodland areas, together with the glades and 
open grassland that according to historical records would have related 
to the medieval park.  Whilst there is no Parish Council land within the 
Gillingham Royal Forest area suitable for further woodland planting, 
the Parish Council would encourage local landowners to identify 
opportunities for further woodland planting elsewhere within the 
former forest area.  

Policy MOT5. Woodlands 

All deciduous woodlands should be protected and managed to 
sustain them in the long term.  Proposals to provide additional 
woodland planting in the Gillingham Royal Forest area, and proposals 
to enhance public access to woodland areas or promote the 
understanding of their cultural heritage, should be supported.   

Right: Magic Map as at 2019 for Motcombe Parish, plus Gillingham Royal 
Forest Area (which covers the whole parish and beyond) 

  

 

4  http://magic.defra.gov.uk/home.htm  

P
age 159

http://magic.defra.gov.uk/home.htm


Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan – August 2019 Final Version 

14 | P a g e   

Local Wildlife 

3.28 Wildlife species identified within the area include badgers, bats, 
bird species including barn owls and red kites, great crested newts, 
otters and water voles.  The Dorset Ecological Network mapping 
project5 has mapped designated wildlife sites of local importance within 
the parish, and areas identified as having ecological potential.  These 
primarily relate to the existing 
woodlands and network of 
streams and rivers.  However, 
wildlife is not limited to these 
designated sites, and it is 
important that measures are 
taken to assess the wildlife value 
of all sites proposed for 
development, in order to ensure 
that proposals include measures 
that will achieve a net gain for 
nature in line with national and 
local planning policies.  

3.29 The Dorset Biodiversity Protocol6, developed by Dorset Local 
Planning Authorities and Natural England, requires a certified 
biodiversity mitigation and enhancement plan to be submitted with a 
planning application.  In this way the impacts of a development 
proposal can be properly assessed and considered through the planning 
process.  Such appraisals will be required where protected species or 
habitats are known or suspected to be present, which may well be the 
case where development would impact on species-rich hedgerows, 

 

5  https://www.dorsetlnp.org.uk/ecological_networks.html  

unimproved grassland, natural watercourses or ponds and their 
margins, copses / woodland and mature tree specimens, rural barns and 
other roof voids (where bats may be present).   

3.30 Even where development is unlikely to impact on existing wildlife, 
measures can be taken to provide new habitats – such as the inclusion 
of bird, bat or bee boxes on buildings, creating a pond or other water 
feature in your garden, or even a compost heap.  

Policy MOT6. Protecting and Enhancing Local Biodiversity 

Development should protect and, wherever practicable, enhance 
biodiversity through an understanding of the natural assets that may 
be affected by development, and the inclusion of measures that will 
secure an overall biodiversity gain.   

To demonstrate this is achieved, a certified Biodiversity Mitigation 
and Enhancement Plan will be required where a development 
requiring planning permission would involve any of the following: 

a) the loss of a hedgerow (in whole or part) or mature tree specimen; 

b) works involving the development of a greenfield site, or a 
brownfield site in excess of 0.1ha; 

c) works involving a rural barn (including barn conversions) or other 
roof space where bats may be present; 

d) works within 10 metres of a pond or watercourse or having the 
potential to affect any known ecological interests associated with 
nearby waterbodies. 

6  https://www.dorsetforyou.gov.uk/countryside-coast-parks/countryside-
management/biodiversity/how-does-the-biodiversity-appraisal-process-work.aspx  

P
age 160

https://www.dorsetlnp.org.uk/ecological_networks.html
https://www.dorsetforyou.gov.uk/countryside-coast-parks/countryside-management/biodiversity/how-does-the-biodiversity-appraisal-process-work.aspx
https://www.dorsetforyou.gov.uk/countryside-coast-parks/countryside-management/biodiversity/how-does-the-biodiversity-appraisal-process-work.aspx


Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan – August 2019 Final Version 

15 | P a g e   

Local Views 

3.31 The parish’s network of footpaths, bridleways and rural lanes 
allows local residents and visitors to enjoy open views across the 
pastoral landscape of the clay vales associated with Blackmore Vale and 
the more rolling vales of North Blackmore, and from the wooded hills of 
the Greensand Ridges within the AONB on the eastern edge of the plan 
area.   

3.32 Examples of views 
gained from public rights of 
way within the parish 
include views towards: 

→ the Shaftesbury skyline 

→ Kingsettle Wood 

→ Duncliffe Wood 

3.33 Where development 
would be clearly prominent 
within open views from a 
public right of way, a 
Landscape and Visual 
Impact Assessment (LVIA) 
including photomontages 
should be produced as part 
of the application to ensure 
the impact of the 
development is understood 
and that measures are 
identified to ensure that the 
public enjoyment of the 
landscape is not notably 
diminished.  

Policy MOT7. Local Views 

The design and layout of development should minimise adverse 
impacts on views from public rights of way over open countryside, 
and preserve and enhance such views where possible.  Views which 
are of particular significance are indicated on the Policies Map and 
comprise: 

a)  the view from the rail bridge at Coppleridge looking north-
west to Mere Down / King Alfred’s Tower at Stourhead;  

b)  the view from the footpath out of Cowridge Copse (N69/19) 
looking south-west across to Duncliffe Wood; 

c)  the view along Frog Lane’s avenue of trees; 

d)  the view looking east from Frog Lane (including footpaths 
N69/2 and N69/4) across the fields towards Kingsettle Wood; 

e)  the view from footpath N69/1 looking south-west across Turks 
Field over the Memorial Hall field towards Duncliffe Wood; 

f)  the view from the footpath N69/1 across Turks Field looking 
south-east to Shaftesbury Ridge; 

g)  the view from Kingsettle (including footpath N69/4 and 
bridleway N69/3) looking west and north-west across the 
Blackmore Vale. and also across Gillingham, and to Mere 
Down, Stourhead estate / Penselwood;  

h)  the view from Kingsettle (footpath N69/13) looking west 
across to Duncliffe Wood and across Gillingham and to 
Penselwood; 

i)  the view from the footpath to Corner Lane (N69/5) looking 
south-west across to Duncliffe Wood. 

P
age 161



Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan – August 2019 Final Version 

16 | P a g e   

Below: Map showing significant local views referred to in Policy MOT7 

 

Dark Skies 

3.34 The Cranborne Chase AONB is hoping to gain Dark Sky Reserve 
status, recognising that over 90% of the area is amongst the least light 
polluted in England, meaning that residents and visitors can witness the 
majestic arc of the Milky Way on a clear night.  The impact of light 
pollution from the nearby towns of Shaftesbury and Gillingham can be 
clearly seen on the interactive maps produced by the CPRE, with light 
pollution also noticeable from the village.  Although some lighting can 
be necessary for safety and security reasons – and the household survey 
showed that a small minority would like to see more street lighting – 
most light pollution can be reduced through careful design of windows 
and choice of illumination methods.  For example, lights using motion-
sensors and timers, down-lighters or ‘wall washers’ generally have less 
impact, and light spill from large glazed areas can be reduced through 
the use of overhangs.  By including a policy in this Plan, the impact of 
lighting should be considered at an early stage and unnecessary light 
pollution avoided, to everyone’s benefit.  

Policy MOT8. Dark Skies 

Development should be designed to conserve and enhance the 
intrinsic quality of the dark night skies. Lighting which is proposed to 
be installed should meet or exceed the level of protection appropriate 
to Environmental Zone 1 (as defined by the Institution of Lighting 
Professionals), with the addition that external lighting should not 
exceed a correlated colour temperature (CCT) of 3000K. 

  

P
age 162



Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan – August 2019 Final Version 

17 | P a g e   

POLICIES MAP 

 

  

P
age 163



Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan – August 2019 Final Version 

18 | P a g e   

 

 

 

 

P
age 164



Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan – August 2019 Final Version 

19 | P a g e   

4 HOUSING 

 

What housing is needed? 

4.1 Motcombe is a parish of just over 
600 dwellings, most of which are within the village itself, with smaller 
clusters at North End and also along the A30 (Sherborne Causeway). 

4.2 Our research into housing needs suggests that planning for about 
3.6 dwellings per year (36 dwellings in total, including existing consents) 
would be likely to meet local need for housing within the Parish.  Key 
findings to note from the research were: 

→ The current housing stock has more detached 4+ bedroom 
than typical for the area, and comparatively few 1 and 2 
bedroom apartments and terraced properties.   

→ There are relatively few affordable homes available, and most 
homes sold on the open market are priced above levels that 
are affordable for households on an average annual income.   

→ There are 8 households with a local connection registered for 
affordable housing (mainly for 2 bedroom rented homes) and 
additional (unregistered) demand for starter homes and 
shared ownership house types 

→ Although there is some local provision for older people’s 
needs (Motcombe Grange) this may not be affordable or 
sufficient to meet the needs of the ageing population.  

4.3 This all points towards achieving a housing mix that includes 
affordable 1, 2 and 3 bedroom homes to include both affordable rented 
accommodation (where the main need is for 2 bedroom homes), shared 
ownership and starter home types.  The viability assessments 

underpinning the adopted Local Plan suggested that in villages like 
Motcombe, it should be possible to build 40% of homes on larger sites 
as affordable.  If site-specific constraints or circumstances mean this 
amount of affordable housing is not possible (confirmed by an ‘open 
book’ economic appraisal), then a different mix that maximises the 
number of locally needed affordable homes may be accepted. 

Table 3. HAPPI design principles – age-ready housing 

Housing our Ageing Population: Panel for Innovation  
Features that underpin ‘age-ready’ housing: 

→ Generous internal space standards 

→ Plenty of natural light in the home and in circulation spaces 

→ Balconies and outdoor space, avoiding internal corridors and 
single-aspect flats 

→ Circulation spaces that encourage interaction and avoids an 
“institutional feel” 

→ Adaptability and ‘care aware’ design which is ready for emerging 
telecare and tele-healthcare technologies 

→ High levels of energy efficiency, with good ventilation to avoid 
overheating 

→ Extra storage for belongings  

→ Shared external areas such as ‘home zones’ that give priority to 
pedestrians 

→ Plants, trees, and the natural environment 

Ensure housing needs are met at a level that reflects the amount of new homes required by the 
Local Plan, and specific needs identified through local evidence. The house types should suit people 
of different ages and abilities, so that the mix of people living here is well balanced.  

P
age 165



Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan – August 2019 Final Version 

20 | P a g e   

4.4 The open market housing provided should be a mix of 1, 2 and 3 
bedroom homes to include, if appropriate to the site, a significant 
proportion of apartments (designed in a manner appropriate to a rural 
area, such as a subdivided gentry-style building) and terraced 
properties (typically cottages), and homes designed specifically to 
provide options for independent and supported living in old age.  The 
HAPPI design principles may be used as a guide to appropriate designs 
for older residents, as are designs that meet the optional higher 
building regulation 
standards for accessible and 
adaptable dwellings.   

4.5 It is unlikely that 
further 4 bedroom or larger 
homes will be needed unless 
a specific need is identified, 
or a building conversion 
would lend itself more to a 
property and is not 
appropriate for sub-division.   

Policy MOT9. Meeting the area’s housing needs 

The amount of housing growth supported is intended to deliver at 
least 3.6 dwellings per annum, averaged over the Plan period. 

Affordable housing will be provided on all major developments, to 
comprise at least 40% of the total number of dwellings.  The type and 
size of affordable homes should include a mix of 1 – 3 bedroom 
rented, shared ownership and starter homes (or a different mix if 
justified by an up-to-date housing needs survey).  Provision may also 
be made through rural exception sites, under Policy MOT14. 

The type and size of open market housing should provide a mix of 1, 2 
and 3 bedroom homes to include at least 50% as apartments or 
terraced properties, including those designed as age–ready housing. 

Locations for housing  

4.6 To provide in the region of 3.6 dwellings per annum, and taking 
into account existing consents for 27 dwellings (see Appendix 3), it 
would be sensible to allocate sufficient land for at least 8 homes, whilst 
ensuring that there are reasonable opportunities for affordable home 
types to be provided.  Other opportunities for housing may arise as infill 
development within the settlement boundary, and the conversion of 
redundant buildings in the countryside (given permitted development 
rights).   

4.7 More than 20 parcels of land around the village of Motcombe, 
amounting to just over 40ha of land in total, have been promoted by 
landowners and developers as possible sites for development.  If all of 
these sites came forward for development, the village could easily grow 
by 800 new dwellings – more than doubling the existing number of 
dwellings in the village.  So it was clear from the start that not all 
potentially available sites should be put forward for development, and 
that the Neighbourhood Plan process provided the right framework for 
selecting the most suitable sites for development to meet the area’s 
housing needs. 

4.8 One check undertaken was to consider whether any of the sites 
might have a significant environmental effect.  The main issue related 
to the possible impact on the setting of the Conservation Area and 
Listed Buildings, and the site closest to Red House Farm was ruled out 
on this basis, with additional checks likely to be needed on sites where 
localised flood risk could be an issue.   

P
age 166



Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan – August 2019 Final Version 

21 | P a g e   

4.9 A further check was to consider how the sites compared to a set 
of criteria that had been devised to both sustainability issues and the 
emerging views of local residents (as expressed through an earlier 
consultation).   

4.10 It was also noted that the general preference of local residents 
was for infill of single houses within the village and small-scale infill 
developments within/on the edge of the village alongside the main 
roads (3-15 houses, such as we have in Red House Close).  There was 
less support for larger estates (15-30 houses, such as we have in Hunters 
Mead, The Paddocks) with 62% of respondents against this scale of 
development, and a much higher proportion against large estates (30 
houses or more, such as we have in The Limes / Willow Way or around 
Prideaux Drive / Summer Oaks). 

Table 4. Site Assessment Scoring Criteria 

→ Strengthening the village character: the growth would appear 
as an incremental, organic change in keeping with the village 
character (as opposed to larger urban estate style development) 

→ Reinforcing the compact form of village: the site would not 
greatly extend the village beyond the existing limit of 
development or breach significant boundaries 

→ Retaining green spaces and key views: the site is not an 
important green space, and its development would not result in 
the loss of an important view from a public area / highway to the 
wider countryside 

→ Promoting a walkable village: most of the main amenities (shop, 
school, hall / playing fields and Motcombe Meadows), are within 
800m walking distance of the site entrance, and the pedestrian 
routes would or could be made safe 

→ Minimising the risk of traffic accidents: the traffic that would be 
generated by the site is not likely to create or exacerbate traffic 

problems, based on the location and likely access 

→ Promoting a working environment: the development is likely to 
be well served by mobile and broadband coverage to allow 
working from home, taking into account current and planned 
availability 

4.11 The sites that appeared to score generally well against these 
objectives were made the focus of the options stage consultation (with 
checks also carried out to ask if any rejected options should be 
reconsidered).  This helped identify the sites that were considered to be 
more suitable for development than others, and potential issues that 
may have been overlooked.  One of these sites was Shorts Green Farm, 
where an outline planning application had been submitted for its 
development in January 2018.  This triggered further detailed 
investigation on flood risk associated with that site, and although it 
may be possible to mitigate the risk by including measures to control 
the holding and dispersal of surface water, the fact remained that a 
significant part of the site is within a flood risk area and Government 
guidance is clear that development in such locations should be avoided 
where alternative sites at lesser risk are available.  For that reason, the 
site has been excluded from this Plan, and it is unlikely that the outline 
application will be approved.   

4.12 This confirmed that the most suitable sites for development were 
likely to be: 

→ Site 4 - Roadside adjoining Shire Meadows, Motcombe Road, Bittles 
Green 

→ Site 19 - Sunset Ridge, Elm Hill (small plot) 

→ Site 25 - The Nursery, The Street 

  

P
age 167



Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan – August 2019 Final Version 

22 | P a g e   

Table 5. Sites Selected for Development 

Ref Location Site size 
(hectares) 

Estimated 
capacity7 

Affordable 
housing 

Site 4 Roadside adjoining Shire 
Meadows, Motcombe Road, 
Bittles Green 

0.8 10 at least 4 

Site 19 Sunset Ridge, Elm Hill  
(small plot) 

0.1 2 n/a (below 
threshold) 

Site 25 The Nursery,  
The Street 

0.4 3 n/a (below 
threshold) 

TOTAL  1.3 15 at least 4 

4.13 Although the above sites should more than meet the total 
estimated need for housing, the delivery of sufficient affordable 
housing to meet local needs is less certain, particularly if further 
residents register a need over the coming years (for example, as 
children become adults and look to set up a home of their own). 

4.14 Options at Site 18: Land west of Little Elms on Elm Hill, and Sites 
20/21: west of Highlands on Elm Hill were also potentially suitable for 
development, though did not score as well against the criteria.  The 
roadside strip of Site 18 is of a size that would be suitable for a small-
scale rural exception site for affordable housing (ie up to 9 homes 
including no more than one-third as open market housing), and 
therefore has been included on this basis.  It is estimated that it should 
accommodate about 6 dwellings, so if developed this should provide a 
minimum of 4 more affordable homes. 

 

7  Based on a density of 15 dwellings per hectare and adjusted as appropriate based 
on site assessment of potential constraints.   

8  The supporting text of Policy 9 of the North Dorset Local Plan makes clear that the 
number of market homes the Council may permit will depend on individual 

Table 6. Small-scale Rural Exception Sites for Affordable Housing 

Ref Location Maximum Affordable housing8 

Site 18 Land west of Little Elms, Elm Hill 
(roadside strip) 

6 At least 4 

 

Policy MOT10. Locational criteria for new development 

Sufficient land has been identified to meet the anticipated need for 
housing in the plan period, through: 

− site allocations as detailed in Policies MOT11 to 14; 

− infill sites within the settlement boundary (as revised and 
shown on the Policies Map); 

− the potential for rural affordable housing exception sites in 
line with the site assessment criteria in Table 4; 

− conversion of existing buildings; and 

− rural workers’ dwellings where there is an essential need for 
the worker to live on-site 

In the event of the housing supply policies becoming out of date, the 
further release of greenfield sites should meet the site assessment 
criteria in Table 4 and not give rise to any significant adverse 
environmental impacts.   

circumstances and will be assessed on a site-by-site basis. However, it is unlikely 
that a proposal which exceeds one third of the total number of dwellings being 
provided as market homes will be acceptable and in many cases the percentage is 
likely to be less. 

P
age 168



Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan – August 2019 Final Version 

23 | P a g e   

Roadside adjoining Shire Meadows, Motcombe Road 

4.15 The site adjoining Shire Meadows is sloping pasture rising up 
away from the road, with housing opposite and to either side.  The 
continuation of linear development along this road would be in 
character with the settlement form, albeit that care would need to be 
taken to provide 
suitable 
landscaping along 
the southern 
boundary of the 
site, as the rear of 
any development 
would be visible 
from the footpath 
running south 
along the eastern 
edge of the site.   

4.16 There are two existing access points and potential to create other 
access points off Motcombe Road if required.  There are no pavements 
alongside the road at this point, and consideration should be given to 
what improvements could be made to allow for safer pedestrian access 
into the centre of the village.  

4.17 Although the site is not of a size to require a site-specific flood risk 
assessment, and is not shown to have flooding or drainage problems, 
some surface water flooding does occur immediately west of the site 
which presumably arises as water drains off the fields.  As a precaution 
the surface water flows should be assessed, so that this flood risk is not 
exacerbated and measures can be taken to reduce the current level of 
surface water flood risk to adjoining land and properties. 

Policy MOT11. Housing site: roadside adjoining Shire Meadows 
(Site 4) 

Land at Shire Meadows, as shown on the Policies Map, is allocated for 
about 10 dwellings including at least 4 affordable homes, at a density 
appropriate to the village’s character, subject to all of the following 
requirements: 

a)  The type and size of housing accords with Policy MOT9; 

b)  The layout of development respects the linear pattern of 
roadside development; 

c)  The design and scale of dwellings, combined with a landscape 
scheme along the southern boundary, provides a soft 
landscaped edge and will minimise the visual impact of 
development in wider views from public rights of way; 

d)  A net gain in biodiversity being secured through any measures 
that may be required as part of an approved biodiversity 
mitigation and enhancement plan prepared in the light of 
policy MOT6; 

e)  Suitable safe site access is secured, and provision is made for a 
footway along the site frontage and allowing for safe 
connection as far as practical to The Street; 

f)  A surface water drainage strategy is secured that ensures 
drainage from the site is designed so as to avoid (and ideally 
reduce) flood risk to properties adjoining Shire Meadows. 

  

P
age 169



Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan – August 2019 Final Version 

24 | P a g e   

Sunset Ridge, Elm Hill (small plot) 

4.18 This site is part of a small 
paddock area associated with Sunset 
Ridge, on the edge of the village with 
farmland to the rear and west, 
beyond which lies East Coppleridge 
Farm.  The existing hedgerows 
provide good screening suitable to 
this village edge location.    

4.19 A suitable access can be formed 
to this site with adequate visibility 
splays but will need to be sited away 
from the bend.  Consideration should 
also be given to the provision of a 
footway along this stretch of road into 
village, if feasible.  

Policy MOT12. Housing site: Sunset Ridge, Elm Hill (Site 19) 

Land at Sunset Ridge, as shown on the Policies Map, is allocated for 
about 2 dwellings, at a density appropriate to the village’s character, 
subject to all of the following requirements: 

a)  The type and size of housing accords with Policy MOT9; 

b)  The retention and strengthening of the hedgerow boundaries 
to the north and west; 

c)  A net gain in biodiversity being secured through any measures 
that may be required as part of an approved biodiversity 
mitigation and enhancement plan prepared in the light of 
policy MOT6; 

d)  The site access is made safe, and provision is made for a 
footway allowing for safe connection as far as practical to The 
Street. 

The Nursery, The Street 

4.20 A small site 
comprising a 
former plant 
nursery with the 
remnants of 
sheds / poly 
tunnels to the 
rear of housing 
along The Street.  No notable features worth retaining, and the 
redevelopment of this site provides the potential to enhance this village 
edge.   

4.21 Due to the limited nature of the site, the scale, orientation and 
location of dwellings will need to avoid being over-bearing or leading to 
over-looking of the adjoining residential properties. 

Policy MOT13. Housing site: The Nursery, The Street (Site 25) 

Land at The Nursery, as shown on the Policies Map, is allocated for 
about 3 dwellings, at a density appropriate to the village’s character, 
subject to all of the following requirements: 

a)  the type and size of housing accords with Policy MOT9; 

b)  the scale, orientation and location of dwellings avoids the 
over-looking of, or having an overbearing impact, on the 
adjoining residential properties; 

P
age 170



Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan – August 2019 Final Version 

25 | P a g e   

c)  A landscape scheme is secured that will provide a soft 
landscaped edge to the west; 

d)  A net gain in biodiversity being secured through any measures 
that may be required as part of an approved biodiversity 
mitigation and enhancement plan prepared in the light of 
policy MOT6. 

Rural Affordable Housing Exception site: Land west of Little 
Elms, Elm Hill (strip along the road) 

4.22 Rural exception sites are defined in national policy as small sites 
used for affordable housing in perpetuity, on sites which would not 
normally be used for housing.  These are allowed to address the needs 
of the local community.  A proportion of market homes may be allowed 
on the site at the local planning authority’s discretion, for example 
where essential to enable the delivery of affordable units without grant 
funding.  The North Dorset Local Plan makes clear that by ‘small’ this 
means sites for no more than nine dwellings in total, and that the 
number of market homes should be the minimum necessary to deliver 
the affordable housing, and should not exceed a third of the total 
housing provided.   

4.23 The Elm Hill site forms the roadside strip on the southern side of 
Elm Hill, going east from the junction with The Street.  It is currently 
agricultural pasture, with the remaining part of the field sloping down 
and providing views out across the vale.  There is housing to either side 
and opposite, and therefore the continuation of linear development 
along this road is characteristic of the settlement form, albeit that care 
will need to be taken in the scale and landscaping of the scheme given 
its elevated context.  Single-storey development (bungalows) are 
therefore more likely to be appropriate for this site.  A suitable vehicular 
access can be formed to this site but will need to be sited away from the 
dwelling on the bend to achieve them.  There is currently no footway 

link to The Street, and consideration should also be given to the 
provision of a footway along this stretch of road into the village, if 
feasible. 

Policy MOT14. Rural Affordable Housing Exception sites 

Land west of Little Elms (Site 18), as shown on the Policies Map, is 
allocated for a rural affordable housing exceptions site for up to 6 
dwellings, of which at least 4 should be affordable homes, subject to 
all of the following requirements: 

a)  the housing accords with requirements for a rural exception 
affordable housing site, as set out in the North Dorset Local 
Plan Part 1; 

b)  the layout of development respects the linear pattern of 
roadside development; 

c)  the design and scale of dwellings, combined with a landscape 
scheme along the southern boundary, provides a soft 
landscaped edge and will minimise the visual impact of 
development in wider views from public rights of way; 

d)  A biodiversity mitigation and enhancement plan is secured to 
provide a net gain in biodiversity; 

e)  Suitable safe site access is secured, and provision is made for a 
footway along the site frontage and allowing for safe 
connection as far as practical to The Street. 

Additional rural affordable housing exception sites in accordance with 
the site assessment criteria established in Table 4 may be supported 
if it is demonstrated that provision through this provision, together 
with that delivered through the allocated sites is not sufficient or 
available to meet local needs.  

  

P
age 171



Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan – August 2019 Final Version 

26 | P a g e   

The Settlement Boundary 

4.24 Settlement boundaries are a well-used planning tool that helps 
define those built-up areas where further infill development will in 
principle be acceptable, subject to site specific considerations which 
would include aspects such as environmental constraints, safe access 
and impact on local character.  The settlement boundary set in the 
adopted Local Plan (as established in 2003) has been assessed and is 
considered to remain broadly fit for purpose, with  boundary changes 
made in respect of the site-specific allocations (but excluding the rural 
affordable housing exception site). 

Limiting the coalescence of Shaftesbury, Motcombe and 
Gillingham 

4.25 Some residents expressed concern that in the future Motcombe 
could be ‘merged’ within either Shaftesbury or Gillingham, as these 
towns expand outwards.  At the current point in time the gaps between 
the settlement is large (at around 2km in either direction) and the scale 
of growth needed is unlikely to make a notable difference.  However 
this matter can be kept under review, and if necessary a policy included 
in a future version of this Plan.   

P
age 172



Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan – August 2019 Final Version 

27 | P a g e   

5 EMPLOYMENT 
 

Employment needs 

5.1 As with housing, the North Dorset Local Plan does not identify a 
specific employment development figure for the Neighbourhood Plan 
area.  Outside the settlement boundary the Local Plan policies 
encourages the retention and small-scale expansion of existing 
employment sites, provided that: 

→ the existing development and use is lawful;  

→ the expansion of the site is of a size and scale appropriate to the 
location and proportionate to the circumstances;  

→ the development would not include or give rise to ancillary uses 
within the site, such as open storage, that would be visually 
intrusive; and 

→ the development would not be more visually intrusive in the 
landscape than the existing development and would respect the 
immediate setting of the site and its wider surroundings. 

Photo of Motcombe 
Garage 

 

5.2 Our research into local employment needs identified the 
following main employment sites (not including working farms, self-
catering holiday accommodation and home-based businesses) that are 
located within the parish are listed in Table 7 and their approximate 
location is shown on the Policies Map 

Table 7. List of employment sites 

Motcombe Primary School Academy School 

Motcombe Community Shop and Post Office Shop and PO 

The Coppleridge Inn Public House 

Port Regis School, Motcombe Park Co-ed Preparatory School 

Motcombe Garage, Bittles Green Farm Auto Repairs 

Motcombe Grange, The Street Supported Retirement  

Lakemead Kennels, Frog Lane Dog Boarding Kennels 

Turnpike Kennels, Shaftesbury Road Dog and Cat Boarding 

Half Moon Stud, Forest Lodge Farm Horse Breeder 

Prossers Builders, Bittles Green Building Services 

Hunt Kennels (S&W Wilts) , Manor Farm Hunt Kennels 

Motcombe Stables, Larkinglass Farm Horse Livery 

Levers Estates, Shaftesbury Road Bus / coach operation, 
maintenance and repair 

Blashford Snell, New Lane Expedition Base 

Virginia Hayward, Little Down Business Park Gift Hampers 

Blackmore Vale Tyres and Exhausts, Sherborne 
Causeway 

Auto Repairs 

Blackmore Vale Leisure, Sherborne Causeway Caravan Dealership 

Causeway Garage, Sherborne Causeway Auto Repairs 

Support existing and new businesses within the parish, including those run from home, which are 
compatible with the rural village character of the area. 

P
age 173



Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan – August 2019 Final Version 

28 | P a g e   

5.3 The distribution of businesses around the parish highlights how 
many are located outside of the main settlement, partly as a result of 
the rural or unneighbourly nature of the businesses or the need to be 
located on the main road network, the space required by the 
businesses, or opportunities arising from the potential to re-use existing 
buildings.  

5.4 Many of the business uses fall outside of the traditional ‘B-class’ 
uses (which broadly encompasses offices, light and general industrial 
workspace and warehousing).  Therefore limiting the definition of 
employment to just these use types would not reflect the main working 
opportunities within the parish, and a wider definition of employment 
has therefore been applied that takes into account the role of premises 
as a workplace for one of more full-time employees.   

5.5 The 2017 household survey asked whether anyone might be 
interested in setting up a new business, or re-locating an existing 
business to Motcombe.  Some 25 responses showed interest in the 
potential, indicating a potential latent demand for employment 
workspace.  However there is no certainty that this demand will result 
in employment land being developed, as demonstrated by the lack of 
take-up of the employment potential on part of the former Cases and 
Sons Site9.  As such, although no land is specifically allocated for 
employment, it is hoped that the following policy will provide 
opportunities for employment that match possible demand. 

5.6 According the 2017 household survey, 25% of households 
contained one or more adults working from home.  Of these, the 
majority (61%) considered that improved technology / communications 

 

9  This site is located centrally on Street and in 2005 was given outline planning 
consent to be redeveloped for housing and employment (2/2005/0351).  Despite 
lengthy marketing (particularly 2014/15), there was no apparent commercial 

is important for their business.  There was little call for specific facilities 
such as communal work spaces / office accommodation (although 7 
respondents did express an interest in this, and 15 respondents agreed 
that it would be useful to have opportunities to meet other residents 
who work from home). 

Policy MOT15. Meeting the area’s employment needs 

The retention and small-scale expansion of existing employment sites 
as shown on the Policies Map, and the extension of existing homes 
and provision of outbuildings to support expanded home working, 
will be supported provided all of the following criteria are met: 

a)  the scale and design of the development is sympathetic to the 
character of the existing buildings and surrounding area and 
proportionate to the business needs;  

b)  the development would not result in a significant adverse 
impact on the environment or residential amenity  

c)  the development would not result in a significant increase to 
traffic movements on minor (C-Class or un-classified) roads 
that would be detrimental to the rural character of the area 

d)  in the case of provision for homeworking, any outbuildings or 
extensions proposed remain available for business use 
ancillary to the primary use as a dwelling. 

 

interest in the site’s development for B1 uses.  In 2015, acknowledging the 
difficulties in bringing this site forward for employment, consent was granted for 
housing (2/2015/1502) 

P
age 174



Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan – August 2019 Final Version 

29 | P a g e   

6 DESIGN 

 

Understanding local character – 
identified heritage features 

6.1 There are 32 Listed buildings or structures within the 
Neighbourhood Plan Area, the details of which can be found on the 
Historic England website10. 

6.2 Although the Conservation Area was designated as recently as 
the 1995, the District Council has been unable to find any reports or 
minutes relating to its designation, and there has been no appraisal 
undertaken in the intervening time.   

6.3 The main local vernacular comes from the influence of the 
Grosvenor family.  In addition to key buildings such as the Church of St 
Mary (Grade II* Listed), School and School House (Grade II Listed) and 
Memorial Hall, they also built a considerable number of estate cottages.  
These cottages were mainly semi- detached, and built of brick and 
stone in the ‘Westminster Style’.  The houses are described by a local 
architect as being ‘built with walls of greensand coursed rubble stone 
with continuous decorative brick banding above and below arched head 
windows with stone keystone.  Tall brick chimney stacks with projecting 
brick weathering courses to the top with clay chimney pots.  Bracketed 
entrance porches often with decorative painted timber work’.  Most are 
not Listed, but are likely to qualify as undesignated heritage assets due 
to their historic significance and importance within the local area.  A list 
of those identified as part of the preparation of this Plan is shown in 
Appendix 4, and their location marked on the Policies Map. 

 

10  https://www.historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/advanced-search  

6.4 In the 2017 
household survey, there 
was general agreement 
that this Neighbourhood 
Plan should recognise the 
importance of these 
estate cottages.  

Typical Westminster style 
Estate Cottages 

 

Policy MOT16. Grosvenor Estate Cottages 

Support will be given wherever practicable to the protection and 
enhancement of the undesignated Grosvenor Estate Cottages. 

6.5 With the many different types of buildings, settlements and 
materials used across the plan area, it is not an easy job to provide clear 
design guidance.  Of the more recent development, responses to the 
2017 household survey indicated that The Limes / Willow Way and (to a 
slightly lesser extent) Prideaux Drive / Summer Oaks were rated the 
most highly (felt to be good designs by 46% and 41% of respondents).  
Some 20% (1 in 5) of respondents felt that there were no good 

Development should strengthen the distinctive character of Motcombe as a village.  New housing, 
when it is built, should be in small scale incremental developments that reflect the village character 
and its linear nature, rather than suburban-style estates 

P
age 175

https://www.historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/advanced-search


Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan – August 2019 Final Version 

30 | P a g e   

examples of recent well-designed homes.  Common suggestions 
included: 

→ Smaller village type properties such as cottages. 

→ A mix of styles 

→ More traditional styles using stone, brick, slate.  

→ Individual / self-build 

→ Contemporary / eco-friendly houses 

→ No tall (3 storey) houses  

6.6 As part of this Plan’s preparation, some urban design expertise 
was commissioned (through the Government support for 
Neighbourhood Planning), to prepare general design guidelines for 
Motcombe.  These were then subject to consultation with local 
residents, to select the most relevant elements for inclusion in this Plan 
and identify aspects that may not have been picked up. 

6.7 The following sections got through each design element in turn.  
Street layout and parking is covered in the following chapter.   The 
guiding principle is design to reinforce what is positive about that area’s 
local character.   

Building Patterns, Density and Landscaping 

6.8 The main community buildings and older historic properties are 
found along the main thoroughfares of The Street and Church Walk, as 
well as at Bittles Green and along Shorts Green Lane.  The Estate 
Cottages appear to have been given numbers at random, which has led 
to an idiosyncratic numbering system which causes much head 
scratching for postmen and other carriers. 

 

11  2008 Landscape Character Assessment produced by North Dorset District Council 
– assessment of North Blackmore Rolling Vales 

6.9 The many orchards and generally wet nature of the land around 
the parish may have limited further development, however during the 
20th century development has infilled many of the gaps along The 
Street, Elm Hill, Bittles Green, and up Shorts Green Lane, and 
developed the adjoining fields (or orchards) to create small pockets of 
residential enclaves.  The latter has been more successful where a 
variety of building types and layouts has been used, rather than the 
same, repeated design and plot size.  Where larger estates have been 
introduced, these have not integrated as successfully with the village 
character. 

6.10 According to the Landscape Character Assessment11, the 
settlement edges of Motcombe in places create a rather hard, urban 
edge to the countryside, which detracts from the pleasant rural 
character of the area as seen from the wider countryside. 

6.11 The general density (as measured within the settlement 
boundary) is under 15 dwellings to the hectare (about 6 dwellings to the 
acre)12.  The density in just the Conservation Area (for comparison) is 
about 10 dwelling per hectare.   

6.12 The lower density helps create the rural character of the village, 
as it allows for on-site parking, more planting within and around 
buildings, and the opportunity for views out to the open countryside 
beyond.  It also avoids potential problems created through overlooking 
or development being over-bearing to neighbouring properties and 
gardens.  Rear gardens should be of reasonable size in relation to 
practical use as private amenity space (taking into account the house 
type and number of bedrooms) and to also allow sufficient room for 
planting to be incorporated including the potential for trees to become 

12 Based on an estimated 500 dwellings within the 35ha (excluding the playing field 

P
age 176



Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan – August 2019 Final Version 

31 | P a g e   

established. 

6.13 Although there may be subtle variations in the building line and 
set-back, the changes are relatively subtle, with very few buildings 
immediately on the roadside.  Most properties have been built facing 
the road, but some are sideways on.  Front gardens have ‘greened’ the 
street scene, with hedgerows being the most typical plot boundary 
treatment.  Care should be taken to allow for the potential growth of 
any hedgerows as these tend to have a habit of encroaching onto 
footways unless carefully managed. Storage for waste containers 
(typical requirements for bins and recycling) should be considered in the 
design to ensure that these do not detract from the street scene. 

6.14 There is an opportunity through new development to include 
planting of native tree and hedgerow species so as to create a soft edge 
with the countryside, as opposed to close-board fencing.  Landscaped 
gaps should also be provided between buildings, designed to frame 
views out into the wider countryside. 

6.15 The provision of landscaped areas also provides the opportunity 
for the incorporation of swales and balancing ponds that may be 
needed given the potential for flooding and need for suitable drainage.  

Policy MOT17. Building Patterns, Density and Landscaping 

The density of development should respect the rural character of the 
village.  Comparably high density developments (above 20dph) 
should be avoided unless it is clear that this would not adversely 
impact on local character or residential amenity, and that sufficient 
landscaping can be incorporated into the scheme. 

The building line and degree of setback characteristics of the local 
area should be respected, with sufficient space to allow for planting 
to establish along the front edge of the plot facing the street and to 
screen waste storage containers. 

Where an established part of local character, properties should be 
clustered in small pockets showing a variety of plot sizes and building 
types.  The repetitive use of similar plots or building types in an area 
should be avoided. 

The spacing of a development should allow for views of the 
countryside from the main highways.   

Native trees and landscaping should be incorporated in the design 
(both through the retention of existing tree specimens and the 
inclusion of further landscaping) in order to provide a soft transition 
with the countryside, to break up otherwise large expanses of 
building and hard surfacing, to provide privacy to rear gardens and to 
screen off the visual impact of bins and recycling containers from the 
street.   

The future maintenance of the landscaped areas, including those 
provided as part of any flood prevention measures, should be 
secured.  

Building Size, Styles and Materials 

6.16 The local dwelling styles that are considered generally attractive 
by local residents relate to the type of development that has historically 
been built as infill or small clusters of development.  These have 
provided a variety of size, styles and materials, avoiding repetition but 
reflecting current architectural styling, status and local availability of 
materials and skilled labour.   

6.17 A number of the older properties have an agricultural influence in 
their architecture, including humble cottages, converted barns and 
coach houses.  The influence of the Grosvenor family has also made a 
significant contribution to local character, as they built a significant 

P
age 177



Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan – August 2019 Final Version 

32 | P a g e   

number of brick and stone estate cottages in the ‘Westminster Style’.  

6.18 The  typical build height characteristic of the area is for one, one-
and-a-half and two storey buildings.  There is subtle variation in roof 
heights, pitches and materials as you progress along a street that 
creates visual interest.  Where a much larger scale and juxtaposition of 
development has been attempted in the past (such as with the 
introduction of the three to three and a half storey buildings marking 
the junction with Prideaux Drive) the general feeling is that the increase 
in height has introduced a more town-like style that whilst creating a 
notable development has detracted from the village character.   

6.19 The possibilities for a courtyard approach within some 
developments could be considered, particularly as a means of providing 
homes that may be suitable for downsizing in old age.   

Table 8. Local Materials and Building techniques  

Walls: use mainly local green sandstone (generally squared coursed, 
rather than random rubble finish) predominates in the older buildings 
and the church.  Otherwise the historic material is the local 
Westminster Estate hard red bricks, or similar local Gillingham bricks.  
Sometimes these are used in bands with stone.  Mortar joints tend to 
be rubbed (rather than recessed or projecting).  There are also 
rendered and colour-washed wall finishes, either in various earth 
shade or to complement the green stone, and there are a few 
examples of timber weatherboard finishes.   

Roofs: Plain clay tiles are the predominant roofing material, mostly in 
red to brindled colour.  Natural slate also occurs on the more historic 
buildings, as well as thatch.   

6.20 The use of local building materials (applied using traditional 
techniques) used throughout Motcombe contribute to the rural 

P
age 178



Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan – August 2019 Final Version 

33 | P a g e   

character of the area and local vernacular.  These are detailed in Table 
8.  The use of these materials is not intended to be prescriptive as there 
is opportunity for an innovative and creative approach to be taken on 
the design of new buildings, restorations and extensions that can 
complement what already exists.  However, the impact on any heritage 
assets, including the character of the Conservation Area and the setting 
of Listed Buildings, will be a key consideration.   

6.21 Architectural detailing should similarly take cues from the 
traditional buildings found in the area.  This should include 
considerations of: 

→ treatment of eaves 

→ door surrounds or porches 

→ architectural features such as date plaques. 

→ avoidance of visible blank facades 

→ differentiation of each storey or new elements (such as extensions). 

→ presence of working chimneys (not flimsy mock substitutes). 

6.22 It is quite easy to see that modern materials and designs have 
been used in many of the housing developments built in the latter part 
of the 20th century, however these have not always complemented or 
enhanced the character of the area.  There are a few examples of more 
recent contemporary architecture in Motcombe that has been 
successful.   

6.23 It is important that building design can evolve to encompass 
advances in building technology, not only to reduce costs but also to 
reduce the impact that building has on the environment.  Attention 
should be paid to reduce light spillage if extensive areas of glazing are 
proposed. 

6.24 Any future designs should be of a high quality and reinforce the 
local distinctiveness of the area. This will require a thorough 
understanding of the surrounding built environment, including the use 

P
age 179



Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan – August 2019 Final Version 

34 | P a g e   

of local materials, building styles, and the presence of and potential 
impact on any heritage assets including undesignated heritage assets 
(such as the estate  cottages).  It is expected that this information 
should be relayed as part of any design  and access statement 
submitted with a planning application. 

Policy MOT18. Building Size, Styles, Materials and Detailing 

Building heights should generally vary between one and two storeys 
providing variation in any mix.  Three storey and higher properties 
will not be supported.  There should be subtle (but not excessive) 
variation in the pitch and roofline between adjoining buildings, and 
also differentiating extensions or property subdivisions.  Flat roofs 
should be avoided. 

Building styles should be appropriate to a village character or 
agricultural / rural working enterprise.  Styles more appropriate to 
urban / town settings (such as town houses) should be avoided.  
Grander buildings should be limited to those required for community 
use or the principle building within a major land holding. 

The use of local materials and building techniques will be supported 
(as described in Table 8).  Where alternative materials are proposed, 
these should be checked to make sure that they complement the 
traditional materials and nearby buildings.   

Architectural detailing should be complementary and proportionate 
to the building style / period and intended use.  Blank facades and 
mock features such as false chimneys that are unlikely to endure the 
lifetime of the building should be avoided. 

Contemporary designs should demonstrate how they have taken an 
innovative approach to reinforcing local character whilst striving to 
achieve the best innovations in eco-friendly and energy-efficient 
designs.   

 

P
age 180



Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan – August 2019 Final Version 

35 | P a g e   

7 HIGHWAYS AND 
TRANSPORT 

 

 

General travel patterns 

7.1 The 2017 household survey 
has provided a snapshot of typical 
journey to work patterns.  Just 
under half of responses had at least 
one person who commuted outside 
of the village to work.  The main 
work destination was Shaftesbury, 
followed by Gillingham and then 
Salisbury.  Smaller proportions 
travelled further afield to the other towns in Dorset and South 
Somerset, with London being the single most mentioned destination 
further afield.  Not surprising, the main mode of transport was the car, 
typically used by at least 9 out of 10 commuters.  Train travel featured 
more highly for journeys to Salisbury and London.  Very few commuted 
by bus, however the survey was undertaken before the new hourly 
service to Shaftesbury and Gillingham was introduced in 2017 (although 
the last bus leaves Gillingham at 4.50pm; Shaftesbury at 5.20pm).  

7.2 The impact of increased rat-running through Motcombe village is 
a growing concern.  The exact cause is not known but may be down to 
commuters avoiding parts of the main road network where congestion 
occurs, or the increasing catchment of the local school by parents 
outside of the village.  

Road Safety 

7.3 Motcombe Community Road Safety Group (MCRSG) was founded 
in September 2015 following increasing concerns over speeding and 
road safety matters across the village.  The village now benefits from 
one of the leading proactive Community Speed Watch teams in the 
region – as of 2018 this comprised 22 fully trained proactive members 
and is widely heralded as a blueprint success story across the Dorset, 
Devon and Cornwall Police force.   

7.4 As part of the initiative, the use of 30mph reminder stickers on 
wheelie bins has been promoted throughout the village (funded by an 
initiative from the Parish Council), and the group works closely with the 
Primary School.  The Trustees of the village hall have kindly granted 
parents and carers the use of the recently extended hall car park (on a 
‘grace and favour’ basis) and the latest school-wide initiative (beginning 
September 2018 is the introduction of Park & Stride (supporting 
BRAKE’s #DriveLessLiveMore campaign), with a supervised “walking 
bus” organised to run between the hall car park and the school gates.   

7.5 Following discussions initiated by the Parish Council, and a 
residents’ petition conducted by MCRSG, the Highway Authority 
resurfaced many of the roads and lanes around the village in 2017, 
including the main route from Elm Hill to The Hollows, where improved 
road markings will hopefully reduce the number of collisions. 

Ensure that additional traffic from development can be safely accommodated on the rural road 
network, and that opportunities are taken to support public and community transport options, 
improve footpaths and cycleways, and make roads safer, in ways that are compatible with the rural 
village character of the area 

P
age 181



Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan – August 2019 Final Version 

36 | P a g e   

Street Layout  

7.6 The street pattern has largely evolved over time based on the 
historic routes, natural features and topography.  As noted in the 
section on the history of Motcombe, in the 19th century the Grosvenor 
family diverted the old drover’s road that ran to the west side of the 
village to promote The Street as the main local thoroughfare.  The 
Hollows are particularly notable in their character and alignment.  

7.7 The street pattern has a largely linear ‘ribbon’ character, with the 
roads gently curving (and no long, straight stretches) and fronted onto 
by buildings.  Modern housing developments branch off these roads, 
with cul-de-sac type arrangements creating small residential enclaves. 

7.8 Street widths generally reflect the rural nature of the area, with 
many lanes and grassed verges, and a lack of pavements unless 
provision has been enabled through modern development.  As such, 
there is a general ‘softness’ or lack of definition of the road edges.  It is 
important that where new highways are created or where footways 
may be added to existing highways, these are designed in character 
with the area and not over-engineered.    

7.9 Walls, hedge or front garden boundaries (whichever is 
appropriate to the street), should define the street, with adequate 
space provided for pavements or grass verge where appropriate, and 
allowing for safe pedestrian access from the street to the building.  
Developments and boundary walls / hedging very close to roadway 
should be avoided.   

 

 

 

 

Policy MOT19. Street Layout 

Streets should contain an element of gentle meandering.   

Routes should be laid out allowing for suitable connections (where 
possible), by cycles and particularly on foot.   

The design and width of new footpaths and pavements should be 
sufficient to allow safe passage for mobility scooters, prams and 
pushchairs, without creating an urbanised character out of keeping 
with the area.  All properties should have a front footpath access. 

Car Parking Solutions 

7.10 Parking is a problem in some (but not all) parts of the parish, 
according to the 2017 household survey, with almost as many people 
stating that the current space requirements were insufficient, as those 
that felt they were sufficient.   

7.11 The household survey elicited feedback on the number of 
dwellings and average number of vehicles typically owned, based on 
280 completed survey returns.  The counts are shown in the following 
table.  The yellow shading indicates the ‘average’ (median) value, and 
the green shows what would reflect a better fit if 90% of cases were to 
have sufficient parking.  It is suggested that the parking standards for 
new homes should be designed to cater for ‘above’ average scenarios 
by adopting the 85% standard, although a lower provision of off-road 
parking may be justified if there is adequate on-road parking available 
immediately outside. 

  

P
age 182



Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan – August 2019 Final Version 

37 | P a g e   

Table 9. Research on typical car ownership by dwelling size (2017)13  
1 bedroom 2 bedrooms 3 bedrooms 4 bedrooms 5+ bedrooms 

0 cars 2 4 2 
 

1 

1 car 1 24 50 37 7 

2 cars 
 

8 33 34 7 

3 cars 
 

3 18 24 5 

4+ cars 
  

5 3 4 

Optimal 1 space 2 spaces 3 spaces 3 spaces 4 spaces 

County 
Standard 

1 space 1 – 2 spaces 2 spaces 2 – 3 spaces 

plus  at least 1 visitor space (may be shared with up to 5 dwellings) 

7.12 The design of off-road parking should ensure safe, clear access for 
vehicles.  Garages that may be used for storage are less likely to be 
effective and therefore will only count as contributing the equivalent of 
½ a space, whereas open car ports / car barns are likely to be much 
more effective.  Similarly, where spaces are proposed in-line with one 

 

13  Green shading indicates optimum provision that could cater for 85% of cases, 
yellow shading would only cater for 50% of cases. 

another (such as spaces directly in front of a garage,  so that the second 
vehicle parked effectively blocks in the one before), any more than two 
spaces in tandem will not be counted towards the total provision. 

7.13 It is also imperative that  attention is given to drainage and to 
landscaping, and parking areas to the side or set slightly behind 
buildings will help avoid cars appearing to visually dominate the street.  
In visitor and communal parking areas, consideration should be given to 
the provision of charging points for electric vehicles. 

Policy MOT20. Car Parking Solutions 

Parking provision for new or extended dwellings (including 
conversions) should meet or exceed the county car parking 
guidelines. 

The parking spaces should be provided within the residential 
curtilage, and configured to allow safe access to and from the 
highway.  On-street parking may be counted towards the provision 
where available immediately outside of the plot, and communal 
parking areas close to properties may be used to provide the 3rd and 
4th spaces for 3+ bedroom homes.  Additional provision should be 
made to compensate for where spaces are proposed within garages 
or where there are three or more spaces in-line. 

Parking areas should be designed and suitably landscaped to reduce 
surface water run-off and avoid dominating the street scene. 

  

P
age 183



Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan – August 2019 Final Version 

38 | P a g e   

Motcombe (The Meadows) to Gillingham into a cycleway 

7.14 A long-term project is to convert the current bridleway (N69/6) 
that runs from The Meadows to King’s Court into an all-weather 
cycleway (including separation from livestock where the route passes 
across fields), and create a new link from there to Gillingham School.  
The results of the 2017 household survey showed 71% of respondents in 
full support, the main concerns being cost and potential conflict 
between cyclists and other users (pedestrians and horseriders).  

7.15 The first stage is likely to be the link round the south east of 
Gillingham.  This could include the diversion of the footpath to 
Woodwater Farm to run beside the River Lodden and pass under the 
railway (and remove the current at-level crossing).  The project is 
subject to negotiation and agreement with the landowners.  Funds 
towards the cost of this first stage are held by Gillingham Town Council.  
Further funding will be needed for the second stage (King’s Court to 
Motcombe), in addition to landowner agreement. 

7.16 In the longer term the potential to extend the cycleway to 
Shaftesbury should be explored.  There are no existing routes as yet 
identified that could be used for such a link. 

Policy MOT21. Motcombe to Gillingham cycleway 

The provision of the Motcombe to Gillingham cycleway is supported, 
and the route indicated on the Policies Map shall be safeguarded for 
its implementation, unless an alternative feasible route is identified. 

Development adjoining railway land 

7.17 The West of England railway runs through the parish, connecting 
from Exeter in the west to London Waterloo station, and including a 
stop at Gillingham.   

7.18 Although no development is proposed adjoining railway land, if 
owners of land adjoining the railway are thinking about putting in a 
planning application, it would be advisable to contact the Asset 
Management team at Network Rail for advice.  This could include the 
laying of pipelines or cables under or over the railway, hoardings around 
the site and electrical and electronic installations nearby.   

P
age 184



Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan – August 2019 Final Version 

39 | P a g e   

APPENDIX 1 – EVIDENCE BASE FOR THE 
NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 

Produced as part of the plan-making process 

The following documents were produced as part of the research into 
the Neighbourhood Plan: 

→ Basic Conditions Report, Jo Witherden, Dorset Planning Consultant 
Ltd  

→ Consultation Statement incorporating the results of the 2017 
Household Survey and other consultations, Motcombe 
Neighbourhood Plan Group 

→ Ecological Assessment of Sites, Bryan Edwards, Dorset 
Environmental Records Centre 

→ General Design Guidelines for Motcombe, Luis Suarez, AECOM 

→ Heritage Assessment of Sites, Kevin Morris, KMHP 

→ Housing Needs Assessment Report, Jo Witherden, Dorset Planning 
Consultant Ltd  

→ Local Green Spaces Report, Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan Group 

→ Strategic Environmental Assessment Screening, Jo Witherden, 
Dorset Planning Consultant Ltd  

Background information – other supporting evidence 

Further background information and documents referred to in the 
Neighbourhood Plan, most of which can be readily accessed via online 
links: 
 
 
 

 
 
 

→ An Inventory of the Historical Monuments in Dorset, Volume 4, 
Central (1970) (RCHME) http://www.british-
history.ac.uk/rchme/dorset/vol4/pp48-52  

→ CPRE Dark Skies Map http://nightblight.cpre.org.uk/maps/  

→ Cranborne Chase and West Wiltshire AONB Management Plan 
2014-2019 http://www.ccwwdaonb.org.uk/publications/aonb-
management-plan/ 

→ North Dorset Landscape Character Assessment (North Dorset 
District Council) https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-
buildings-land/planning-policy/north-dorset/local-plan-part-
1/submission/local-plan-evidence-base/pdfs/north-dorset-
landscape-character-assessment.pdf 

→ North Dorset Local Plan Part 1 (January 2016) (North Dorset District 
Council) https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-
land/planning-policy/north-dorset/the-north-dorset-local-plan/the-
north-dorset-local-plan.aspx   

→ Local Plan Review - papers and supporting evidence 
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-
land/planning-policy/north-dorset/local-plan-review/local-plan-
review.aspx  

Also referenced: Highways and Byways in Dorset by Frederick Treves 
(1906) and A Motcombe Miscellany by Laurence Clark (2012)  

P
age 185

http://nightblight.cpre.org.uk/maps/
http://www.ccwwdaonb.org.uk/publications/aonb-management-plan/
http://www.ccwwdaonb.org.uk/publications/aonb-management-plan/
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/north-dorset/local-plan-part-1/submission/local-plan-evidence-base/pdfs/north-dorset-landscape-character-assessment.pdf
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/north-dorset/local-plan-part-1/submission/local-plan-evidence-base/pdfs/north-dorset-landscape-character-assessment.pdf
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/north-dorset/local-plan-part-1/submission/local-plan-evidence-base/pdfs/north-dorset-landscape-character-assessment.pdf
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/north-dorset/local-plan-part-1/submission/local-plan-evidence-base/pdfs/north-dorset-landscape-character-assessment.pdf
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/north-dorset/the-north-dorset-local-plan/the-north-dorset-local-plan.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/north-dorset/the-north-dorset-local-plan/the-north-dorset-local-plan.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/north-dorset/the-north-dorset-local-plan/the-north-dorset-local-plan.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/north-dorset/local-plan-review/local-plan-review.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/north-dorset/local-plan-review/local-plan-review.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning-policy/north-dorset/local-plan-review/local-plan-review.aspx


Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan – August 2019 Final Version 

40 | P a g e   

APPENDIX 2 – FLOOD ALLEVIATION SCHEME  

 

P
age 186



Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan – August 2019 Final Version 

41 | P a g e   

APPENDIX 3 – EXTANT CONSENTS FOR HOUSING 

As recorded 01 February 2019 

Location Units Proposed Development Ref 

Former Case And 
Sons Site, The Street 

10 Erect 10 dwellings with garages, 
car port and building  

2/2017/0121 

Dar Es Salaam,  
Shorts Green Lane 

1 Erect 1 dwelling and form 2 No. 
parking spaces  

2/2011/0195 

Barn at Martlets Farm 1 Conversion of agricultural 
building into 1 dwelling 

2/2017/1080 

Garden of 37 The 
Street 

2 Erect 2 dwellings, form vehicular 
access and parking 

2/2017/1136 

Church Farm 3 Change of use and conversion of 
former dairy to 3 dwellings 

2/2018/0283 

Church Farm Barns 6 Erect 6. dwellings (demolish 4 
barns) 

2/2018/0654 

Grain Store At Calves 
Lane Farm 

2 Convert grain store to 2 dwellings 2/2018/1187 

Barn at Hawkers Hill 
Farm 

1 Change of use and conversion of 
agricultural storage  building to 
form 1 dwelling 

2/2018/1224 

Tomenda, The Street 1 Convert and extend existing 
garage/workshop to dwelling 

2/2018/1701 

TOTAL 27   

APPENDIX 4 –GROSVENOR ESTATE COTTAGES 

Ref Address EC18 24 and 25 

 North End / Knapp Hill area EC19 27 and 28 

EC01 71 and 72 North End Cottages EC20 29 and 30 

EC02 73 and 74 North End Cottages  Motcombe Park 

EC03 Highbrow House EC21 The Gardens 

EC04 85 and 86, Corner Lane  Kingsettle 

EC05 West & Lower Lodge Cottages EC22 Cliffe House 

 Elm Hill  Shaftesbury Road 

EC06 66 and 67 EC23 Fernbrook Cottages 

EC07 Elm Crest and The Old Bakery  Shorts Green Lane 

 The Street EC24 The White House 

EC08 Swallow Crest and Woodcote EC25 Rowan Tree & Norfolk 
Cottage 

EC09 Royal Oak (Motcombe Manor) 

EC10 49 and 50 EC26 Cotswold & Oak Tree 
Cottage 

EC11 43 and 44  
Melbury Reach & Folly Cottage 

EC27 Glenella and Valencia 

EC12 41 and 42 EC28 Ilton and Kenmont 

EC13 Forge and Forge Cottage EC29 Stourville and Fountain 
Cottage  

EC14 37 and 38 

EC15 39 and 40 Farthings EC30 Holmlea and Eaton Cottage 

 Bittles Green EC31 Ivanhoe and Hillview 

EC16 9 and 10 EC32 Rossmore and Burley 

EC17 11 and 12 Crumble Cottage EC33 Mole End and Hay Croft 
 

P
age 187



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B
Minor (non-material) modifications to be made to the Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan 2017-2027

Section Old text New text
Contents page “Roadside adjoining Shire Meadows, Motcombe Road” “Land at Bittles Green”
Page 21, para 4.12 “Site 4 - Roadside adjoining Shire Meadows, Motcombe Road, 

Bittles Green”
“Site 4 – Land at Bittles Green”

Page 22, Table 5 “Roadside adjoining Shire Meadows, Motcombe Road, Bittles 
Green”

“Land at Bittles Green”

Page 23, Heading “Roadside adjoining Shire Meadows, Motcombe Road” “Land at Bittles Green”
Page 23, para 4.15 “The site adjoining Shire Meadows is…” “The land at Bittles Green is…”
Page 23, Policy 
MOT11

Policy MOT11. Housing site: roadside adjoining Shire 
Meadows (Site 4) 

Land at Shire Meadows, as shown on the Policies Map, is 
allocated for about 10 dwellings including at least 4 affordable 
homes, at a density appropriate to the village’s character, subject 
to all of the following requirements: 

a) The type and size of housing accords with Policy MOT9; 
b) The layout of development respects the linear pattern of 

roadside development; 
c) The design and scale of dwellings, combined with a 

landscape scheme along the southern boundary, provides a soft 
landscaped edge and will minimise the visual impact of 
development in wider views from public rights of way; 

d) A net gain in biodiversity being secured through any 
measures that may be required as part of an approved biodiversity 
mitigation and enhancement plan prepared in the light of policy 
MOT6; 

e) Suitable safe site access is secured, and provision is 
made for a footway along the site frontage and allowing for safe 
connection as far as practical to The Street; 

f) A surface water drainage strategy is secured that 
ensures drainage from the site is designed so as to avoid (and 
ideally reduce) flood risk to properties adjoining Shire Meadows. 

Policy MOT11. Housing site: land at Bittles Green (Site 4) 

Land at Bittles Green, as shown on the Policies Map, is allocated 
for about 10 dwellings including at least 4 affordable homes, at a 
density appropriate to the village’s character, subject to all of the 
following requirements: 

a) The type and size of housing accords with Policy MOT9; 
b) The layout of development respects the linear pattern of 

roadside development; 
c) The design and scale of dwellings, combined with a 

landscape scheme along the southern boundary, provides a soft 
landscaped edge and will minimise the visual impact of 
development in wider views from public rights of way; 

d) A net gain in biodiversity being secured through any 
measures that may be required as part of an approved biodiversity 
mitigation and enhancement plan prepared in the light of policy 
MOT6; 

e) Suitable safe site access is secured, and provision is 
made for a footway along the site frontage and allowing for safe 
connection as far as practical to The Street; 

f) A surface water drainage strategy is secured that 
ensures drainage from the site is designed so as to avoid (and 
ideally reduce) flood risk to properties adjoining the site.

P
age 189



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Date of Meeting: 10 December 2019

Portfolio Holder: Cllr G Carr-Jones, Housing

Local Member(s): Cllr Williams, Cllr Bolwell, Cllr Clayton

Executive Director: Mathew Kendall, Executive Director of People - Adults

Executive Summary: 

Bridport Cohousing has planning permission to develop 53 affordable homes on 
land adjacent to Bridport Hospital. In order to ensure this development is viable 
Homes England has awarded £808,855 to Dorset Council from the Community 
Housing Fund Infrastructure Grant. The homes will be developed by Bournemouth 
Churches Housing Association (BCHA) and the grant will be passed to them to 
carry out the required works.

The Community Housing Fund closes at the end of March 2020 and the planning 
permission also requires work to start on site in January 2020. BCHA have 
awarded the build contract to CG Fry and are planning starting on site in January 
2020.

This funding is in addition to a £2.7 million of grant from Homes England which is 
being paid directly to BCHA and Bridport Cohousing.

Bridport Cohousing has been working on this development for ten years and this 
represents an opportunity to develop 53 affordable homes. Homes England are 
supportive of this innovative approach to the development of housing and this 
would be the largest all affordable cohousing scheme in the country.

Equalities Impact Assessment:

This report does not effect any strategy or policy function. Homes would be 
allocated in accordance with the nominations agreement signed by the Council, 
BCHA and Bridport Cohousing. This accords with our current allocations policies, 
therefore an EQIA is not required.

Budget: A grant of £808,855 has been awarded to Dorset Council from Homes 
England for this work. Dorset Council was awarded a government grant in 2017 to 
enable Community Led Housing, £175,000 has been spent from the Community 
Led Housing fund to support the acquisition of this site.

Cabinet
Bridport Cohousing: Community Housing 
Infrastructure Funding Bid 

Page 191

Agenda Item 12



There are no VAT implications arising from this.

Risk Assessment: If the Council are not able to agree a contract for this funding 
then it is likely that the homes will not be completed. The Bridport Cohousing group 
have raised considerable sums themselves for the project, and the Council have 
also provided financial support, so there is a risk of reputational damage for the 
Council if it is unable to agree a contract with Homes England. 

The funds awarded to the Council will be passed directly to BCHA which will limit 
the risk for the Council. Legal Services are preparing an agreement between the 
Council and BCHA which would confirm the responsibilities and risks between both 
parties and reduce the Council’s exposure to risk. This will ensure that this remains 
a low risk project for the Council.

A build contract for the development has been tendered and awarded by BCHA.

Having considered the risks associated with this decision, the level of risk has been 
identified as:
Current Risk: LOW
Residual Risk: LOW

Climate implications: Bridport Cohousing are working hard to limit the 
environmental impact of these new homes. This includes homes that will have 
solar panels on the roof and communal car sharing schemes, green energy 
systems and a market garden. 

Other Implications: This project will be the largest community led housing scheme 
in the Dorset The Cohousing group are committed to a creating a neighbourhood 
with mutual support, good social life, a safe setting, and common ownership and 
values

Recommendation: That Dorset Council enter into a contract with Homes England 
for the grant of £808,555 to support the Bridport Cohousing development on terms 
to be approved by the Monitoring Officer and s.151 officer in consultation with the 
Housing Portfolio Holder.

Reason for Recommendation: To support the community led development of 53 
affordable homes.

Appendices: None

Background Papers: Community Housing Fund Prospectus

Page 192



Page 193



Officer Contact:
Name: Paul Derrien – Housing Enabling Team Leader
Tel: (01305) 252447
Email: paul.derrien@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 

Name: Rebecca Kirk – Corporate Director Housing
Tel: (01305) 224841
Email: rebecca.kirk@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

1. Background and Reason Decision needed

1.1 Bridport Cohousing formed in 2009 with the aspiration of developing an 
affordable cohousing scheme in the area. Cohousing is described as a way of 
living which brings individuals and families together in groups to share 
common activities while also enjoying their own self-contained 
accommodation and personal space.

1.2 Since the inception of the Cohousing Group they have set up as a community 
land trust, have acquired land adjacent to Bridport Hospital and have been 
granted planning permission for 53 homes. The planning permission was 
granted for two phases and work is required to start on site in January 2020 or 
the permission will expire.

1.3 Bridport Cohousing have formed a partnership with Bournemouth Churches 
Housing Association (BCHA) who will lead the development of this site and 
will retain a long lease for 26 of the homes. This model has been designed to 
allow Bridport Cohousing to benefit from the development expertise of BCHA 
and to share the development risk meaning the project can be funded.

1.4 When the homes are complete 26 will remain in the ownership of BCHA and 
the remaining will be owned by Bridport Cohousing. The homes owned by 
Bridport Cohousing will be sold to their members on a shared equity bases. 
Once completed the development will be a mix affordable rent, key worker, 
shared ownership and shared equity homes. Bridport Cohousing will own the 
freehold of the whole site and all the homes will meet the National Planning 
Policy Framework definition of affordable housing.

1.5 Bridport Cohousing have led on several consultation events in the town to 
promote this project. It has also had two planning permissions, which also had 
consultation events, granted for the site which have been supported by the 
community and has generated a lot of positive publicity for the project.

1.5 The Council, BCHA and Bridport Cohousing have signed up to an allocations 
agreement for these homes. The homes will help to meet the identified 
housing need in the area, there are over 450 households on the housing 
register with a connection to the Bridport area.

Page 194

mailto:paul.derrien@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
mailto:rebecca.kirk@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk


As part of the agreement for the development of the site the NHS will have 
nomination rights for 6 of the home, as the development is next to the hospital 
and access over NHS land is required. It is hoped these homes will assist in 
recruiting staff for the hospital as historically this has been a problem, if the 
NHS are unable to find suitable tenants then the accommodation will be 
offered to others working in the care sector with a housing need. 

2 Homes England Funding

2.1 Over the past 2 years Bridport Cohousing, BCHA, Homes England and Dorset 
Council have been working on ways to ensure this development is viable. 
Homes England are very supportive of this scheme and want to see if this 
model of development will succeed so it  can be replicated in other areas. 

2.2 As part of the discussions for the scheme it was agreed that it would be 
appropriate for the Council to bid for grant Homes England funding through 
the Community Housing Fund. Part of the funding will pay the infrastructure 
costs associated with housing development, reflecting the fact that there can 
be high levels of infrastructure on sites selected by the community which can 
be difficult to fund. 

2.3 After working through a cost analysis of the scheme it was decided that the 
Council would bid for £808,533 in funding which has now been approved by 
Homes England. Homes England specifies that only a Local Authority is 
eligible to apply for this funding stream. This means that the Council will need 
to enter into a contract with Homes England for this funding. The purpose of 
the contract will provide assurance to Homes England that the Council will 
spend the funds on the identified works. The Councils legal team are currently 
working with Homes England to agree a contract that will limit the risk to an 
acceptable level. Once the funding has been received this will be passed to 
BCHA who are managing the development. The Council will have a separate 
agreement with BCHA to ensure the funding will be spent in accordance with 
the Homes England agreement. This will mitigate the risk to the Council. 

2.4 Homes England will also put funding into the homes that will be owned by 
BCHA through the Shared Ownership and Affordable Homes Programme, as 
well as additional support to Bridport Cohousing. Previously the Council has 
awarded Bridport Cohousing £175,000 from the Community Housing Fund 
grant towards acquiring the site. Bridport Cohousing also raised £250,000 for 
the land purchase. BCHA will use its funds and borrowing for the rest of the 
costs. By drawing all these funds together a viable development plan has 
been created.

2.5 BCHA are an experienced developer of affordable housing and have 
completed several local projects with funding from Homes England. A building 
contract for this development has been awarded to CG Fry through a 
competitive tender and they plan to start on site in January 2020.

Page 195



3 Corporate Priorities

3.1 This scheme will deliver 53 affordable homes, if it was not for the community 
taking the lead on this project, and generating local support for this, the 
homes on this site would not have come forward.

3.2 This project meets with the draft corporate plan objectives to develop 
appropriate, affordable, sustainable housing.

3.3 Having the cohousing group owning the site and occupiers signing up to 
become members will lead to the creation of a cohesive, inclusive, safe an 
active community.

3.4 This development is seen as an example of an innovative approach towards 
the development of affordable homes and could lead to positive publicity for 
the Council.  As one of the largest cohousing schemes in the Country this is 
seen as a flagship development and Homes England are keen to promote this 
scheme once complete as a national case study.

Page 196



Date of Meeting: 10 December 2019

Portfolio Holder: Cllr. G. Suttle, Economic Growth and Skills

Local Member(s): All Councillors  

Executive Director: John Sellgren, Executive Director of Place

Executive Summary:

The Government published the UK Modern Industrial Strategy in November 2017, and 
subsequently asked all Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEP) to produce Local Industrial 
Strategies (LIS) for their areas.  These are to be long-term, based on clear evidence and 
aligned to the national strategy.  They must identify local strengths and challenges, future 
opportunities and actions needed to boost productivity, earning power and competitiveness.  
Whilst LEPs produce the draft LIS, the final document is published by the Government to an 
established template.

Dorset Council and Bournemouth, Christchurch & Poole Council have been closely involved in 
the development of the LIS, through membership of the Dorset LEP Board (Cllrs Spencer 
Flower and Gary Suttle), various workshops and focus groups, officer involvement in a virtual 
LIS Team, and development of the evidence base.  This activity has sought to achieve 
alignment of policy and priorities to present a robust, coherent and co-ordinated position for 
Dorset within a rather uncertain and changing national and international context.

The draft LIS focuses on improving productivity, in-line with the national priority.  It also 
highlights the need for inclusive growth to ensure that an increase in prosperity is felt across 
Dorset and especially in areas where issues of low social mobility and deprivation are evident.  
Economic growth must also respect and build upon the environmental assets which are vital to 
the future wellbeing of Dorset.

The model for growth proposed by the LIS envisages a collaborative cluster approach rather 
than a traditional sector or place approach, underpinned by existing supply chains.  There are 
few ‘prime’ companies or concentrated industries in Dorset, but there are clusters of deep 
experience and specialisation, especially in new technologies and high value sectors.  This 
approach will enable increased collaboration and synergy between sectors crucial to the 
economic prosperity of Dorset, including advanced engineering and manufacturing, agritech 
and aquaculture, social care and health and the visitor economy.

The LIS works through the five foundations of productivity (see paragraph 2.1) articulating 
support for the clusters and a wider programme of activity to improve productivity and 
prosperity across Dorset.  Key issues in the LIS, which resonate with the Council’s emerging 
priorities, include tackling climate change, talent attraction and retention unlocking Dorset’s 
cultural assets and the creativity of its people, provision of digital and transportation 
infrastructure and shaping place for sustainable economic growth. 

Cabinet
Local Industrial Strategy for Dorset 

Page 197

Agenda Item 13



The Dorset LEP Board seeking endorsement from both Councils for the draft LIS.  This will 
then be worked up in more detail and approved by the LIS Steering Group before being 
submitted to Government before Christmas.  

Equalities Impact Assessment:

The LIS has a prosperity focus for both communities of interest and place across Dorset. The 
final LIS will need to pass a rigorous test with Central Government, of which an adherence to 
equality and diversity considerations will be paramount. A full EIA will be undertaken for any 
specific initiatives or investments that are aligned to the Dorset Local Industrial Strategy.  

Budget: 

There are no specific financial implications within this report and LIS.  Any individual 
investment decisions linked to the LIS will come back to Cabinet as appropriate.

Risk Assessment: 

Having considered the risks associated with this decision, the level of risk has been identified 
as:
Current Risk: LOW 
Residual Risk: LOW 

Climate implications:

There are no specific climate change implications at this stage.   Any individual investments or 
initiatives requiring Cabinet decision linked to the LIS will come back as appropriate with a 
detailed environmental assessment.  It should be noted that the LIS has ‘tackling climate 
change’ as a priority.

Other Implications:

NA

Recommendation:

1. That Cabinet endorses the draft Local Industrial Strategy for Dorset
2. That this Council’s agreement to any minor changes requested by Government (in early 

2020) are delegated to the Leader in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Economic 
Growth and Skills

3. That Dorset Council seeks to support implementation of the Dorset LIS through 
appropriate alignment with its own Economic Growth Strategy, due to be presented to 
Cabinet in Spring 2020

Reason for Recommendation:

It is critical that Dorset can articulate a clear, well-evidenced economic ambition to 
Government, whilst also giving confidence to local business and future private investors.  It is 
important that, when required, Dorset can move at pace to respond to both public and private 
investment opportunities.  A Local Industrial Strategy for Dorset with an aligned Council 
economic growth strategy and action plan, utilising the same economic analysis, will enable 
sustainable economic growth and prosperity for Dorset.

Page 198



Appendices: none

Background Papers:

Local Industrial Strategy for Dorset summary: 
https://www.dorsetlep.co.uk/userfiles/files/LIS/Dorset%20LEP_Local%20Industrial%20Strategy_inital%20highlights_Oct%2019.pdf

Evidence base:
https://www.dorsetlep.co.uk/userfiles/files/Dorset%20LEP%20powerpoint%20template%20-%20Sept%20version.pdf

Officer Contact:
Name:  David Walsh, Economic Growth & Regeneration Service Manager
Tel: 01305 224254
Email: david.b.walsh@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

1. Background

1.1 The Business Energy and Industrial Strategy Government Department (BEIS) asked all 
Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs) in England to lead local responses to the 2017 UK 
Modern Industrial Strategy (‘Building a Britain Fit for The Future’) with a ‘Local Industrial 
Strategy’ for each LEP area. These strategies will establish new ways of working 
between national and local leaders in both the public and private sectors. Universities, 
colleges and other local institutions will be key, as will an approach that is responsive to 
both local and global market conditions to provide greater long-term certainty. 

1.2 The Government requested that Local Industrial Strategies should be long-term, based 
on clear evidence, and aligned to the national Industrial Strategy. They must identify 
local strengths and challenges, future opportunities and the actions needed to boost 
productivity, earning power and competitiveness. 

1.3 In 2018 the Government announced a series of three ‘waves’ over a two-year period 
during which LEPs across the country would be invited to submit responses.  Wave 1 
included Mayoral Combined Authorities, Wave 2 targeted 8 LEPs, and Wave 3 all 
remaining LEP areas. Dorset was asked to produce its LIS in Wave 3 – with a final 
deadline of March 2020.   

1.4 The Dorset LEP Board, on which Dorset Council has two Board Directors (Cllrs. 
Spencer Flower and Gary Suttle) agreed that Dorset should aim to submit its strategy by 
the end of 2019 at the latest, thus ensuring it was one of the first to submit. It was 
agreed that this would also allow sufficient time to develop an implementation plan 
linked to the LIS by the end of the Wave 3 period (i.e. March 2020).  This was felt 
important to put Dorset in the strongest position possible to be ready with a suite of LIS 
investments once new Government funds were in place post deadline of the national 
LIS process.  These funds are anticipated to include the replacement to previous EU 
funds and other funding streams routed through LEPs (such as the Local Growth Fund).  
In the last 5 years Dorset has had some £250m funds invested via the Dorset LEP.

1.5 Since this process went live, the 2019 General Election has been announced. There 
remains a clear steer from Whitehall officials that the LIS process should continue.  It is 
felt that whatever the results of the Election, a clear, evidenced-based economic plan for 
the whole Dorset area, that aligns with our own Council priorities, will ensure that we are 
best-placed to engage with a future Government on local economic priorities and 
investment.

Page 199

https://www.dorsetlep.co.uk/userfiles/files/LIS/Dorset%20LEP_Local%20Industrial%20Strategy_inital%20highlights_Oct%2019.pdf
https://www.dorsetlep.co.uk/userfiles/files/Dorset%20LEP%20powerpoint%20template%20-%20Sept%20version.pdf


2. Development of the Local Industrial Strategy for Dorset

2.1 The LIS process was supported with clear guidance from the lead Government 
Department (BEIS).  The following diagrams summarise this process and the areas of 
focus each LIS must target (i.e. 5 drivers of productivity and potentially address one or 
more of the identified Grand Challenges):

2.2 Dorset and Bournemouth, Christchurch & Poole Councils representatives have been 
engaged throughout the strategy development process, including membership of the LIS 
Steering Group and officer operational group.  Regular reports have also been given to 
the LEP Board.  A workshop was held on 12th July with Dorset Councillors, facilitated by 
the University of Southampton to support the development of the strategy and there has 
been direct engagement with the Council’s Economic Growth Executive Advisory Panel.

2.3 A significant evidence base was produced to underpin the economic analysis for the 
LIS.  This can be found here.  Dorset Council officers supported with contributions to 
this evidence – and the final evidence pack has also been used to support development 
of the Council’s own Economic Growth Strategy. 

Page 200

https://www.dorsetlep.co.uk/userfiles/files/Dorset%20LEP%20powerpoint%20template%20-%20Sept%20version.pdf


2.4 The Dorset LEP, Council Officers and the Dorset Chamber of Commerce have engaged 
a wide variety of stakeholders from across Dorset into the LIS development process.  
Examples of engagement include two on-line consultations, the Dorset Coastal 
Communities Forum, a Dorset-wide small business survey (with over 250 responses), 
over 30 one to one business meetings (particular with some of the larger Dorset-based 
businesses), the Dorset Local Nature Partnership and strategic local stakeholders 
including Portland Port and Kingston Maurward College.

2.5 Utilising existing strategies which remain fit for purpose has been an important part of 
evidence development.

2.6 The analysis of the evidence base (both quantitative and qualitative) has been tested 
with Government officials and with an Independent Challenge Panel set-up by the 
Dorset LEP, which has a membership including nationally-regarded economists.

3. Headlines of the Local Industrial Strategy for Dorset

3.1 This response to the Local Industrial Strategy provides the first opportunity to articulate 
the shared economic ambitions of the whole Dorset area since local government 
reorganisation in April 2019. 

3.2 The strategy is focused towards productivity and prosperity.  These are national 
priorities – and chime with Dorset’s economic ambitions.

3.3 The overarching vision:  Dorset: Living better, performing better and naturally 
collaborative.  

4. Strengths and weakness

4.1 As well as outlining the many economic strengths and opportunities of Dorset’s 
economy, the strategy also addresses areas of weakness.

4.2 Key strengths include a strong asset base, such as the outstanding quality of the 
environment; significant research strengths in local higher education institutions; ports 
and airport.  Also, key sector strengths, including advanced manufacturing and 
engineering, financial and professional services, agri-environment sectors, tourism and 
creative industry related sectors.

4.3 Dorset does not have clear, dominant industrial anchors but does have a healthy spread 
of activities that give it resilience. Economic success for Dorset is about integration of 
techniques and talent across a range of activities that can inform the wider economy.

4.4 Areas of weakness and challenge are shown in the detail of the analysis of the 
comprehensive evidence base.  Future demographics is an area that has really ‘stood 
out’ in the analysis and will have significant consequences for Dorset’s labour market.  
Whilst this is a national issue (and an identified ‘grand challenge’) it is the pace and 
scale of which this will impact on Dorset that is so significant: 
 Dorset has the oldest population and lowest proportion of under 50’s, anywhere in 

the UK.
 By 2040 we will have a dependency ratio of 1 (that’s one person working for every 

person of pensionable age).
 We are facing a potential vacancy replacement of half our current workforce in the 

next 15 years.
 The cost of care in Dorset is double the national average. 

Page 201



4.5 In relation to overall productivity more broadly:
 Productivity in the DLEP area is below average and the gap to the UK average 

remains persistent (the ‘output gap’).
 Growth has been relatively weak in overall terms (although excluding London and 

Greater South East the differences are not that marked).
 Indications are that the gap between areas within the DLEP area have been 

gradually widening. In particular, sparsely populated rural areas tend to be 
associated with lower productivity levels.

 Research suggests that differences in firm-level productivity – rather than industrial 
structure – mostly explains the differences at a regional level.  

5. A Collaborative Cluster

5.1 Whilst there are few ‘prime’ companies or concentrated industries in Dorset, there are 
clusters of deep expertise and specialisation, especially in key new technologies and 
high value sectors (supply) and in aspects of social living (demand).

5.2 These cluster specialisations offer the prospect of a productive transformation: a cross-
fertilisation of ideas, capacity and development.  These specialisations also respond to 
the UK Industrial Grand Challenges – including ageing (health), AI and data (security/ 
creative) and clean growth (agri-env).

5.3 The Dorset industrial model within the LIS envisages a ‘collaborative cluster’ approach 
rather than a traditional sector or place approach, underpinned by existing supply 
chains.  This allows us to recognise the collaborative capabilities and significant 
synergies in the integration/cross-fertilisation of ideas between businesses, technologies 
and the workforce. It means a focus on productivity-based outcomes rather than inputs, 
with these bolstered by a range of themes, including:
 Building a new perception of the Dorset brand based on real, ethical change in 

connectivity, competence and cohesion.
 Driving innovation through technology and skills, and close industry-public-academic 

working that bolsters co-operation across several new, resilient clusters and their 
supply chains (both within Dorset and in collaboration with others).

 Focusing on catalytic change and dissemination that addresses issues of ageing, 
inclusive growth and the preservation and enhancement of natural capital.

5.4 The following diagram shows this across the four areas of collaboration:

Page 202



5.5 Underpinned by a strong and productive supply chain, including advanced 
manufacturing & engineering, professional & financial services and an effective cutting-
edge digital infrastructure.

5.6 Focusing on activity to support areas of opportunity (for business of all size) that will 
have real impact on the potential for productivity growth and lead to improved prosperity.  

6. Overarching local ambitions

6.1 In the wide engagement undertaken for the LIS, there were two local issues which stood 
out as important elements for Dorset’s future vision. These issues came through 
engagement with business (all sizes), communities of place, stakeholder organisations 
and across the inter-generational discussions which formed an early part of 
consultation.  These were:
 Climate change: That any Dorset-wide economic plan must tackle the implications of 

climate change ‘head-on’ and that a proactive approach to environmental ‘net gain’ 
should be undertaken with any future development.  Linked to this, unlocking the 
economic value of Dorset’s natural capital – and thinking more innovatively about 
the better utilisation of our environment in areas such as tourism and health.  

 Unlocking Dorset’s cultural assets and the creativity of its people and linking these 
opportunities more directly to the local economy.  For example, the opportunity of 
more innovation across business sectors through the cross-fertilisation of creativity 
skills and science and engineering.  Perhaps what came out most strongly was the 
importance of Dorset’s cultural assets being used to better promote the place and 
enhance quality of living for all current and future residents.  

6.2 ‘Talent attraction and retention’ are big themes in the Dorset LIS. A skilled and positive 
labour market are critical factors of success.  As well as the more obvious economic 
opportunities articulated in the LIS, such as the areas of emerging specialisation in the 
four clusters and supply chain, the quality of the Dorset environment (and ways of living 
to enhance this environment) as well as a cultural ‘excellence’ programme attractive to a 
wider variety of communities (age, wealth, taste) will underpin any talent attraction 
programme – and encourage more people to stay in Dorset to pursue a great career 
and quality of life.

Page 203



7. Foundations of productivity

7.1 The LIS works through each of the 5 foundations1 to articulate how we can support both 
the identified clusters and a wider programme of activity to improve overall productivity 
and prosperity for Dorset.

7.2 Two of the foundations, namely place and infrastructure, have a particular resonance 
with Council leadership and priorities.  The Place agenda particularly aligns to the 
Council’s emerging Economic Growth Strategy, reflecting priorities including coastal 
communities, strategic growth areas and disadvantaged communities.  Infrastructure 
has a very clear set of priorities emerging in the main from the identified schemes for 
road and rail taken forward through the joint Local Transport Plan and Sub-National 
Transport Body.  Ambitions around the use of green transport and full fibre connectivity, 
full digital coverage and use of mobile technologies are also at the forefront of the 
infrastructure ambition within the LIS.

7.3 The people foundation is arguably the most fundamental area of activity that will impact 
on Dorset’s future economy. Demographic change is impacting on the strength of the 
Dorset labour market:
 Our employers are increasingly suffering from skills shortages and inability to recruit 

- we have a talent shortage, especially in tech-based roles. 
 Dorset has an ageing workforce with forthcoming loss of skills and expertise. 
 The impact of technological advancement into traditional roles within the workplace 

will increase.
 There is a scarcity of availability of high quality & bespoke skills.

7.4 Our focus in the LIS is to work towards a smarter and more productive workforce that 
produces more with fewer resources by: 
 By delivering demand-led skills and education programmes as part of the Dorset 

Collaborative Cluster and replacement labour demand in priority skills such as IT, 
professional, technical, STEAM2 and health 

 Unlocking, retaining and attracting talent. Ensuring all communities in Dorset can 
play an active part in the economy by unlocking talent and ambition to inspire people 
into great careers. Showcasing the region outside of Dorset as the natural place to 
excel within our educational and business communities.  

 Utilising technology (automation & digitisation) to benefit all careers. By working with 
business leaders, education and research institutions to understand and develop 
new ways of working. 

8. Implication for Dorset Council

8.1 The draft LIS has been produced with input from Councillors and officers of the Council, 
and as such aligns to a significant degree with the emerging priorities in the draft 
Council Plan and Economic Growth Strategy.  The emphasis upon inclusive growth and 
proactive approach to environmental net gain are to be welcomed.

8.2 The means to achieve increased productivity, with investment in skills development, 
infrastructure and cluster collaboration complement the Council’s emerging economic 
growth strategy and recognise the important enabling and delivery roles that the Council 
will play in securing sustainable economic growth.

1 Ideas, people, infrastructure, business environment and place.
2 Science, Technology, Engineering, Arts & Mathematics 

Page 204



8.3 Whilst there is a sound evidence base and logic chain behind the LIS, it will need to 
convince Government of the merit in investing resources in Dorset to increase 
productivity and prosperity.  It will need to capture the attention of Government and 
highlight the opportunities and challenges pertinent to the area, in a way which perhaps 
does not come through sufficiently with the current documents.  

8.4 It is therefore considered appropriate that Cabinet endorses the draft LIS at this stage, 
and that Councillors and officers continue to engage in the development process to 
ensure the continued strategic alignment with the Council’s own emerging priorities.

Page 205



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet 10 December 2019
Recommendation from Place Scrutiny Committee 24 October 2019

Proposed content of Public Consultation for a Dog-related Public 
Spaces Protection Order

Portfolio Holder: Cllr T Alford, Customer, Community and Regulatory Services

Local Ward Member: Impact on all wards

Executive Director: John Sellgren, Executive Director of Place

Officer Contact:
Name and Job Title: Graham Duggan, Head of Community & Public Protection
Tel: 01305 252285  Email: graham.duggan@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

Recommendation

1. That Cabinet be asked to consider the consultation proposals and approve 
the content of the consultation as set out in Appendix A of the report to Place 
Scrutiny Committee – 24 October 2019.

2. That Cabinet be asked to approve the extension of the current Dog-related 
PSPO’s in the former East Dorset, Purbeck, West Dorset and Weymouth & 
Portland council areas until 31 December 2020.

Reasons for Recommendations:

1. A single Dog-related PSPO for the council area will help ensure consistency, 
fairness and clarity for residents and visitors to Dorset and will assist the 
efficient use of enforcement resources.  

2. While it is a requirement to consult with stakeholders prior to introducing a 
PSPO, it is appropriate to define the parameters of the consultation in order 
to avoid generating unworkable proposals or raising unreasonable 
expectations.

3. A number of Dog-related PSPOs currently in place from predecessor 
councils will expire during the period of the making of the new Order. Should 

Page 207

Agenda Item 14



those expiry dates not be extended, it will not be possible to enforce the 
relevant requirements for public safety and animal welfare.

Appendix: 

1. Report to Place Scrutiny Committee of 24 October 2019 
including appendices:-
A. Draft consultation document including maps of specific locations (as 
amended)
B. Comments from stakeholders on the extension of existing Dog-related 
PSPOs.

2.   Draft minutes of Place Scrutiny Committee – 24 October 2019.

Background papers:

Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014

Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 - Reform of Anti-social
Behaviours.  Statutory Guidance for Front Line Professionals; Home Office, 
July 2014 (updated August 2019)

Dealing with Irresponsible Dog Ownership - Practitioners Manual, DEFRA, 
October 2014

Anti-social Behaviour Dorset Councils Partnership Protocol

Information on the Dorset Council Dog Warden Service can be found here;
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/environmental-health/dog-warden-
service.aspx

The former Dorset Council Partnership’s EqIA on this matter can be viewed 
here: https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/your-council/equality-and-
diversity/equality-impact-assessments/north-dorset-equality-impact-
assessments.aspx

Page 208

https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/environmental-health/dog-warden-service.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/environmental-health/dog-warden-service.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/your-council/equality-and-diversity/equality-impact-assessments/north-dorset-equality-impact-assessments.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/your-council/equality-and-diversity/equality-impact-assessments/north-dorset-equality-impact-assessments.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/your-council/equality-and-diversity/equality-impact-assessments/north-dorset-equality-impact-assessments.aspx


Appendix 1

Date of Meeting: 24 October 2019

Portfolio Holder: Cllr Anthony Alford - Customer, Communities and Regulatory 
Services

Local Member(s): Impact on all wards

Director: Karyn Punchard, Corporate Director for Place Services

Executive Summary: 

For your committee to recommend to Cabinet at their meeting on 10 December 
2019, the content of a public consultation for a Dog-related Public Spaces 
Protection Order (PSPO) to replace and consolidate existing PSPO’s and byelaws 
for the Council area.

To request the time extension of current Dog-related PSPO’s covering the former 
East Dorset, Purbeck, West Dorset and Weymouth and Portland council areas to 
31 December 2020 to enable the new Order to be properly made.

Equalities Impact Assessment: 

An EqIA has been completed for the consultation process. All future reports 
including that proposing the draft Dog-related PSPO will be subject to EqIA 
assessment.

Budget: 

There are no budget implications related to the proposed consultation. There will 
be budget implications when implementing the new Dog-related PSPO including 
signage and enforcement costs. These will be detailed when the draft Dog-related 
PSPO is brought forward for consideration. 

Risk Assessment: 

Having considered the risks associated with this decision, the level of risk has been 
identified as;

Current Risk: MEDIUM 
Residual Risk: LOW

Place Scrutiny Committee
Proposed content of Public Consultation for a 
Dog-related Public Spaces Protection Order

Page 209



Page 2 

Climate implications:

The existence of Public Spaces Protection Orders means the likelihood that 
Officers will need to visit these areas for educational and enforcement purposes. .

Signs produced for publicising any restrictions will consider the availability of 
recycled plastics.  Any signs that may already be in place but provide the correct 
message will not be changed, Any signs displaying the incorrect message will 
covering adhesive vinyl and reused.

The consultation will be web-based or be emailed to stakeholders reducing the 
need for consultation papers to be printed and distributed.  

Other Implications: 

Environmental: 

Keeping land free from dog fouling is a high priority for our residents as is the safe 
use of parks and open spaces by all. Faeces if left uncollected is visibly unpleasant 
and can cause additional distress when trodden on footwear, passed to clothing or 
bike/pushchair wheels.

Dog faeces (as well as cat and fox faeces) can potentially carry a number of 
pathogens including Toxicaris (a roundworm parasite), a rare infection which can in 
serious cases lead to permanent blindness, weight loss and fatigue.  Having 
adequate control over a dog by placing it on a lead will ensure that the owner can 
properly see if the dog should foul. It also provides for the owner to control the 
dog’s activities in particular environments, for example when in crowded areas, 
where there is a need to respect land use (e.g. cemeteries or formal gardens), 
children’s play areas and where sports activities may excite a dog to get involved.

For animal welfare reasons and the well-being of dog owners it is also important to 
have appropriate areas to exercise dogs off lead.

Having a dog can prevent the feeling of isolation and loneliness as well as help 
socialisation and promote well-being.

Recommendations: 

1. That your Committee consider the consultation proposals and recommend 
to Cabinet the content of the public consultation as set out in Appendix A, 
which addresses the content of a future PSPO.

2. That your Committee recommends the extension of the current Dog-related 
PSPO’s in the former East Dorset, Purbeck, West Dorset and Weymouth & 
Portland council areas until 31 December 2020 following the consultation 
with stakeholders previously undertaken; responses are at Appendix B... 

Page 210



Page 3 

Reason for Recommendations:

1. One Dog-related PSPO for the council area will help ensure consistency, 
fairness and clarity for residents and visitors to Dorset and will assist the 
efficient use of enforcement resources.
  

2. While it is a requirement to consult with stakeholders prior to introducing a 
PSPO, it is appropriate to define the parameters of the consultation in order 
to avoid generating unworkable proposals or raising unreasonable 
expectations.

3. A number of Dog-related PSPOs currently in place from predecessor 
councils will expire during the period of making the new Order. Should those 
expiry dates not be extended, it will not be possible to enforce the relevant 
requirements for public safety and animal welfare.

Appendices:

A. Draft consultation document including maps of specific locations.
B. Comments from stakeholders on the extension of existing Dog-related 

PSPOs.

Background Papers:

Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014

Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 - Reform of Anti-social
Behaviours.  Statutory Guidance for Front Line Professionals; Home Office, 
July 2014 (updated August 2019)

Dealing with Irresponsible Dog Ownership - Practitioners Manual, DEFRA, 
October 2014

Anti-social Behaviour Dorset Councils Partnership Protocol

Information on the Dorset Council Dog Warden Service can be found here;
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/environmental-health/dog-warden-
service.aspx

The former Dorset Council Partnership’s EqIA on this matter can be viewed 
here: https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/your-council/equality-and-
diversity/equality-impact-assessments/north-dorset-equality-impact-
assessments.aspx

Officer Contact:

Name: Kerry Pitt-Kerby, Environmental Protection Manager
Tel: 01258 484311

Page 211

https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/environmental-health/dog-warden-service.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/environmental-health/dog-warden-service.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/your-council/equality-and-diversity/equality-impact-assessments/north-dorset-equality-impact-assessments.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/your-council/equality-and-diversity/equality-impact-assessments/north-dorset-equality-impact-assessments.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/your-council/equality-and-diversity/equality-impact-assessments/north-dorset-equality-impact-assessments.aspx


Page 4 

Email: kerry.pitt-kerby@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

Page 212



Page 5 

1. Background

1.1.A number of dog-related controls exist across the Dorset Council area.   
Some have been introduced by the previous district/borough councils as 
primary authorities, others by second-tier town and parish councils (byelaws).

1.2.The health and wellbeing benefits of dog ownership, and associated exercise 
is well recognised and Dorset Council would wish to support dog owners in 
this endeavour.  However, it is also important to balance the wishes of the 
wider community to ensure that dog owners and non-owners alike are 
provided for when considering whether controls are appropriate in specified 
areas.

1.3.The predecessor councils of North Dorset; West Dorset and Weymouth and 
Portland went through a consultation process to make Dog-related PSPO’s 
with each having a life of 3 years (prescribed). The Weymouth & Portland 
Order expired in May 2019; however, councillors agreed to extend the Order 
for 12 months in recognition of Local Government Re-organisation. The West 
Dorset, East Dorset and Purbeck orders will expire in August 2020, October 
2020, and October 2020 respectively, North Dorset in February 2022.

1.4.For a PSPO to be made it must meet the following two conditions, prescribed 
in the legislation.

1.4.1. Condition 1 
 Activities carried out in a public place within the authority’s area have 

had a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those living in the 
locality, or

 It is likely that the activities will be carried out in a public place within 
that area and they will have such an effect.

1.4.2. Condition 2
The effect or likely effect of the activities:

 Is or is likely to be of a persistent or continuing nature;
 Is or is likely to be, such as to make the activities unreasonable; and
 Justifies the restrictions imposed by the order.

1.5.This report is seeking your agreement to undertake a public consultation 
using the proposed document attached at Appendix A and your comments 
are welcomed. The consultation will run for a period of 12 weeks. It will be 
publicised to stakeholders including those named within the guidance and to 
national and local stakeholders. It will be published on the council website 
and announced in local and social media formats. 
 

1.6.The content of the consultation looks to provide generic restrictions for ease 
of education, signage and enforcement.  The proposed restrictions include: 

 removal and appropriate disposal of dog faeces

Page 213



Page 6 

 restricted access for dogs on marked sports pitches and enclosed 
children’s play areas

 dogs on lead in public spaces such as formal gardens and cemeteries
 dogs to be put on a lead when directed to do so by an authorised 

officer
 restrict the lead length to 2m where dogs on lead restrictions apply
 options for restrictions to named beaches and adjacent footways.

1.7.When the consultation is complete, the results will be analysed and a draft 
Order prepared for consideration by your committee and recommendation to 
Cabinet. The draft Order requires ratification at Full Council for the Order to 
be made.
 

1.8.To ensure that there is no gap in the ability to enforce existing dog controls, 
the Committee is requested to recommend to Cabinet that the Orders 
currently in place, which are due to expire in May 2020, August 2020 and 
October 2020, are extended to 31 December 2020.

1.9.Legislation requires that stakeholder views be sought on any proposal to 
extend the time period of an existing PSPO and responses  received are 
shown in Appendix B.

Page 214



Appendix A
Consultation on Proposed Dog- 
Related Public Spaces Protection 
Order

There are a number of existing dog-related Public Spaces Protection Orders (‘PSPOs’) across 
the Dorset Council area. These were introduced by the former District and Borough Councils 
which have now become part of the new unitary Dorset Council.  Some of these Orders will 
soon naturally expire and the council is taking the opportunity to consolidate them into one.  
The intention is that the new Order will provide clarity and consistency across the area for dog 
owners and non-owners alike about dog controls on  public open spaces.

We are required to consult with the public and other stakeholders on the content of new or 
revised PSPOs.  This may see changes to the previous Orders dependent upon the views 
expressed.  Councillors will make the final decision on the controls to be included in the new 
Order, having regard to the feedback received during the consultation.   

The views of residents, visitors and businesses are therefore very important and a period of 
consultation will run for 12 weeks finishing at 4.30pm on Friday ADD DATE.

To have your say, please complete this short survey, it should take about 15 minutes or less for 
the 34 questions related to the proposal and a further 6 ‘about you’.  Results will be published 
on the consultation tracker after the closing date.

Information on the current dog-related Public Spaces Protection Orders is available to view at: 

East Dorset:   https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/environmental-health/dog-warden-service/dog-control-
orders-in-east-dorset.aspx

North Dorset:   https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/environmental-health/dog-warden-
service/responsibilities-of-a-dog-owner.aspx

Purbeck: https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/environmental-health/dog-warden-service/responsibilities-of-
a-dog-owner.aspx

West Dorset:  https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/environmental-health/dog-warden-
service/responsibilities-of-a-dog-owner.aspx

Weymouth and Portland:   https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/environmental-health/dog-warden-
service/responsibilities-of-a-dog-owner.aspx

All of the above Orders apart from North Dorset PSPO expire in 2020.  To ensure the continuity of 
the above Orders prior to the making of a Dorset Council Dog Related Public Spaces Protection 
Order, those that will expire in 2020 have been granted an extension until 31 December 2020 in 
their current form.

The record of extension can be found at: https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/environmental-health/dog-
warden-service/responsibilities-of-a-dog-owner.aspx.  under ‘Comply with Public Spaces 
Protection Orders’.

Questions follow on the next page.

Page 215

https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/environmental-health/dog-warden-service/dog-control-orders-in-east-dorset.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/environmental-health/dog-warden-service/dog-control-orders-in-east-dorset.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/environmental-health/dog-warden-service/responsibilities-of-a-dog-owner.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/environmental-health/dog-warden-service/responsibilities-of-a-dog-owner.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/environmental-health/dog-warden-service/responsibilities-of-a-dog-owner.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/environmental-health/dog-warden-service/responsibilities-of-a-dog-owner.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/environmental-health/dog-warden-service/responsibilities-of-a-dog-owner.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/environmental-health/dog-warden-service/responsibilities-of-a-dog-owner.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/environmental-health/dog-warden-service/responsibilities-of-a-dog-owner.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/environmental-health/dog-warden-service/responsibilities-of-a-dog-owner.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/environmental-health/dog-warden-service/responsibilities-of-a-dog-owner.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/environmental-health/dog-warden-service/responsibilities-of-a-dog-owner.aspx


Questions:

Dog Fouling
1. All the current PSPOs across the Dorset Council area require the person in control of a dog 

to clear up and appropriately dispose of dog fouling, in public spaces.  You may wish to 
note that appropriate disposal includes deposit into a suitable receptacle (litter bin or dog 
waste bin) or taken home for disposal.
Do you think this should be changed?

Yes - I think it should change
No - I  think it should remain the same

Don't know

If yes, what would you prefer this to be changed to?

NB: Land placed at the disposal of the Forestry Commissioners under section 39(1) of the 
Forestry Act 1967 is excluded from the order.

Maximum lead length:
2. In a number of current Orders and in the proposed PSPO there are a number of occasions 

when a dog is required to be on a lead, either by direction (question 2) or when in a specific 
area.  A maximum lead length of two metres (six feet, six inches) is suggested to ensure 
control of a dog and to protect pedestrians, other dogs and cyclists.  This is supported by 
the Kennel Club.
Would you like to see a maximum lead length as part of the 'on lead' requirement?  

Yes - I think the maximum lead length should be restricted to 2m.

No – I do not think a maximum length should be specified

Don't know

Dogs on lead ‘by direction’
3. The dogs on lead ‘by direction’ requirement enables authorised officers (e.g. Dog Wardens) 

to require dogs to be put on a short lead if considered necessary.  Such a direction could be 
made to protect another animal or people nearby, for example.
Would you prefer like to see this requirement?

Yes - I would prefer that dogs must be put on a lead if directed to do so by an authorised 
Officer
No - I would prefer that dogs are not required to be put on a lead if directed to do so by an 
authorised Officer
Don't know

Page 216



Dogs on leads
The existing PSPOs which will be replaced by the new Order contain numerous identified areas 
where dogs are required to be kept on a lead at all times; these include named roads, parks, 
gardens and other open spaces.

Should a ‘dogs on lead’ restriction be considered in any of the following areas across the Dorset 
Council?

Dog Exclusion Areas
Marked sports pitches and recreation areas:

Restriction 
to be 

applied

No
restriction

Don't 
know

4. All roads and pavements within 30mph zones

5. Municipal cemeteries & graveyards, where dogs are permitted

6. Public/formal gardens where dogs are permitted

7. Council - owned allotments where dogs are permitted

8. Council owned car parks

9. Within 5m of marked sports pitches

Should a ‘Dogs On leads’ restriction be considered in any of the following named areas?

10. The Rodwell Trail, Weymouth

11. West Bay Harbour walk and promenade (as shown on Map in yellow 
for West Bay)

12. Marine Parade and Cart Road, and stair/footpath leading from 
Charmouth Road Car Park to Church Beach  and the associated Sea 
Wall, Lyme Regis (as shown on Map in yellow for Lyme Regis)

13. Esplanade, Weymouth, when the road is pedestrianised the restricted 
area will extend across the street (as shown on map in yellow for 
Weymouth) 

14. The Parade, and associated roads leading to The Parade and the 
beach, Swanage (as shown on Map in yellow for Swanage)

15. Access to Studland Beach from the car park, including the car park 
and staircases leading on to the beach, Studland (as shown on Map 
in yellow for Studland)

16. Shell Beach, Studland ( as shown on map in yellow for Shell Beach)

17. Lower Sea Lane from the car park access, including the 3 car parks 
off Lower Sea Lane close to the beach, the footpath leading to the 
beach including the bridge and paths adjacent to the heritage centre 
(as shown on map in yellow for Charmouth beach)

18. The portion of the beaches beyond the suggested restricted beach 
areas to Charmouth Parish boundary (as shown on map for 
Charmouth beach)

Page 217



19. Some of the existing PSPOs currently exclude dogs from public areas clearly marked ‘No 
dogs’ (or words/symbols to that effect).  Public areas suggested are skateboard parks, 
tennis and basketball courts, bowling and putting greens, other fenced (or otherwise 
enclosed) play parks, sporting or recreational facilities, athletics tracks, and MARKED sports 
pitch playing surfaces. 

Would you like to see this continued?

Yes - I  think dogs should be excluded from all of these areas
No - I  think dogs should be kept on a lead but not exclude
No - I  think there should be no restrictions 
Don't know

20. Some of the existing PSPOs currently exclude dogs from enclosed children's play areas 
marked as ‘No dogs’ (or words/symbols to that effect).

Would you like to see this continued?

Yes - I think dogs should be excluded from all of these areas
No - I think dogs should be kept on a lead but not excluded
No - I think dogs should be no restrictions 
Don't know

Beaches in the area of Dorset Council
21. The various Orders currently stipulate different periods of the calendar when restrictions are 

applied to named beaches along the Dorset coastline, including ‘on-lead’ requirements and 
prohibition of dogs from defined areas of beach.  It is proposed to harmonise the start and end 
dates when these restrictions will be applied.  Do you agree with this proposal…?

I agree
I disagree
Don’t know

The proposed beaches are:

 Central Beach, Swanage
 Charmouth Beaches
 Front Town Beach, Lyme Regis
 Seatown Beach, Chideock
 Studland Beach, Studland
 West Bay – East and West Beaches 
 Weymouth (Central) Beach

No other beaches will have exclusions or restrictions placed on them by Dorset Council; 
however private land owners may wish to apply their own restrictions.  Any dog owner using 
those beaches should abide by any restrictions advertised. 

22. The proposal that dogs be excluded from defined areas of beaches should:  Please choose 
on of the following:

Be applied all year
apply from Good Friday to 31 October Page 218



apply from Good Friday to 30 September
apply from 1 April  to 31 October 
apply from 1 May to 30 September
be unrestricted
Don't know

Central Beach Swanage (see attached map)

The existing Order prohibits dogs from Central Beach during specified summer months.  

23. Would you like to see this change?

No - I think dogs should continue to be excluded from this area during summer months
Yes - I think dogs should be permitted in this area
Don’t know

24. Would you like to see dogs to be kept on a lead during the remainder of the year (when 
permitted) in this area of the beach?

Yes - I think dogs should be kept on a lead
No - I think dogs should not be required to be kept on a lead
Don’t know

Charmouth Beaches (see attached map)

Charmouth Parish Council have requested that the Public Spaces Protection Order includes 
Charmouth beaches and the fore area.  Formally there were restrictions enforced by Parish 
Town Council on land owned by them.

25. Would you like to see dogs excluded from the 2 marked beaches of the enclosed map?

Yes - I think dogs should continue to be excluded from this area during summer months
No - I think dogs should be permitted in this area
Don’t know

26. Would you like to see dogs to be kept on a lead during the remainder of the year (when 
permitted) in this area of the beach?

Yes - I think dogs should be kept on a lead
No - I think dogs should not be required to be kept on a lead
Don’t know

27. Should the area where dogs are prohibited be reduced to just East Beach only (under Evan’s 
Cliff)?  NB the cliffs that are west of West Beach are hazardous and are subject to frequent 
rock falls.  This would open up West Beach for unrestricted dog exercise.

Yes
No

Front Town Beach, Lyme Regis (see attached map)

The existing Order stipulates that dogs are prohibited from Front Town Beach during 
Page 219



specified summer months.  

28. Would you like to see this continue?

Yes - I think dogs should continue to be excluded from this area during summer months
No - I think dogs should be permitted in this area
Don’t know

29. Would you like to see dogs to be kept on a lead during the remainder of the year (when 
permitted) in this area of the beach?

Yes - I think dogs should be kept on a lead
No - I think dogs should not be required to be kept on a lead
Don’t know

Seatown Beach, Chideock (see attached map)

The existing Order stipulates dogs are prohibited from Seatown Beach during specified 
summer months.
 

30. Would you like to see this change?

Yes - I think dogs should continue to be excluded from this area during summer months
No - I think dogs should be permitted in this area
Don’t know

31. Would you like to see dogs to be kept on a lead during the remainder of the year (when 
permitted) in this area of the beach?

Yes - I think dogs should be kept on a lead
No - I think dogs should not be required to be kept on a lead
Don’t know

Studland Beach, Studland (see attached map)

The existing Order stipulates dogs are to be on lead on the beach and access points during 
the summer months.
 

32. Would you like to see this change?

No - I think dogs should be excluded from this area
Yes - I think dogs should be permitted in this area
Don’t know

33. Would you like to see dogs to be kept on a lead during the remainder of the year (when 
permitted) in this area of the beach?

Yes - I think dogs should be kept on a lead
No - I think dogs should not be required to be kept on a lead
Don’t know

West Bay Beaches (East and West - see attached map)

The existing Order stipulates dogs are prohibited from East and West Beaches during 
Page 220



specified summer months. 

34. Would you like to see this change?

Yes - I think dogs should continue to be excluded from this area during summer months
No - I think dogs should be permitted in this area
Don’t know

35. Would you like to see dogs to be kept on a lead during the remainder of the year (when 
permitted) in this area of the beach?

Yes - I think dogs should be kept on a lead
No - I think dogs should not be required to be kept on a lead
Don’t know

36. Should the area where dogs are prohibited be reduced to just East Beach only?  NB the cliffs 
that are west of West Beach are hazardous and are subject to frequent rock falls.  This would 
open up West Beach for unrestricted dog exercise.

Yes
No

Weymouth (Central) Beach (see attached map)

Weymouth beach has a permanent dog exercise area at the pavilion end where dogs are 
permitted at any time.

37. Should this arrangement be changed?

No – the exercise area should remain unchanged
Yes – the exercise area should be changed – please specify below

How would you change the exercise area? (i.e. enlarge, reduce, do away with, relocate?)

The existing Order stipulates the dogs are excluded from the area between the marked 
exercise area (pavilion end of the beach) and Greenhill Groyne during summer months.  

38. Would you like to see this change?

Yes - I think dogs should continue to be excluded from this area during summer months
No - I think dogs should be permitted in this area
Don’t know

39. Would you like to see dogs to be kept on a lead during the remainder of the year (when 
permitted) in this area of the beach?

Yes - I think dogs should be kept on a lead
No - I think dogs should not be required to be kept on a lead
Don’t know

General Comments
If you have any additional comments about these proposals (specifically concerning PSPOs 
related to dogs) that are not addressed in this survey please comment.  For example, are there Page 221



any other areas (beaches etc.) not listed, where you believe some restrictions should be 
applied?  Identify the area, and any restrictions you feel relevant.

If you would like to make a general comment (about the dog warden service) please contact 
the Environmental Protection Team via this link 
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/environmental-health/dog-warden-service.aspx

Page 222



About You:

Do you own a dog?
Yes 
No 

Are you answering this survey as...?
A resident of Dorset 

A visitor to Dorset
A Councillor within Dorset
A business operator
A representative of an organisation (e.g. police)

Please tell us which organisation

So that we can see how different people may be affected by the proposals, we would be 
grateful if you could complete a few questions about yourself.  These questions are optional.

If you are representing an organisation you do not need to answer the following questions.

Are you...? 
Male
Female
Prefer not to say

The Equality Act 2010 describes a person as disabled if they have a longstanding 
physical or mental condition that has lasted, or is likely to last 12 months; and this 
condition has a substantial adverse effect on their ability to carry out normal day-to-day 
activities. People with some conditions (cancer, multiple sclerosis and HIV/AIDS for 
example) are considered to be disabled from the point that they are diagnosed.

Do you consider yourself to be disabled as set out in the Equality Act  2010?
Yes

No
Prefer not to say

Which age group do you belong to?

Under 18
18 - 24
25 - 34
35 - 44
45 - 54
55 - 64
65 or over 

Prefer not to say

Page 223



Which of the following best describes your ethnic origin?

White British White Irish
White Gypsy / Romany or Irish Traveller

Any other White background 
(please specify below)
Asian or Asian British - Bangladeshi  
Asian or Asian British - Indian
Asian or Asian British - Pakistani

Any other Asian background 
(please specify below)
Black or Black British - African

Other Please specify

Black or Black British - Caribbean

Any other Black background 
(please specify below)
Mixed ethnic background - White and Asian   
Mixed ethnic background - White and Black 
African
Mixed ethnic background - White and Black 
Caribbean
Any other mixed background
(please specify below)
Chinese

Any other ethnic group
(please specify below) 

Prefer not to say

Thank you for taking time to fill out this survey. Please click 'Submit' below to send us your 
response.

The results will be used to guide councillors’ decision making for PSPOs relating to dog control 
across the Council area.

Results will be published on the consultation tracker after the closing date.  LINK

Page 224



Charmouth Beach Proposed Dog Order 2019

P
age 225



Seatown, Chideock Proposed Dog Order 2019

P
age 226



Lyme Regis Proposed Dog Order 2019

P
age 227



Studland South Beach Proposed Dog Order 2019

Page 228



Studland Shell Bay Proposed Dog Order 2019

Page 229



Swanage Proposed Dog Order 2019

Page 230



West Bay Proposed Dog Order 2019

Page 231



Weymouth Proposed Dog Order 2019

Page 232



Appendix B

Consultation on the proposed extension of existing Orders was sent 
to:

 All Dorset Councillors
 All Parish and Town Councils
 The ‘Friends of’ groups in Weymouth representing public open spaces
 Dog Friendly – Weymouth
 Big4LIttlemoor
 Dogs Trust
 Dorset Association for the Disabled
 Dorset Blind Association
 Margaret Green Animal Shelter
 National Trust
 Natural England
 Police
 Police and Crime Commission Forum
 RSPCA - West Dorset Branch
 The Kennel Club 

The following are the verbatim responses received: 

1. Weymouth Town Council

Weymouth Town Council do not support the extension as is of the existing 
Weymouth PSPO but would like to have parity with other Seaside PSPOs which 
ban dogs from certain areas between 1st May and 30th September. This desire 
is supported by the results of the 2015 survey where 63% were in favour of this 
and a 2019 request from local business to reduce the ban which currently 
extends to 31st October. Weymouth Town Council would like a variation to the 
PSPO to achieve this, with public consultation.

2. Kennel Club

The Kennel Club is the largest organisation in the UK devoted to dog health, 
welfare and training, whose main objective is to ensure that dogs live healthy, 
happy lives with responsible owners. As part of its External Affairs activities, the 
Kennel Club runs KC Dog, which was established to monitor and keep dog 
owners up to date about dog related issues, including Public Spaces Protection 
Orders (PSPOs) being introduced across the country. 

As a general principle, we would like to highlight the importance of all PSPOs to 
be necessary and proportionate responses to problems caused by dogs and 

Page 233



irresponsible owners. It is also important that authorities balance the interests of 
dog owners with the interests of other access users. 

Dog fouling 
The Kennel Club strongly promotes responsible dog ownership and believes that 
dog owners should always pick up after their dogs wherever they are, including 
fields and woods in the wider countryside, and especially where farm animals 
graze to reduce the risk of passing Neospora and Sarcocystosis to cattle and 
sheep respectively. The exception to this is when there is a clear indication from 
the landowner to the contrary. Therefore we welcome the wording of the 
proposed PSPO which provides for landowner/occupier discretion. 

We would like to take this opportunity to encourage the local authority to employ 
further proactive measures to help promote responsible dog ownership 
throughout the local area in addition to introducing Orders in this respect. 

These proactive measures can include: increasing the number of bins available 
for dog owners to use; communicating to local dog owners that bagged dog poo 
can be disposed of in normal litter bins; running responsible ownership and 
training events, or using poster campaigns to encourage dog owners to pick up 
after their dog. 

Dog Access 
The Kennel Club does not normally oppose Orders to exclude dogs from 
playgrounds, or enclosed recreational facilities such as tennis courts or skate 
parks, as long as alternative provisions are made for dog walkers in the vicinity. 
We would also point out that children and dogs should be able to socialise 
together quite safely under adult supervision, and that having a child in the home 
is the biggest predictor for a family owning a dog. 

The Kennel Club can support reasonable “dogs on lead” orders, which can - 
when used in a proportionate and evidenced-based way – include areas such as 
cemeteries, picnic areas, or on pavements in proximity to cars and other road 
traffic. 
However, we will oppose PSPOs which introduce blanket restrictions on dog 
walkers accessing public open spaces without specific and reasonable 
justification. Dog owners are required to provide their dogs with appropriate daily 
exercise, including “regular opportunities to walk and run”, which in most cases 
will be off lead while still under control. 

Their ability to meet this requirement is greatly affected by the amount of publicly 
accessible parks and other public places in their area where dogs can exercise 
without restrictions. This section of the Animal Welfare Act was included in the 
statutory guidance produced for local authorities by the Home Office on the use 
of PSPOs. 

Page 234



Accordingly, the underlying principle we seek to see applied is that dog controls 
should be the least restrictive to achieve a given defined and measurable 
outcome; this is the approach used by Natural England. In many cases, a 
seasonal or time of day restriction will be effective and the least restrictive 
approach, rather than a blanket year-round restriction. For instance, a “dogs on 
lead” order for a picnic area is unlikely to be necessary in mid-winter. 

The Government provided clear instructions to local authorities that they must 
provide restriction free sites for dog walkers to exercise their dogs. This message 
was contained in the guidance document for DCOs, and has been retained in 
both the Defra/Welsh Government and Home Office PSPO guidance documents, 
with the Defra guidance for PSPOs stating ‘local authorities should ensure there 
are suitable alternatives for dogs to be exercised without restrictions’. 

With regards to playing fields, we ask local authorities to consider whether or not 
access restrictions are absolutely necessary. If they are deemed to be needed, 
whether time/season limited restrictions would be more appropriate than a 
continuous exclusion order. We are aware in many areas, dog walkers do allow 
their dogs to exercise on playing fields when they are not in use. 

Of course, we understand the safety reasons behind a restriction while in use. It 
is also worth noting that compliance with such an order can be difficult for a dog 
walker if there are no boundaries around the playing field as when exercising 
their dogs off lead, dogs will not recognise the difference between playing fields 
and other grassed areas. 

In Schedule 2: Exclusion of dogs in West Dorset, North Dorset and Weymouth 
PSPOs, we have a concern about the wording of the order. “All land within the 
administrative area of the council which comprises of… any other fenced (and/or 
hedged and/or walled) park, sporting or recreational facility signed at its 
entrance(s) as a ‘dog exclusion area’ (where the sign uses those particular words 
or uses words and/or symbols having a like effect)”. This would suggest that any 
enclosed park with an appropriate sign could become an exclusion area at any 
point after the order was made, even if it has not been outlined in a consultation. 
It also does not indicate whether the signage needs to be provided by Dorset 
Council. We would be concerned that a parish council may read this and interpret 
it as them having the authority to designate a park as dog exclusion, if it is 
enclosed and they put up signage. 

Seasonal Exclusions 
Where a seasonal restriction has been proposed we would ask the council to 
consider whether a time restriction would be an appropriate addition. We have 
received feedback and evidence that many beaches are empty in the early 
mornings and late evenings, a key time for many dog owners to exercise their 
dogs. Beaches can be an important local resource for owners to make sure their 

Page 235



dogs get the required daily off lead exercise and we see no reason why it should 
be restricted at times of the day when it is little used, even in the high season. 

With regard to the proposed dog exclusion orders on Weymouth beach, the 
Kennel Club believes that the dates should be 1st May – 30th September, as 
with the West Dorset PSPO. This coincides with the current bathing season of 
15th May to 30th September. We oppose restrictions that commence on Good 
Friday (or dates linked to Easter) and continue to a set date in the autumn. Over 
the next three years, Easter varies by up to 17 days. 

Taking the example of the proposed Weymouth Beach restriction from Good 
Friday to 31st October, walking your dog would be perfectly legal on the beach 
before 10th April 2020 but would be an illegal activity, with a potential £1,000 
fine, on the same date the following year. 

We are not aware of any evidence that the Easter break is an annual trigger for 
ongoing anti-social behaviour, which calls into question the need for restrictions 
to run from Easter to a set date in the autumn. We would question whether such 
a range in start dates for a PSPO meets the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and 
Policing Act’s defined legal test. 

If there is evidence of a spike in detrimental activity over the Easter weekend due 
to an increased usage of recreation spots, then a restriction for the busy Easter 
period would be justified. A separate restriction could then be introduced to 
address the busier summer months. 

Dogs on lead by direction 
The Kennel Club strongly welcomes ‘dogs on lead by direction’ orders, as these 
allow responsible dog owners to exercise their dogs off lead without restriction 
providing their dogs are under control, whilst allowing the local authority powers 
to restrict dogs not under control. 

We would recommend that the authorised officer enforcing the order is familiar 
with dog behaviour in order to determine whether restraint is necessary. There is 
a danger that, through no fault of its own, a dog could be a ‘nuisance’ or 
‘annoyance’ to another person who simply does not like dogs. 

We would also recommend local authorities make use of the other more flexible 
and targeted measures at their disposal such as Acceptable Behavioural 
Contracts and Community Protection Notices. Kennel Club Good Citizen Training 
Clubs and our accredited trainers can also help those people whose dogs run out 
of control due to them not having the ability to train a reliable recall. 

Registered Assistance Dogs 
We would strongly suggest you use the exemptions outlined in the North Dorset 
PSPO for all four extensions, with the suggested amendments. We welcome the 

Page 236



reference to Assistance Dogs UK and the inclusion of all registered charities, 
however, it is important to note it does not provide for owner trained assistance 
dogs. We would therefore encourage the Council to allow some flexibility when 
considering whether a disabled person’s dog is acting as an assistance dog and 
recognise that many disabled people enjoy the company of a pet dog (i.e. not 
acting as an assistance dog). 

We would urge the Council to review the Equality and Human Rights 
Commission guidance for businesses and service providers – 

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/sites/default/files/assistance-dogs-a-guide-
for-all-businesses.pdf The Council could consider adopting the definitions of 
assistance dogs as used by Mole Valley District Council which can be found on 
page 4 of this document - https://www.molevalley.gov.uk/media/pdf/1/b/83072_-
_Completed_PSPO.pdf 

Appropriate signage 
It is important to note that in relation to PSPOs the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime 
and Policing Act 2014 (Publication of Public Spaces Protection Orders) 
Regulations 2014 make it a legal requirement for local authorities to – 

“cause to be erected on or adjacent to the public place to which the order 
relates such notice (or notices) as it considers sufficient to draw the 
attention of any member of the public using that place to - 
(i) the fact that the order has been made, extended or varied (as the case 
may be); and 
(ii) the effect of that order being made, extended or varied (as the case 
may be).” 

With relation to dog access restrictions such as a “Dogs on Leads Order”, on-site 
signage should make clear where such restrictions start and finish. This can 
often be achieved by signs that on one side say, for example, “You are entering 
[type of area]” and “You are leaving [type of area]” on the reverse of the sign. 

While all dog walkers should be aware of the requirement to pick up after their 
dog, signage should be erected for the PSPO to be compliant with the legislation

3. The Friends of Rodwell Trail and Sandsfoot Castle:

The Friends of Rodwell Trail and Sandsfoot Castle having been advised of the 
new Dorset Council’s intention to have a single dog-related PSPO.

As Chair I write to confirm that the current Weymouth & Portland provision for 
dogs to be on leads on the Rodwell Trail and in Sandsfoot Castle Gardens is 
required for well-being and we support the continuation of the present 
arrangements into the long term.

Page 237



More enforcement would be nice particularly on the Trail. At present the dog 
fouling is low in both areas – so that is good.

4. The Friends of Lodmoor Country Park

Thank you for inviting The Friends of Lodmoor Country Park to comment in the 
proposal to extend the existing PSPO relating to dogs until December 2020.

We held our Autumn Open Meeting tonight, Thursday 12th September, and 
discussed this with members present. 

They supported the view of the committee that we would be happy to have the 
existing orders extended whilst a public consultation is planned and implemented 
by the new Dorset Council. 

The committee of FoLCP will be encouraging all our members to respond to the 
future consultation. We have regular comments from Park users regarding the 
existing PSPO, expressing concern that the order is ignored by dog owners 
despite our efforts over the past 3 years to inform them in a friendly way. 

At our annual Jam / Sandwich event in July, when the new Orienteering Courses 
were officially launched, I approached a middle aged woman who was in the play 
area with another woman, some small children and three off-lead dogs.  I politely 
said that the dogs should be on a lead and was subjected to an aggressive 
stream of abuse (which is all too often the response.)
However her most telling statement was, “It’s only a council law”.

Lodmoor Friends strongly believe that until the PSPO in Lodmoor Country Park is 
enforced through the administering of fines to those who flout this “council law” 
the situation will never improve.

We acknowledge your shortage of funds and manpower, but would be very 
grateful if appropriate officers could attend the defined PSPO area and enforce 
the orders. 

A few shock fines might work where our friendly efforts have been consistently 
scorned.

5. Dog-friendly Weymouth Group

Thank you for asking for our thoughts on the proposed extension.

The dog friendly Weymouth group came about when the original PSPO was 
created, going against a public response that was in favour of keeping the dates 
of May through September.

Page 238



The extension made earlier this year was not welcome. We had expected to be 
taking part in a public consultation, however we appreciated that the creation of 
the unitary council had made this exercise difficult.

We are now being asked for an opinion on a further extension.

We have canvassed opinion on our Facebook group and by talking to other dog 
walkers. The overwhelming response has been that the extension is not 
acceptable and that the dates should be reverted and bring Weymouth back into 
line with Dorset as a whole.

We feel that the Environmental Health team have known since the extension was 
made that there was a 12 month window in which to plan and ensure that a 
consultation took place. They would also have know that it was highly likely that 
an amalgamation of the existing PSPOs would be needed. We agree that one 
PSPO for Dorset makes sense. We feel that we have been let down in this 
matter.

We appreciate that our objections to the extension may not be successful. If this 
turns out to be the case, we propose that along with the extension of the PSPO 
end date that the dates for the ban of dogs on the beach are varied back to May 
1 to September 30. Our understanding is that the ASB act does allow for this to 
take place. 

If you believe that this is not possible please furnish us with the reasons for 
rejecting the proposal. 

== END ==

Page 239



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2

PLACE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON THURSDAY 24 OCTOBER 2019

Present: Cllrs Daryl Turner (Chairman), Cherry Brooks (Vice-Chairman), 
Robin Cook, Jean Dunseith, David Taylor, Simon Gibson, Val Pothecary, 
Andrew Starr and Roland Tarr

Apologies: Cllrs Ryan Hope

Also present: Cllr Tony Alford, Cllr Ray Bryan, Cllr Graham Carr-Jones, Cllr 
Les Fry, Cllr Barry Goringe, Cllr David Gray and Cllr Andrew Kerby

Officers present (for all or part of the meeting):
Marc Eyre (Service Manager for Assurance), Andy Frost (Community Safety and 
Drug Action Manager), William Haydock (Senior Health Programme Advisor), 
Kerry Pitt-Kerby (Environmental Health Manager - Environmental Protection), 
Karyn Punchard (Corporate Director of Place Services), Kate Shelley 
(Communications Officer), Jane Williams (Team Leader - Public Protection) and 
Fiona King (Senior Democratic Services Officer)

12.  Apologies

An apology for absence was received from Ryan Hope.

13.  Minutes

The minutes of the meeting held on 10 July 2019 were agreed and signed.

14.  Declarations of Interest

No declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests were made at the meeting.

15.  Public Participation

A question from a member of the public had been received on grafitti around 
the Weymouth town and Upwey areas.  The question and answer is attached 
as an Annexure to these minutes.

There were no statements or questions submitted from Town and Parish 
Councils at this meeting.

16.  Statutory Guidance on Overview & Scrutiny Committees May 2019 
(SW Councils Scrutiny Recommendation)

The Chairman advised members that at a recent South West Scrutiny Chairs 
meeting that he had attended, it was suggested that The New Statutory 

Page 241



2

Guidance was placed on the Agenda of Committees for record.  He had also 
sent this to all elected members along with the New Centre for Public Scrutiny 
Guide “Good Scrutiny Guide”.

Noted

17.  Annual Community Safety Report

As the Place Scrutiny Committee was the Council’s formal Crime and 
Disorder Committee (as required under the Police and Justice Act 2006), 
Members considered a report which set out the work undertaken by the 
Dorset Comm unity Safety Partnership (CSP), and statutory plans and 
strategies for adoption by the Council.   

The Cabinet Member for Housing introduced to members the Chairman of the 
Community Safety Partnership (CSP), Andrew Kerby.  Cllr Kerby had been 
Chairman of the Partnership for the past four years and welcomed the 
opportunity to bring this report to members.  He advised members that the 
work of CSP was very complex and contained a lot of acronyms. He took this 
opportunity to remind members of the statutory responsibility for Dorset 
Council adding that crime was no longer the sole responsibility of the Police.  
There was now a multi-agency approach to tackling difficult issues at a 
strategic level.

In respect of Domestic Homicide Reviews (DHRs), the Chairman noted that 
he and the Vice-Chairman had recently attended a meeting in order to gain 
better insight into DHRs.  He had learned that there was a high degree of 
scrutiny taking place during the whole process but felt that this Committee 
should review actions specific to Dorset Council and a process for this had 
now been put in place.

Members noted that the reports were created by multi-agencies and attention 
was drawn to Appendix 2 of the report which showed graphs giving trend 
information. The trends looked as if they were rising but the notes below gave 
the reasons why.

Following a question from a member relating to cyber-crime, Chief Inspector 
Jim Bushell noted that they were undoubtedly seeing an increase in this area 
of crime.   In respect of scams he advised that the Police had done a lot of 
work with banks locally and nationally to help in this regard.  Officers sent out 
a high number of alerts and messages to the public and were working hard to 
find other ways to get messages out to the older members of the population.  
He added that one of the main problems was that a lot of the offenders 
appeared to be based overseas and highlighted the work of the Action Fraud 
work that was being undertaken.

The Vice-Chairman made reference to the drug and alcohol section and felt 
that some of the words/statements were not quantified and therefore was 
unable to get an idea of the scale of the problem. Dr Will Haydock advised 
Public Health could provide data and analysis on specific issues if requested 

Page 242



3

but noted that certain figures were only estimates.  The figures were reported 
to the Joint Public Health Board which oversaw the work this area.

Resolved
That Members of the Committee considered and commented on partners’ 
community safety work.

Recommended
That Cabinet be asked to recommend the Community Safety Plan 2017-2020 
(2019 refresh), Reducing Reoffending Strategy 2018-2021 (2019 refresh), 
including the amendment, and Bournemouth, Poole and Dorset 2016-2020 
Alcohol and Drugs Strategy to Dorset Council for adoption as amended by the 
Supplement for Item 6, Appendix 4 – Amendment of Wording in the Reducing 
Reoffending Strategy (Page 4 – Dorset, Devon and Cornwall Community 
Rehabilitation Company).
 
Reason for recommendation
To ensure Dorset Council met its duties as set out in relevant legislation.

18.  Proposed content of Public Consultation for a dog-related Public 
Spaces Protection Order

Members considered a report which set out the content of the consultation for 
a Dog-related Public Spaces protection Order (PSPO) to replace and 
consolidate existing PSPOs and byelaws for the Dorset Council area.

Members were also asked to consider the time extension of current Dog-
related PSPOs covering the former East Dorset, Purbeck, West Dorset and 
Weymouth and Portland council areas to 31 December 2020 to enable the 
new Order to be properly made.

The Cabinet Member for Customer, Communities and Regulatory Services 
advised members that any changes made during the consultation period 
would require an extension to the current consultation period (Appendix B of 
the report refers).  Appendix A of the report was about engaging with 
members of the public. 

The Chairman shared with members 2 emails that had been received from 
Cllr Gill Taylor and Cllr Ryan Hope regarding the wishes of Weymouth Town 
Council to reduce the time that dogs are banned from certain areas of the 
beach in order to support the economy of the town.  

The Environmental Health Manager explained that the existing Order already 
provided for part of the beach to be used as an exercise area and therefore 
dog walkers could use part of Weymouth Beach now and throughout the 
summer.  Any changes made now would need to go through another 12 week 
consultation period, which would mean being behind with this consultation. He 
recognised and understood the wishes of Weymouth and suggested they 
engaged with this consultation which was expected to cover all the points that 
had been raised.

Page 243



4

In response to a question about the signposting of dog walking areas, 
members were advised that the Beach team at Weymouth displayed notices 
which clearly signposted dog walkers to the appropriate places.

One member highlighted the importance of these Orders being kept and 
adhered to in respect of bacteria, infections and infestations.

Following a concern from the Vice-Chairman about the  reluctance to push 
forward what was being put forward by Weymouth Town council, the 
Environmental Health Manager explained that it could be progressed but the 
implications were that this would not start until the New Year and would result 
in having 2 consultations running at the same time and the chances of getting 
it in place by next summer would be unlikely. The Cabinet Member noted that 
this would involve a lot of additional time and effort along with confusion and 
officers had not as yet identified the benefits.  Government guidance in 
respect of consultations was highlighted. There was an opportunity within the 
consultation in the comments box to bring Weymouth in. 

In response to a query about question 4 in the proposed consultation, ‘dogs 
on leads on roads and pavements within 30 mph zones’, officers advised this 
was in line with Highways legislation.

Following a question about beaches in the eastern end of the county as they 
now came under the authority of Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole 
(BCP), officers advised BCP would have to make their own decisions on how 
they wished to address their expiry dates for their Orders.

Officers advised that the consultation did not include school playing fields as 
the Government viewed education areas as different so therefore was outside 
of this control

In respect of question 20, the Chairman sought agreement from members to 
consider adding a time limit for dogs to be allowed on beaches, say 6am -
8am.   The Corporate Director for Place Services advised caution as beach 
cleansing regimes took place in the early hours and this could result in a 
heightened risk of faeces being left behind.  It was also noted this could affect 
the blue flag status of beaches.  Following discussion, Members did not agree 
to adding a time limit in this regard.

The Chairman felt as there was such a huge difference in public opinion in 
different areas the Council was unlikely to achieve one Order covering all 
beaches

Following a discussion about the number of enforcement officers and their 
hours of duty, the Corporate Director advised she would be looking at 
capacity across all Place services. Dog wardens were from predecessor 
councils and worked outside of normal working hours, and would need to be 
brought together with other enforcement officers.   It would be important to 
pull teams together as part of the transformation work and this could involve 
looking at terms and conditions.  As well as dog wardens and enforcement 
officers there were a lot of other staff that were engaged in enforcement work.  

Page 244



5

Members agreed there was a real problem with dog fouling in all areas, not 
just on the beaches but in town areas also, and felt that the only way to 
change these habits would be to have a campaign and carry out more 
enforcement.

The Vice-Chairman felt there was a real opportunity here to encourage dog 
walkers to carry on using beaches, where permitted, in respect of the health 
and wellbeing agenda.

Members felt that the proposed consultation was thorough and provided the 
information that was required and therefore unanimously agreed the 
proposals.

Recommended
1.That Cabinet be asked to consider the consultation proposals and approve 
the content of the consultation as set out in Appendix A for the Director’s 
report.
2. That Cabinet be asked to approve the extension of the current Dog-related 
PSPO’s in the former East Dorset, Purbeck, West Dorset and Weymouth & 
Portland council areas until 31 December 2020.

Reasons for Recommendations
1.  One Dog-related PSPO for the council area will help ensure consistency, 
fairness and clarity for residents and visitors to Dorset and will assist the 
efficient use of enforcement resources.  
2. While it is a requirement to consult with stakeholders prior to introducing a 
PSPO, it is appropriate to define the parameters of the consultation in order to 
avoid generating unworkable proposals or raising unreasonable expectations.
3. A number of Dog-related PSPOs currently in place from predecessor 
councils will expire during the period of making the new Order. Should those 
expiry dates not be extended, it will not be possible to enforce the relevant 
requirements for public safety and animal welfare.

19.  Complaints

Members considered a report which provided an update for members on the 
numbers, types and outcomes of complaints made against services that sit 
within the Place Directorate.

The key messages for this quarter were highlighted to members.  The Service 
Manager for Assurance highlighted that the numbers of complaints generating 
learning for the organisation were currently low, but that his vision for the new 
service would include analysing of trends and embedding organisational 
learning.  There were no complaints to the Local Government Ombudsman 
during this period, therefore no issues of maladministration to report.

The Service Manager for Assurance highlighted that 36 Compliments had 
been received across the directorate in Quarter 1 which continued the work 
that had been done in Quarter 4.

Page 245



6

The Chairman welcomed the report and felt there was a real opportunity to 
build on this in respect of trends and analysis of complaints.

The Vice-Chairman felt it would be helpful to see how many complaints were 
signed off satisfactorily.  She was pleased to see that compliments received 
were included in the quarterly report.

Noted

20.  Forward Plan Place Scrutiny and Cabinet Decisions

Members considered the Cabinet Forward Plan.  The Chairman highlighted 
the Quarter 2 budget update which was a crucial part of the budget building 
exercise.  He also reflected on the Somerley Household Recycling Centre 
item which members had commented on prior to it being taken to Cabinet.  
The Leader of Dorset Council had now met with Hampshire County Council 
with the aim of moving forward and this would be discussed at Cabinet on 5 
November 2019.

Members also noted the decisions made by the Cabinet at meetings prior to 
Place Scrutiny Committee meetings.

Members considered the Place Scrutiny Forward Plan.  The Chairman 
advised that he and the Vice-Chairman had met with Members from the Town 
and Parish Councils/Local Area Frum Task and Finish Group and discussed 
how they could add value to the Executive Advisory Panel (EAP) on 
Relationships with Town and Parish Councils.  As the EAP were due to meet 
with Town and Parish Councils at a number of workshops, members felt it 
would be prudent to await the outcome of these meetings before moving 
forward with more practical ways of looking at service delivery, Localism and 
Area Boards.

The Cabinet Member for Customer, Communities and Regulatory Services 
Alford advised members on the progress of the work being done with the 
Executive Advisory Panel (EAP).  Workshops with Town and Parish councils 
had been arranged and the first one had recently been held in Bridport.  
Nearly 60 town and parish councillors attended and engaged with other 
members.  This work would continue with more workshops and a survey 
which would run until the end of November.  In December some summary 
work would take place prior to a second round of workshops in the New Year.

Members discussed the undertaking of a piece of work on the merging of the 
policies of previous councils into Dorset Council policy.  The Chairman 
advised that having had a look into Dorset Councils Policy Library (for Place) 
he had found a number of Policies from many predecessor Councils that 
needed updating in order to produce Policies for this Council.  These could be 
looked at via Working Groups or through this Committee.  Members may also 
wish to look at the library for themselves and bring forward their priorities.  In 
the first instance the Chairman felt the following polices; Tree, Car Parking 
and Dorset County Council Carbon Management Beyond 2010 should be 
taken forward.

Page 246



7

Cllr Tarr wished to pay his compliments to all the staff who had helped him in 
the past 6 months especially in relation to recent highways and engineering 
works.  He also wished to thank Democratic Services for their training and 
induction sessions which he had found very helpful.  He also mentioned 
recent AONB sessions which had been really helpful and informative.

Noted

21.  Urgent Items

There were no urgent items of business.

Duration of meeting: 10.00  - 11.18 am

Chairman

Page 247



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet - 10 December 2019
Recommendation from Resources Scrutiny Committee held on 
26 November 2019

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Policy

Portfolio Holder: Cllr P Wharf, Corporate Development and Change

Executive Director: Matt Prosser, Chief Executive

Officer Contact:               
Name and Job Title: Susan Ward-Rice, Diversity and Inclusion Officer
Tel: 01305 224368
Email: susan.ward-rice@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

Recommendations:

That the Cabinet adopt the Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Policy subject to the 
following:-

(a) That the sentence "the council ... policies" in paragraph 9.1 be replaced by 
"The policy will be reviewed on a regular basis by the relevant portfolio holder 
and will be taken through the committee process every three years  to ensure 
that it reflects the latest legalisation, best practice and other council policies."

(b) That the term "local characteristics" be changed to "Dorset Council's 
protected characteristics".

(c) That a minimum of one key performance indicator be developed for equality 
and diversity once the Council Plan was finalised.

Reasons for Recommendations:

1. The Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Policy would ensure that the Council was 
delivering services fairly and meeting the needs of Dorset communities whilst 
also being a fair and inclusive employer. 

2. The policy would ensure that the Council was meeting its statutory duties as 
contained in the Equality Act 2010.

Page 249

Agenda Item 15



Appendices:

Appendix 1: Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Policy
Appendix 2: Finalised EqIA
Appendix 3: Minute from Resources Scrutiny Committee - 26 November 2019
Appendix 4: Comments from Trade Unions

Background papers:

There are no background papers.

Page 250



Page 251



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1

1

Equality, Diversity & 
Inclusion Policy
Policy summary

Purpose

This policy sets out Dorset Council's approach to equality, 
diversity and inclusion. Dorset Council is committed to 
promoting equality, diversity and inclusion and promoting a 
culture that actively values difference and recognises that 
people from different backgrounds and experiences can bring 
valuable insights to the workplace and enhance the way we 
work with the diverse communities that make up Dorset.

Scope

This policy applies to all who represent Dorset Council in any 
capacity including elected members (councillors), employees, 
agency workers, consultants and volunteers.  
In addition, it also applies to suppliers, sub-contractors and 
agencies in our supply chain and to customers and residents.  

Table of contents
Page

Introduction 2

Scope 2

Understanding equality, diversity and inclusion 2

The Legal Framework 2

Our aims 5

Support to implement this policy 5

Monitoring and measuring progress 5

Promoting and communicating equality, diversity and inclusion (EDI) 5

Review 6

Further Information 6

Appendix 4

Page 253



Appendix 1

2

1. Introduction
1.1 This Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Policy sets out Dorset Council's 

commitment to promoting equality of opportunity and recognising and 
celebrating the diversity that exists in our workforce and among our 
communities in Dorset.

1.2 Promoting equality of opportunity means creating an environment where 
people have the chance to achieve their potential, free from barriers, prejudice 
and discrimination. 

2. Scope
2.1 This policy applies to all who represent Dorset Council in any capacity 

including elected members (councillors), employees, volunteers, agency 
workers and consultants.  

2.2 The policy also applies to suppliers, sub-contractors and partners in our 
supply chain and to customers and residents.  

2.3 We all have a right to be treated fairly and with dignity and respect. We are 
also responsible for ensuring that our own actions and behaviours are fair and 
that we respect the dignity of others.

3. Understanding equality, diversity and inclusion
3.1 Equality is not about 'treating everyone the same' but recognising that 

everyone is different, and that people's needs are met in different ways.  We 
would define equality as essentially being about fairness and ensuring that we 
all have the best possible chance to succeed in life whatever our background 
or identity. 

3.2 The right to fair treatment is underpinned by the Equality Act 2010. The Act 
entitles all of us to be treated fairly and not be subjected to discrimination on 
the basis of a protected characteristic1.

3.3 Diversity is about understanding that everyone is unique, recognising, 
respecting and celebrating the added value that differences bring. 

3.4 Inclusion is where difference is seen as a benefit and where perspectives and 
differences are shared, leading to better decisions. An inclusive working 
environment is one in which everyone feels valued, that their contribution 
matters, and they can perform to their full potential, regardless of their 
background, identity or circumstances. An inclusive workplace enables a 
diverse range of people to work together effectively.

4. The Legal Framework
4.1 The Equality Act 2010 sets out the different ways in which it is unlawful to 

treat someone, such as direct and indirect discrimination, discrimination by 
perception or association, harassment, victimisation and failing to make a 
reasonable adjustment for a person with a disability. 

1 See section 4.2 for definition of protected characteristic

Page 254



Appendix 1

3

4.2 The Equality Act also introduced the term 'protected characteristics' to refer to 
specific aspects of a person's identity these cannot be used as a reason to 
discriminate against. These are: 

 age
 disability
 gender reassignment
 pregnancy and maternity
 marriage and civil partnership
 race
 religion or belief
 sex
 sexual orientation

It is important to note that carers are also protected through association to any 
of the above nine protected characteristics.

4.3 Everyone has a one or more protected characteristics, so the Act protects 
everyone against discrimination, harassment and victimisation.

4.4 The Equality Act 2010 also places specific responsibilities on public bodies. 
The Public Sector Equality Duty includes the General Duty which requires 
public bodies to:

a) publish information to show compliance with the Public Sector Equality 
Duty

b) set and publish equality objectives at least every four years.
4.5 In addition, Dorset Council is required to have due regard to the need to: 

a) eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and 
other conduct prohibited by the Act;

b) advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not share it; and

c) foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those do not share it.

4.6 The general duty applies to all the protected characteristics. However, for the 
protected characteristic of marriage and civil partnership it applies only in 
respect of the requirement to have due regard to the need to eliminate 
discrimination. 

4.7 Having due regard means consciously considering the three aims of the 
equality duty in relation to our decision making and delivery of services and in 
our duties as an employer. 

4.8 Dorset Council acknowledges and welcomes its legal duties. However, we 
also recognise that there are some additional characteristics that impact on 
people and their ability to access services and/or participate in public life 
and we consider these also when making decisions and refer to these as 
'local characteristics'. These include:

 rural isolation
 socio-economic status 
 single parents
 people with an armed forces background and their families
 gender identity (how someone describes their gender)

Page 255



Appendix 1

4

5. Our aims
5.1 When we develop our policies and plans or make decisions we will aim to:

 design our services to meet the diverse needs of our residents
 prevent, challenge and eliminate inequality
 involve and consult with individuals and organisations as necessary
 foster good relations within Dorset so that it is welcoming to all those 

who live, work and visit. 
 undertake an Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) to consider the actual 

or potential impact of our activities and decisions on people and to 
remove or reduce negative impacts.

5.2 When we deliver services we will aim to: 
 ensure that our services are relevant and take different needs into 

account
 provide information that is clear, accurate and accessible
 ensure that customers receive a quality service 
 respond to, investigate and take appropriate action to address 

complaints of bullying, harassment, discrimination or victimisation
 monitor services, analyse gaps in provision and identify and remove 

any barriers to access.

5.3 When we procure or commission services, we will aim to: 
 consider equality of access in service delivery
 ensure contractors, suppliers and partners are aware of what the 

authority expects in relation to equality and diversity and understands 
that they must provide services that are free from harassment, 
discrimination or victimisation

 ensure that the tendering processes include equality and diversity as 
part of the selection criteria

 provide guidance to employees about how to include equality and 
diversity in procurement and commissioning processes.

5.4 As an employer we will aim to:
 recruit and retain a workforce that reflects the diversity of Dorset
 welcome the contribution made by the experience, knowledge and 

skills that a diverse workforce brings
 make reasonable adjustments to support current employees and 

potential employees 
 provide all employees with access to learning and development 

opportunities
 ensure that equality, diversity and inclusion is an integral part of the 

council's induction for all new employees and members
 provide an environment free from harassment, discrimination, 

victimisation and bullying
 use our behaviours framework to promote dignity and respect
 take seriously any employee grievance concerning harassment, 

discrimination, victimisation and bullying

Page 256



Appendix 1

5

 deal with acts of harassment, discrimination, victimisation or bullying by 
an employee against another employee or a member of the public 
under the disciplinary policy and procedure

 deal with comments made on social media, as outlined in our social 
networking policy

 providing ex-offenders with equal employment opportunities in 
accordance with the policy on the employment of ex-offenders

 guaranteeing to offer an interview to all disabled applicants who fulfil 
the essential criteria for a post 

 promote access to our employee well-being support service
 promote and work with our employee networks
 promote flexible working to help employees balance their work/life 

commitments and still achieve their full potential 
 provide support to employees who are undertaking the process of 

gender reassignment
 ensure that managers with responsibility for recruitment and selection 

do not discriminate unfairly.
 seeking to ensure that managers with responsibility for selecting 

employees for redeployment or redundancy do not discriminate unfairly 
in the process of selection

 incorporate legislative requirements and best practice to all our 
employment policies and procedures and support these with 
appropriate and accessible guidance. 

6. Support to implement this policy
6.1 All our policies are supported by training or briefing sessions and guidance.  

For the Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Policy we will provide:
 on-line training via Learning Online including the mandatory equality 

and diversity courses.
 advice and support including bespoke equality, diversity and inclusion 

training 
 information on the intranet and the internet.

7. Monitoring and measuring progress 
7.1 Dorset Council collects equality information from employees and potential 

employees, this helps us to make sure our policies and working practices are 
inclusive do not discriminate against certain groups.

7.2 We will work with employees to understand the barriers that stop individuals 
from declaring data and try to remove these barriers.

7.3 We will make sure that we keep sensitive information confidential and secure 
(with only appropriate employees having access, e.g. HR or IT employees 
where access to the data is necessary for performance of their roles).

7.4 Dorset Council with work with external benchmarking equality organisations to 
map progress in the organisation around equality, diversity and inclusion. 

8. Promoting and communicating equality, diversity and inclusion (EDI)
8.1 We will use all available routes to communicate and promote this policy. In 

addition:

Page 257



Appendix 1

6

 elected members will promote our commitment to equality, diversity 
and inclusion in their day-to-day work

 Senior Leadership Team will be responsible for overall 
management and direction of EDI commitments

 the EDI Executive Advisory Panel will oversee this policy and 
monitor the extent to which we are achieving our commitments

 managers will make sure EDI is core to service delivery and 
employee management

 all employees will ensure they are aware of this policy and take 
responsibility to promote EDI and challenge discrimination

 contractors, suppliers and potential suppliers will be advised of this 
policy through the tendering and contract review processes and will 
be expected to adhere to the policy.

9. Review
9.1 Dorset Council will continually seek to develop its approach to equality, 

diversity and inclusion by identifying good practice in employment and service 
delivery. The council will review this policy on a regular basis, usually at least 
every three years, to ensure that it reflects the latest legalisation, best practice 
and other council policies.

10. Further information
10.1 Further information on equality, diversity and inclusion visit 

Dorset Council/Equality

Page 258

https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/your-council/your-council.aspx?folderIds=5547,275


Appendix 2

1

Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA)
Before completing this EqIA please ensure you have read the EqIA Guidance Notes

Title Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Policy
Version No: 1Date assessment 

started: 14/10/19
Date of completion: 14/11/2019

Type of Strategy, Policy, Project or Service:

Is this Equality Impact Assessment (please put a cross in the relevant box)?

Existing:                                  Changing, update or revision:
New or proposed: X Other (please explain):

Is this Equality Impact Assessment (please put a cross in the relevant box)?

Internal: External: Both: X

Report Created By:
Name: Susan Ward-Rice
Job Title: Diversity & Inclusion Officer
Email address: susan.ward-rice@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

Members of the assessment team:

Susan Ward-Rice
Zoe Schofield
Rebecca Murphy

Step 1: Aims
What are the aims of your strategy, policy, project or service?
This policy sets out Dorset Council's approach to equality, diversity and inclusion. Dorset 
Council is committed to promoting equality, diversity and inclusion and promoting a culture 
that actively values difference and recognises that people from different backgrounds and 
experiences can bring valuable insights to the workplace and enhance the way we deliver 
our services, employ people and in our role as community leaders.

The policy applies to all who represent Dorset Council in any capacity including elected 
members (councillors), employees, volunteers, agency workers and consultants. The 
policy also applies to suppliers, sub-contractors and partners in our supply chain and to 
customers and residents.

All employees, service users, customers, members have the right to be treated fairly and 
with dignity and respect. We are responsible for ensuring that our own actions and 
bahviours are fair and that we respect the dignity of others. 

All public bodies (local authorities, police, NHS etc) have a statutory duty to comply with 

Page 259



Appendix 2

2

the Equality Act 2010 and particularly the Public Sector Equality Duty (Section 149 of the 
Act).

The Equality Act 2010 consolidates and replaces previous discrimination legislation. The 
Act sets out the different ways in which it is unlawful to treat someone, such as direct and 
indirect discrimination, discrimination by perception or association, harassment, 
victimisation and failing to make a reasonable adjustment for a person with a disability.
The Equality Act introduced the term 'protected characteristics' to refer to specific aspects 
of a person's identity. These cannot be used as a reason to discriminate against. These 
are: 

 age
 disability
 gender reassignment
 pregnancy and maternity
 marriage and civil partnership
 race
 religion or belief
 sex
 sexual orientation

The Act also introduces the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) which replaced previous 
equality duties for race, disability and gender. The PSED applies to all the 'protected 
characteristics', however, for the protected characteristic of marriage and civil partnership 
it applies only in respect of the requirement to have due regard to the need to eliminate 
discrimination.

The Public Sector Equality Duty requires public bodies to have due regard to the need to:
 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct 

prohibited by the Act;
 advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 

characteristic and those who do not share it; and
 foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 

those do not share it.
In addition, the Public Sector Equality Duty also requires public bodies to:

 publish information to show compliance with the Public Sector Equality Duty. This 
information must include information relating to people who share a protected 
characteristic who are:

o employees
o people affected by its policies and procedures (e.g. the population of 

Dorset Council area).
 set and publish equality objectives at least every four years, all such objectives 

should be specific and measurable.

Dorset Council welcomes its legal duties, however, as a council we recognise that there 
are some additional characteristics that impact on people and their ability to access 
service and/or participate in public life and we consider these also when making decisions 
and refer to these as 'local characteristics' These include:

 rural isolation
 socio-economic status 
 single parents
 people with an armed forces background and their families
 gender identity (how someone describes their gender)

Page 260



Appendix 2

3

This Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Policy provides a framework for Dorset Council to 
ensure compliance with the Equality Act 2010. An equality, diversity and inclusion action 
plan is being developed to ensure the Council continues to discharge its duties.  In 
addition, an Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Executive Advisory Panel has been established 
that will meet quarterly, the panel consists of elected members and officers, the purpose 
of which is to:

 oversee equality, diversity and inclusion within Dorset Council
 monitor the council's performance in relation to equality, diversity and inclusion, 

ensuring that Dorset Council complies with the General and Specific Duties under 
the Equality Act 2010. 

 ensure publication of an annual report summarising progress against Dorset 
Council's Equality Objectives

 keep abreast of national developments and new initiatives in relation to equality, 
diversity and inclusion for Dorset Council.

 assist the Council in responding to Government consultation, guidance and policy 
on equality, diversity and inclusion. 

 work with officers to identify and manage significant risks relating to equality, 
diversity and inclusion so to mitigate their impacts on people with protected 
characteristics.

 provide regular briefings and update reports to relevant committees and to Cabinet 
as required.

The policy covers the following areas:
 understanding equality, diversity and inclusion
 the legal framework
 our aims
 support to implement this policy
 monitoring and measuring progress
 promoting and communication
 review date

What is the background or context to the proposal?
Dorset was served by nine councils until 1 April 2019 when a local government 
reorganisation reduced these to two:

 Dorset Council (formerly Dorset County Council, East Dorset District Council, 
North Dorset District Council, Purbeck District Council, West Dorset District 
Council, Weymouth & Portland Borough Council). 

 Bournemouth, Christchurch & Poole Council (formerly Bournemouth Borough 
Council, Christchurch Borough Council, Poole Borough Council).

Dorset Council was formed to:
 protect frontline services by reducing costs and duplication
 give Dorset a stronger voice nationally
 better meet the needs of communities across Dorset by bringing all services 

together in one council.

As part of bringing the councils together, the Shaping Dorset Programme Team worked 
with officers from the sovereign councils to develop services, policies and procedures, this 
included reviewing the equality and diversity policy that each of former Dorset Councils 
had. 

A draft policy was developed in February 2019, this was subsequently presented at a 
Shaping Dorset Council Human Resources (HR) and Trade Unions Workshop on the 13 
March 2019, it was agreed that further work was required. 

Page 261



Appendix 2

4

It was agreed by Shaping Dorset Corporate Theme Board (22 March 2019) that the 
Dorset County Council Equality & Diversity Policy would be 'lifted and shifted' and used by 
Dorset Council for an interim period of six months whilst the draft policy is developed 
further.

An EqIA Screening Record was undertaken on that policy and published on Dorset for 
You/Dorset Council website.

Dorset Council hopes that by developing an equality, diversity and inclusion policy, a 
consistent approach to equality and diversity will be embedded in all aspects of planning, 
commissioning and delivery of services and employment practices within the organisation. 
As such, we anticipate that by its very nature the equality, diversity and inclusion policy 
should have a positive impact on all the protected characteristic groups. The policy 
provides the framework to ensure compliance with the Equality Act 2010 and Public 
Sector Equality Duty.

This policy will sit with other policies such as Dignity at Work and the Behaviours 
Framework, all of which contribute to ensuring a positive workplace culture where 
discriminatory behaviour will not be tolerated.

Step 2: Intelligence and Communication
What data, information, evidence and research was used in this EqIA and how has it been 
used to inform the decision-making process?
As this policy is both internal and external the following data has been used to understand 
our workforce profile and Dorset Council communities:

 Census and Office for National Statistics (2011-2017) taken from Dorset Insight
 State of Dorset 2019
 Dorset Council workforce profile data (August 2019)
 Legacy council's equality and diversity policies 
 LGBT - Trans Report, Stonewall; 2018 
 Gender Identity Update, ONS, 2019
 Pan Dorset Maternity Strategy 2014-19, Dorset CCG; 2014

What data do you already have about your service users, or the people your proposal will 
have an impact on?
Data about the workforce and the population of Dorset Council area is included in Step 3: 
Assessment under each protected characteristic. It should be noted for some protected 
characteristics we are unable to provide local data.  

In addition, data concerning the Dorset Council workforce relates to all employees at 
Dorset Council but not school employees, as the Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Policy 
does not encompass those working in schools. 

The employee data used in this EqIA was collected in December 2018 from all the 
sovereign councils and has been, employee data from all sovereign councils was collated 
as part of an EqIA being undertaken.

Employees are encouraged to provide equality monitoring date, but they are not obliged to 
do so. It should be noted that for some protected characteristics we are unable to provide 
data, due to not being collected or it being so small there is risk of identifying. 

What engagement or consultation has taken place as part of this EqIA?
A draft copy of the Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Policy was circulated to the following for 

Page 262

https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/your-council/equality-and-diversity/equality-impact-assessments/shaping-dorset-council-equality-impact-assessments.aspx
https://apps.geowessex.com/insights/
https://www.stonewall.org.uk/system/files/lgbt_in_britain_-_trans_report_final.pdf
https://www.ons.gov.uk/methodology/classificationsandstandards/measuringequality/genderidentity/genderidentityupdate
https://www.dorsetccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/pan-dorset-maternity-strategy-14-19.pdf


Appendix 2

5

comments and/or discussion:
 Members of the Equality Diversity & Inclusion Executive Advisory Panel (October 

2019)
 Colleagues in Community Development Team (October 2019)
 Colleagues in Human Resources & Organisational Development (October 2019)
 Colleagues in Commercial & Procurement (October 2019)
 Colleagues in Democratic Services (October 2019)
 Unions and discussed at a HR/Trade Unions Meeting (5 November 2019)
 Key equality organisations: Stonewall, Dorset Race Equality Council, Intercom 

Trust, Access Dorset and LGBT Equality Dorset, Chrysalis (gender identity 
charity).

Is further information needed to help inform this proposal?
No
How will the outcome of consultation be fed back to those who you consulted with?
A final copy of the Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Policy will be circulated to all. In addition, 
the policy will be stored in the Dorset Council Policy Library, which is publicly available, a 
copy will also be available on the intranet.

Step 3: Assessment
Who does the service, strategy, policy, project or change impact?

- If your strategy, policy, project or service contains options you may wish to consider 
providing an assessment for each option. Please cut and paste the template 
accordingly.

For each protected characteristic please choose from the following options: 
- Please note in some cases more than one impact may apply – in this case please 

state all relevant options and explain in the ‘Please provide details’ box. 

Positive Impact 
 Positive impact on a large proportion of protected characteristic 

groups
 Significant positive impact on a small proportion of protect 

characteristics group

Negative Impact
 Disproportionate impact on a large proportion of protected 

characteristic groups
 Significant disproportionate impact on a small proportion of 

protected characteristic groups.
Neutral Impact  No change/ no assessed significant impact of protected 

characteristic groups
Unclear  Not enough data/evidence has been collected to make an 

informed decision.

Age: Positive impact anticipated
What age bracket 
does this affect? All ages

Please provide 
details:

Population of Dorset Council area:

The age profile for Dorset Council is as follows:
Age All 

Persons
% Age 0 
to 15

% Age 16 to 
64

% Persons 
Age 65+

376,480 15.9 55.4 28.6

Page 263



Appendix 2

6

Source: 2018 Mid-Year Estimates, Office for National Statistics

Dorset has a much greater proportion (29%) of the population aged 
65 and over, higher than England and Wales (18%). Over the period 
2008 - 2018, the number aged 65+ grew by 22,500 (up by 26%). 
However, the working age population dropped by 9,200 in Dorset 
and the number of children fell by 900. 

The number of children in Dorset is 59,9001. The number of 0-4-year 
olds is expected to decrease by about 600, but the number of 5-15-
year olds will decrease by almost 100 between 2018 and 20282.
Dorset Council produces population projections which look forward 
25 years and are revised on an annual basis. These projections can 
be used to anticipate local housing need and inform local plans 
which identify land for housing. The projections also help with school 
place planning - a growing population of children creates a demand 
for school places and support services. The ageing population can 
affect housing supply and demand by continuing to live in under-
occupied homes, either from preference or because they require or 
requiring specially designed dwellings.

The State of Dorset 20193 suggests that an ageing population has 
an impact on the economy as more employees move into retirement 
which leads to a potential loss of skills from the workforce. Dorset 
Council works with partners to secure external funding for initiatives 
to upskill the workforce and help people into employment.

To support the growing number of older people, Dorset is helping 
people plan for their future care needs with a campaign: Prepare to 
Live Better, the council also provides advice and support to carers.  

Dorset Council has also created Family Partnership Zones, to 
ensure that children and families get help and support when needed, 
working in local communities and with a variety of partners to ensure 
positive outcomes for children and young people. 
 
Dorset Council Workforce profile:
Age Number Percentage of Total
16-24 270 5.6%
25-39 1,197 25.0%
40-49 1,155 24.1%
50-59 1,471 30.7%
60-64 497 10.4%
65+ 197 4.1%
Total 4,787

The Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Policy will be relevant equally to 
all employees, regardless of their age. The policy has several aims 
and for our employees, we aim to:

 recruit and retain a workforce that reflects the diversity of 

1 2017 Mid-year estimates, 0-15-year-olds, ONS
2 2017-based trend population projections, ONS
3 State of Dorset, 2019; Dorset Council

Page 264



Appendix 2

7

Dorset
 welcome the contribution made by the experience, 

knowledge and skills that a diverse workforce brings
 provide all employees with access to learning and 

development opportunities
 ensure that equality, diversity and inclusion is an integral part 

of the council's induction for all new employees and members
 provide an environment free from harassment, discrimination, 

victimisation and bullying
 use our behaviours framework to promote dignity and respect
 take seriously any employee grievance concerning 

harassment, discrimination, victimisation and bullying, this 
may involve the use of the council's other policies such as 
Dignity at work, Grievance policy, recruitment and selection 
policies.

By its very nature, an Equality, Diversity & inclusion Policy is 
anticipated to have a positive impact on people with protected 
characteristics. The policy provides the framework to ensure 
compliance with the Equality Act 2010 and particularly the Public 
Sector Equality Duty. 

In addition, Dorset Council undertakes Equality Impact Assessments 
(EqIAs) on new or changing policies, projects, strategies or service 
design initiatives. This process is designed to assess the impact a 
policy, project, strategy, service or proposal is likely to have on 
different groups of people including employees, residents and 
customers. An EqIA helps to consider the actual or potential impact 
of our activities and decisions on people using an evidence-based 
approach. As a result of the EqIA, officers can make changes which 
aim to maximise potential benefits and mitigate the negative 
impacts.

Disability: Positive impact anticipated
Does this affect a 
specific disability 
group?

No

Please provide 
details:

Population of Dorset Council area:

The disability profile for Dorset Council is as follows:
Category Number %
All Usual Residents 365,153
Day to day activities limited a lot 30,710 8%

Day to Day Activities Limited a little 41,457 11%

Source: Census 2011, Office for National Statistics

One in five of Dorset’s population consider that they have a long-
term health problem or disability4. In former council area of 
Weymouth and Portland this accounts for 22% of residents, 

4 Census 2011, ONS

Page 265



Appendix 2

8

compared to former North Dorset council area with 18%. 

In addition, the number of residents with a disability, claiming 
disability benefits is 4.6% in the Dorset Council area, but the former 
local authority areas of Weymouth & Portland it is 6.1% and Purbeck 
is 3.9%5.

Dorset Council Workforce profile:
The disability profile is as follows:
Disability Number Percentage of Total
Disabled 136 2.8%
Not declared 1,448 30.2%
Not disabled 2,902 60.6%
Prefer not to say 301 6.3%
Total 4,787

Only 2.8% of our workforce have identified themselves as disabled, 
this fits with many organisations (nationally) who have similar 
declared rates of disability. This figure is significantly lower than the 
Dorset and national average (19%)6. Dorset Council recognise that 
more work needs to be undertaken to encourage disabled people to 
share their data and for the council to raise awareness and 
understanding of non-visible disabilities.

The Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Policy will be relevant to all 
employees. The policy has several aims and for our employees, 
some are mentioned in the protected characteristics age and in 
addition we aim to:

 make reasonable adjustments to support current employees 
and potential employees 

 guaranteeing to offer an interview to all disabled applicants 
who fulfil the essential criteria for a post  

As a council we have a legal obligation under the Equality Act 2010 
to make reasonable adjustments to reduce or remove disadvantage 
faced by a disabled employee/potential employee compared to a 
non-disabled employee. 

The Government's Disability Confident Scheme is an initiative that 
helps employers commit to attracting, recruiting and retaining people 
with disabilities, the scheme has three levels.

Dorset Council has achieved Disability Confident Committed Status 
(Level 1), this means we are committed to:

 ensuring our recruitment process is inclusive and accessible
 communicating and promoting vacancies
 offering an interview to disabled people who meet the 

minimum criteria for the job
 supporting any existing employee who acquires a disability or 

long-term condition, enabling them to stay in work

5 Dorset Council, State of Dorset 2019
6 Disability facts and figures, Scope; 2019

Page 266



Appendix 2

9

The council is just starting the work to achieve Level 2 - Disability 
Confident Employer. 

As a council we have an in-house employee wellbeing service, 
linking with an external provider Steps 2 Wellbeing, to provide talking 
therapy services to employees. We also have a programme of work 
to raise awareness of mental health issues this includes the roll out 
of Mental Health First Aid training, recruiting volunteers in the 
workplace, who will act as a point of contact, signpost to professional 
support and encourage healthy mental health conversations.

In addition, work is just commencing to develop employee networks, 
existing staff support groups from the legacy councils are working to 
develop these networks and look at how they will link to the Council's 
People Strategy and Well-being Strategy. These networks will 
include disability and mental health. 

As mentioned in the final paragraph of the protected characteristics 
Age, an Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Policy is anticipated to have a 
positive impact on people with protected characteristics. The policy 
provides the framework to ensure compliance with the Equality Act 
2010 and Public Sector Equality Duty. In addition, Dorset Council 
undertakes EqIAs which is a process designed to ensure that any 
new or changing policies, projects, plans and strategies does not 
discriminate against people with protected characteristics. 

Gender 
Reassignment & 
Gender Identity:

Positive impact anticipated

Please provide 
details:

Population of Dorset Council area:
Robust statistical data at a Local Authority level on Sexual 
Orientation and Gender Identity does not currently exist apart from 
data on couples living in a same sex relationship from the Census 
2011 (see sexual orientation). 

Nationally, data is also very limited on people who identify as 
Transgender and non-binary.  Recent research by Stonewall and 
YouGov7 focused on the experiences of more than 800 trans and 
non-binary people. This research found that hate crime and 
discrimination against trans people in the workplace, on the streets 
and in healthcare is widespread.  Two in five trans people had to 
deal with a hate crime or incident in the year that the research was 
undertaken (2017). The research also found that trans and non-
binary people hide or disguise who they truly are in the workplace 
and one in eight who responded to the survey have been physically 
attacked by a colleague or a customer. 

Dorset Council participates in the Stonewall Workplace Equality 
Index, this index is a benchmarking exercise carried out by Stonewall 
across the private and public sector, for employers to understand 
how they are progressing in making a more inclusive workplace for 
those identifying as LGBTQ+.  Some of this work includes how we 

7 LGBT - Trans report, Stonewall; 2018

Page 267



Appendix 2

10

engage with the LGBTQ+ community within Dorset. As part of our 
community engagement work, we are developing relationships 
locally with organisations such as Chrysalis (Gender Identity charity), 
Intercom Trust and LGB&T Dorset Equality Network.

Dorset Council Workforce profile:
Dorset Council does not currently collect data on employees for this 
category. 

As mentioned above the council participates in the Stonewall 
Workplace Equality Index, this work includes ensuring that we have 
effective policies and practice in place to support colleagues who 
may transition. These policies include guidance for managers and 
colleagues of those individuals. In addition, as a council we offer the 
following two courses:

 Trans Awareness - online learning module available to all
 Introduction into Trans Awareness within children & young 

people - one day workshop for employees in Children's 
Services

As we develop as a council and review our policies and practices, 
we will ensure that we avoid using gender-specific language in 
policies. We also want to encourage the use of appropriate 
pronouns, so our employees can let people know how they would 
like to be referred to, without assumptions being made.  

The Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Policy will be relevant equally to 
all employees, regardless of their gender identity and specifically in 
our policy:
As an employer we will also aim to:

 provide support to employees who are undertaking 
the process of gender re-assignment

 ensure that managers with responsibility for 
recruitment and selection do not discriminate unfairly.

 incorporate legislative requirements and best practice 
to all our employment policies and procedures and 
support these with appropriate and accessible 
guidance. 

Dorset Council has developed guidance entitled ‘Transitioning at 
Work’ which is available on the intranet and via Human Resources. 
As part of policy review, this guidance will be reviewed and updated 
if necessary.

As mentioned in the final paragraph of the protected characteristics 
Age, an Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Policy is anticipated to have a 
positive impact on people with people protected characteristics. The 
policy provides the framework to ensure compliance with the 
Equality Act 2010 and Public Sector Equality Duty. In addition, 
Dorset Council undertakes EqIAs which is a process designed to 
ensure that any new or changing policies, projects, plans and 
strategies does not discriminate against people with protected 
characteristics. 

Page 268



Appendix 2

11

Pregnancy and 
maternity: Positive impact anticipated

Please provide 
details:

Population of Dorset Council area:
Research from Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) in 2014 
suggested that the number of births in Dorset local authority area 
(formerly Dorset County Council area) was decreasing slightly year 
on year from 3734 in 2008 to 3658 in 2011 and with the proportion of 
Dorset women aged 15 to 44 to decrease by 2020 this may indicate 
a decrease in birth-rate in the future. 

Dorset Council Workforce profile:
Dorset Council has 88 employees on maternity leave since 1 April 
2019. 
Dorset council will need to ensure employees returning from 
maternity leave (and as part of good practice shared parental and 
adoption leave) are aware of the new policy.

As mentioned in the final paragraph of the protected characteristics 
Age, an Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Policy is anticipated to have a 
positive impact on people with people protected characteristics. The 
policy provides the framework to ensure compliance with the 
Equality Act 2010 and Public Sector Equality Duty. In addition, 
Dorset Council undertakes EqIAs which is a process designed to 
ensure that any new or changing policies, projects, plans and 
strategies does not discriminate against people with protected 
characteristics. 

Race and Ethnicity: Positive impact anticipated

Please provide 
details:

Population of Dorset Council area:
Dorset has much lower levels (4.4%) of Black, Asian and Minority 
Ethnic (BAME) residents than the country as a whole (19.5%). The 
highest proportion of Dorset's BAME population are classified as 
'White Other' who make up approximately 41% of Dorset's BAME 
population.8 This classification includes people who identify as white 
but who do not have UK national identity.

Race & Ethnicity %

All Residents  365,153

White British & Northern Irish 95.6

White: Gypsy or Irish Traveller 0.1

Other White 2.3

Mixed/Multiple Ethnic Groups 0.8

Asian/Asian British 0.9

Black/African/Caribbean/Black British 0.2

8 Census 2011, ONS

Page 269



Appendix 2

12

Other Ethnic group 0.1

Source: Census 2011, Office for National Statistics

As a council we work collaboratively with pan Dorset partnerships 
such as the Gypsy & Traveller Liaison Group, Prejudice Free Dorset 
(promoting inclusive communities across Dorset). Currently, through 
our discretionary funding programmes we have funded equality 
focused organisations such as Dorset Race Equality Council, Kushti 
Bok and South West Dorset Multicultural Network.  We have also 
procured training services from Kushti Bok (Gypsy & Traveller led 
organisation) to provide awareness training to employees in 
Children's Services. 

As a council we support several initiatives and events such as 
Gypsy, Roma & Traveller History Month, Holocaust Memorial Day 
and Black History Month. 

Dorset Council Workforce profile:
The profile of Dorset Council workforce profile is as follows:

Ethnicity Number Percentage 
of Total

White British 3,453 72.1%
BAME (Black, Asian Minority 
Ethnic)

176 3.7%

Prefer Not to Say 348 7.3%
Not declared 810 16.9%
Total 4,787

As an employer we are conscious that over 16% of our workforce 
have not declared their ethnicity and over 7% would prefer not to 
say. Dorset Council recognise that more work needs to be done to 
encourage people to share their data and this needs to be a priority 
in the year ahead. 

In addition, the council recognises more work is needed in 
challenging racism in the workplace and making assumptions about 
people’s ethnicity, origin and background. Through the People 
Strategy and the Behaviour Framework being developed within the 
council, training around unconscious bias is being explored and will 
be a priority for the council in the year ahead.

As mentioned in the final paragraph of the protected characteristics 
Age, an Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Policy is anticipated to have a 
positive impact on people with people protected characteristics. The 
policy provides the framework to ensure compliance with the Equality 
Act 2010 and Public Sector Equality Duty. In addition, Dorset Council 
undertakes EqIAs which is a process designed to ensure that any 
new or changing policies, projects, plans and strategies does not 
discriminate against people with protected characteristics.

Religion or belief: Positive impact anticipated

Page 270



Appendix 2

13

Please provide 
details:

Population of Dorset Council area:
The profile of Dorset is as follows:
Religion or Belief %
All Residents 365,153
Christian 65.1
Buddhist 0.3
Hindu 0.1
Jewish 0.1
Muslim 0.3
Sikh 0

Other Religion 0.5
No Religion 25.4
Religion Not Stated 8
Source: Census 2011, Office for National Statistics

Just over 1% of the population identify with other religions including 
Islam, Buddhism, Hinduism, Judaism and Sikhism and these tend to 
be concentrated in Dorset towns; Weymouth has just over 300 
residents who identify with Islam. There are also concentrations 
around military establishments such as Blandford Camp where the 
Gurkhas and their families live who are predominantly Hindu.

The Council has regular contact with some faith organisations such 
as the Islamic Centre.

Dorset Council Workforce profile:
The profile of Dorset Council workforce profile is as follows:
Religion Number Percentage of 

Total
Buddhist 7 0.1%
Christian 756 15.8%
Hindu 2 0.0%
Jewish 2 0.0%
Muslim 0 0.0%
None 565 11.8%
Not declared 3,258 68.1%
Other 36 0.8%
Prefer not to say 161 3.4%
Total 4,787

As an employer we are conscious that over 68% of our workforce 
have not declared any religion or belief. Dorset Council recognise 
that more work needs to be done to encourage people to share their 
data and this needs to be a priority in the year ahead. 

As an employer and linking with other emerging policies such as the 
behaviour framework, we need to consider how we raise awareness 
and understanding of different faiths and beliefs and embrace 
initiatives such as Multi-Faith week. There is also a need to link with 
other policies/initiatives such as smarter working and flexible working 

Page 271



Appendix 2

14

which can help employees participate in religious/belief events this 
can help with a work/life balance.

As mentioned in the final paragraph of the protected characteristics 
Age, an Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Policy is anticipated to have a 
positive impact on people with people protected characteristics. The 
policy provides the framework to ensure compliance with the Equality 
Act 2010 and Public Sector Equality Duty. In addition, Dorset Council 
undertakes EqIAs which is a process designed to ensure that any 
new or changing policies, projects, plans and strategies does not 
discriminate against people with protected characteristics.

Sexual orientation: Positive impact anticipated

Please provide 
details:

Population of Dorset Council area:
Robust statistical data at a Local Authority level on Sexual 
Orientation and Gender Identity does not currently exist apart from 
data on couples living in a same sex relationship from the Census 
2011 (as listed in the table below).

Sexual Orientation Number %
All categories Living arrangements 297,603

Living in a couple: In a registered 
same-sex civil partnership or cohabiting 
(same-sex)

1,866 0.63

Source: Census 2011, Office for National Statistics

According to Office for National Statistics (ONS) data released in 
2019 (see the table below), the proportion of the UK population aged 
16 years and over identifying as heterosexual or straight has 
decreased from 94.4% in 2012 to 93.2% in 2017. The same data 
estimated in 2017 1.1 million people aged 16 years and over 
identifying as LGB out of a UK population aged 16 years and over of 
52.8 million.

Sexual orientation 2015 2016 2017
Heterosexual or straight 93.7 93.4 93.2
Gay or lesbian 1.1 1.2 1.3
Bisexual 0.6 0.8 0.7
Lesbian, gay or bisexual 
(LGB)

1.8 2.0 2.0

Other 0.4 0.5 0.6
Do not know or refuse 4.1 4.1 4.1
Source: Office for National Statistics - Annual Population 
Survey; 2019
(Totals may not add up to 100 due to rounding up)

The data also identified that males (2.3%) were more likely to identify 
as LGB than females (2018) in 2017.

Dorset Council participates in the Stonewall Workplace Equality 
Index, this index is a benchmarking exercise carried out by Stonewall 
across the private and public sector, for employers to understand 
how they are progressing in making a more inclusive workplace for 

Page 272



Appendix 2

15

those identifying as LGBTQ+.  Some of this work includes how we 
engage with the LGBTQ+ community within Dorset. As part of our 
community engagement work, we are developing relationships 
locally with organisations such as Intercom Trust, LGB&T Dorset 
Equality Network and Weymouth Gay Group. 

This year the first Pride festival/parade took place in the Dorset 
Council area, taking in Weymouth & Portland, this event was an 
opportunity to support the LGBTQ+ community and encourage the 
visibility of this community in Dorset. Dorset Council took an active 
role by participating in the Pride parade and allocating some funding 
to the event. 

Children’s Services have funded SPACE LGBTQ+ youth project to 
run regular youth groups across the Dorset Council for lesbian, gay, 
bisexual and questioning young people.

Dorset Council Workforce profile:
The profile of Dorset Council workforce profile is as follows:
Sexual Orientation Number % of Total
Bisexual 9 0.2%
Gay/lesbian 32 0.7%
Heterosexual 1,862 38.9%
Other 11 0.2%
Prefer not to say 278 5.8%
Not declared 2,595 54.2%
Total 4,787

As an employer Dorset Council is that over half of our employees 
have not declared their sexual orientation and 6% would prefer not to 
say. We recognise that more work needs to be done to encourage 
people to share their data and feel safe in sharing data and this 
needs to be a priority in the year ahead.

In addition, the council recognises more work is needed in 
challenging homophobia, biphobia and transphobia in the workplace 
and making assumptions on people’s sexual orientation. 
Through the People Strategy and the Behaviour Framework being 
developed within the council, training around unconscious bias is 
being explored and will be a priority for the council in the year ahead.

As mentioned above the council participates in the Stonewall 
Workplace Equality Index, this work includes ensuring that we have 
effective policies and practice in place to support our LGBTQ+ 
colleagues. Dorset Council should receive the results of its Stonewall 
submission in January 2020. Following on from this a feedback 
meeting is held with Stonewall and Dorset Council will then create a 
Stonewall Development Plan to look at what improvements the 
council can make.  

In addition, work is just commencing to develop employee networks, 
existing staff support groups from the legacy councils are working to 
develop these networks and look at how they will link to the Council's 
People Strategy and Well-being Strategy. These networks will 

Page 273



Appendix 2

16

include LGBT+

As mentioned in the final paragraph of the protected characteristics 
Age, an Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Policy is anticipated to have a 
positive impact on people with protected characteristics. The policy 
provides the framework to ensure compliance with the Equality Act 
2010 and Public Sector Equality Duty. In addition, Dorset Council 
undertakes EqIAs which is a process designed to ensure that any 
new or changing policies, projects, plans and strategies does not 
discriminate against people with protected characteristics.

Sex: Positive impact anticipated

Please provide 
details:

Population of Dorset Council area:
The profile of Dorset is as follows:
Sex All 

Persons
All males 
(number & %)

All females 
(number & %)

375,051 183,388 48.9 191,663 51.1

Source: Census 2011, Office for National Statistics

Dorset has a slightly higher female population with 105 females for 
every 100 males in Dorset. 

Dorset Council Workforce profile:
The profile of Dorset Council workforce profile is as follows:
Sex Number Percentage of 

Total
Female 2,971 62.1%
Male 1,816 37.9%
Total 4,787

Dorset Council has a higher proportion of females working at the 
council. The graph below (taken from Equality Impact Assessment, 
December 2018) details the female/male split of full time, part time 
and school hour employees. Please note that ‘part time’ can mean 
anything less than standard full-time hours (37 hours per week).

The graph below details the sex breakdown across the pay grades 
(this graph does include schools, so the number of employees is 
increased to just under 10,000 employees, this data was collected 
December 2018):

Page 274



Appendix 2

17

Generally, where the highest numbers of people are employed (up to 
SCP 40 and teachers) the male/female ratio is broadly in line with 
the general male/female employee ratio within the council. However, 
in the following posts; above SCP 40, JNC, and youth worker, there 
are disproportionately higher numbers of men, and in Soulbury posts 
there are higher proportions of women; these posts however 
represent a relatively small proportion of the overall workforce.

All employers with a workforce of 250 or more must publish 
information on their gender pay gap every year, this started in 2018. 
As Dorset Council was established on the 1 April 2019, no gender 
pay gap reporting has taken place, information is currently being 
collated for the submission deadline of 31 March 2020, Information 
about gender pay gap reporting in the legacy councils is available on 
the Dorset Council website.

Dorset Council recognises more work is needed in challenging 
sexism in the workplace and making assumptions about people’s 
roles or presuming employees do not need appropriate equipment or 
clothing for their sex e.g. Personal Protective Equipment (PPE), 
there is a need to have the right clothing/equipment for the individual 
person. 

Through the People Strategy and the Behaviour Framework being 
developed within the council, training around unconscious bias is 
being explored and will be a priority for the council in the year ahead.

As mentioned in the final paragraph of the protected characteristics 
Age, an Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Policy is anticipated to have a 
positive impact on people with protected characteristics. The policy 
provides the framework to ensure compliance with the Equality Act 
2010 and Public Sector Equality Duty. In addition, Dorset Council 
undertakes EqIAs which is a process designed to ensure that any 
new or changing policies, projects, plans and strategies does not 
discriminate against people with protected characteristics.

Marriage or civil 
partnership: Positive impact anticipated

Please provide 
details:

Population of Dorset Council area:
The profile of Dorset is as follows:
Marriage/Civil Partnership %

Page 275

https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/your-council/about-your-council/budgets-and-spending/open-data-and-transparency/gender-pay-gap-reporting.aspx


Appendix 2

18

All Residents, 16 years + (Count) 305,307
Married 54.2
Same Sex Civil Partnership 0.2
Source: Census 2011, Office for National Statistics

Dorset Council Workforce profile:
We do not have this data for employees, the policy will be applied 
equally to all employees regardless of their marriage or civil 
partnership status. With the development of this policy and other 
policies such as our behaviour framework, and our work with 
Stonewall we should be celebrating the diversity of relationships and 
not making assumptions and any marketing materials should be 
reflective of different protected characteristic groups. 

Carers Positive impact anticipated

Please provide 
details:

Population of Dorset Council area:

The profile of Dorset is as follows:
Number %

All categories: Provision of 
unpaid care

365,153

Provides no unpaid care 321,819

Provides Unpaid Care 43,334 11.9

Provides 1 to 19 hours unpaid care 
a week

29,429 8.1

Provides 20 to 49 hours unpaid 
care a week

4,770 1.3

Provides 50 or more hours unpaid 
care a week

9,135 2.5

Source: Census 2011, Office for National Statistics

Dorset Council are conscious that caring affects mental and physical 
health as well as employment and can lead to poorer health 
outcomes and increased use of health and social care interventions.
Dorset Council recognises the huge value that carers add to the local 
economy and offers support and advice to carers and families by 
providing breaks for carers and help in an emergency. 

Dorset Council Workforce profile:
At present, Dorset Council does not collect data on employees who 
are also carers. However, we believe that a number of our 
employees will be carers and more work needs to be undertaken to 
understand this better and how we can support employees. 

There is also a need to link with other policies/initiatives such as 
flexible working and family friendly which can help employees with a 
work/life balance.

In addition, work is just commencing to develop employee networks, 

Page 276



Appendix 2

19

existing staff support groups from the legacy councils are working to 
develop these networks and look at how they will link to the Council's 
People Strategy and Well-being Strategy. These networks will 
include Carers.

As mentioned in the final paragraph of the protected characteristics 
Age, an Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Policy is anticipated to have a 
positive impact on people with protected characteristics. The policy 
provides the framework to ensure compliance with the Equality Act 
2010 and Public Sector Equality Duty. In addition, Dorset Council 
undertakes EqIAs which is a process designed to ensure that any 
new or changing policies, projects, plans and strategies does not 
discriminate against people with protected characteristics, included 
in our EqIA template are local characteristics, this is to ensure we 
give due regard to local issues.

Rural isolation: Positive impact anticipated for the Dorset Council area
Unclear impact for Dorset Council employees

Please provide 
details:

Population of Dorset Council area:

46% of the Dorset Council population live in rural areas (as defined 
by the Office for National Statistics). Most of these areas are within 
30 minutes driving distance of an urban area so may not be 
considered isolated. Public Transport across the rural area is 
however very patchy and for those people without easy access to 
private transport such as young people, low income households and 
older people this aspect of deprivation may be significant. The table 
below shows the number of households in Dorset that fall within the 
top 20% of areas most deprived nationally for access to services that 
either have no car or have one car or less per household.  

Rural 
Isolation

Total 
Number of 
households

sum of 
households 
that fall 
within the 
top 20% of 
areas most 
deprived 
nationally 
for access 
to services 
that have 
no car or 
van

% of 
households 
that fall 
within the 
top 20% of 
areas most 
deprived 
nationally 
for access 
to services 
that have 
no car or 
van

Sum of 
households 
that fall 
within the 
top 20% of 
areas most 
deprived 
nationally 
for access 
to services 
that have 1 
car or less 
in 
household

% of 
households 
that fall 
within the 
top 20% of 
areas most 
deprived 
nationally 
for access 
to services 
that have 1 
car or less 
in 
household

 158,738 6,874 4.3 36,962 23.3

Source: Census 2011, Office for National Statistics

Dorset Council Workforce profile:
Dorset Council does not use any personal data shared to understand 
if an employee lives in a rural area.  However, we believe that a 
number of our employees will live in a rural area, more work needs to 
be undertaken to identify the impact the Equality, Diversity & 
Inclusion Policy would have on those employees affected by rural 
isolation. 

There is also a need to link with other policies/initiatives such as 
flexible working and family friendly which can help employees.

Page 277



Appendix 2

20

As mentioned in the final paragraph of the protected characteristics 
Age, an Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Policy is anticipated to have a 
positive impact on people with protected characteristics. The policy 
provides the framework to ensure compliance with the Equality Act 
2010 and Public Sector Equality Duty. In addition, Dorset Council 
undertakes EqIAs which is a process designed to ensure that any 
new or changing policies, projects, plans and strategies does not 
discriminate against people with protected characteristics, included 
in our EqIA template are local characteristics, this is to ensure we 
give due regard to local issues.

Single parent 
families: Positive impact anticipated

Please provide 
details:

Population of Dorset Council area:
The profile of Dorset is as follows:

Number %
All households 158,738
Lone parent household total 12,110 7.6
Lone parent household: 1 dependent 
child

4,259 2.7

Lone parent household: 2 or more 
dependent children

3,355 2.1

Lone parent household: 2 or more 
dependent children

4,496 2.8

Source: Census 2011, Office for National Statistics

Dorset Council anticipates that this will be a positive impact, as 
single parent families are included in our EqIA template as a local 
characteristic, this is to ensure we give due regard to local issues. 
An EqIA is a process designed to ensure that any new or changing 
policies, projects, plans and strategies does not discriminate against 
people with protected characteristics.

Dorset Council Workforce profile:
At present, Dorset Council does not collect data on single parent 
families.

We need to link with other policies/initiatives such as flexible working 
and family friendly which can help employees with a work/life 
balance. In addition, our work with Stonewall and its Workplace 
Equality Index will enable us to consider an action plan to review 
family friendly policies, which will include a language review to avoid 
gender-specific language.

Dorset Council anticipates that this will be a positive impact, as 
single parents are included in our EqIA template as a local 
characteristic, this is to ensure we give due regard to local issues. An 
EqIA is a process designed to ensure that any new or changing 
policies, projects, plans and strategies does not discriminate against 
people with protected characteristics. In addition, this group will also 
have other protected characteristics, and the Equality, Diversity and 
Inclusion Policy provides the framework to ensure compliance with 
the Equality Act 2010 and Public Sector Equality Duty.

Page 278



Appendix 2

21

Poverty (social & 
economic 
deprivation):

Positive impact anticipated for Dorset Council area 
Unclear for Dorset Council employees

Please provide 
details:

Population of Dorset Council area:
The profile of Dorset is as follows:
Category Dorset Council 

area
England & Wales

Number % Number %
Household not deprived 
in any dimension

71,760 45.2 9,893,773 42.3

Household deprived in 
1 dimension

54,652 34.4 7,620,164 32.6

Household deprived in 
2 dimensions

26,796 16.9 4,512,853 19.3

Household deprived in 
3 dimensions

5,078 3.2 1,217,061 5.2

Household deprived in 
4 dimensions

452 0.3 122,193 0.5

Source: Census 2011, ONS
Classification of household deprivation
The dimensions of deprivation used to classify households are 
indicators based on the four selected household characteristics. A 
household is deprived in a dimension if they meet one or more of 
the following conditions:
 Employment: any member of a household not a full-time student 
is either unemployed or long-term sick,
Education: no person in the household has at least level 2 
education (see highest level of qualification), and no person aged 
16-18 is a fulltime student,
Health and disability: any person in the household has general 
health 'bad or very bad' or has a long-term health problem, and
Housing: Household's accommodation is ether overcrowded, with 
an occupancy rating -1 or less, or is in a shared dwelling, or has 
no central heating.
A household is classified as being deprived in none, or one to four 
of these dimensions in any combination.

Deprivation has a significant impact on health and wellbeing. The 
Dorset Council areas of deprivation are largely located in the most 
urban areas – in particular the former borough of Weymouth & 
Portland, but many of Dorset’s rural communities could also be 
deprived in terms of barriers to housing and essential services.  
There are ten areas of (out of a total of 219) in Dorset within the top 
20% most deprived nationally for multiple deprivation down from 12 
in 20109, nine of these are in Weymouth & Portland and one is in the 
former West Dorset District area.

The gap in life expectancy between the most deprive and least 
deprived areas in the former Dorset County Council area is 6.0 years 
for men and 5.2 years for women10

9 State of Dorset, 2019; Dorset Council
10 Dorset Health Profile 2018, Public Health England

Page 279



Appendix 2

22

Dorset’s economic strategy and vision recognises the links between 
economic prosperity and health and wellbeing and the council aims 
to help create the right conditions for economic and job growth.

Early intervention can also prevent problems escalating, the creation 
of Family Partnership Zones, to ensure that children and families get 
help and support when needed, working in local communities and 
with a variety of partners to ensure positive outcomes for children 
and young people.

Dorset Council anticipates that this will be a positive impact for the 
Dorset Council area, as deprivation is included in our EqIA template 
as a local characteristic, this is to ensure we give due regard to local 
issues. An EqIA is a process designed to ensure that any new or 
changing policies, projects, plans and strategies does not 
discriminate against people with protected characteristics. In 
addition, this group will also have other protected characteristics, 
and the Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Policy provides the 
framework to ensure compliance with the Equality Act 2010 and 
Public Sector Equality Duty.

Dorset Council Workforce profile:
Dorset Council does not know use any personal data such as pay 
grades shared to understand if employees are experiencing 
deprivation (social or economic). Dorset Council does offer a number 
of employee benefits including links with Wyvern Savings & Loans a 
local credit union, employees can become members and use it as 
place to save or borrow money.
At this present time, we are unclear what the impact could be on our 
employees.

Military 
families/veterans:

Positive impact anticipated

Please provide 
details:

Population of Dorset Council area:
The profile of Dorset is as follows:

All usual residents living in a household where 
the Household Representative Person (HRP) is 
a member of the armed forces

Military 
 

4,491
Source: Census 2011, Office for National Statistics

Please note the above figure is from the 2011 Census for usual 
residents living in households where the Household Representative 
Person is a member of the armed forces. Those living in households 
where a member of the armed forces is not the HRP are not included 
in these figures.

Dorset Council Workforce profile:
At present we do not collect data on employees who may be 
veterans or partners of military personnel. Dorset Council has signed 
the Armed Forces Covenant and it has an employer bronze standard 
award. This is to ensure that Dorset residents who have served in 
the forces or are currently serving and their immediate families are 

Page 280



Appendix 2

23

not put at a disadvantage because of the service. As part of their 
commitment to obtaining the silver award, there will be a campaign in 
the 2020 to encourage employees to advise if they are veterans 
and/or reservists.

There is also a need to link with other policies/initiatives such as 
flexible working and family friendly which can help employees.

Dorset Council anticipates that this will be a positive impact, as 
military families/veterans are included in our EqIA template as a 
local characteristic, this is to ensure we give due regard to local 
issues. An EqIA is a process designed to ensure that any new or 
changing policies, projects, plans and strategies does not 
discriminate against people with protected characteristics. In 
addition, this group will also have other protected characteristics, 
and the Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Policy provides the 
framework to ensure compliance with the Equality Act 2010 and 
Public Sector Equality Duty.

Page 281



Appendix 2

24

Step 4: Acton Plan
Provide actions for positive, negative and unclear impacts. 

If you have identified any negative or unclear impacts, describe what adjustments will be made to remove or reduce the impacts, or if this is 
not possible provide justification for continuing with the proposal.

Issue Action Person(s) 
responsible Deadline How will it be monitored?

Policy to be 
agreed by 
councillors

Policy to be presented to Resources Scrutiny 
Committee on 26 November 2019, if agreed, the 
policy will then go to Cabinet on 10 December 2019

Susan Ward-Rice 26 November 
2019
10 December 
2019

Report going to committee 
and be published.

Communication 
of new policy

Comms to take place re the new policy, links to be 
created on the Dorset Council website, policy to be 
stored in the Dorset Council policy library

Susan Ward-Rice 30 January 
2020

Copies of communications 
to be saved, checks that 
the policy is in the library.

Action Plan Dorset Council Equality Scheme action plan to be 
updated to include the Equality policy, action plan to 
be reviewed to ensure actions include aims from the 
policy. 

Susan Ward-Rice 28 February 
2020

Action plan is be updated 
and published

Collecting 
employee 
equality data – 
encouraging a 
culture were 
information is 
shared

As part of other emerging council policies e.g. 
behaviour framework, people strategy, this has been 
identified as an issue, actions include:

 Getting all employees onto the same HR 
system

 Sharing with employees the benefits of 
effective equality monitoring

 Encouraging employees to share and/or 
update data

 Council to use this information to gain a 
better understanding of how employees from 
all different backgrounds are being treated at 
work.

Human Resources & 
Business Intelligence

31 August 
2020

Baseline of number of 
people who already share 
data, setting an % to 
increase numbers sharing 
data.
Quantity and quality of 
communications to 
encourage sharing of data.

Better awareness 
of invisible 

This to be linked to other pieces of work including 
Disability Confident and the Behaviour Framework, 

TBC - Learning & 
Development, HR, OD 

1 April 2020 Number and type of 
awareness raising 

P
age 282



Appendix 2

25

disabilities & 
neurodiversity

which will include:
 raising awareness of invisible disabilities and 

neurodiversity
 training opportunities to understand invisible 

disabilities and neurodiversity

& Business 
Intelligence

initiatives undertaken.
Disability Confident Action 
Plan developed and 
including invisible 
disabilities and 
neurodiversity. 

Review of policy The Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Policy to be 
reviewed and updated if required. 

Susan Ward-Rice November 
2022

This will be monitored 
through the Dorset Council 
Equality Scheme Action 
Plan.

Step 5: EqIA Sign Off
Officer completing this EqIA: Susan Ward-Rice Date: 06/11/19
Equality Lead: Date:
Directorate Board Chair: Dr David Bonner Date: 26/11/19

P
age 283



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3

Recommendation from Resources Scrutiny Committee meeting held on 26 
November 2019

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Policy
The Committee considered a report by the Chief Executive which set out Dorset 
Council's approach to equality, diversity and inclusion.  It contained the Council's 
equality objectives which would ensure compliance with the Equality Act 2010 and 
specifically the Public Sector Equality Duty. 

Members noted that when the Council was established on 1 April 2019 Dorset 
County Council's policy had been adopted until such time as a policy for the new 
Council could be developed.  Work on the new policy had started in January 2019 
and this had included consultation involving HR, the Trade Unions and the Stonewall 
Charity.  A workshop with the Trade Unions had been held on 5 November 2019 and 
a deadline for comments had been extended to 27 November 2019 at their request.  
An action plan to deliver the equality objectives was being developed and the EqIa 
had been completed and was in the process of being signed off.  The process was 
being overseen by an Executive Advisory Panel chaired by the Portfolio Holder for 
Corporate Development and Change.  Members' feedback was sought with a view to 
the policy being recommended for adoption by the Cabinet in December 2019.  The 
Portfolio Holder had suggested that the sentence "the council ,,, policies" in 
paragraph 9.1 be replaced by "The policy will be reviewed on a regular basis by the 
relevant portfolio holder and will be taken through the committee process every three 
years  to ensure that it reflects the latest legalisation, best practice and other council 
policies.".  

A number of questions were raised about the policy.  In response it was noted that 
the only major difference between the previous Sovereign Councils' policies and the 
new policy was the inclusion of procurement and social value; undertaking EqIas 
would help to understand impacts on different groups and the potential to mitigate 
these impacts; protected characteristics included learning disability, mental health, 
long term health conditions (over 12 months) and did not necessarily mean that the 
person was disabled; the additional characteristics identified in paragraph 4.8 of the 
policy would be considered as part of the decision making process; local 
characteristics were identified through demographics, discussions with Stonewall 
and talking to communities; there was a need to be able to engage with people, not 
necessarily through traditional methods; some of the local characteristics were 
national, not just local to Dorset; when services were being commissioned, it was the 
Council's duty to ensure that companies tendering adhered to equality duties and 
signed up to the Council's policies which was monitored through contract 
management; equality and diversity training should be mandatory for staff in order to 
ensure adherence and implementation of the policy; key performance indicators 
(KPI) were being developed and Stonewall would feedback on our results in 
participating in the Workplace Equality Index which could inform the work on KPIs; 
there was a need for the Council to improve data collection with regard to reasons 
for leaving the Council's employ, staff grievances and disciplinaries and this was 
included in action plan; staff support was available for those being harassed whilst 
undertaking their duties and for those wishing to take this further; and part of the 
EAP's task was to identify training for members and staff using various mediums.

Page 285



Appendix 3

Members also suggested that an annual report on statistics might be useful, 
including complaints against the Council and accolades.

Details of membership of the EAP were given and members asked for sight of the 
minutes of the first meeting held in September 2019.

It was noted that the completed EqIa would be presented at a future meeting.

With regard to recommendations to Cabinet, members agreed with the Portfolio 
Holder's amendment; suggested that the term "local characteristics" within the policy 
be changed to "Dorset Council's protected characteristics" and that a minimum of 
one key performance indicator be developed for equality and diversity once the 
Council Plan was finalised.

Resolved

1. That the minutes of the Executive Advisory Panel meeting held in September 
2019 be emailed to members.

2. That the completed EqIa be presented to a future meeting.

Recommended

That the Cabinet adopt the Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Policy subject to the 
following:-

(a) That the sentence "the council ,,, policies" in paragraph 9.1 be replaced by 
"The policy will be reviewed on a regular basis by the relevant portfolio holder 
and will be taken through the committee process every three years  to ensure 
that it reflects the latest legalisation, best practice and other council policies."

(b) That the term "local characteristics" be changed to "Dorset Council's protected 
characteristics".

(c) That a minimum of one key performance indicator be developed for equality 
and diversity once the Council Plan was finalised.

Reasons for Recommendations

1. The Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Policy would ensure that the Council was
delivering services fairly and meeting the needs of Dorset communities whilst
also being a fair and inclusive employer. 

2. The policy would ensure that the Council was meeting its statutory duties as
contained in the Equality Act 2010.

Page 286



Appendix 4

Appendix 4 - Feedback from Unions, 28 November 2019

1. Feedback from the unions
1.1. In the report that went to Resources Scrutiny Committee on the 26 

November 2019, point 4.3 of the report stated:

 'The policy was presented to the HR and Trade Unions Monthly 
Meeting on the 5 November 2019. The unions agreed to feedback 
any comments by the date of this {26 November} meeting'.

1.2. At the above meeting, it was shared with committee members that the 
deadline for comments had been extended to the 27 November 2019. 

1.3. Comments from Unison were received on the 28 November 2019 and the 
following additions have been suggested:

 Point 5.1 alter the following bullet point from 'involve and consult with 
individuals and organisations as necessary' to 'involve and consult 
with individuals and organisations including the recognised trade 
unions as necessary'.

 Point 5.4 include the following additional bullet point 'promote and 
work with the recognised trade unions.

 Point 6 - include the following additional bullet point 'work with the 
trade unions where possible to deliver joint training and learning and 
development opportunities'.

 Point 10 - include the following text 'Employees can also contact a 
Trade Union Representative for support and guidance on equality 
and diversity issues'.

1.4. From discussions with officers within Business Intelligence and Human 
Resources, these are considered as useful additions to the Equality, 
Diversity and Inclusion Policy. 

Page 287



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 289

Agenda Item 19
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 295

Agenda Item 20
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	6 Forward Plan
	7 Annual Safeguarding Report - Children's 2018-19
	Appendix - Informal People Scrutiny Comments

	8 Children's Services - High Needs Block Reduction Strategy
	9 Ofsted Focused Visit - Update and feedback
	Appendix 1_Ofsted letter_ Dorset_Focused_visit_Oct19 (1)

	10 Adoption of Poole Harbour Recreation Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
	Appendix 1 - Poole Harbour SPD
	Appendix 2 - Poole Harbour SPD
	Appendix 3 - Poole Harbour SDP

	11 Making of the Motcombe Neighbourhood Plan 2017 - 2027
	Appendix A - MOTNP 2017-2027
	Appendix B - MOTNP 2017-2027 modifications

	12 Bridport Cohousing: Community Housing Infrastructure Funding Bid
	13 Local Industrial Strategy for Dorset
	14 Proposed content of Public Consultation for a Dog-related Public Spaces Protection Order
	Appendix 1 - Place Scrutiny Report including app A & B
	PSPO 191010 Appendix A (amended)
	PSPO Appendix B
	Appendix 2 draft Minutes of Place Scrutiny Committee - 24 October 2019

	15 Equalities Policy
	Appendix 1 - Equality Policy
	Appendix 2 EqIA EDI Policy finalised
	Appendix 3 - Draft minutes of Resources Scrutiny Committee - 26 November 2019
	Appendix 4 - feedback from the unions

	19 Major Waste Disposal Contracts following competitive tender process
	20 Bid for Government Capital Grant Funding

